World Journal of *Hepatology*

World J Hepatol 2023 June 27; 15(6): 725-866





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

J H World Journal of *Hepatology*

Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 6 June 27, 2023

REVIEW

- 725 Ductular reaction in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: When Macbeth is perverted He YH, Pan JX, Xu LM, Gu T, Chen YW
- 741 Recent advances in pathophysiology, diagnosis and management of hepatorenal syndrome: A review Kiani C, Zori AG

755 Treatment of liver fibrosis: Past, current, and future Zhang CY, Liu S, Yang M

MINIREVIEWS

- 775 Tumor budding as a potential prognostic marker in determining the behavior of primary liver cancers Unal B, Celik MY, Gedik EO, Bassorgun CI, Elpek GO
- Role of vascular endothelial growth factor B in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and its potential value 786 Li YQ, Xin L, Zhao YC, Li SQ, Li YN

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

797 Acute pancreatitis in liver transplant hospitalizations: Identifying national trends, clinical outcomes and healthcare burden in the United States

Dahiya DS, Jahagirdar V, Chandan S, Gangwani MK, Merza N, Ali H, Deliwala S, Aziz M, Ramai D, Pinnam BSM, Bapaye J, Cheng CI, Inamdar S, Sharma NR, Al-Haddad M

Observational Study

Lower alanine aminotransferase levels are associated with increased all-cause and cardiovascular 813 mortality in nonalcoholic fatty liver patients

Zheng JR, Wang ZL, Jiang SZ, Chen HS, Feng B

Randomized Clinical Trial

826 Randomized intervention and outpatient follow-up lowers 30-d readmissions for patients with hepatic encephalopathy, decompensated cirrhosis

Pusateri A, Litzenberg K, Griffiths C, Hayes C, Gnyawali B, Manious M, Kelly SG, Conteh LF, Jalil S, Nagaraja HN, Mumtaz K

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

841 Liver injury from direct oral anticoagulants

Juneja D, Nasa P, Jain R



Cartan	World Journal of Hepatology					
Conten	Monthly Volume 15 Number 6 June 27, 2023					
850	Management of sepsis in a cirrhotic patient admitted to the intensive care unit: A systematic literature review					
	Ndomba N, Soldera J					

World Journal of Hepatology

Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 6 June 27, 2023

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Hepatology, Kazuto Tajiri, MD, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Gastroenterology, Toyama University Hospital, Toyama 930-0194, Japan. tajikazu@med.u-toyama.ac.jp

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Hepatology (WJH, World J Hepatol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of hepatology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJH mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of hepatology and covering a wide range of topics including chronic cholestatic liver diseases, cirrhosis and its complications, clinical alcoholic liver disease, drug induced liver disease autoimmune, fatty liver disease, genetic and pediatric liver diseases, hepatocellular carcinoma, hepatic stellate cells and fibrosis, liver immunology, liver regeneration, hepatic surgery, liver transplantation, biliary tract pathophysiology, non-invasive markers of liver fibrosis, viral hepatitis.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJH is now abstracted and indexed in PubMed, PubMed Central, Emerging Sources Citation Index (Web of Science), Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2022 edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2021 Journal Citation Indicator (JCI) for WJH as 0.52. The WJH's CiteScore for 2021 is 3.6 and Scopus CiteScore rank 2021: Hepatology is 42/70.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Yi-Xuan Cai; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Xiang Li.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Hepatology	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1948-5182 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
October 31, 2009	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Koo Jeong Kang, Ke-Qin Hu, Nikolaos Pyrsopoulos	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5182/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
June 27, 2023	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



W J H World Journal of Henatology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Hepatol 2023 June 27; 15(6): 725-740

DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.725

ISSN 1948-5182 (online)

REVIEW

Ductular reaction in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: When Macbeth is perverted

Yang-Huan He, Jia-Xing Pan, Lei-Ming Xu, Ting Gu, Yuan-Wen Chen

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Kordzaia D, Georgia; Silva LD, Brazil

Received: February 27, 2023 Peer-review started: February 27, 2023 First decision: March 28, 2023 Revised: April 3, 2023 Accepted: April 24, 2023 Article in press: April 24, 2023 Published online: June 27, 2023



Yang-Huan He, Yuan-Wen Chen, Department of Gastroenterology and Department of Geriatrics, Huadong Hospital Affiliated to Fudan University, Shanghai 200040, China

Jia-Xing Pan, Department of Gastroenterology, Xinhua Hospital, Shanghai Jiaotong University School of Medicine, Shanghai 200092, China

Lei-Ming Xu, Department of Gastroenterology, School of Medicine, Xinhua Hospital, Shanghai Jiaotong University, School of Medicine, Shanghai 200092, China

Ting Gu, Department of Gastroenterology, Huadong Hospital Affiliated to Fudan University, Shanghai 200040, China

Corresponding author: Yuan-Wen Chen, MD, PhD, Chief Physician, Director, Department of Gastroenterology and Department of Geriatrics, Huadong Hospital Affiliated to Fudan University, No. 221 West Yan'an Road, Shanghai 200040, China. chenywhdgi@fudan.edu.cn

Abstract

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) or metabolic (dysfunction)-associated fatty liver disease is the leading cause of chronic liver diseases defined as a disease spectrum comprising hepatic steatosis, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, and hepatic carcinoma. NASH, characterized by hepatocyte injury, steatosis, inflammation, and fibrosis, is associated with NAFLD prognosis. Ductular reaction (DR) is a common compensatory reaction associated with liver injury, which involves the hepatic progenitor cells (HPCs), hepatic stellate cells, myofibroblasts, inflammatory cells (such as macrophages), and their secreted substances. Recently, several studies have shown that the extent of DR parallels the stage of NASH and fibrosis. This review summarizes previous research on the correlation between DR and NASH, the potential interplay mechanism driving HPC differentiation, and NASH progression.

Key Words: Ductular reaction; Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis; Hepatic progenitor cells; Cell differentiation; Inflammatory cells; Liver fibrosis

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: This is the first review focusing on recent advances in the relationship of hepatic cells with ductular reaction (DR), in fatty liver-related steatohepatitis and fibrosis. Recent advances in DR, a common compensatory reaction in liver injury, shed light on the effects of hepatic progenitor cells, hepatic stellate cells, myofibroblasts, inflammatory cells, and their secreted substance. In particular, hepatic progenitor cell differentiation was thoroughly discussed in developing steatohepatitis and fibrosis. This review summarizes the correlation between DR and steatohepatitis and fibrosis, the advanced stages of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, or metabolic (dysfunction) related fatty liver disease.

Citation: He YH, Pan JX, Xu LM, Gu T, Chen YW. Ductular reaction in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: When Macbeth is perverted. World J Hepatol 2023; 15(6): 725-740 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5182/full/v15/i6/725.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.725

INTRODUCTION

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), which affects approximately 25% of adults worldwide, is the leading cause of chronic liver diseases[1]. NAFLD refers to a disease spectrum including hepatic steatosis, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, and hepatic carcinoma[2]. In early 2020, an international expert group led a consensus-driven process to develop a more appropriate term for NAFLD, and the term "metabolic (dysfunction) related fatty liver disease (MAFLD)" was recommended[3]. NASH/MASH is characterized by \geq 5% hepatic steatosis, hepatocyte injury or necrosis, and inflammation[2,4]. NASH is a critical stage in NAFLD development and is associated with NAFLD prognosis; thus, it has become the focus of NAFLD research. NASH is the second most common indication for liver transplantation in the United States[1]. The occurrence and progress of NASH are related to several factors such as glucose and lipid metabolism, immune response, and gut microbiota[5-7]. The diagnosis and severity classification of NASH depends on histopathological examination. The main pathological features of NASH are hepatocyte balloon degeneration, inflammatory infiltration, Mallory-Den K corpuscle, and zone 3 fibrosis [2,8]. Some studies have shown that neutrophil infiltration and portal inflammatory infiltration are also characteristics of NASH[9,10].

Ductular reaction (DR) is a compensatory reaction commonly detected in various liver injuries[11], involving the participation of hepatic progenitor cells (HPCs), hepatic stellate cells (HSCs), myofibroblasts, inflammatory cells (such as macrophages), and their secreted substances. Among them, the proliferation and differentiation of HPCs are the core of DR[12]. DR is commonly found in the livers of NASH patients. Moreover, there is a parallel relationship between DR and the severity of inflammation and fibrosis in NASH patients[13-15], suggesting that DR has an important role in the progression of NASH.

Based on clinical investigations, the present review summarizes the correlation between DR and NASH. It discusses the shaped HPC differentiation fate in the context of NASH and its influence on NASH progression.

OVERVIEW OF DUCTULAR REACTION AND CORRELATION BETWEEN HPC AND DR

DR is a compensatory reaction in the portal area caused by biliary diseases, viral hepatitis, NAFLD, acute fulminant liver failure, etc[16]. DR is heterogeneous in both pathology and pathophysiology. Desmet divided DR into four types based on pathology: Type 1, Type 2A, Type 2B, and Type 3[17].

Type 1 is predominant in acute complete bile duct (BD) obstruction, alpha-naphtyl isothiocyanate intoxication, and cytokine (e.g., interleukin 6)-induced ductular increase. It results from the proliferation of preexisting cholangiocytes. Type 1 causes the biliary tubes to elongate, branch out, and widen their lumens, allowing them to adjust to the swelling and inflammation of the portal mesenchyme. Type 2A has been interpreted as "ductular metaplasia of hepatocytes." It is often detected in periportal areas, most characteristically, in chronic cholestatic conditions. In lasting cholestasis, bile acids increase the number of cholangiocytes, which promote the development of pericellular fibrosis, and in this way, it enhances bile ductular metaplasia of hepatocytes. Of note, Type 1 and Type 2A can be reversed when the causative trigger is eliminated; the ductular structures are cleared by apoptosis; and the associated fibrosis is ameliorated to a considerable extent. Prolonged hypoxia induces Type 2B, which manifests in areas of parenchymal hypoxia, specifically in the centrolobular region of liver lobules and the centronodular region of cirrhotic nodules. Although often slower in development, its microscopic pattern is comparable to that of Type 2A in terms of ductular metaplasia or dedifferentiation of mature hepatocytes, which is associated with myofibroblast-induced fibrosis. Type 3 occurs in cases of massive loss of parenchymal cells and is characterized by the activation and proliferation of HPCs located in the



ductules and canals of Hering. As bipotential cells, HPCs can differentiate into hepatocytes and BD cells [17].

There is consensus that the fate of HPC differentiation is the core of DR, determining the pathological type of DR and affecting disease development[18]. Epithelial cell adhesion molecule and the neural cell adhesion molecule/sex-determining region Y-Box 9 (SOX9) have been previously considered markers of HPCs, cytokeratin-7 (CK7) and CK19 have been used to identify cholangiocytes, and albumin and hepatic nuclear factor 4-alpha have been considered markers of hepatocytes[19-21]. HPCs located in the Hering canal typically differentiate into biliary cells in a normal liver[18] but do not lead to DR. HPCs are activated and differentiate into hepatocytes or biliary cells during liver injury. For example, HPCs differentiate into hepatocytes in acute fulminant hepatic failure and contribute to liver regeneration [22, 23]. CK7 immunohistochemistry is also positive in HPCs, which can predict liver injury severity; for instance, HPCs differentiate into CK7+ cells in the portal area in chronic hepatitis C and exacerbate liver injury[13,14,24-26]. Furthermore, a similar phenomenon has been found in hepatitis B virus-injected murine models^[27]. In addition, DR is significantly associated with hepatocellular carcinoma peritumoral hepatic inflammation, liver fibrosis, tumor node metastasis classification stage, and poor prognosis[28]. Hepatocyte-derived ductular HPCs can give rise to hepatocellular carcinoma via concomitant activation of yes-associated protein (YAP) and transcriptional coactivator with PDZbinding motif transcription factors. Autophagy suppresses the formation of hepatocyte-derived cancerinitiating HPCs in the liver^[29].

HPCs are activated in the majority of liver diseases[30]. During liver injury, a ubiquitous DR affects the differentiation vs dedifferentiation type of HPCs, depending on the severity of the liver injury[31]. Proliferating BDs in DR are misshapen, lack an apparent lumen, and are associated with increased portal inflammation and fibrosis[19,32]. It has been previously demonstrated that HPC activation is sufficient to regenerate a large proportion of the liver parenchyma using targeted deletion of mouse double minute 2 (MDM2) in mouse hepatocytes. This kind of HPC activation may be induced by the tumor necrosis factor-like weak inducer of apoptosis (TWEAK)/fibroblast growth factor-inducible 14 pathway [33]. Interestingly, in the hepatocyte-specific β -catenin knockout model, hepatocytes lose their regenerative capacity, and cholangiocytes still express β -catenin. β -catenin-positive cholangiocytes (differentiated HPCs) differentiate into β -catenin-positive small hepatocytes, which then proliferate and repopulate the liver[34,35]. A previous study reported that YAP levels are increased in NAFLD patients and NAFLD mouse models[36]. A recent study showed that the DR reaction is more intense and hepatocytes trans-differentiate into cholangiocytes protected from cholestatic damage by activating Hippo-YAP in the Tjp2 cKO mouse model (more susceptible to cholic acid-induced liver injury) fed 3,5diethoxycarbonyl-1,4-dihydrocollidine (DDC)[37]. A murine BD ligation model of liver fibrosis showed that heme oxygenase-1-mediated pro-resolution M2 polarization of macrophages protects the liver from excessive DR and fibrosis with the ligand of numb protein X1 as the key downstream factor[38]. Interestingly, recent studies have shown that HPCs can promote angiogenesis by secreting vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) via the secretin/secretin receptor/microRNA 125b (miR-125b) axis [39]. However, recent studies have shown that DR cells can promote angiogenesis through slit guidance ligand 2-roundabout 1 signaling channels in various chronic liver diseases (CLDs), contrary to VEGF [40]. Another study showed that the signaling of apelin/APJ (G protein-coupled apelin receptor) can promote intrahepatic angiogenesis[41].

The impact of DR on liver diseases is a double-edged sword. HPCs can be activated and differentiated into hepatocytes to participate in liver regeneration in the case of massive loss of parenchymal cells. Conversely, the activation of HPCs may play a role in the activation of HSCs and the infiltration of inflammatory cells in DR in most CLDs, which can lead to further liver injury, including cirrhosis and tumorigenesis[14,25,42,43].

Correlation between NASH and DR

A state of NAFLD begins with healthy liver parenchyma (steatosis in < 5% of hepatocytes) and then progresses to steatosis in > 5% of hepatocytes with the initiation of DR. The condition progresses to a severe stage with scar tissue accumulation, elevated steatosis, and hepatic ballooning[43]. In recent years, DR has attracted considerable attention in NASH research. It is worth noting that although DR can assist in repairing liver injury by aiding in HPC activation and differentiation, its impact on the progression of chronic liver disease associated with NASH may not always be favorable, especially when liver regeneration capacity is impaired. In fact, in some cases, DR-induced differentiation may even contribute to the occurrence and progression of inflammation and liver fibrosis in NASH. In 2007, Richardson et al[14] analyzed data from 118 liver specimens (107 from NAFLD patients and 11 from normal liver) and found that DR commonly existed in NASH, especially in patients with fibrosis. Multivariate analysis demonstrated that the extent of DR was independently associated with hepatocyte replicative arrest [odds ratio (OR) = 6.5] and fibrosis stage (OR = 17.9). Moreover, they further found that the expansion of HPCs was significantly correlated with NASH activity score[14]. In 2013, based on biopsy specimens from 56 adults with NAFLD (10 with steatosis and 46 with NASH) from Austria and the United States, Skoien *et al*^[44] found that both centrilobular fibrosis and portal fibrosis stages were positively associated with the extent of DR. In 2018, multicenter observational studies of 90 NAFLD patients showed that DR was identified in 90% of biopsy samples, and its extent was correlated with



fibrosis stage[15]. Similarly, Gadd et al[13] also found that DR appeared in almost all NASH patients, and its grade was significantly associated with pathological liver progression. Similar to the results in adult NAFLD, DR can also be found in pediatric NAFLD, and its extent and/or HPC expansion were significantly correlated with fibrosis degree [44-46].

DR also exists in animal NAFLD models. In an 8-wk methionine/choline-deficient (MCD) diet mouse model and a 16-wk western diet mouse model, the number of YAP+, CK19+ reactive-appearing ductular cells, and HPCs were significantly increased with the severity of hepatocyte injury and inflammation^[47]. A recent study based on mouse models indicated that during NASH development, YAP activation occurred earlier than DR but they were spatiotemporally correlated. Murine YAP activation may promote hepatocyte dedifferentiation during NASH development[48]. Morell et al[49] also established an 8-wk MCD diet mouse model and found that DR extent and HPC number increased steadily over time in the portal and lobular areas. Furthermore, the extent of DR rose significantly in a 12-wk western diet and carbon tetrachloride-treated mouse model, which led to severe NASH-related fibrosis. DR can also occur in other NAFLD animal models, such as rats and monkeys[50,51]. Although some animal models are particularly useful, especially for studying liver regeneration, many features of DR in humans are significantly different from those of animals^[18]. The contrasting anatomical features of the two species likely account for this distinction. In humans, cholangiocytes are classified based on the diameter of the biliary tract, which can vary from small to medium to large, resulting in different sizes of the cells. Unlike humans, rodents have small BDs and large BDs, lined by small BDs and large BD cells, respectively, with distinct functional properties[52].

Interestingly, the location of DR varies in different NAFLD patient populations. In pediatric NAFLD patients, DR often appears in the portal/periportal area. In a retrospective study involving 30 children and adolescents with biopsy-proven NAFLD, CK7-positive HPCs localized at the portal-parenchymal interface, *i.e.* the periportal site[45]. Similarly, a cohort study of 32 children and adolescents with biopsyproven NAFLD showed that DR commonly occurred in the portal area[46]. In another pediatric NAFLD study, the authors gathered 38 biopsy specimens from NASH children in three United Kingdom medical centers. They found DR at the interface between the parenchyma and portal areas in 36 NASH patients[44]. Similarly, portal DR can also occur in adult NAFLD patients[13-15]. However, in adult NAFLD patients, CK7+ cells and/or CK7+ structures can be found in the centrilobular area. Interestingly, CK7+ cells and/or CK7+ structures in centrilobular zones universally occurred in several other CLDs (including chronic viral hepatitis, autoimmune hepatitis, drug-induced liver injury, etc), which was termed centrilobular DR[53-55]. Both centrilobular DR and periportal DR were also found in adult NAFLD studies and showed a significant correlation with NASH progression[15,55,56]. Importantly, centrilobular DR was also located, and the correlation of fibrosis stage with centrilobular DR was much stronger than with periportal DR (regression coefficient: 1.856 vs 0.646)[15].

The difference in DR localization between pediatric NAFLD and adult NAFLD is plausible. In children, pediatric NASH is characterized by portal inflammation and/or fibrosis[57-59]. Since it is acknowledged that periportal DR is closely related to NASH progression in pediatric NAFLD, the localization of DR in the portal area is reasonable. The concept of centrilobular DR seemingly contradicts the localization characteristic (portal area) in the classic DR definition in adults. However, this phenomenon might be explained from the following two perspectives. From the pathology standpoint, centrilobular fibrosis, *i.e.* zone 3 fibrosis, is one of the typical pathological features of adult NASH[8]. Therefore, DR - a process related to fibrosis - would emerge in the centrilobular area by fibrosis location. Regarding the underlying pathophysiological mechanism, it has been postulated that CK7+ cells/structures in centrilobular DR might stem from hepatocytes through metaplastic response and/or dedifferentiation[55,60]. Hence, the concept of DR in NAFLD should be expanded to cover centrilobular DR[17]. In a cross-sectional analysis, it was found that centrilobular DR was highly correlated with the stage of fibrosis in adult non-alcoholic steatohepatitis^[15]. In addition, centrilobular was the dominant injury pattern, presumably due to pressure induced by mechanical injury^[53]. Besides, in NASH, the different underlying impact between centrilobular DR and periportal DR on disease development remains to be clarified.

DR microenvironment and HPC differentiation fate in NASH

The DR microenvironment, composed of parenchymal cells, mesenchymal cells, inflammatory cells, and their secreted substances, participates in the activation, proliferation, and differentiation of HPCs[12,61, 62]. Different components drive HPC differentiation fate in different directions (Figure 1). Previous studies have indicated that HPCs reside in a specialized microenvironment (niche), which is crucial in determining their cell fate. Laminins, as part of the extracellular matrix (ECM), control the expansion of HPCs in an undifferentiated state, and hence DR, during liver injury. Other studies have demonstrated that HSCs and myofibroblasts might play an essential role in the differentiation of HPCs towards the cholangiocyte cell phenotype, while macrophages may participate in HPC differentiation into hepatocyte phenotypes[12,63]. A previous study showed that estimated glomerular filtration rate (EGFR) ligands were present in the liver microenvironment. In animal models lacking EGFR catalytic activity, the expansion of HPCs can be observed after DDC-induced liver damage, indicating that the lack of EGFR may promote HPC differentiation into hepatocytes, and thus liver regeneration[64]. However, it is noteworthy that the differentiation of HPCs is not modulated by a single factor but by a





Figure 1 Factors contributing to the differentiation of hepatic progenitor cells in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and potential pathways associated with hepatic progenitor cells-mediated non-alcoholic fatty liver disease progression.

complicated cellular and molecular network in liver diseases. HPCs tend to differentiate into biliary cell phenotypes in NASH, which may involve the participation of HSCs, myofibroblasts, macrophages, and natural killer T (NKT) cells[13-15,18,44]. At the molecular level, Notch and Hedgehog pathways may be the critical pathways in HPC differentiation into the biliary cell phenotype in NASH patients and mice [16,19,65] (Figure 1).

HSC and HPC differentiation fate in NASH

HSCs, located in the space of Disse, are the critical cells for liver fibrosis development and progression [66,67]. HSCs maintain a quiescent phenotype in normal liver but they can be activated by multiple factors in NAFLD, such as inflammatory cells, damaged hepatocytes, oxidative stress, *etc*[66]. Activated HSCs can acquire a myofibroblast phenotype and increase ECM production, contributing to NASH progression[67].

HSC fibrogenic activation promotes HPC differentiation into hepatocytes to restore mass and function[68]. A subfamily of the inhibitor of apoptosis protein family, survivin (also called baculoviral inhibitor of apoptosis repeat containing-5), has minimal expression in differentiated cells and is associated with cell division. Activated HSCs and HPCs can express survivin. Survivin protein is upregulated with increasing fibrogenic activation of HSCs from their quiescent state. Survivin protein can suppress the fibrotic response of HSCs. At this point, the regenerative capacity of hepatocytes is diminished, followed by replenishment with survivin-expressing HPCs, which differentiate into hepatocytes to promote liver regeneration[68].

HSCs also play an essential role in NAFLD-related DR, possibly by inducing HPCs to differentiate into CK7+ and/or CK19+ cells[12,17,69,70]. In NAFLD, the emergence of DR is accompanied by a significant increase in HSCs and ECM in the DR microenvironment, and the number of HSCs is associated with the DR stage and CK7+ HPC expansion[13]. A similar association between HSC and DR can also be found in other liver diseases, such as hepatitis C infection and primary biliary cirrhosis[13, 16]. Further studies have partially explained the underlying mechanism of HSC-mediated HPC differentiation[25,69].

Primary studies have shown that HSC-mediated HPC differentiation may involve the Notch and Hedgehog pathways. In the DR microenvironment, activated HSCs can upregulate the Notch pathway in HPCs by expressing Jagged1 (a Notch pathway ligand)[60,63], leading to the expression of Notch pathway target genes such as hes-related family bHLH transcription factor with YRPW motif 1 and hairy and enhancer of split homolog-1[63,71,72]. Increased Notch target gene expression can further increase the expression of hepatic nuclear factor 1 β (HNF1 β) and HNF6, consequently contributing to HPC differentiation into biliary cells and BD formation[73-75]. Similarly, activated HSCs can upregulate the Hedgehog pathway in HPCs by expressing HL (a ligand of the Hedgehog pathway), leading to an increase in the Gli transcription factor family (Gli1, Gli2, and Gli3)[76]. Furthermore, Gli2 can translocate to the nucleus and promote target gene transcription[77,78], whose activation can promote the proliferation and differentiation of HPCs into CK7+ cells[79-83]. Elevated activity of Notch and Hedgehog pathways was analogous to disease severity in studies of both mouse models of NASH and patients with NASH[48,79,84], indicating the potential role of Notch and Hedgehog pathways in HSC-mediated HPC differentiation (Figure 2).

Macrophages and HPC differentiation fate in NASH

Emerging evidence suggests that macrophages are a heterogeneous population of cells. There are two types of macrophages: Resident macrophages, *i.e.* Kupffer cells, originating from yolk sac-derived erythroid, myeloid progenitors in the fetal liver; and infiltrating macrophages originating from bone marrow-derived circulating monocytes[7]. In NAFLD, macrophages can be activated and differentiated into two types of macrophages: M1 and M2 macrophages[7]. M1 macrophages secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines and have high phagocytic activity, whereas M2 macrophages secrete immune-suppressive but





Figure 2 Hepatic progenitor cell-mediated hepatic progenitor cell differentiation may involve the Notch and Hedgehog pathways.

pro-fibrogenic cytokines[85,86].

Although it is universally acknowledged that macrophages play a critical role in NAFLD progression, the relationship between macrophages and HPC differentiation in NAFLD-related DR remains elusive. Macrophages were found to promote HPC differentiation into hepatocytes in the DDC diet mouse model, and the Wnt/β-catenin pathway was the key mechanism in this process[69,83,87]. After phagocytosis of the hepatocyte debris, macrophages increase the expression and secretion of Wnt3a (a ligand of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway), activating the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway in HPCs[12,63]. Therefore, β -catenin can translocate to the nucleus and bind its co-activators (e.g., CREB-binding protein), promoting the expression of target genes such as SOX9, MYC, and Twist-related protein 1, all of which are associated with HPC differentiation into hepatocytes[63,88]. Studies have shown that HPCs activate during chronic liver injury when hepatocyte proliferation is insufficient to reach homeostasis. During transforming growth factor (TGF)-induced apoptosis in a fibrogenic environment, HPC expands due to a balance between proliferation and apoptosis, which is favorable in a fibrogenic climate. Mitogens that trigger HPC expansion overlap significantly with pro-inflammatory cytokines released by hepatic macrophages including tumor necrosis factor, interferon gamma (IFN-γ), interleukin 6 (IL-6), and TWEAK. Human amnion epithelial cell-treated NASH mice showed a reduction in both HPC and macrophage numbers and expression levels of HPC mitogens and macrophage-released cytokines[89]. In NAFLD patients, macrophages increased significantly in the DR area, and macrophage infiltration was mainly related to the expansion of CK7+ HPCs and fibrosis stage, indicating the potential role of the macrophage in the HPC differentiation fate[13,46]. However, in the context of liver diseases, the role of macrophages in determining HPC differentiation fate is still unclear. Deduced from the aforementioned basic studies, the increased macrophage infiltration in the DR area of NAFLD patients may promote the differentiation of HPCs into hepatocytes. Nonetheless, according to pathological findings, the actual characteristic of NAFLD-related DR is HPC differentiation into cholangiocytes. Therefore, this seemingly contradictory phenomenon might be explained from the following two perspectives.

The regulation of macrophage-mediated HPC differentiation fate may vary across different disease contexts, which is one potential explanation. Disease pathogenesis in the DDC diet mouse model is highly distinct from NAFLD pathogenesis. Therefore, the functional state of macrophages in NAFLD might be correspondingly specific to that in the DDC diet mouse model. Second, the crosstalk between macrophages and HSCs in NAFLD may predominantly contribute to the differentiation of HPCs into cholangiocytes. It has been well established in NAFLD that macrophages can express multiple profibrotic factors (such as platelet-derived growth factors subunit B and TGF- β), contributing to the proliferation and activation of HSCs and myofibroblasts [7,66,90-92]. Notably, macrophages were near HSCs in the DR area in NAFLD patients, indicating a potential promotive effect of macrophages in driving HPC differentiation into cholangiocytes by activating HSCs[13,46].

Conversely, HSCs might hinder macrophage-mediated HPC differentiation into hepatocytes by interrupting the interaction between macrophages and HPCs in spatial separation. In a biliary regeneration model, HPCs were surrounded by a thick sheath-like layer of myofibroblasts and collagen I, which excluded macrophages from forming a close association with HPCs[63]. Similar sheath-like



structures might also exist in NAFLD; however, further studies in NAFLD patients are needed to validate the potential existence of this structure in the DR area. In summary, macrophages may participate in NAFLD-related DR onset and development through crosstalk with cells such as HPCs and HSCs. However, its specific role and related mechanisms warrant further investigation (Figure 3).

Mast cells and HPC differentiation fate in NASH

According to recent studies, NAFLD/NASH development is primarily influenced by the interaction between DR and mast cells (MCs)[93,94]. MCs may promote NAFLD/NASH progression by activating Kupffer cells and HSCs with histamine^[94]. Recruitment of MCs is a characteristic of BD injury. It has been proven that knocking down or inhibiting the expression of MCs can effectively reduce DR[95,96]. MC-derived TGF-B1 is a critical regulator of hepatobiliary damage, and blockage of TGF-B1 can ameliorate DR and other features of cholestatic liver injury [97]. MCs were found to promote microvesicular steatosis development via the miR-144-3p/aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 family, member A3 (ALDH1A3) signaling pathway in a Western diet mouse model with NASH[98]. Reduced ALDH1A3 expression promotes lipid peroxidation associated with liver fibrosis and steatosis and a reduction in βoxidation of free fatty acids[99].

Moreover, miR-144-3p showed increased expression in insulin resistance in NASH. Meanwhile, DR expansion in mouse models of Western diet with NASH is more sensitive. The phenotypic changes are associated with the secretion of insulin-like growth factor 1 by cholangiocytes, driving peribiliary infiltration and MC activation. Consistent with this finding, MCs from NASH patients accumulate in the portal area, directly correlating with fibrosis stage[93]. A more relevant study discovered that inhibiting MCs reduced DR, inflammation, fibrosis, and recovery from liver injury after MC injection[94].

Previous studies have demonstrated that elevated farnesoid X receptor (FXR) expressed by MCs can be detected in primary sclerosing cholangitis, primary biliary cholangitis, and NAFLD[100-102]. MC-FXR plays a critical role in liver injury and DR in a cholestasis model, where MCs express FXR and infiltrate the liver promoting liver fibrosis during cholestasis and triggering biliary injury. After migration and activation, MCs induce DR and senescence through paracrine interactions with cholangiocytes. Moreover, the MC-FXR signaling pathway modulates the biliary senescence/senescenceassociated secretory phenotype and histamine H1- and H2-receptor signaling pathways to regulate total bile acid and then affects DR and liver injury[103]. According to these studies, MCs are corrected with DR in various liver diseases and may affect the differentiation of HPCs through macrophages, HSCs, and fibroblasts. However, the mechanism by which MCs influence HPC differentiation remains obscure.

ECM and HPC differentiation fate in NASH

ECM - a supporting structure for organs, tissues, and cells-represents a complex protein network including fibrillar and non-fibrillar collagen, laminin, fibronectin, *etc*[104]. ECM proteins can play a vital role in HPC differentiation fate. For example, loss of the basement membrane, a cell-supporting structure, is correlated with the increased level of HNF4 in HPCs, indicating the differentiation of HPCs into hepatocytes[105]. In addition, laminin can upregulate the expression of the biliary marker gene and downregulate hepatocyte transcription factor C/EBPa in HPCs, driving HPC differentiation into cholangiocytes [106]. A recent study based on mouse models of chronic parenchymal damage showed that iloprost reduces laminin deposition and enhances the differentiation of HPCs into hepatocytes [107]. The disruption of integrin $\beta 6$, an adhesion receptor that interacts with fibronectin and TGF- $\beta 1$, inhibits the response of HPCs to tissue damage. Significant ECM deposition, such as collagen deposition, is commonly found in NAFLD-related fibrosis[67,108]. Therefore, the accumulation of ECM during the development of NAFLD may contribute to HPC differentiation and the formation of DR.

Hepatocyte senescence and HPC differentiation fate in NASH

Cellular senescence, a cell cycle arrest response, is mediated by the induction of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p21 and p16[109,110]. In NAFLD, hepatocyte senescence involves multiple factors, such as oxidative stress and inflammation, and is characterized by increased p21 levels[111,112]. Interestingly, hepatocyte senescence, i.e. replicative arrest, may activate HPC proliferation and differentiation. Oxidative stress induces hepatocyte senescence with consequent cell cycle arrest and impaired regeneration[113]. A recent study demonstrated that oxidative stress can affect HPC differentiation, and the redox is regulated by various transcription factors, of which nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (NRF2) plays a crucial role in HPC differentiation, and its activation can inhibit oxidative stress. As stemness is maintained in HPCs through constitutive NRF2 activation, it is inhibited when HPCs are activated during liver injury, e.g., NASH.

Interestingly, NRF2 inhibition increases the transplantation efficiency of human HPCs[114]. In an MDM2-deleted mouse model, server hepatocyte senescence was characterized by a high p21 level and resulted in significant HPC proliferation and differentiation into hepatocytes[33]. However, in NAFLD patients and the choline-deficient and ethionine-supplemented (CDE) diet mouse model, mild hepatocyte senescence was also identified by a lower p21 level and was positively correlated with DR stage and CK7+ HPC expansion, conversely indicating a potential role of hepatocyte senescence in HPC differentiation into cholangiocytes[14,33]. To reconcile these apparently conflicting findings, some



He YH et al. Ductular reaction in NAFLD



Figure 3 Potential role of macrophages in hepatic progenitor cell differentiation fate in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease.

experts have suggested that the absence of hepatocyte senescence may enable hepatocytes to undergo self-regeneration without relying on HPC-mediated regeneration[33]. In addition, hepatocytes are the primary source of liver regeneration in a healthy liver, while HPCs do not participate in normal liver regeneration. Therefore, it might be further speculated that aging and healthy hepatocytes may regulate HPC differentiation. Nevertheless, the mechanism by which aging hepatocytes and/or healthy hepatocytes regulate HPC differentiation fate is yet to be elucidated.

NKT cells and HPC differentiation fate in NASH

NKT cells - a type of innate immune cell in the liver - can participate in the development of liver inflammation and fibrosis[115]. In NAFLD, NKT cells significantly increase in the DR area, and their infiltration extent correlates with both NASH severity and DR stage[80,116]. Conversely, liver biopsies of HBV patients often reveal a pronounced DR and diminished expression of IFN- γ , which is caused by NKT cells. Nevertheless, treatment with IFN-γ has been shown to ameliorate DR in these patients[117]. However, the role of NKT cells in HPC differentiation fate is unclear in NAFLD-related DR. There is evidence suggesting a promotive role of NKT cells in HPC differentiation into cholangiocytes in liver injury models. In these studies, NKT cells increased the expression of IL-13 and the production of Hedgehog ligands, which may drive HPC differentiation into cholangiocytes [80,118-121]. Nevertheless, it is unclear whether NKT cells are required for HPC differentiation into biliary cells in NASH.

Potential role of HPC differentiation in aggravating NASH

In addition to the impact of the NASH-related DR microenvironment on HPC differentiation fate, differentiated HPCs can aggravate inflammation and fibrosis progression in NASH. As aforementioned, there is a close correlation between HPC expansion and NASH progression, indicating the potential role of differentiated HPCs in aggravating NASH. Moreover, the promotive role of differentiated HPCs in NASH inflammation and fibrosis progression has been proven in NASH-related animal models. Although the underlying mechanism has yet to be fully understood, it may involve the participation of HSCs, macrophages, adipokines, and the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (Figure 1).

Differentiated HPCs may participate in HSC-mediated NASH-related fibrosis by promoting HSC activation and proliferation. Increased hepatic levels of several factors, such as PDGF, connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), and Hedgehog ligands, have been found in NAFLD animal models[60,122,123]. In basic studies, HPCs are one of the sources of PDGF, CTGF, and Hedgehog ligands[81,122]. The promotive role of these molecules in enhancing HSC proliferation, accumulation, and ECM production has been well established [81,124-126]. Therefore, these pathways may be involved in HPC-mediated HSCs activation in NASH aggravation.

In addition to directly promoting HSC and myofibroblast activation, HPCs may undergo the EMT towards myofibroblasts, consequently leading to hepatic fibrosis progression. EMT is a cell reprogramming process from the epithelial to mesenchymal phenotype[76,77,127]. EMT in hepatocytes, cholangiocytes, and HSCs can be found in various liver diseases and is related to hepatic fibrosis[76,128, 129]. A proportion of HPCs can go through the EMT, which is characterized by the upregulation of mesenchymal cell markers [such as alpha-smooth muscle actin (α -SMA) and S100 calcium-binding



protein A4) and downregulation of epithelial cell markers (such as CK7 and CK19)[130-133]. Differentiated HPCs (CK7+] that highly express α -SMA can be found in NAFLD, indicating the presence of HPC-originated EMT and its potential contribution to fibrosis pathogenesis^[79]. The onset of EMT in HPCs may involve the Hedgehog pathway activity and TGF- β [79]. Notably, whether high expression of a-SMA or collagen in HPCs can be regarded as the EMT remains controversial. This is because a recent lineage tracing study, using an α -fetoprotein Cre mouse model, provided strong evidence against the existence of HPC-myofibroblast transition[134]. Therefore, further basic studies regarding the origination of α-SMA and CK7 double-positive cells are warranted.

Differentiated HPCs can promote macrophage-mediated inflammation in NASH. Studies have shown that macrophages play an essential role in NASH aggravation[7]. As previously mentioned, significant macrophage infiltration was detected in the NAFLD-related DR area. The number of macrophages is significantly associated with the extent of DR and HPC expansion, indicating that HPCs have a potential role in macrophage recruitment^[13]. Primary studies have proven that multiple factors, such as chemokines and pro-inflammatory cytokines, are involved in HPC-mediated macrophage recruitment [7,135-137]. For example, HPCs can contribute to macrophage recruitment by increasing C-C motif chemokine ligand 2 and C-X3-C motif chemokine ligand 1 expression and promote macrophage polarization into M1-type by secreting IL-1, IL-6, and IFN-γ, consequently exacerbating hepatic inflammation[7,135-137]. Therefore, these cytokines may participate in HPC-mediated macrophage infiltration and activation in NASH.

Metabolic dysregulation is a major hallmark in the pathophysiological process of NAFLD, and differentiated HPCs exacerbate by causing dysregulation of the secretion of adipokines, leading to an increase in NASH progression. Adipokines, including adiponectin, leptin, and resistin, contribute to NAFLD development by modulating glycolipid metabolism, inflammatory response, and HSC activation[138]. Although adipokines are mainly produced by adipose tissues, they have also been found to secrete adiponectin and resistin[45,139]. Notably, in NASH, differentiated HPCs increase resistin expression and downregulate adiponectin expression. Moreover, resistin expression in HPCs is positively correlated with the severity of NAFLD.

By contrast, adiponectin expression in HPCs was found to be negatively correlated with the severity of NAFLD, indicating that adipokines play a role in HPC-mediated NASH progression[45]. Adiponectin can suppress hepatic lipogenesis and the production of proinflammatory cytokines but can stimulate insulin secretion and fatty acid oxidation in the liver[140,141]. By contrast, resistin reduces peripheral insulin sensitivity and promotes the expression of proinflammatory cytokines[138,142]. In NASH, adipokine dysregulation aggravates insulin resistance, worsening liver inflammation and injury, which also increases HSC activation, thereby aggravating NASH[45,143-145]. Therefore, the NAFLD-related microenvironment can cause the dysregulation of adipokine expression in HPCs, leading to NAFLDrelated metabolic dysregulation.

CONCLUSION

Studies conducted in the past 100 years have shown that DR may be a compensatory reaction to liver injury, but the correlation between DR and NAFLD needs to be sufficiently studied. The expected prevalence of DR in NAFLD patients, and more importantly, the close relationship between DR and the progression of inflammation and fibrosis in NASH, remain to be clarified. Although DR promotes liver regeneration[54,146], it remodels the NASH microenvironment, which aggravates rather than alleviates NASH severity, similar to the initially upright "Macbeth" getting perverted under a corruptive lure. In NAFLD, HPC proliferation and differentiation, the core processes in DR pathogenesis, might be triggered by NAFLD-related liver injury. The cells (such as HSCs and macrophages) and their secreted substances may drive the differentiation of HPCs into cholangiocytes. Conversely, differentiated HPCs may, in turn, aggravate NASH through multiple pathways, which may involve the participation of HSCs, macrophages, adipokines, and the EMT. The involvement of these cells in the interaction between DR and NASH pathogenesis may form a 'vicious circle,' presumably leading to further progression of hepatic inflammation and fibrosis.

However, the bilateral interaction between DR and NAFLD remains to be further verified. For the DR caused by NAFLD, the majority of previous findings about NAFLD-related DR were primarily obtained through observational studies. Several signaling pathways are involved in DR (e.g., Notch, Hedgehog, TWEAK), and it was recently discovered that long non-coding RNA/p300 could influence DR progression[147]. However, how these pathways promote the pathogenesis of DR in the context of NAFLD remains unclear. We are still determining whether the pathways mentioned above are involved in DR-related NAFLD. The key factors driving HPC differentiation in NAFLD need to be further investigated. In addition, in terms of the impact of DR on the pathogenesis of NAFLD, considering our limited understanding of the core molecular mechanism driving DR, it is difficult to provide a direct and exact intervention towards the DR onset, which hinders establishment of a causal effect of DR on NAFLD progression. Therefore, we need further investigations to deepen our understanding of the core and characteristic pathways of DR, to achieve the development of DR-targeted intervention in NAFLD-



related studies. More importantly, the underlying mechanisms of both NAFLD-caused DR and HPCmediated NAFLD progression may be important targets for treating NAFLD.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Dr. Shuangzhe Lin for his helpful discussions and comments in preparing this manuscript.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Chen YW conceived the Review; He YH and Pan JX wrote the first draft of the manuscript and prepared the figures; He YH, Pan JX, Xu LM, and Gu T collected the data for the article; all authors made substantial contributions to the discussion of data.

Supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81970511&82270620.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yang-Huan He 0000-0002-4473-1089; Jia-Xing Pan 0009-0005-1318-6320; Yuan-Wen Chen 0000-0003-4210-007X.

S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- Younossi Z, Anstee QM, Marietti M, Hardy T, Henry L, Eslam M, George J, Bugianesi E. Global burden of NAFLD and NASH: trends, predictions, risk factors and prevention. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 15: 11-20 [PMID: 28930295 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2017.109]
- 2 Hashimoto E, Tokushige K, Ludwig J. Diagnosis and classification of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: Current concepts and remaining challenges. Hepatol Res 2015; 45: 20-28 [PMID: 24661406 DOI: 10.1111/hepr.12333
- Eslam M, Newsome PN, Sarin SK, Anstee QM, Targher G, Romero-Gomez M, Zelber-Sagi S, Wai-Sun Wong V, Dufour 3 JF, Schattenberg JM, Kawaguchi T, Arrese M, Valenti L, Shiha G, Tiribelli C, Yki-Järvinen H, Fan JG, Grønbæk H, Yilmaz Y, Cortez-Pinto H, Oliveira CP, Bedossa P, Adams LA, Zheng MH, Fouad Y, Chan WK, Mendez-Sanchez N, Ahn SH, Castera L, Bugianesi E, Ratziu V, George J. A new definition for metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease: An international expert consensus statement. J Hepatol 2020; 73: 202-209 [PMID: 32278004 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.03.039]
- Stefan N, Häring HU, Cusi K. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: causes, diagnosis, cardiometabolic consequences, and 4 treatment strategies. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2019; 7: 313-324 [PMID: 30174213 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30154-2
- Chalasani N, Younossi Z, Lavine JE, Charlton M, Cusi K, Rinella M, Harrison SA, Brunt EM, Sanyal AJ. The diagnosis and management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Practice guidance from the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology 2018; 67: 328-357 [PMID: 28714183 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29367]
- Xu C, Wan X, Xu L, Weng H, Yan M, Miao M, Sun Y, Xu G, Dooley S, Li Y, Yu C. Xanthine oxidase in non-alcoholic 6 fatty liver disease and hyperuricemia: One stone hits two birds. J Hepatol 2015; 62: 1412-1419 [PMID: 25623823 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.01.019
- Kazankov K, Jørgensen SMD, Thomsen KL, Møller HJ, Vilstrup H, George J, Schuppan D, Grønbæk H. The role of macrophages in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 16: 145-159 [PMID: 30482910 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-018-0082-x]
- 8 Brunt EM, Kleiner DE, Wilson LA, Belt P, Neuschwander-Tetri BA; NASH Clinical Research Network (CRN). Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) activity score and the histopathologic diagnosis in NAFLD: distinct clinicopathologic meanings. Hepatology 2011; 53: 810-820 [PMID: 21319198 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24127]
- 9 Working Group*; Association of Pathologists** for Guidebook of NASH and NAFLD, 2015: The Japan Society of Hepatology. Pathological Findings of NASH and NAFLD: for Guidebook of NASH and NAFLD, 2015: The Japan Society



of Hepatology. Hepatol Res 2017; 47: 3-10 [PMID: 27889947 DOI: 10.1111/hepr.12847]

- Brunt EM, Kleiner DE, Wilson LA, Unalp A, Behling CE, Lavine JE, Neuschwander-Tetri BA; NASH Clinical Research 10 NetworkA list of members of the Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis Clinical Research Network can be found in the Appendix. Portal chronic inflammation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD): a histologic marker of advanced NAFLD-Clinicopathologic correlations from the nonalcoholic steatohepatitis clinical research network. Hepatology 2009; 49: 809-820 [PMID: 19142989 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22724]
- Sjöblom N, Boyd S, Kautiainen H, Arola J, Färkkilä M. Novel histological scoring for predicting disease outcome in 11 primary sclerosing cholangitis. Histopathology 2022; 81: 192-204 [PMID: 35510514 DOI: 10.1111/his.14677]
- Boulter L, Lu WY, Forbes SJ. Differentiation of progenitors in the liver: a matter of local choice. J Clin Invest 2013; 123: 12 1867-1873 [PMID: 23635784 DOI: 10.1172/JCI66026]
- Gadd VL, Skoien R, Powell EE, Fagan KJ, Winterford C, Horsfall L, Irvine K, Clouston AD. The portal inflammatory 13 infiltrate and ductular reaction in human nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology 2014; 59: 1393-1405 [PMID: 24254368 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26937]
- 14 Richardson MM, Jonsson JR, Powell EE, Brunt EM, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Bhathal PS, Dixon JB, Weltman MD, Tilg H, Moschen AR, Purdie DM, Demetris AJ, Clouston AD. Progressive fibrosis in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: association with altered regeneration and a ductular reaction. Gastroenterology 2007; 133: 80-90 [PMID: 17631134 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.05.012]
- 15 Zhao L, Westerhoff M, Pai RK, Choi WT, Gao ZH, Hart J. Centrilobular ductular reaction correlates with fibrosis stage and fibrosis progression in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Mod Pathol 2018; 31: 150-159 [PMID: 28862262 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.2017.115]
- Roskams TA, Theise ND, Balabaud C, Bhagat G, Bhathal PS, Bioulac-Sage P, Brunt EM, Crawford JM, Crosby HA, 16 Desmet V, Finegold MJ, Geller SA, Gouw AS, Hytiroglou P, Knisely AS, Kojiro M, Lefkowitch JH, Nakanuma Y, Olynyk JK, Park YN, Portmann B, Saxena R, Scheuer PJ, Strain AJ, Thung SN, Wanless IR, West AB. Nomenclature of the finer branches of the biliary tree: canals, ductules, and ductular reactions in human livers. Hepatology 2004; 39: 1739-1745 [PMID: 15185318 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20130]
- 17 Desmet VJ. Ductal plates in hepatic ductular reactions. Hypothesis and implications. I. Types of ductular reaction reconsidered. Virchows Arch 2011; 458: 251-259 [PMID: 21287200 DOI: 10.1007/s00428-011-1048-3]
- Gouw AS, Clouston AD, Theise ND. Ductular reactions in human liver: diversity at the interface. Hepatology 2011; 54: 18 1853-1863 [PMID: 21983984 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24613]
- Sato K, Marzioni M, Meng F, Francis H, Glaser S, Alpini G. Ductular Reaction in Liver Diseases: Pathological 19 Mechanisms and Translational Significances. Hepatology 2019; 69: 420-430 [PMID: 30070383 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30150]
- Schmelzer E, Pietrosi G, Gridelli B, Gerlach J. Characterization of CD326-positive human hepatic stem cells. Clin Exp 20 Hepatol 2021; 7: 101-110 [PMID: 34027122 DOI: 10.5114/ceh.2021.104459]
- Abou Monsef Y, Kutsal O. Immunohistochemical evaluation of hepatic progenitor cells in different types of feline liver 21 diseases. J Vet Med Sci 2021; 83: 613-621 [PMID: 33583913 DOI: 10.1292/jvms.20-0435]
- 22 Turányi E, Dezsö K, Csomor J, Schaff Z, Paku S, Nagy P. Immunohistochemical classification of ductular reactions in human liver. Histopathology 2010; 57: 607-614 [PMID: 20875072 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2010.03668.x]
- Katoonizadeh A, Nevens F, Verslype C, Pirenne J, Roskams T. Liver regeneration in acute severe liver impairment: a 23 clinicopathological correlation study. Liver Int 2006; 26: 1225-1233 [PMID: 17105588 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2006.01377.x
- Misra S, Majumdar K, Sakhuja P, Jain P, Singh L, Kumar P, Dubey AP. Differentiating Biliary Atresia From Idiopathic 24 Neonatal Hepatitis: A Novel Keratin 7 Based Mathematical Approach on Liver Biopsies. Pediatr Dev Pathol 2021; 24: 103-115 [PMID: 33439108 DOI: 10.1177/1093526620983730]
- Clouston AD, Powell EE, Walsh MJ, Richardson MM, Demetris AJ, Jonsson JR. Fibrosis correlates with a ductular 25 reaction in hepatitis C: roles of impaired replication, progenitor cells and steatosis. Hepatology 2005; 41: 809-818 [PMID: 15793848 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20650]
- Svegliati-Baroni G, Faraci G, Fabris L, Saccomanno S, Cadamuro M, Pierantonelli I, Trozzi L, Bugianesi E, Guido M, 26 Strazzabosco M, Benedetti A, Marchesini G. Insulin resistance and necroinflammation drives ductular reaction and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in chronic hepatitis C. Gut 2011; 60: 108-115 [PMID: 20966027 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2010.219741]
- 27 Sato K, Pham L, Glaser S, Francis H, Alpini G. Pathophysiological Roles of Ductular Reaction in Liver Inflammation and Hepatic Fibrogenesis. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2023; 15: 803-805 [PMID: 36435428 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2022.11.006]
- Xu M, Xie F, Qian G, Jing Y, Zhang S, Gao L, Zheng T, Wu M, Yang J, Wei L. Peritumoral ductular reaction: a poor 28 postoperative prognostic factor for hepatocellular carcinoma. BMC Cancer 2014; 14: 65 [PMID: 24495509 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407-14-65
- Barthet VJA, Brucoli M, Ladds MJGW, Nössing C, Kiourtis C, Baudot AD, O'Prey J, Zunino B, Müller M, May S, 29 Nixon C, Long JS, Bird TG, Ryan KM. Autophagy suppresses the formation of hepatocyte-derived cancer-initiating ductular progenitor cells in the liver. Sci Adv 2021; 7 [PMID: 34088666 DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.abf9141]
- 30 Cadamuro M, Lasagni A, Sarcognato S, Guido M, Fabris R, Strazzabosco M, Strain AJ, Simioni P, Villa E, Fabris L. The Neglected Role of Bile Duct Epithelial Cells in NASH. Semin Liver Dis 2022; 42: 34-47 [PMID: 34794182 DOI: 10.1055/s-0041-1739455]
- Calcagno DM, Chu A, Gaul S, Taghdiri N, Toomu A, Leszczynska A, Kaufmann B, Papouchado B, Wree A, Geisler L, 31 Hoffman HM, Feldstein AE, King KR. NOD-like receptor protein 3 activation causes spontaneous inflammation and fibrosis that mimics human NASH. Hepatology 2022; 76: 727-741 [PMID: 34997987 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32320]
- Kennedy L, Carpino G, Owen T, Ceci L, Kundu D, Meadows V, Kyritsi K, Franchitto A, Onori P, Isidan A, Zhang W, 32 Ekser B, Alvaro D, Gaudio E, Gershwin ME, Francis H, Glaser S, Alpini G. Secretin alleviates biliary and liver injury during late-stage primary biliary cholangitis via restoration of secretory processes. J Hepatol 2023; 78: 99-113 [PMID: 35987275 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2022.07.034]



- Lu WY, Bird TG, Boulter L, Tsuchiya A, Cole AM, Hay T, Guest RV, Wojtacha D, Man TY, Mackinnon A, Ridgway RA, Kendall T, Williams MJ, Jamieson T, Raven A, Hay DC, Iredale JP, Clarke AR, Sansom OJ, Forbes SJ. Hepatic progenitor cells of biliary origin with liver repopulation capacity. Nat Cell Biol 2015; 17: 971-983 [PMID: 26192438 DOI: 10.1038/ncb3203]
- Russell JO, Lu WY, Okabe H, Abrams M, Oertel M, Poddar M, Singh S, Forbes SJ, Monga SP. Hepatocyte-Specific β-34 Catenin Deletion During Severe Liver Injury Provokes Cholangiocytes to Differentiate Into Hepatocytes. Hepatology 2019; 69: 742-759 [PMID: 30215850 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30270]
- Hu S, Russell JO, Liu S, Cao C, McGaughey J, Rai R, Kosar K, Tao J, Hurley E, Poddar M, Singh S, Bell A, Shin D, 35 Raeman R, Singhi AD, Nejak-Bowen K, Ko S, Monga SP. β-Catenin-NF-κB-CFTR interactions in cholangiocytes regulate inflammation and fibrosis during ductular reaction. Elife 2021; 10 [PMID: 34609282 DOI: 10.7554/eLife.71310]
- Yimlamai D, Christodoulou C, Galli GG, Yanger K, Pepe-Mooney B, Gurung B, Shrestha K, Cahan P, Stanger BZ, 36 Camargo FD. Hippo pathway activity influences liver cell fate. [1097-4172 (Electronic)]
- 37 Xu J, Kausalya PJ, Ong AGM, Goh CMF, Mohamed Ali S, Hunziker W. ZO-2/Tjp2 suppresses Yap and Wwtr1/Tazmediated hepatocyte to cholangiocyte transdifferentiation in the mouse liver. NPJ Regen Med 2022; 7: 55 [PMID: 36151109 DOI: 10.1038/s41536-022-00251-6]
- Canesin G, Feldbrügge L, Wei G, Janovicova L, Janikova M, Csizmadia E, Ariffin J, Hedblom A, Herbert ZT, Robson 38 SC, Celec P, Swanson KD, Nasser I, Popov YV, Wegiel B. Heme oxygenase-1 mitigates liver injury and fibrosis via modulation of LNX1/Notch1 pathway in myeloid cells. iScience 2022; 25: 104983 [PMID: 36093061 DOI: 10.1016/j.isci.2022.104983]
- Chen L, Wu N, Kennedy L, Francis H, Ceci L, Zhou T, Samala N, Kyritsi K, Wu C, Sybenga A, Ekser B, Dar W, Atkins C, Meadows V, Glaser S, Alpini G. Inhibition of Secretin/Secretin Receptor Axis Ameliorates NAFLD Phenotypes. Hepatology 2021; 74: 1845-1863 [PMID: 33928675 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31871]
- Coll M, Ariño S, Martínez-Sánchez C, Garcia-Pras E, Gallego J, Moles A, Aguilar-Bravo B, Blaya D, Vallverdú J, Rubio-40 Tomás T, Lozano JJ, Pose E, Graupera I, Fernández-Vidal A, Pol A, Bataller R, Geng JG, Ginès P, Fernandez M, Sancho-Bru P. Ductular reaction promotes intrahepatic angiogenesis through Slit2-Roundabout 1 signaling. Hepatology 2022; 75: 353-368 [PMID: 34490644 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32140]
- 41 Chen L, Zhou T, White T, O'Brien A, Chakraborty S, Liangpunsakul S, Yang Z, Kennedy L, Saxena R, Wu C, Meng F, Huang Q, Francis H, Alpini G, Glaser S. The Apelin-Apelin Receptor Axis Triggers Cholangiocyte Proliferation and Liver Fibrosis During Mouse Models of Cholestasis. Hepatology 2021; 73: 2411-2428 [PMID: 32964473 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31545]
- Park YN, Kojiro M, Di Tommaso L, Dhillon AP, Kondo F, Nakano M, Sakamoto M, Theise ND, Roncalli M. Ductular 42 reaction is helpful in defining early stromal invasion, small hepatocellular carcinomas, and dysplastic nodules. Cancer 2007; 109: 915-923 [PMID: 17279586 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.22460]
- 43 Zhou T, Kundu D, Robles-Linares J, Meadows V, Sato K, Baiocchi L, Ekser B, Glaser S, Alpini G, Francis H, Kennedy L. Feedback Signaling between Cholangiopathies, Ductular Reaction, and Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Cells 2021; 10 [PMID: 34440841 DOI: 10.3390/cells10082072]
- Skoien R, Richardson MM, Jonsson JR, Powell EE, Brunt EM, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Bhathal PS, Dixon JB, O'Brien 44 PE, Tilg H, Moschen AR, Baumann U, Brown RM, Couper RT, Manton ND, Ee LC, Weltman M, Clouston AD. Heterogeneity of fibrosis patterns in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease supports the presence of multiple fibrogenic pathways. Liver Int 2013; 33: 624-632 [PMID: 23356584 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12100]
- Nobili V, Carpino G, Alisi A, Franchitto A, Alpini G, De Vito R, Onori P, Alvaro D, Gaudio E. Hepatic progenitor cells 45 activation, fibrosis, and adipokines production in pediatric nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology 2012; 56: 2142-2153 [PMID: 22467277 DOI: 10.1002/hep.25742]
- Carpino G, Nobili V, Renzi A, De Stefanis C, Stronati L, Franchitto A, Alisi A, Onori P, De Vito R, Alpini G, Gaudio E. 46 Macrophage Activation in Pediatric Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD) Correlates with Hepatic Progenitor Cell Response via Wnt3a Pathway. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0157246 [PMID: 27310371 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157246]
- 47 Machado MV, Michelotti GA, Pereira TA, Xie G, Premont R, Cortez-Pinto H, Diehl AM. Accumulation of duct cells with activated YAP parallels fibrosis progression in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol 2015; 63: 962-970 [PMID: 26070409 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.05.031]
- Jin L, Huang H, Ni J, Shen J, Liu Z, Li L, Fu S, Yan J, Hu B. Shh-Yap signaling controls hepatic ductular reactions in 48 CCl(4) -induced liver injury. Environ Toxicol 2021; 36: 194-203 [PMID: 32996673 DOI: 10.1002/tox.23025]
- Morell CM, Fiorotto R, Meroni M, Raizner A, Torsello B, Cadamuro M, Spagnuolo G, Kaffe E, Sutti S, Albano E, 49 Strazzabosco M. Notch signaling and progenitor/ductular reaction in steatohepatitis. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0187384 [PMID: 29140985 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187384]
- de Lima VM, Oliveira CP, Alves VA, Chammas MC, Oliveira EP, Stefano JT, de Mello ES, Cerri GG, Carrilho FJ, 50 Caldwell SH. A rodent model of NASH with cirrhosis, oval cell proliferation and hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol 2008; 49: 1055-1061 [PMID: 18929425 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2008.07.024]
- Nagarajan P, Venkatesan R, Kumar M, Usmani A, Majumdar SS. Macaca radiata (bonnet monkey): a spontaneous model 51 of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Liver Int 2008; 28: 856-864 [PMID: 18346131 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2008.01706.x
- Kanno N, LeSage G, Glaser S, Alvaro D, Alpini G. Functional heterogeneity of the intrahepatic biliary epithelium. 52 Hepatology 2000; 31: 555-561 [PMID: 10706542 DOI: 10.1002/hep.510310302]
- 53 Pai RK, Hart JA. Aberrant expression of cytokeratin 7 in perivenular hepatocytes correlates with a cholestatic chemistry profile in patients with heart failure. Mod Pathol 2010; 23: 1650-1656 [PMID: 20818342 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.2010.175
- 54 Eleazar JA, Memeo L, Jhang JS, Mansukhani MM, Chin S, Park SM, Lefkowitch JH, Bhagat G. Progenitor cell expansion: an important source of hepatocyte regeneration in chronic hepatitis. J Hepatol 2004; 41: 983-991 [PMID: 15582132 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2004.08.017]
- Matsukuma S, Takeo H, Kono T, Nagata Y, Sato K. Aberrant cytokeratin 7 expression of centrilobular hepatocytes: a 55



clinicopathological study. Histopathology 2012; 61: 857-862 [PMID: 22716237 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2012.04278.x] Gill RM, Belt P, Wilson L, Bass NM, Ferrell LD. Centrizonal arteries and microvessels in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis.

- 56 Am J Surg Pathol 2011; 35: 1400-1404 [PMID: 21836480 DOI: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e3182254283]
- Nobili V, Alisi A, Valenti L, Miele L, Feldstein AE, Alkhouri N. NAFLD in children: new genes, new diagnostic 57 modalities and new drugs. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 16: 517-530 [PMID: 31278377 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-019-0169-z
- Takahashi Y, Inui A, Fujisawa T, Takikawa H, Fukusato T. Histopathological characteristics of non-alcoholic fatty liver 58 disease in children: Comparison with adult cases. Hepatol Res 2011; 41: 1066-1074 [PMID: 22035383 DOI: 10.1111/j.1872-034X.2011.00855.x
- 59 Molleston JP. The histopathology of pediatric nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology 2005; 42: 536-538 [PMID: 16116643 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20873]
- 60 Desmet VJ. Ductal plates in hepatic ductular reactions. Hypothesis and implications. II. Ontogenic liver growth in childhood. Virchows Arch 2011; 458: 261-270 [PMID: 21298286 DOI: 10.1007/s00428-011-1049-2]
- Lanzoni G, Cardinale V, Carpino G. The hepatic, biliary, and pancreatic network of stem/progenitor cell niches in 61 humans: A new reference frame for disease and regeneration. Hepatology 2016; 64: 277-286 [PMID: 26524612 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28326]
- Overi D, Carpino G, Franchitto A, Onori P, Gaudio E. Hepatocyte Injury and Hepatic Stem Cell Niche in the Progression 62 of Non-Alcoholic Steatohepatitis. Cells 2020; 9 [PMID: 32131439 DOI: 10.3390/cells9030590]
- Boulter L, Govaere O, Bird TG, Radulescu S, Ramachandran P, Pellicoro A, Ridgway RA, Seo SS, Spee B, Van Rooijen 63 N, Sansom OJ, Iredale JP, Lowell S, Roskams T, Forbes SJ. Macrophage-derived Wnt opposes Notch signaling to specify hepatic progenitor cell fate in chronic liver disease. Nat Med 2012; 18: 572-579 [PMID: 22388089 DOI: 10.1038/nm.2667
- 64 Lazcanoiturburu N, García-Sáez J, González-Corralejo C, Roncero C, Sanz J, Martín-Rodríguez C, Valdecantos MP, Martínez-Palacián A, Almalé L, Bragado P, Calero-Pérez S, Fernández A, García-Bravo M, Guerra C, Montoliu L, Segovia JC, Valverde AM, Fabregat I, Herrera B, Sánchez A. Lack of EGFR catalytic activity in hepatocytes improves liver regeneration following DDC-induced cholestatic injury by promoting a pro-restorative inflammatory response. J Pathol 2022; 258: 312-324 [PMID: 36148647 DOI: 10.1002/path.6002]
- Fiorotto R, Raizner A, Morell CM, Torsello B, Scirpo R, Fabris L, Spirli C, Strazzabosco M. Notch signaling regulates 65 tubular morphogenesis during repair from biliary damage in mice. J Hepatol 2013; 59: 124-130 [PMID: 23500150 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.02.025
- Tsuchida T, Friedman SL. Mechanisms of hepatic stellate cell activation. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 14: 397-66 411 [PMID: 28487545 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2017.38]
- Schwabe RF, Tabas I, Pajvani UB. Mechanisms of Fibrosis Development in Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. 67 Gastroenterology 2020; 158: 1913-1928 [PMID: 32044315 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.11.311]
- Sharma S, Ghufran SM, Das B, Roy B, Ghose S, Biswas S. Survivin expression is essential for early activation of hepatic 68 stellate cells and fibrosis progression in chronic liver injury. Life Sci 2021; 287: 120119 [PMID: 34743004 DOI: 10.1016/j.lfs.2021.120119
- Spee B, Carpino G, Schotanus BA, Katoonizadeh A, Vander Borght S, Gaudio E, Roskams T. Characterisation of the liver 69 progenitor cell niche in liver diseases: potential involvement of Wnt and Notch signalling. Gut 2010; 59: 247-257 [PMID: 19880964 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2009.188367]
- 70 Williams MJ, Clouston AD, Forbes SJ. Links between hepatic fibrosis, ductular reaction, and progenitor cell expansion. Gastroenterology 2014; 146: 349-356 [PMID: 24315991 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.11.034]
- 71 Kurooka H, Kuroda K, Honjo T. Roles of the ankyrin repeats and C-terminal region of the mouse notch1 intracellular region. Nucleic Acids Res 1998; 26: 5448-5455 [PMID: 9826771 DOI: 10.1093/nar/26.23.5448]
- Ohtsuka T, Ishibashi M, Gradwohl G, Nakanishi S, Guillemot F, Kageyama R. Hes1 and Hes5 as notch effectors in 72 mammalian neuronal differentiation. EMBO J 1999; 18: 2196-2207 [PMID: 10205173 DOI: 10.1093/emboj/18.8.2196]
- Clotman F, Lannoy VJ, Reber M, Cereghini S, Cassiman D, Jacquemin P, Roskams T, Rousseau GG, Lemaigre FP. The 73 onecut transcription factor HNF6 is required for normal development of the biliary tract. Development 2002; 129: 1819-1828 [PMID: 11934848 DOI: 10.1242/dev.129.8.1819]
- Coffinier C, Gresh L, Fiette L, Tronche F, Schütz G, Babinet C, Pontoglio M, Yaniv M, Barra J. Bile system 74 morphogenesis defects and liver dysfunction upon targeted deletion of HNF1beta. Development 2002; 129: 1829-1838 [PMID: 11934849 DOI: 10.1242/dev.129.8.1829]
- Tanimizu N, Miyajima A. Notch signaling controls hepatoblast differentiation by altering the expression of liver-enriched 75 transcription factors. J Cell Sci 2004; 117: 3165-3174 [PMID: 15226394 DOI: 10.1242/jcs.01169]
- Omenetti A, Porrello A, Jung Y, Yang L, Popov Y, Choi SS, Witek RP, Alpini G, Venter J, Vandongen HM, Syn WK, 76 Baroni GS, Benedetti A, Schuppan D, Diehl AM. Hedgehog signaling regulates epithelial-mesenchymal transition during biliary fibrosis in rodents and humans. J Clin Invest 2008; 118: 3331-3342 [PMID: 18802480 DOI: 10.1172/JCI35875]
- Omenetti A, Choi S, Michelotti G, Diehl AM. Hedgehog signaling in the liver. J Hepatol 2011; 54: 366-373 [PMID: 77 21093090 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2010.10.003]
- Choi SS, Omenetti A, Syn WK, Diehl AM. The role of Hedgehog signaling in fibrogenic liver repair. Int J Biochem Cell 78 Biol 2011; 43: 238-244 [PMID: 21056686 DOI: 10.1016/j.biocel.2010.10.015]
- 79 Syn WK, Jung Y, Omenetti A, Abdelmalek M, Guy CD, Yang L, Wang J, Witek RP, Fearing CM, Pereira TA, Teaberry V, Choi SS, Conde-Vancells J, Karaca GF, Diehl AM. Hedgehog-mediated epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and fibrogenic repair in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology 2009; 137: 1478-1488.e8 [PMID: 19577569 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.06.051]
- Syn WK, Agboola KM, Swiderska M, Michelotti GA, Liaskou E, Pang H, Xie G, Philips G, Chan IS, Karaca GF, Pereira 80 Tde A, Chen Y, Mi Z, Kuo PC, Choi SS, Guy CD, Abdelmalek MF, Diehl AM. NKT-associated hedgehog and osteopontin drive fibrogenesis in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Gut 2012; 61: 1323-1329 [PMID: 22427237 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301857]



- Lipson KE, Wong C, Teng Y, Spong S. CTGF is a central mediator of tissue remodeling and fibrosis and its inhibition can reverse the process of fibrosis. Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair 2012; 5: S24 [PMID: 23259531 DOI: 10.1186/1755-1536-5-S1-S24
- Guy CD, Suzuki A, Zdanowicz M, Abdelmalek MF, Burchette J, Unalp A, Diehl AM; NASH CRN. Hedgehog pathway 82 activation parallels histologic severity of injury and fibrosis in human nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology 2012; 55: 1711-1721 [PMID: 22213086 DOI: 10.1002/hep.25559]
- Omenetti A, Yang L, Li YX, McCall SJ, Jung Y, Sicklick JK, Huang J, Choi S, Suzuki A, Diehl AM. Hedgehog-mediated 83 mesenchymal-epithelial interactions modulate hepatic response to bile duct ligation. Lab Invest 2007; 87: 499-514 [PMID: 17334411 DOI: 10.1038/Labinvest.3700537]
- 84 Zhu C, Kim K, Wang X, Bartolome A, Salomao M, Dongiovanni P, Meroni M, Graham MJ, Yates KP, Diehl AM, Schwabe RF, Tabas I, Valenti L, Lavine JE, Pajvani UB. Hepatocyte Notch activation induces liver fibrosis in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Sci Transl Med 2018; 10 [PMID: 30463916 DOI: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aat0344]
- Schuppan D, Surabattula R, Wang XY. Determinants of fibrosis progression and regression in NASH. J Hepatol 2018; 85 68: 238-250 [PMID: 29154966 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.11.012]
- Tacke F, Zimmermann HW. Macrophage heterogeneity in liver injury and fibrosis. J Hepatol 2014; 60: 1090-1096 86 [PMID: 24412603 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.12.025]
- Yang W, Yan HX, Chen L, Liu Q, He YQ, Yu LX, Zhang SH, Huang DD, Tang L, Kong XN, Chen C, Liu SQ, Wu MC, 87 Wang HY. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling contributes to activation of normal and tumorigenic liver progenitor cells. Cancer Res 2008; 68: 4287-4295 [PMID: 18519688 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6691]
- Valenta T, Hausmann G, Basler K. The many faces and functions of β-catenin. EMBO J 2012; 31: 2714-2736 [PMID: 88 22617422 DOI: 10.1038/emboj.2012.150]
- Goonetilleke M, Kuk N, Correia J, Hodge A, Moore G, Gantier MP, Yeoh G, Sievert W, Lim R. Addressing the liver 89 progenitor cell response and hepatic oxidative stress in experimental non-alcoholic fatty liver disease/non-alcoholic steatohepatitis using amniotic epithelial cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 2021; 12: 429 [PMID: 34321089 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-021-02476-6
- 90 Morinaga H, Mayoral R, Heinrichsdorff J, Osborn O, Franck N, Hah N, Walenta E, Bandyopadhyay G, Pessentheiner AR, Chi TJ, Chung H, Bogner-Strauss JG, Evans RM, Olefsky JM, Oh DY. Characterization of distinct subpopulations of hepatic macrophages in HFD/obese mice. Diabetes 2015; 64: 1120-1130 [PMID: 25315009 DOI: 10.2337/db14-1238]
- 91 Pradere JP, Kluwe J, De Minicis S, Jiao JJ, Gwak GY, Dapito DH, Jang MK, Guenther ND, Mederacke I, Friedman R, Dragomir AC, Aloman C, Schwabe RF. Hepatic macrophages but not dendritic cells contribute to liver fibrosis by promoting the survival of activated hepatic stellate cells in mice. Hepatology 2013; 58: 1461-1473 [PMID: 23553591 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26429]
- 92 Ramachandran P, Dobie R, Wilson-Kanamori JR, Dora EF, Henderson BEP, Luu NT, Portman JR, Matchett KP, Brice M, Marwick JA, Taylor RS, Efremova M, Vento-Tormo R, Carragher NO, Kendall TJ, Fallowfield JA, Harrison EM, Mole DJ, Wigmore SJ, Newsome PN, Weston CJ, Iredale JP, Tacke F, Pollard JW, Ponting CP, Marioni JC, Teichmann SA, Henderson NC. Resolving the fibrotic niche of human liver cirrhosis at single-cell level. Nature 2019; 575: 512-518 [PMID: 31597160 DOI: 10.1038/s41586-019-1631-3]
- Lombardo J, Broadwater D, Collins R, Cebe K, Brady R, Harrison S. Hepatic mast cell concentration directly correlates 93 to stage of fibrosis in NASH. Hum Pathol 2019; 86: 129-135 [PMID: 30597154 DOI: 10.1016/j.humpath.2018.11.029]
- Kennedy L, Meadows V, Sybenga A, Demieville J, Chen L, Hargrove L, Ekser B, Dar W, Ceci L, Kundu D, Kyritsi K, 94 Pham L, Zhou T, Glaser S, Meng F, Alpini G, Francis H. Mast Cells Promote Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease Phenotypes and Microvesicular Steatosis in Mice Fed a Western Diet. Hepatology 2021; 74: 164-182 [PMID: 33434322] DOI: 10.1002/hep.31713]
- Kennedy L, Hargrove L, Demieville J, Bailey JM, Dar W, Polireddy K, Chen Q, Nevah Rubin MI, Sybenga A, 95 DeMorrow S, Meng F, Stockton L, Alpini G, Francis H. Knockout of l-Histidine Decarboxylase Prevents Cholangiocyte Damage and Hepatic Fibrosis in Mice Subjected to High-Fat Diet Feeding via Disrupted Histamine/Leptin Signaling. Am J Pathol 2018; 188: 600-615 [PMID: 29248461 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2017.11.016]
- Hargrove L, Kennedy L, Demieville J, Jones H, Meng F, DeMorrow S, Karstens W, Madeka T, Greene J Jr, Francis H. 96 Bile duct ligation-induced biliary hyperplasia, hepatic injury, and fibrosis are reduced in mast cell-deficient Kit(W-sh) mice. Hepatology 2017; 65: 1991-2004 [PMID: 28120369 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29079]
- Kyritsi K, Kennedy L, Meadows V, Hargrove L, Demieville J, Pham L, Sybenga A, Kundu D, Cerritos K, Meng F, Alpini G, Francis H. Mast Cells Induce Ductular Reaction Mimicking Liver Injury in Mice Through Mast Cell-Derived Transforming Growth Factor Beta 1 Signaling. Hepatology 2021; 73: 2397-2410 [PMID: 32761972 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31497
- Tandra S, Yeh MM, Brunt EM, Vuppalanchi R, Cummings OW, Ünalp-Arida A, Wilson LA, Chalasani N. Presence and 98 significance of microvesicular steatosis in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol 2011; 55: 654-659 [PMID: 21172393 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2010.11.021]
- 99 Fromenty B, Berson A, Pessayre D. Microvesicular steatosis and steatohepatitis: role of mitochondrial dysfunction and lipid peroxidation. J Hepatol 1997; 26 Suppl 1: 13-22 [PMID: 9138124 DOI: 10.1016/s0168-8278(97)82328-8]
- 100 Wagner M, Fickert P, Zollner G, Fuchsbichler A, Silbert D, Tsybrovskyy O, Zatloukal K, Guo GL, Schuetz JD, Gonzalez FJ, Marschall HU, Denk H, Trauner M. Role of farnesoid X receptor in determining hepatic ABC transporter expression and liver injury in bile duct-ligated mice. Gastroenterology 2003; 125: 825-838 [PMID: 12949728 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5085(03)01068-0]
- 101 Wunsch E, Milkiewicz M, Wasik U, Trottier J, Kempińska-Podhorodecka A, Elias E, Barbier O, Milkiewicz P. Expression of hepatic Fibroblast Growth Factor 19 is enhanced in Primary Biliary Cirrhosis and correlates with severity of the disease. Sci Rep 2015; 5: 13462 [PMID: 26293907 DOI: 10.1038/srep13462]
- Armstrong LE, Guo GL. Role of FXR in Liver Inflammation during Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. Curr Pharmacol Rep 2017; 3: 92-100 [PMID: 28983452 DOI: 10.1007/s40495-017-0085-2]
- 103 Meadows V, Kennedy L, Ekser B, Kyritsi K, Kundu D, Zhou T, Chen L, Pham L, Wu N, Demieville J, Hargrove L,



Glaser S, Alpini G, Francis H. Mast Cells Regulate Ductular Reaction and Intestinal Inflammation in Cholestasis Through Farnesoid X Receptor Signaling. Hepatology 2021; 74: 2684-2698 [PMID: 34164827 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32028]

- Bedossa P, Paradis V. Liver extracellular matrix in health and disease. J Pathol 2003; 200: 504-515 [PMID: 12845618 104 DOI: 10.1002/path.1397]
- 105 Paku S, Nagy P, Kopper L, Thorgeirsson SS. 2-acetylaminofluorene dose-dependent differentiation of rat oval cells into hepatocytes: confocal and electron microscopic studies. Hepatology 2004; 39: 1353-1361 [PMID: 15122764 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20178]
- Lorenzini S, Bird TG, Boulter L, Bellamy C, Samuel K, Aucott R, Clayton E, Andreone P, Bernardi M, Golding M, 106 Alison MR, Iredale JP, Forbes SJ. Characterisation of a stereotypical cellular and extracellular adult liver progenitor cell niche in rodents and diseased human liver. Gut 2010; 59: 645-654 [PMID: 20427399 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2009.182345]
- 107 Govaere O, Cockell S, Van Haele M, Wouters J, Van Delm W, Van den Eynde K, Bianchi A, van Eijsden R, Van Steenbergen W, Monbaliu D, Nevens F, Roskams T. High-throughput sequencing identifies aetiology-dependent differences in ductular reaction in human chronic liver disease. J Pathol 2019; 248: 66-76 [PMID: 30584802 DOI: 10.1002/path.5228
- 108 Mederacke I, Hsu CC, Troeger JS, Huebener P, Mu X, Dapito DH, Pradere JP, Schwabe RF. Fate tracing reveals hepatic stellate cells as dominant contributors to liver fibrosis independent of its aetiology. Nat Commun 2013; 4: 2823 [PMID: 24264436 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms3823]
- Herranz N, Gil J. Mechanisms and functions of cellular senescence. J Clin Invest 2018; 128: 1238-1246 [PMID: 109 29608137 DOI: 10.1172/JCI95148
- Birch J, Gil J. Blunting senescence boosts liver regeneration. Genes Dev 2020; 34: 463-464 [PMID: 32238449 DOI: 110 10.1101/gad.337394.120]
- Aravinthan A, Mells G, Allison M, Leathart J, Kotronen A, Yki-Jarvinen H, Daly AK, Day CP, Anstee QM, Alexander 111 G. Gene polymorphisms of cellular senescence marker p21 and disease progression in non-alcohol-related fatty liver disease. Cell Cycle 2014; 13: 1489-1494 [PMID: 24626178 DOI: 10.4161/cc.28471]
- 112 Ogrodnik M, Miwa S, Tchkonia T, Tiniakos D, Wilson CL, Lahat A, Day CP, Burt A, Palmer A, Anstee QM, Grellscheid SN, Hoeijmakers JHJ, Barnhoorn S, Mann DA, Bird TG, Vermeij WP, Kirkland JL, Passos JF, von Zglinicki T, Jurk D. Cellular senescence drives age-dependent hepatic steatosis. Nat Commun 2017; 8: 15691 [PMID: 28608850 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms15691]
- 113 Sun S, Xie F, Xu X, Cai Q, Zhang Q, Cui Z, Zheng Y, Zhou J. Advanced oxidation protein products induce S-phase arrest of hepatocytes via the ROS-dependent, β-catenin-CDK2-mediated pathway. Redox Biol 2018; 14: 338-353 [PMID: 29032312 DOI: 10.1016/j.redox.2017.09.011]
- Bellanti F, di Bello G, Iannelli G, Pannone G, Pedicillo MC, Boulter L, Lu WY, Tamborra R, Villani R, Vendemiale G, 114 Forbes SJ, Serviddio G. Inhibition of nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 promotes hepatic progenitor cell activation and differentiation. NPJ Regen Med 2021; 6: 28 [PMID: 34039998 DOI: 10.1038/s41536-021-00137-z]
- Strick-Marchand H, Masse GX, Weiss MC, Di Santo JP. Lymphocytes support oval cell-dependent liver regeneration. J 115 Immunol 2008; 181: 2764-2771 [PMID: 18684967 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.4.2764]
- Syn WK, Oo YH, Pereira TA, Karaca GF, Jung Y, Omenetti A, Witek RP, Choi SS, Guy CD, Fearing CM, Teaberry V, 116 Pereira FE, Adams DH, Diehl AM. Accumulation of natural killer T cells in progressive nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology 2010; 51: 1998-2007 [PMID: 20512988 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23599]
- Weng HL, Feng DC, Radaeva S, Kong XN, Wang L, Liu Y, Li Q, Shen H, Gao YP, Müllenbach R, Munker S, Huang T, 117 Chen JL, Zimmer V, Lammert F, Mertens PR, Cai WM, Dooley S, Gao B. IFN-y inhibits liver progenitor cell proliferation in HBV-infected patients and in 3,5-diethoxycarbonyl-1,4-dihydrocollidine diet-fed mice. J Hepatol 2013; 59: 738-745 [PMID: 23747755 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.05.041]
- 118 Syn WK, Witek RP, Curbishley SM, Jung Y, Choi SS, Enrich B, Omenetti A, Agboola KM, Fearing CM, Tilg H, Adams DH, Diehl AM. Role for hedgehog pathway in regulating growth and function of invariant NKT cells. Eur J Immunol 2009; **39**: 1879-1892 [PMID: 19544307 DOI: 10.1002/eji.200838890]
- 119 Diao H, Kon S, Iwabuchi K, Kimura C, Morimoto J, Ito D, Segawa T, Maeda M, Hamuro J, Nakayama T, Taniguchi M, Yagita H, Van Kaer L, Onóe K, Denhardt D, Rittling S, Uede T. Osteopontin as a mediator of NKT cell function in T cellmediated liver diseases. Immunity 2004; 21: 539-550 [PMID: 15485631 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2004.08.012]
- Jung Y, Witek RP, Syn WK, Choi SS, Omenetti A, Premont R, Guy CD, Diehl AM. Signals from dying hepatocytes 120 trigger growth of liver progenitors. Gut 2010; 59: 655-665 [PMID: 20427400 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2009.204354]
- Gieseck RL 3rd, Ramalingam TR, Hart KM, Vannella KM, Cantu DA, Lu WY, Ferreira-González S, Forbes SJ, Vallier 121 L, Wynn TA. Interleukin-13 Activates Distinct Cellular Pathways Leading to Ductular Reaction, Steatosis, and Fibrosis. Immunity 2016; 45: 145-158 [PMID: 27421703 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.06.009]
- 122 Syn WK, Choi SS, Liaskou E, Karaca GF, Agboola KM, Oo YH, Mi Z, Pereira TA, Zdanowicz M, Malladi P, Chen Y, Moylan C, Jung Y, Bhattacharya SD, Teaberry V, Omenetti A, Abdelmalek MF, Guy CD, Adams DH, Kuo PC, Michelotti GA, Whitington PF, Diehl AM. Osteopontin is induced by hedgehog pathway activation and promotes fibrosis progression in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology 2011; 53: 106-115 [PMID: 20967826 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23998]
- Grappone C, Pinzani M, Parola M, Pellegrini G, Caligiuri A, DeFranco R, Marra F, Herbst H, Alpini G, Milani S. 123 Expression of platelet-derived growth factor in newly formed cholangiocytes during experimental biliary fibrosis in rats. J *Hepatol* 1999; **31**: 100-109 [PMID: 10424289 DOI: 10.1016/s0168-8278(99)80169-x]
- 124 Chan LH, Wang W, Yeung W, Deng Y, Yuan P, Mak KK. Hedgehog signaling induces osteosarcoma development through Yap1 and H19 overexpression. Oncogene 2014; 33: 4857-4866 [PMID: 24141783 DOI: 10.1038/onc.2013.433]
- 125 Fernandez-L A, Northcott PA, Dalton J, Fraga C, Ellison D, Angers S, Taylor MD, Kenney AM. YAP1 is amplified and up-regulated in hedgehog-associated medulloblastomas and mediates Sonic hedgehog-driven neural precursor proliferation. Genes Dev 2009; 23: 2729-2741 [PMID: 19952108 DOI: 10.1101/gad.1824509]
- Marra F, Romanelli RG, Giannini C, Failli P, Pastacaldi S, Arrighi MC, Pinzani M, Laffi G, Montalto P, Gentilini P. 126 Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 as a chemoattractant for human hepatic stellate cells. Hepatology 1999; 29: 140-148 [PMID: 9862860 DOI: 10.1002/hep.510290107]



- Baum B, Settleman J, Quinlan MP. Transitions between epithelial and mesenchymal states in development and disease. 127 Semin Cell Dev Biol 2008; 19: 294-308 [PMID: 18343170 DOI: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2008.02.001]
- Meindl-Beinker NM, Dooley S. Transforming growth factor-beta and hepatocyte transdifferentiation in liver fibrogenesis. 128 J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2008; 23 Suppl 1: S122-S127 [PMID: 18336655 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2007.05297.x]
- 129 Choi SS, Diehl AM. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transitions in the liver. Hepatology 2009; 50: 2007-2013 [PMID: 19824076 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23196]
- 130 Xia JL, Dai C, Michalopoulos GK, Liu Y. Hepatocyte growth factor attenuates liver fibrosis induced by bile duct ligation. Am J Pathol 2006; 168: 1500-1512 [PMID: 16651617 DOI: 10.2353/ajpath.2006.050747]
- 131 Rygiel KA, Robertson H, Marshall HL, Pekalski M, Zhao L, Booth TA, Jones DE, Burt AD, Kirby JA. Epithelialmesenchymal transition contributes to portal tract fibrogenesis during human chronic liver disease. Lab Invest 2008; 88: 112-123 [PMID: 18059363 DOI: 10.1038/Labinvest.3700704]
- Ji S, Wang X, Shu J, Sun A, Si W, Guo X, Zhao B, Ji W, Jin L. In vitro generation of myofibroblasts-like cells from liver 132 epithelial progenitor cells of rhesus monkey (Macaca mulatta). In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 2011; 47: 383-390 [PMID: 21461639 DOI: 10.1007/s11626-011-9401-z]
- Yovchev MI, Grozdanov PN, Zhou H, Racherla H, Guha C, Dabeva MD. Identification of adult hepatic progenitor cells capable of repopulating injured rat liver. *Hepatology* 2008; 47: 636-647 [PMID: 18023068 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22047]
- Chu AS, Diaz R, Hui JJ, Yanger K, Zong Y, Alpini G, Stanger BZ, Wells RG. Lineage tracing demonstrates no evidence 134 of cholangiocyte epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in murine models of hepatic fibrosis. Hepatology 2011; 53: 1685-1695 [PMID: 21520179 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24206]
- 135 Theise ND, Kuwahara R. The tissue biology of ductular reactions in human chronic liver disease. Gastroenterology 2007; 133: 350-352 [PMID: 17631155 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.05.040]
- 136 Alvaro D, Mancino MG, Glaser S, Gaudio E, Marzioni M, Francis H, Alpini G. Proliferating cholangiocytes: a neuroendocrine compartment in the diseased liver. Gastroenterology 2007; 132: 415-431 [PMID: 17241889 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.07.023]
- Viebahn CS, Benseler V, Holz LE, Elsegood CL, Vo M, Bertolino P, Ganss R, Yeoh GC. Invading macrophages play a 137 major role in the liver progenitor cell response to chronic liver injury. J Hepatol 2010; 53: 500-507 [PMID: 20561705 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2010.04.010]
- Tilg H, Moschen AR. Adipocytokines: mediators linking adipose tissue, inflammation and immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 138 2006; 6: 772-783 [PMID: 16998510 DOI: 10.1038/nri1937]
- Kaser S, Moschen A, Cayon A, Kaser A, Crespo J, Pons-Romero F, Ebenbichler CF, Patsch JR, Tilg H. Adiponectin and 139 its receptors in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. Gut 2005; 54: 117-121 [PMID: 15591515 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2003.037010]
- Xu A, Wang Y, Keshaw H, Xu LY, Lam KS, Cooper GJ. The fat-derived hormone adiponectin alleviates alcoholic and 140 nonalcoholic fatty liver diseases in mice. J Clin Invest 2003; 112: 91-100 [PMID: 12840063 DOI: 10.1172/JCI17797]
- Masaki T, Chiba S, Tatsukawa H, Yasuda T, Noguchi H, Seike M, Yoshimatsu H. Adiponectin protects LPS-induced 141 liver injury through modulation of TNF-alpha in KK-Ay obese mice. *Hepatology* 2004; 40: 177-184 [PMID: 15239101 DOI: 10.1002/hep.202821
- Singhal NS, Patel RT, Qi Y, Lee YS, Ahima RS. Loss of resistin ameliorates hyperlipidemia and hepatic steatosis in 142 leptin-deficient mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2008; 295: E331-E338 [PMID: 18505833 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00577.2007]
- Bertolani C, Sancho-Bru P, Failli P, Bataller R, Aleffi S, DeFranco R, Mazzinghi B, Romagnani P, Milani S, Ginés P, 143 Colmenero J, Parola M, Gelmini S, Tarquini R, Laffi G, Pinzani M, Marra F. Resistin as an intrahepatic cytokine: overexpression during chronic injury and induction of proinflammatory actions in hepatic stellate cells. Am J Pathol 2006; 169: 2042-2053 [PMID: 17148667 DOI: 10.2353/ajpath.2006.060081]
- 144 Wasmuth HE, Tacke F, Trautwein C. Chemokines in liver inflammation and fibrosis. Semin Liver Dis 2010; 30: 215-225 [PMID: 20665374 DOI: 10.1055/s-0030-1255351]
- 145 Samuel VT, Shulman GI. Mechanisms for insulin resistance: common threads and missing links. Cell 2012; 148: 852-871 [PMID: 22385956 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.02.017]
- 146 Itoh T, Miyajima A. Liver regeneration by stem/progenitor cells. *Hepatology* 2014; 59: 1617-1626 [PMID: 24115180] DOI: 10.1002/hep.26753]
- Navarro-Corcuera A, Sehrawat TS, Jalan-Sakrikar N, Gibbons HR, Pirius NE, Khanal S, Hamdan FH, Aseem SO, Cao 147 S, Banales JM, Kang N, Faubion WA, LaRusso NF, Shah VH, Huebert RC. Long non-coding RNA ACTA2-AS1 promotes ductular reaction by interacting with the p300/ELK1 complex. J Hepatol 2022; 76: 921-933 [PMID: 34953958 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.12.014]



W J H World Journal of Henatology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Hepatol 2023 June 27; 15(6): 741-754

DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.741

ISSN 1948-5182 (online)

REVIEW

Recent advances in pathophysiology, diagnosis and management of hepatorenal syndrome: A review

Calvin Kiani, Andreas G Zori

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Emran TB, Bangladesh; Kumar R, India

Received: February 28, 2023 Peer-review started: February 28, 2023 First decision: March 10, 2023 Revised: April 18, 2023 Accepted: May 6, 2023 Article in press: May 6, 2023 Published online: June 27, 2023



Calvin Kiani, Andreas G Zori, Department of Internal Medicine, Section of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL 32610, United States

Corresponding author: Andreas G Zori, MD, Assistant Professor, Department of Internal Medicine, Section of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University of Florida, 1600 SW Archer Road, Gainesville, FL 32610, United States. andreas.zori@medicine.ufl.edu

Abstract

Hepatorenal syndrome with acute kidney injury (HRS-AKI) is a form of rapidly progressive kidney dysfunction in patients with decompensated cirrhosis and/or acute severe liver injury such as acute liver failure. Current data suggest that HRS-AKI occurs secondary to circulatory dysfunction characterized by marked splanchnic vasodilation, leading to reduction of effective arterial blood volume and glomerular filtration rate. Thus, volume expansion and splanchnic vasoconstriction constitute the mainstay of medical therapy. However, a significant proportion of patients do not respond to medical management. These patients often require renal replacement therapy and may be eligible for liver or combined liver-kidney transplantation. Although there have been advances in the management of patients with HRS-AKI including novel biomarkers and medications, better-calibrated studies, more widely available biomarkers, and improved prognostic models are sorely needed to further improve diagnosis and treatment of HRS-AKI.

Key Words: Hepatorenal syndrome; Pathophysiology; Diagnosis; Management; Review

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Hepatorenal syndrome (HRS) is a specific form of acute kidney injury that occurs in the presence of severe acute liver injury (*e.g.*, acute liver failure or severe alcoholic hepatitis), decompensated cirrhosis, or acute on chronic liver failure and is particularly associated with poor prognosis. Here, we reviewed some of the recent advancements in the diagnosis and treatment of HRS.

Zaisbidena® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

Citation: Kiani C, Zori AG. Recent advances in pathophysiology, diagnosis and management of hepatorenal syndrome: A review. World J Hepatol 2023; 15(6): 741-754 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5182/full/v15/i6/741.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.741

INTRODUCTION

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is a common complication in patients with cirrhosis and has been reported in 20%-50% of the hospitalized patients with cirrhosis[1,2]. Within the spectrum of AKI in cirrhosis, hepatorenal syndrome (HRS) with AKI (HRS-AKI) has by far the worst prognosis[3]. HRS-AKI is a rapidly progressive type of AKI with a median survival of few weeks[3,4]. Although most commonly seen in the setting of cirrhosis, HRS-AKI can occur in patients with acute liver injury such as acute liver failure or severe alcoholic hepatitis[3,5]. Observations of acute progressive kidney injury without significant preexisting kidney dysfunction, minimal histological abnormalities, and reversible angiographic changes in renal vasculature led to the hypothesis that HRS-AKI is a functional and potentially reversible phenomenon caused by hemodynamic instability, splanchnic vasodilation and renal vasoconstriction[6-10]. However, more recent data have shown the pathophysiology is more complex[10-14].

In this review, we examine the current understanding of the mechanisms of kidney injury in patients with cirrhosis, discuss the contemporary classification of AKI in patients with cirrhosis, and review the recent advances in diagnosis and management of HRS-AKI.

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

HRS-AKI is primarily due to an unbalanced but potentially reversible cirrhosis-induced circulatory dysfunction without structural kidney damage[11-14]. This understanding of HRS pathophysiology is supported by clinical findings including the return to normal kidney function occurring commonly after liver transplantation, successful kidney transplant using donors with HRS, and normal postmortem histology and angiography[9,10,15,16]. Direct experimental evaluation of the pathophysiology of HRS remains lacking due to lack of a fitting animal model. The primary mechanism of renal injury, splanchnic hypoperfusion, triggers a physiologic response including sodium retention and renal vasoconstriction. These mechanisms generally cannot compensate to maintain perfusion and as the disease progresses, eventually contribute to circulatory dysfunction and thus worsen renal function. The compensatory mechanisms, maladaptive responses, and their role in disease progression will be detailed in the following sections.

Cirrhosis-induced circulatory dysfunction

Cirrhosis causes elevated intrahepatic vascular resistance and a paradoxical splanchnic vasodilatation due to increased production of mediators such as nitric oxide and prostacyclins[17-20]. Compensatory hyperdynamic circulation initially preserves the effective intravascular volume in early stages of cirrhosis. As the cirrhosis progresses or during times of acute stress, the hyperdynamic cardiac circulation cannot compensate for the splanchnic vasodilation resulting in activation of other compensatory mechanisms. The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS), the sympathetic nervous system (SNS), and at later stages, the non-osmotic secretion of arginine vasopressin are subsequently activated to maintain effective intravascular volume[21-24]. These responses cause vasoconstriction as well as water and sodium retention in an attempt to counteract vasodilation and maintain adequate intravascular volume. However, with further disease progression and in the absence of effective treatment, these compensatory mechanisms not only will fail to adequately counterbalance the vasodilation but begin to contribute to renal dysfunction. Renal vasoconstriction begins to impair renal blood flow and therefore worsens renal function. Volume retention contributes to worsening portal hypertension, which in turn worsens the underlying physiology which initiates and perpetuates HRS.

An interesting and specific finding in HRS-AKI is the sequence and distribution of microvascular changes in the kidney itself. In the early stages of cirrhosis and in the presence of mild portal hypertension, as renal blood flow decreases, resistive indices (RIs) measured by Doppler ultrasound show a gradual increase starting from the main renal artery (hilum) toward the cortical arteries, sparing the outer cortex parenchyma [25-27]. By contrast, in later stages and in the presence of severe portal hypertension, the RI gap between hilum and cortex disappears and cortical ischemia occurs[26,27]. Therefore, cortical ischemia is considered to be a hallmark feature of HRS-AKI. Another potential contributing factor to HRS-AKI in cirrhosis is abnormal renal vascular response to stimuli and altered autoregulation of kidney blood flow. Despite decreased renal blood flow, the vasoconstrictor effect of angiotensin II on the efferent arterioles and vasodilator effect of nitric oxide on the afferent arterioles



preserve adequate pressure in the glomeruli to keep glomerular filtration rate (GFR) within normal limits^[26]. However, as cirrhosis advances, GFR starts to decline presumably due to the disruption of nitric oxide production and progressive cortical ischemia caused by the very same compensatory mechanisms explained above. Animal models have also shown a blunted vasodilatory response to bradykinin and an augmented vasoconstrictive response to noradrenaline[28,29]. If the decreased renal blood flow is not reversed quickly, then the persistent vasoconstriction and ischemia could lead to acute tubular necrosis (ATN), which may not improve even after the adequate renal blood flow has been restored. The potential for permeant dysfunction as a result of an acute insult from HRS-AKI illustrates the importance of early diagnosis and treatment.

Cirrhotic cardiomyopathy

Cirrhosis-induced cardiac dysfunction or cirrhotic cardiomyopathy is cardiac dysfunction and abnormal response to stimuli in patients with advanced cirrhosis in the absence of structural cardiac disease. This phenomenon is observed in up to 50% of cirrhotic patients with varying degree of severity[30-32]. As mentioned earlier, the compensatory response to the splanchnic vasodilation includes both increase in cardiac output and activation of RAAS and SNS. However, chronic activation of RAAS and SNS may result in impaired cardiac response to stress, diastolic dysfunction, electrophysiological abnormalities (e.g., prolonged QT interval), and eventually decreased cardiac output[30-33]. Although cardiac compensatory mechanisms may be able to maintain adequate profusion under normal circumstances, they can collapse under physiologic and pathologic stressors such as infections (particularly spontaneous bacterial peritonitis), bleeding, or inappropriate use of medications such as β-blockers, diuretics and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors[31,33,34]. Because increased cardiac output is an essential compensatory mechanism to maintain renal profusion in the setting of vasodilation, reduced cardiac output can have significant negative effects on renal profusion and has been associated with development of HRS and poor outcomes in patients with HRS[33].

Inflammation

In recent years, the notion that decompensated cirrhosis is a constant inflammatory state has emerged and a growing body of evidence shows pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as interleukin 6 (IL-6), IL-8 and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) may play a central role in the organ dysfunction in patients with cirrhosis[35-38]. The levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines increase with disease progression as a response to sterile (non-infectious) inflammation or infectious inflammation[37,39]. Sterile inflammation typically manifests with systemic inflammatory response syndrome and is mainly driven by danger-associated molecular patterns such as high-mobility group protein B1. In patients with cirrhosis infectious, inflammation is mainly driven by pathogen-associated molecular patterns from gutderived bacterial translocation but can also be associated with other sources of infection [38-40]. The inflammatory response may have prognostic value in predicting progression of AKI and mortality[40, 41]. Furthermore, levels of certain inflammatory mediators in the serum (IL-6, TNF- α , vascular adhesion protein-1) and urine (monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin) may help to differentiate AKI-HRS from other causes of AKI such as prerenal azotemia. In addition to changes in the systemic inflammatory environment, patients with decompensated cirrhosis have increased expression of inflammatory receptors such as toll-like receptor 4 (TLR-4) in the kidneys[38, 42]. These subtle structural changes can lead to exaggerated tubulointerstitial, glomerular, and vascular injuries in response to relatively minor hemodynamic changes or occult infections[43,44].

Other factors

In addition to circulatory dysfunction and inflammation, there is evidence that other factors contribute to the development of HRS. Bile cast nephropathy or cholemic nephropathy in decompensated cirrhosis may contribute to renal dysfunction as patients with higher bilirubin have lower response to therapy in HRS[45,46]. However, the causative relationship between bile cast nephropathy and renal dysfunction in HRS has not been clearly established. Relative adrenal insufficiency in cirrhosis, formerly called hepatoadrenal syndrome, is a relatively common phenomenon occurring in 24%-47% of patients with decompensated cirrhosis. The lack of normal adrenal function impairs the compensatory response to hypoperfusion and increases the risk of AKI-HRS[47]. Although glucocorticoid supplementation may improve outcomes in patients with relative adrenal insufficiency and septic shock, the effect of supplementation on AKI-HRS outcomes has not been evaluated rigorously. Figure 1 summarizes the pathophysiology of HRS-AKI

DIAGNOSIS

In recent years, the definition and diagnostic criteria of AKI-HRS have been adjusted and novel diagnostic biomarkers have been proposed [48-50]. Two forms of HRS are currently recognized: HRS-AKI (formerly known as HRS type 1) and HRS-non-AKI (HRS-NAKI) (formerly known as HRS type 2). HRS-NAKI is further divided into two subtypes: HRS - acute kidney disease (HRS-AKD) defined as



Kiani C et al. Updates in hepatorenal syndrome



Figure 1 Pathophysiology of hepatorenal syndrome. AVP: Arginine vasopressin; DAMPs: Danger-associated molecular patterns; GFR: Glomerular filtration rate; PAMPs: Pathogen-associated molecular patterns; RAAS: Renin angiotensin aldosterone system; SNS: Sympathetic nervous system.

estimated GFR (eGFR) < 60 mL/min per 1.73 m² for less than 3 months and HRS-chronic kidney disease (HRS-CKD) defined as eGFR < 60 mL/min per 1.73 m² for more than 3 months. Currently, the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases (AASLD) defines AKI-HRS according to the International Club of Ascites (ICA) criteria as an increase in serum creatinine (SCr) $\ge 0.3 \text{ mg/dL}$ within 48 h or increase \geq 1.5 times from baseline SCr that is known or presumed to have occurred within the preceding 7 d. The other diagnostic criteria for HRS-AKI have remained largely unchanged from HRS type 1 including cirrhosis with ascites, no response after 2 consecutive days of diuretic withdrawal and plasma volume expansion with albumin infusion (1 g/kg body weight per day), absence of shock, no current or recent use of nephrotoxic drugs (non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, aminoglycosides, or iodinated contrast media), and no signs of structural kidney injury. Evidence for structural kidney disease includes proteinuria (> 500 mg per day), microhematuria (> 50 red blood cells per high-power field), and/or abnormal renal ultrasonography. The updated criteria have adopted lower thresholds of creatinine increase and no absolute minimum creatinine necessary for diagnosis primarily to facilitate earlier identification of patients at risk for poor outcomes. Despite improvement in the HRS-AKI criteria, they do not differ for patients with underlying CKD, which can make diagnosis more challenging for these patients.

Novel diagnostic biomarkers

Despite improved understanding of the pathogenesis and diagnostic criteria of HRS-AKI, it remains a diagnosis of exclusion and requires a period of observation after diuretic/nephrotoxic medication withdrawal. Establishing the diagnosis can be difficult due to the similar presentations of other causes of AKI such as prerenal AKI and ATN. In addition, AKI-HRS can result in ATN as the disease progresses, which further complicates distinguishing the two entities[51]. Although the ICA criteria and its proposed treatment algorithm try to address this issue, accurate differentiation may not be feasible in a timely fashion especially when patients' condition is rapidly changing. Thus, there is an unmet need for biomarkers to quickly and accurately differentiate HRS-AKI from other causes of AKI and stratify risk. Accurately predicting renal function in patients with cirrhosis is also essential as this would allow for earlier identification of patients with renal dysfunction. However, accurately estimating GFR is challenging as standard SCr and Cr-based equations are unreliable in patients with cirrhosis because sarcopenia, impaired production of Cr (the precursor of SCr), and increased Cr filtration are common and result in the underestimation of renal dysfunction[52,53]. A new model, the royal free hospital cirrhosis GFR, which includes sodium, presence of ascites, blood urea nitrogen, and international normalized ratio in the equation, has been suggested to be more accurate for estimating renal function in this population. However external validation in large cohorts has not been completed[54]. There are several novel biomarkers under investigation to improve diagnosis and prognostication in AKI-HRS including plasma cystatin C, urinary neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (uNGAL), interleukin-18 (IL-8), kidney injury molecule-1, and liver-type fatty acid-binding protein and albumin[55-60]. Among these biomarkers, uNGAL, IL-18 and cystatin C appear to be the most promising biomarkers. IL-18 and uNGAL can differentiate ATN from other types of AKI and predict mortality in cirrhosis[59,60]. Specifically, uNGAL is identified in the most recent 2021 AASLD guidelines as the most promising



biomarker in distinguishing HRS-AKI from ATN and suggests measuring it on day 3 from onset of renal dysfunction for greatest accuracy[49]. Plasma cystatin C (the most commonly used marker besides SCr) predicts HRS and mortality in patients with cirrhosis[59,60]. An additional advantage to cystatin C is that it has become more widely performed, can yield results relatively quickly, and can predict GFR more accurately in patients with sarcopenia^[59]. Using biomarkers including uNGAL, IL-18, liver fatty acid-binding protein (L-FABP), and albumin in a combination panel may improve their ability to differentiate between HRS and ATN as well as predict AKI progression and death[55]. Specifically, the biomarker combination of cystatin C and uNGAL and predictive models MELD-cystatin C and MELD-NGAL have shown the potential for improving diagnosis and risk stratification, making them attractive topics for future research[58,60]. MicroRNAs (e.g., microRNA-122) and metabolomics signature associated with hepatorenal dysfunction (4-acetamidobutanoate, trans-aconitate, 1-methylhistidine, glucuronate, N4-acetylcytidine, 3-ureidopropionate, 3-methoxytyramine sulfate, cytidine, S-adenosylhomocysteine, and myo-inositol) have shown promising results predicting mortality and kidney dysfunction in small studies but need validation in large prospective cohorts[61,62]. Tables 1 and 2 summarize commonly used methods of estimating GFR and the novel biomarkers and equations for diagnosis of AKI in cirrhosis. Although these novel markers are promising, they are not all readily available, often do not have standard cut-off values, have values that do not correlate with specific stages of AKI, and have cut-off values that vary by type of AKI. Therefore, standardization and validation are needed in prospective studies. In addition, given the importance of early diagnosis and intervention, biomarkers need to have a rapid turn-around to be clinically useful, which is often not the case in many, especially smaller, institutions. However, they have the potential to allow for earlier more specific diagnosis, which facilitates more aggressive intervention, and when appropriate, evaluation for liver transplant.

TREATMENT

Despite the growth of knowledge in pathogenesis and shifts in definition and prognostication, HRS-AKI is still associated with high morbidity and mortality. The mainstay of therapy includes volume expansion and vasoconstrictors. However, there have been changes in the availability and data supporting the use of terlipressin recently. If medical management fails, renal replacement therapy and eventually organ transplant should be considered.

Medical management

In patients with cirrhosis and AKI, when precipitating factors are excluded first patients are generally treated with diuretic withdrawal and a 48-hour volume expansion with albumin (1 g/Kg, 100 g maximum). Historically subsequent treatment has been variable depending on the availability of terlipressin. In places where terlipressin is not available, a combination of midodrine (α_1 -receptor agonist), octreotide (splanchnic vasoconstrictor), and albumin are typically used outside the intensive care unit (ICU) and low-dose noradrenaline with albumin are used in the ICU. Terlipressin (vasopressin agonist), which can be administered peripherally, has been used for many years outside the United States and has demonstrated a higher response rate than albumin alone or midodrine, octreotide, and albumin combination regimen and comparable to noradrenaline plus albumin[63-73]. When coadministered with albumin, terlipressin has better outcomes than terlipressin alone, which may be due to some of the anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties of albumin besides oncotic volume expansion[74,75]. Terlipressin has been studied extensively in prospective studies, randomized trials, and meta-analyses and its efficacy in reversal of HRS-AKI (Tables 1 and 2) and as a result has been approved for the treatment of HRS outside the United States for several years [76-80]. However, despite mounting evidence for the benefit of terlipressin, including initial data from the United Statesbased CONFRIM trial, the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) rejected terlipressin due to safety concerns as recently as 2020. This was controversial at the time not only because of terlipressin's wide approval outside the United States but also because the FDA subcommittee on Cardiovascular and Renal Drugs Advisory Committee voted 8-7 in favor of approval. After post-hoc analyses of the CONFIRM trial with proposed changes to mitigate the risk of safety events, terlipressin was ultimately approved in the United States for the treatment of HRS-AKI in 2022, although with several warnings. The CONFIRM trial showed terlipressin was more effective than placebo in reversal of HRS (32% vs 17%), although there was no statistical difference in death at 90 d. However, the trial also highlighted safety considerations when using terlipressin. Respiratory failure (14% vs 5%) and death within 90 d due to respiratory disorders (11% vs 2%) was more common in the terlipressin group compared to in the placebo group. As a result, terlipressin is contraindicated in patients with ongoing ischemia (coronary, peripheral, or mesenteric) and hypoxia or worsening respiratory symptoms. For all patients, continuous pulse oximetry is recommended to monitor the development of respiratory failure. The FDA also recommends paying close attention to volume status as this may predispose patients to respiratory failure and consider discontinuing terlipressin in patients who develop fluid overload. Liver transplantation was performed in 29% of the placebo group compared to 23% in the terlipressin group.



Table 1 Methods of estimating glomerular filtration rate and the novel equations for diagnosis of acute kidney injury in cirrhosis						
Ref.	Equation		Variables	Advantage		
	Cr-based					
Cockcroft et al[93]	Cockcroft-Gault	1976	Age, SCr, sex, weight			
Levey <i>et al</i> [94]	MDRD-4	2006	Age, SCr, sex, ethnicity			
Levey et al[95]	MDRD-6	2007	Age, SCr, sex, ethnicity, BUN, albumin			
Levey <i>et al</i> [96]	CKD-Epi	2009	Age, SCr, sex, ethnicity			
Kalafateli <i>et al</i> [54]	The royal free hospital	2017	Age, SCr, sex, ascites, BUN, Na, INR			
Cystatin C-based			Age, sex, cystatin C	Equations including cystatin C are more accurate in patients		
Hoek et al[97]		2003		with sarcopenia and advanced liver disease		
Larsson <i>et al</i> [98]	CKD Epi-Cystatin C	2004				
Inker et al[99]		2012				
	Cr-Cystatin C-based		Age, sex, cystatin C, SCr,			
Stevens et al[100]	CKD EPI -Cr Cystatin	2008	ethnicity			
Inker <i>et al</i> [99]		2012				
Mindikoglu et al[101]		2016				

ACLF: Acute on chronic liver failure; AKI: Acute kidney injury; BUN: Blood urea nitrogen; CKD: Chronic kidney disease; INR: International normalized ratio; MELD: Model for end-stage liver disease; Na: Sodium; SCr: Serum creatinine; UTI: Urinary tract infection.

Because of the possibility that terlipressin treatment resulted in clinical change, which precluded patients from transplant, the FDA added a warning label indicating that terlipressin-induced adverse events may make a patient ineligible for liver transplant and risks of using terlipressin may outweigh benefits in patients with MELD \geq 35. An additional warning was issued for patients with severe acute on chronic liver failure (ACLF grade 3), because the likelihood of adverse events was higher and the response to treatment diminished[72,81]. These findings suggest that renal replacement therapy and liver transplant evaluation should be considered early in patients with high baseline SCr and ACLF grade. Tables 3 and 4 summarize clinical trials and meta-analyses on terlipressin effects on HRS-AKI, although it should be noted that no meta-analyses include the CONFIRM trial.

Norepinephrine, although not FDA-approved for the treatment of HRS-AKI, has shown efficacy and is frequently used off label for the treatment of HRS, especially in the United States where terlipressin was not available until recently. The need for central venous administration and close hemodynamic monitoring generally limits its use to the ICU. Comparison of terlipressin and norepinephrine has been limited to single-center open-label studies, but has not shown a clear difference in the reversal of HRS or mortality[81,82]. Given the lack of clear benefit of terlipressin over norepinephrine, higher cost of terlipressin, warnings issued by the FDA, and established practice patterns using norepinephrine in the United States, it is unclear how quickly and widely terlipressin will be adopted.

Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt

There is interest in using transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt (TIPS) treatment of HRS-AKI because it can improve portal hypertension and cardiac output, two of the central causes of HRS-AKI. Although data regarding the role of TIPS in HRS generally involves small numbers of patients, a metaanalysis of 128 patients treated with TIPS for HRS showed improvement in renal function in 93% of patients with HRS-AKI. The significance of this finding is difficult to assess as there was no comparison group, significant heterogeneity, and high mortality[83]. There is also significant risk associated with TIPS insertion in patients with HRS-AKI including 90-d mortality of 25%-80%[84]. However, it is difficult to determine to what degree the high mortality was the result of TIPS. Given the lack of prospective or larger well-conducted retrospective analysis of TIPS for HRS as well as high procedural risks and complications associated with TIPS insertion in patients who will benefit. Perhaps the clearest benefit of TIPS in the management of HRS-AKI lies in prevention by ameliorating portal hypertension. This is supported by a lower incidence of HRS in patients with diuretic resistant ascites treated with TIPS compared to those treated with serial paracentesis (9% vs 31%)[85].

Table 2 Methods of estimatin	glomerular filtration rate and the novel biomarkers for dia	gnosis of acute kidney injury in cirrhosis

Ref.	Biomarker	Year Published- Patient population	Advantage(s)	Limitation(s)	
Fagundes et al[102]	NGAL and/or IL-	2012-Cirrhosis	Best supporting data; can differentiate HRS-AKI	Increased in inflammation and infections (UTI); lack of standard cut-offs	
Verna et al[103]	18	2012-Cirrhosis	and ATN; predicts AKI progression; predicts mortality; NGAL has good performance in patients		
Tsai <i>et al</i> [104]		2013-Cirrhosis	with ACLF		
Gungor <i>et al</i> [105]		2014-Cirrhosis			
Belcher et al[55]		2014-Cirrhosis			
Barreto <i>et al</i> [106]		2014-Cirrhosis			
Qasem <i>et al</i> [56]		2014-Cirrhosis			
Treeprasertsuk <i>et al</i> [107]		2015-Cirrhosis			
Ariza et al[57]		2015-Cirrhosis			
Markwardt et al[59]	Cystatin C	2017-Cirrhosis	Predicts AKI progression; predicts short-term	Increases in CKD	
Maiwall <i>et al</i> [60]		2017-Cirrhosis	(MELD-cystatin score)		
Jaques et al[108]		2019-Cirrhosis			
Belcher et al[55]	KIM-1	2014-Cirrhosis	Predicts AKI progression; Predicts short-term	Low sensitivity and specificity for differentiating causes of AKI	
Ariza et al[57]		2015-Cirrhosis	mortality		
Belcher et al[55]	L-FABP	2014-Cirhrosis	Predicts AKI progression; predicts short-term	Increased in CKD; poor performance in differentiating causes of AKI	
Jiang <i>et al</i> [109]		2018-Cirrhosis	mortality		
Belcher <i>et al</i> [55]	Albumin	2014-Cirrhosis	Can differentiate HRS-AKI and ATN; good performance in ACLF; predicts short-term mortality; readily available	Decreased level in advanced cirrhosis	

ACLF: Acute on chronic liver failure; AKI: Acute kidney injury; ATN: Acute tubular necrosis; CKD: Chronic kidney disease; HRS-AKI: Hepatorenal syndrome with acute kidney injury; IL-18: Interleukin 18; KIM-1: Kidney injury molecule 1; L-FABP: Liver-type fatty acid-binding protein; MELD: Model for end-stage liver disease; NGAL: Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin; SCr: Serum creatinine; UTI: Urinary tract infection.

Renal replacement therapy

Renal replacement therapy (RRT), usually in the form of continuous hemodialysis, is the second-line treatment in patients with HRS-AKI who fail medical management and often regarded as a bridge to organ transplant since it does not address the underlying physiology of HRS. Additionally, RRT does not improve survival in patients with HRS-AKI after failure of medical management[86]. Based on current evidence, RRT is best reserved for potential liver transplant candidates or if HRS-AKI is due to a potentially reversible condition such as infection or bleeding. In patients who are not transplant candidates or if the inciting cause is unclear or unlikely to be reversed, palliative care should be considered prior to initiation of RRT.

Artificial liver support systems

Liver support systems, including molecular adsorbent recirculating system and extracorporeal liver assist device, are forms of albumin dialysis where albumin recirculate as a scavenger of bacterial products and inflammatory cytokines have been considered for HRS-AKI. Thus far, there are no clear benefits in AKI-HRS and studies have shown mixed results regarding improving renal blood flow and survival[48]. Thus, further studies are needed before its use can be officially recommended in HRS-AKI but it may be considered as a bridge to transplant in selected patients.

Organ transplant

Liver transplant is considered definitive treatment for HRS-AKI because it reverses the underlying pathophysiology causing renal impairment. This is evidenced by renal recovery in up to 75% of patients with HRS after liver transplant alone (LTA)[87,88]. The strongest predictor of non-recovery of HRS-AKI is the duration of pretransplant dialysis, with each additional day of pretransplant dialysis increasing the risk of non-recovery by 6% [89]. Other pre-transplant factors associated with lack of renal recovery after LTA are older age, higher baseline SCr, prolonged ischemia during transplant, exposure to nephrotoxic agents, diabetes, and development of ATN[87-91]. Unfortunately, 6%-10% of patients with HRS who have LTA will develop end-stage renal disease by 1-year post-transplant[87-89]. Therefore, it



Table 3 Results of studies using vasoconstrictor therapy in patients with hepatorenal syndrome with acute kidney injury						
Ref.	Study design	Treatment	Alb	HRS reversal (%)	Mortality (%)	
Uriz et al[110], 2000	Prospective	Terlipressin	Yes	77	Not defined	
Halimi <i>et al</i> [111], 2002	Retrospective	Terlipressin	No	72	Not defined	
Moreau <i>et al</i> [112], 2002	Retrospective	Terlipressin	Yes	58	Not defined	
Ortega et al[75], 2002	Prospective	Terlipressin	Yes	77	Not defined	
Duvoux et al[113], 2002	Prospective	NE	Yes	83	Not defined	
Solanki <i>et al</i> [60], 2003	Randomized	Terlipressin vs placebo	Yes	42 vs 0	58 vs 100	
Alessandria et al[64], 2007	Randomized	Terlipressin vs NE	Yes	83 vs 70	25 vs 20	
Neri et al[65], 2008	Randomized	Terlipressin vs placebo	Yes	81 vs 19	27 vs 58	
Sharma <i>et al</i> [66], 2008	Randomized	Terlipressin vs NE	Yes	50 vs 50	45 vs 45	
Sanyal et al[67], 2008	Randomized	Terlipressin vs placebo	Yes	34 vs 13	57 vs 62	
Martin-Llahi <i>et al</i> [68], 2008	Randomized	Terlipressin vs placebo	Yes	44 vs 9	74 vs 83	
Singh <i>et al</i> [69], 2012	Randomized	Terlipressin vs NE	Yes	39 vs 43	70 vs 65	
Cavallin <i>et al</i> [70], 2015	Randomized	Terlipressin vs MID plus OCT	Yes	70 vs 29	30 <i>vs</i> 32	
Cavallin <i>et al</i> [71], 2016	Randomized	Terlipressin infusion vs terlipressin bolus	Yes	56 vs 46	59 vs 43	
Boyer <i>et al</i> [72], 2016	Randomized	Terlipressin vs placebo	Yes	24 vs 15	33 vs 35	
Wong et al[73], 2019	Randomized	Terlipressin vs placebo	Yes	29 vs 16	73 vs 71	
Wong <i>et al</i> [81], 2021	Randomized	Terlipressin vs placebo	Yes	32 vs 16	51 vs 45	

Alb: Albumin; HRS: Hepatorenal syndrome; HRS-AKI: Hepatorenal syndrome with acute kidney injury; MID: Midodrine; NE: Norepinephrine; OCT: Octreotide.

Table 4 Results of recent meta-analyses comparing terlipressin to other vasoconstrictor therapies in hepatorenal syndrome with acute kidney injury

Ref.	Study design	Number of studies	HRS reversal	Mortality benefit	Data quality
Facciorusso <i>et al</i> [76], 2017	Meta- analysis	13	Same as NE; better than Alb+OCT; better than Alb+MID+OCT	Possible short-term benefits	Very low to low
Isralesen <i>et al</i> [77], 2017	Meta- analysis	10	Same as NE; better than Alb+OCT; better than Alb+MID+OCT	No difference	Very low to low
Nanda et al[<mark>78</mark>], 2018	Meta- analysis	13	Same as NE; better than Alb+OCT; better than Alb+MID+OCT	No difference	Poor to good
Wang et al[79], 2018	Meta- analysis	18	Same as NE; better than Alb+OCT; better than Alb+MID+OCT	Confers short-term benefits	Low to high
Best <i>et al</i> [80], 2019	Meta- analysis	25	Same as NE; better than Alb+OCT; better than Alb+MID+OCT	No difference	Very low to low

Alb: Albumin; HRS: Hepatorenal syndrome; HRS-AKI: Hepatorenal syndrome with acute kidney injury; MID: Midodrine; NE: Norepinephrine; OCT: Octreotide.

is essential to consider the likelihood of renal recovery after LTA and if the patient would benefit more from simultaneous liver-kidney transplant (SLKT). Currently, the main indications for SLKT are AKI requiring RRT or GFR < 25 mg/dL for more than 4-6 wk (guidelines vary) and CKD, commonly defined as GFR < 30 mg/dL at the time of listing with a GFR persistently < 60 mg/dL for at least 90 d[48,89]. The decision regarding LTA or SLKT must also weigh the potential benefit for the individual patient with consideration of the principles of just and equitable organ allocation. In an attempt to balance these factors agencies responsible for organ allocation have set specific guidelines in their respective countries [92].

Bishidene® WJH https://www.wjgnet.com

CONCLUSION

Although the primary cause of HRS remains circulatory dysfunction resulting in impaired renal profusion, there is now an improved understanding of the role of other factors including the inflammatory environment and cardiac dysfunction. This has contributed to the development of better biomarkers for earlier and more accurate diagnosis of HRS. Despite not being widely available the offer promise that effective treatment can be applied during the critical early stages of the disease where there is the greatest potential for benefit. Medical treatment remains primarily vasoactive medications and albumin, and have not yet been able to exploit the improved understanding of pathophysiology. However, the approval of terlipressin in the United States and clearer delineation of patients most likely to benefit from this therapy offers hope for improved medical management in the future. Despite advances in medical treatment, liver transplantation remains the most definitive treatment and should be considered early in the disease course as delay can increase the risk of incomplete renal recovery after transplant.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Kiani C drafted the initial manuscript; Zori AG contributed to, edited, and drafted the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Andreas G Zori and Calvin Kiani have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Andreas G Zori 0000-0002-4262-2401.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- Piano S, Rosi S, Maresio G, Fasolato S, Cavallin M, Romano A, Morando F, Gola E, Frigo AC, Gatta A, Angeli P. Evaluation of the Acute Kidney Injury Network criteria in hospitalized patients with cirrhosis and ascites. J Hepatol 2013; 59: 482-489 [PMID: 23665185 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.03.039]
- 2 Wu CC, Yeung LK, Tsai WS, Tseng CF, Chu P, Huang TY, Lin YF, Lu KC. Incidence and factors predictive of acute renal failure in patients with advanced liver cirrhosis. Clin Nephrol 2006; 65: 28-33 [PMID: 16429839 DOI: 10.5414/cnp65028
- Salerno F, Cazzaniga M, Merli M, Spinzi G, Saibeni S, Salmi A, Fagiuoli S, Spadaccini A, Trotta E, Laffi G, Koch M, 3 Riggio O, Boccia S, Felder M, Balzani S, Bruno S, Angeli P; Italian Association of the Hospital Gastroenterologists (AIGO) investigators. Diagnosis, treatment and survival of patients with hepatorenal syndrome: a survey on daily medical practice. J Hepatol 2011; 55: 1241-1248 [PMID: 21703199 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.03.012]
- 4 Alessandria C, Ozdogan O, Guevara M, Restuccia T, Jiménez W, Arroyo V, Rodés J, Ginès P. MELD score and clinical type predict prognosis in hepatorenal syndrome: relevance to liver transplantation. Hepatology 2005; 41: 1282-1289 [PMID: 15834937 DOI: 10.1002/hep.20687]
- Akriviadis E, Botla R, Briggs W, Han S, Reynolds T, Shakil O. Pentoxifylline improves short-term survival in severe 5 acute alcoholic hepatitis: a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Gastroenterology 2000; 119: 1637-1648 [PMID: 11113085 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2000.20189]
- Flint A. Clinical report on hydro-peritoneum, based on analysis of forty-six cases. Am J Med Sci 1863; 45: 306-339 [DOI: 6 10.1097/00000441-186304000-00002
- Schmidt CR, Chesky VE. Clinical studies of liver function; the hepatorenal syndrome. Am J Surg 1948; 75: 772-795 [PMID: 18861492 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9610(48)90347-x]
- Shear L, Kleinerman J, Gabuzda GJ. Renal failure in patients with cirrhosis of the liver. I. Clinical and pathologic 8 characteristics. Am J Med 1965; 39: 184-198 [PMID: 14320684 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9343(65)90041-0]
- Papper S, Belsky JL, Bleifer KH. Renal failure in Laennec's cirrhosis of the liver. I. Description of clinical and laboratory 0 features. Ann Intern Med 1959; 51: 759-773 [PMID: 14430321 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-51-4-759]
- 10 Epstein M, Berk DP, Hollenberg NK, Adams DF, Chalmers TC, Abrams HL, Merrill JP. Renal failure in the patient with cirrhosis. The role of active vasoconstriction. Am J Med 1970; 49: 175-185 [PMID: 5452940 DOI:



10.1016/s0002-9343(70)80073-0]

- Fernandez-Seara J, Prieto J, Quiroga J, Zozaya JM, Cobos MA, Rodriguez-Eire JL, Garcia-Plaza A, Leal J. Systemic and 11 regional hemodynamics in patients with liver cirrhosis and ascites with and without functional renal failure. Gastroenterology 1989; 97: 1304-1312 [PMID: 2676683 DOI: 10.1016/0016-5085(89)91704-6]
- Schrier RW, Arroyo V, Bernardi M, Epstein M, Henriksen JH, Rodés J. Peripheral arterial vasodilation hypothesis: a 12 proposal for the initiation of renal sodium and water retention in cirrhosis. Hepatology 1988; 8: 1151-1157 [PMID: 2971015 DOI: 10.1002/hep.1840080532]
- Ginès P, Guevara M, Arroyo V, Rodés J. Hepatorenal syndrome. Lancet 2003; 362: 1819-1827 [PMID: 14654322 DOI: 13 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14903-3]
- 14 Wadei HM, Mai ML, Ahsan N, Gonwa TA. Hepatorenal syndrome: pathophysiology and management. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 1: 1066-1079 [PMID: 17699328 DOI: 10.2215/CJN.01340406]
- 15 Koppel MH, Coburn JW, Mims MM, Goldstein H, Boyle JD, Rubini ME. Transplantation of cadaveric kidneys from patients with hepatorenal syndrome. Evidence for the functionalnature of renal failure in advanced liver disease. N Engl J Med 1969; 280: 1367-1371 [PMID: 4890476 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM196906192802501]
- Iwatsuki S, Popovtzer MM, Corman JL, Ishikawa M, Putnam CW, Katz FH, Starzl TE. Recovery from "hepatorenal 16 syndrome" after orthotopic liver transplantation. N Engl J Med 1973; 289: 1155-1159 [PMID: 4585359 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM1973112928922011
- Martin PY, Ginès P, Schrier RW. Nitric oxide as a mediator of hemodynamic abnormalities and sodium and water 17 retention in cirrhosis. N Engl J Med 1998; 339: 533-541 [PMID: 9709047 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199808203390807]
- Niederberger M, Martin PY, Ginès P, Morris K, Tsai P, Xu DL, McMurtry I, Schrier RW. Normalization of nitric oxide 18 production corrects arterial vasodilation and hyperdynamic circulation in cirrhotic rats. Gastroenterology 1995; 109: 1624-1630 [PMID: 7557147 DOI: 10.1016/0016-5085(95)90652-5]
- Ginès P, Schrier RW. Renal failure in cirrhosis. N Engl J Med 2009; 361: 1279-1290 [PMID: 19776409 DOI: 19 10.1056/NEJMra0809139
- Ros J, Clària J, To-Figueras J, Planagumà A, Cejudo-Martín P, Fernández-Varo G, Martín-Ruiz R, Arroyo V, Rivera F, 20 Rodés J, Jiménez W. Endogenous cannabinoids: a new system involved in the homeostasis of arterial pressure in experimental cirrhosis in the rat. Gastroenterology 2002; 122: 85-93 [PMID: 11781284 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2002.30305]
- Bernardi M, Trevisani F, Gasbarrini A, Gasbarrini G. Hepatorenal disorders: role of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone 21 system. Semin Liver Dis 1994; 14: 23-34 [PMID: 8016659 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-1007295]
- Henriksen JH, Møller S, Ring-Larsen H, Christensen NJ. The sympathetic nervous system in liver disease. J Hepatol 22 1998; 29: 328-341 [PMID: 9722218 DOI: 10.1016/s0168-8278(98)80022-6]
- 23 Saló J, Ginès A, Quer JC, Fernández-Esparrach G, Guevara M, Ginès P, Bataller R, Planas R, Jiménez W, Arroyo V, Rodés J. Renal and neurohormonal changes following simultaneous administration of systemic vasoconstrictors and dopamine or prostacyclin in cirrhotic patients with hepatorenal syndrome. J Hepatol 1996; 25: 916-923 [PMID: 9007721 DOI: 10.1016/s0168-8278(96)80297-21
- Simões E Silva AC, Miranda AS, Rocha NP, Teixeira AL. Renin angiotensin system in liver diseases: Friend or foe? 24 World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 3396-3406 [PMID: 28596676 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i19.3396]
- Kew MC, Brunt PW, Varma RR, Hourigan KJ, Williams HS, Sherlock S. Renal and intrarenal blood-flow in cirrhosis of 25 the liver. Lancet 1971; 2: 504-510 [PMID: 4105661 DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(71)90435-1]
- Mindikoglu AL, Dowling TC, Wong-You-Cheong JJ, Christenson RH, Magder LS, Hutson WR, Seliger SL, Weir MR. A 26 pilot study to evaluate renal hemodynamics in cirrhosis by simultaneous glomerular filtration rate, renal plasma flow, renal resistive indices and biomarkers measurements. Am J Nephrol 2014; 39: 543-552 [PMID: 24943131 DOI: 10.1159/000363584
- Rivolta R, Maggi A, Cazzaniga M, Castagnone D, Panzeri A, Solenghi D, Lorenzano E, di Palo FQ, Salerno F. Reduction 27 of renal cortical blood flow assessed by Doppler in cirrhotic patients with refractory ascites. Hepatology 1998; 28: 1235-1240 [PMID: 9794906 DOI: 10.1002/hep.510280510]
- Levy M, Finestone H, Fechner C. Action of renal vasodilators in dogs following acute biliary obstruction. J Surg Res 28 1984; 36: 163-171 [PMID: 6694381 DOI: 10.1016/0022-4804(84)90083-0]
- Kahng KU, Monaco DO, Schnabel FR, Wait RB. Renal vascular reactivity in the bile duct-ligated rat. Surgery 1988; 104: 29 250-256 [PMID: 3400058]
- Wong F. Cirrhotic cardiomyopathy. Hepatol Int 2009; 3: 294-304 [PMID: 19669380 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-008-9109-7] 30
- Møller S, Henriksen JH. Cirrhotic cardiomyopathy. J Hepatol 2010; 53: 179-190 [PMID: 20462649 DOI: 31 10.1016/j.jhep.2010.02.023
- Henriksen JH, Fuglsang S, Bendtsen F, Christensen E, Møller S. [Cirrhotic cardiomyopathy: prolonged QTc-interval and 32 dyssynchronic electrical and mechanical systole in cirrhosis]. Ugeskr Laeger 2004; 166: 2995-2998 [PMID: 15387011]
- 33 Krag A, Bendtsen F, Henriksen JH, Møller S. Low cardiac output predicts development of hepatorenal syndrome and survival in patients with cirrhosis and ascites. Gut 2010; 59: 105-110 [PMID: 19837678 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2009.180570]
- Chayanupatkul M, Liangpunsakul S. Cirrhotic cardiomyopathy: review of pathophysiology and treatment. Hepatol Int 34 2014; 8: 308-315 [PMID: 25221635 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-014-9531-y]
- 35 Albillos A, Lario M, Álvarez-Mon M. Cirrhosis-associated immune dysfunction: distinctive features and clinical relevance. J Hepatol 2014; 61: 1385-1396 [PMID: 25135860 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.08.010]
- Bernardi M, Moreau R, Angeli P, Schnabl B, Arroyo V. Mechanisms of decompensation and organ failure in cirrhosis: 36 From peripheral arterial vasodilation to systemic inflammation hypothesis. J Hepatol 2015; 63: 1272-1284 [PMID: 26192220 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.07.004]
- Clària J, Stauber RE, Coenraad MJ, Moreau R, Jalan R, Pavesi M, Amorós À, Titos E, Alcaraz-Quiles J, Oettl K, 37 Morales-Ruiz M, Angeli P, Domenicali M, Alessandria C, Gerbes A, Wendon J, Nevens F, Trebicka J, Laleman W, Saliba F, Welzel TM, Albillos A, Gustot T, Benten D, Durand F, Ginès P, Bernardi M, Arroyo V; CANONIC Study Investigators of the EASL-CLIF Consortium and the European Foundation for the Study of Chronic Liver Failure (EF-CLIF). Systemic inflammation in decompensated cirrhosis: Characterization and role in acute-on-chronic liver failure. Hepatology 2016; 64:



1249-1264 [PMID: 27483394 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28740]

- Shah N, Dhar D, El Zahraa Mohammed F, Habtesion A, Davies NA, Jover-Cobos M, Macnaughtan J, Sharma V, Olde 38 Damink SWM, Mookerjee RP, Jalan R. Prevention of acute kidney injury in a rodent model of cirrhosis following selective gut decontamination is associated with reduced renal TLR4 expression. J Hepatol 2012; 56: 1047-1053 [PMID: 22266601 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.11.024]
- Solé C, Solà E, Morales-Ruiz M, Fernàndez G, Huelin P, Graupera I, Moreira R, de Prada G, Ariza X, Pose E, Fabrellas 39 N, Kalko SG, Jiménez W, Ginès P. Characterization of Inflammatory Response in Acute-on-Chronic Liver Failure and Relationship with Prognosis. Sci Rep 2016; 6: 32341 [PMID: 27578545 DOI: 10.1038/srep32341]
- Thabut D, Massard J, Gangloff A, Carbonell N, Francoz C, Nguyen-Khac E, Duhamel C, Lebrec D, Poynard T, Moreau 40 R. Model for end-stage liver disease score and systemic inflammatory response are major prognostic factors in patients with cirrhosis and acute functional renal failure. Hepatology 2007; 46: 1872-1882 [PMID: 17972337 DOI: 10.1002/hep.21920
- Maiwall R, Chandel SS, Wani Z, Kumar S, Sarin SK. SIRS at Admission Is a Predictor of AKI Development and 41 Mortality in Hospitalized Patients with Severe Alcoholic Hepatitis. Dig Dis Sci 2016; 61: 920-929 [PMID: 26470868 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-015-3921-4]
- Shah N, Mohamed FE, Jover-Cobos M, Macnaughtan J, Davies N, Moreau R, Paradis V, Moore K, Mookerjee R, Jalan R. 42 Increased renal expression and urinary excretion of TLR4 in acute kidney injury associated with cirrhosis. Liver Int 2013; 33: 398-409 [PMID: 23402610 DOI: 10.1111/Liv.12047]
- Trawalé JM, Paradis V, Rautou PE, Francoz C, Escolano S, Sallée M, Durand F, Valla D, Lebrec D, Moreau R. The 43 spectrum of renal lesions in patients with cirrhosis: a clinicopathological study. Liver Int 2010; 30: 725-732 [PMID: 20040048 DOI: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2009.02182.x]
- Wadei HM, Geiger XJ, Cortese C, Mai ML, Kramer DJ, Rosser BG, Keaveny AP, Willingham DL, Ahsan N, Gonwa TA. 44 Kidney allocation to liver transplant candidates with renal failure of undetermined etiology: role of percutaneous renal biopsy. Am J Transplant 2008; 8: 2618-2626 [PMID: 19032225 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008.]
- 45 Nayak SL, Kumar M, Bihari C, Rastogi A. Bile Cast Nephropathy in Patients with Acute Kidney Injury Due to Hepatorenal Syndrome: A Postmortem Kidney Biopsy Study. J Clin Transl Hepatol 2017; 5: 92-100 [PMID: 28660146 DOI: 10.14218/JCTH.2016.00063]
- van Slambrouck CM, Salem F, Meehan SM, Chang A. Bile cast nephropathy is a common pathologic finding for kidney 46 injury associated with severe liver dysfunction. Kidney Int 2013; 84: 192-197 [PMID: 23486516 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2013.78]
- Acevedo J, Fernández J, Prado V, Silva A, Castro M, Pavesi M, Roca D, Jimenez W, Ginès P, Arroyo V. Relative adrenal 47 insufficiency in decompensated cirrhosis: Relationship to short-term risk of severe sepsis, hepatorenal syndrome, and death. Hepatology 2013; 58: 1757-1765 [PMID: 23728792 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26535]
- European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of patients 48 with decompensated cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 406-460 [PMID: 29653741 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.024]
- 49 Biggins SW, Angeli P, Garcia-Tsao G, Ginès P, Ling SC, Nadim MK, Wong F, Kim WR. Diagnosis, Evaluation, and Management of Ascites, Spontaneous Bacterial Peritonitis and Hepatorenal Syndrome: 2021 Practice Guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. Hepatology 2021; 74: 1014-1048 [PMID: 33942342 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31884]
- Flamm SL, Wong F, Ahn J, Kamath PS. AGA Clinical Practice Update on the Evaluation and Management of Acute 50 Kidney Injury in Patients With Cirrhosis: Expert Review. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 20: 2707-2716 [PMID: 36075500 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2022.08.033]
- Angeli P, Garcia-Tsao G, Nadim MK, Parikh CR. News in pathophysiology, definition and classification of hepatorenal 51 syndrome: A step beyond the International Club of Ascites (ICA) consensus document. J Hepatol 2019; 71: 811-822 [PMID: 31302175 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2019.07.002]
- Montano-Loza AJ, Duarte-Rojo A, Meza-Junco J, Baracos VE, Sawyer MB, Pang JX, Beaumont C, Esfandiari N, Myers RP. Inclusion of Sarcopenia Within MELD (MELD-Sarcopenia) and the Prediction of Mortality in Patients With Cirrhosis. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 2015; 6: e102 [PMID: 26181291 DOI: 10.1038/ctg.2015.31]
- 53 Mindikoglu AL, Regev A, Seliger SL, Magder LS. Gender disparity in liver transplant waiting-list mortality: the importance of kidney function. Liver Transpl 2010; 16: 1147-1157 [PMID: 20879013 DOI: 10.1002/Lt.22121]
- 54 Kalafateli M, Wickham F, Burniston M, Cholongitas E, Theocharidou E, Garcovich M, O'Beirne J, Westbrook R, Leandro G, Burroughs AK, Tsochatzis EA. Development and validation of a mathematical equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate in cirrhosis: The royal free hospital cirrhosis glomerular filtration rate. Hepatology 2017; 65: 582-591 [PMID: 27779785 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28891]
- Belcher JM, Sanyal AJ, Peixoto AJ, Perazella MA, Lim J, Thiessen-Philbrook H, Ansari N, Coca SG, Garcia-Tsao G, 55 Parikh CR; TRIBE-AKI Consortium. Kidney biomarkers and differential diagnosis of patients with cirrhosis and acute kidney injury. Hepatology 2014; 60: 622-632 [PMID: 24375576 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26980]
- 56 Ahmed QA, El Sayed FS, Emad H, Mohamed E, Ahmed B, Heba P. Urinary biomarkers of acute kidney injury in patients with liver cirrhosis. Med Arch 2014; 68: 132-136 [PMID: 24937940 DOI: 10.5455/medarh.2014.68.132-136]
- Ariza X, Solà E, Elia C, Barreto R, Moreira R, Morales-Ruiz M, Graupera I, Rodríguez E, Huelin P, Solé C, Fernández J, 57 Jiménez W, Arroyo V, Ginès P. Analysis of a urinary biomarker panel for clinical outcomes assessment in cirrhosis. PLoS One 2015; 10: e0128145 [PMID: 26042740 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0128145]
- Huelin P, Solà E, Elia C, Solé C, Risso A, Moreira R, Carol M, Fabrellas N, Bassegoda O, Juanola A, de Prada G, 58 Albertos S, Piano S, Graupera I, Ariza X, Napoleone L, Pose E, Filella X, Morales-Ruiz M, Rios J, Fernández J, Jiménez W, Poch E, Torres F, Ginès P. Neutrophil Gelatinase-Associated Lipocalin for Assessment of Acute Kidney Injury in Cirrhosis: A Prospective Study. Hepatology 2019; 70: 319-333 [PMID: 30810244 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30592]
- Markwardt D, Holdt L, Steib C, Benesic A, Bendtsen F, Bernardi M, Moreau R, Teupser D, Wendon J, Nevens F, 59 Trebicka J, Garcia E, Pavesi M, Arroyo V, Gerbes AL. Plasma cystatin C is a predictor of renal dysfunction, acute-onchronic liver failure, and mortality in patients with acutely decompensated liver cirrhosis. Hepatology 2017; 66: 1232-1241 [PMID: 28545169 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29290]



- Maiwall R, Kumar A, Bhardwaj A, Kumar G, Bhadoria AS, Sarin SK. Cystatin C predicts acute kidney injury and mortality in cirrhotics: A prospective cohort study. Liver Int 2018; 38: 654-664 [PMID: 28941301 DOI: 10.1111/Liv.13600]
- Mindikoglu AL, Opekun AR, Putluri N, Devaraj S, Sheikh-Hamad D, Vierling JM, Goss JA, Rana A, Sood GK, Jalal PK, 61 Inker LA, Mohney RP, Tighiouart H, Christenson RH, Dowling TC, Weir MR, Seliger SL, Hutson WR, Howell CD, Raufman JP, Magder LS, Coarfa C. Unique metabolomic signature associated with hepatorenal dysfunction and mortality in cirrhosis. Transl Res 2018; 195: 25-47 [PMID: 29291380 DOI: 10.1016/j.trsl.2017.12.002]
- 62 Sabry J, El-Shaer OS, Ahmed IA, Said E, Hammady AE, Abdelmoneam A, Fallah AAE. Serum microrna-122 as a prognostic biomarker in patients with liver cirrhosis, Annals of Applied Bio-Sciences, Vol. 3; Issue 4: 2016, e-ISSN: 2349-6991; p-ISSN: 2455-0396
- 63 Solanki P, Chawla A, Garg R, Gupta R, Jain M, Sarin SK. Beneficial effects of terlipressin in hepatorenal syndrome: a prospective, randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2003; 18: 152-156 [PMID: 12542598 DOI: 10.1046/j.1440-1746.2003.02934.x]
- Alessandria C, Ottobrelli A, Debernardi-Venon W, Todros L, Cerenzia MT, Martini S, Balzola F, Morgando A, Rizzetto 64 M, Marzano A. Noradrenalin vs terlipressin in patients with hepatorenal syndrome: a prospective, randomized, unblinded, pilot study. J Hepatol 2007; 47: 499-505 [PMID: 17560680 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2007.04.010]
- Neri S, Pulvirenti D, Malaguarnera M, Cosimo BM, Bertino G, Ignaccolo L, Siringo S, Castellino P. Terlipressin and 65 albumin in patients with cirrhosis and type I hepatorenal syndrome. Dig Dis Sci 2008; 53: 830-835 [PMID: 17939047 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-007-9919-91
- Sharma P, Kumar A, Shrama BC, Sarin SK. An open label, pilot, randomized controlled trial of noradrenaline vs 66 terlipressin in the treatment of type 1 hepatorenal syndrome and predictors of response. Am J Gastroenterol 2008; 103: 1689-1697 [PMID: 18557715 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2008.01828.x]
- Sanyal AJ, Boyer T, Garcia-Tsao G, Regenstein F, Rossaro L, Appenrodt B, Blei A, Gülberg V, Sigal S, Teuber P; Terlipressin Study Group. A randomized, prospective, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of terlipressin for type 1 hepatorenal syndrome. Gastroenterology 2008; 134: 1360-1368 [PMID: 18471513 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.02.014]
- Martín-Llahí M, Pépin MN, Guevara M, Díaz F, Torre A, Monescillo A, Soriano G, Terra C, Fábrega E, Arroyo V, 68 Rodés J, Ginès P; TAHRS Investigators. Terlipressin and albumin vs albumin in patients with cirrhosis and hepatorenal syndrome: a randomized study. Gastroenterology 2008; 134: 1352-1359 [PMID: 18471512 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.02.024]
- Singh V, Ghosh S, Singh B, Kumar P, Sharma N, Bhalla A, Sharma AK, Choudhary NS, Chawla Y, Nain CK. 69 Noradrenaline vs. terlipressin in the treatment of hepatorenal syndrome: a randomized study. J Hepatol 2012; 56: 1293-1298 [PMID: 22322237 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.01.012]
- 70 Cavallin M, Kamath PS, Merli M, Fasolato S, Toniutto P, Salerno F, Bernardi M, Romanelli RG, Colletta C, Salinas F, Di Giacomo A, Ridola L, Fornasiere E, Caraceni P, Morando F, Piano S, Gatta A, Angeli P; Italian Association for the Study of the Liver Study Group on Hepatorenal Syndrome. Terlipressin plus albumin vs midodrine and octreotide plus albumin in the treatment of hepatorenal syndrome: A randomized trial. Hepatology 2015; 62: 567-574 [PMID: 25644760 DOI: 10.1002/hep.27709]
- Cavallin M, Piano S, Romano A, Fasolato S, Frigo AC, Benetti G, Gola E, Morando F, Stanco M, Rosi S, Sticca A, Cillo 71 U, Angeli P. Terlipressin given by continuous intravenous infusion vs intravenous boluses in the treatment of hepatorenal syndrome: A randomized controlled study. *Hepatology* 2016; 63: 983-992 [PMID: 26659927 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28396]
- Boyer TD, Sanyal AJ, Wong F, Frederick RT, Lake JR, O'Leary JG, Ganger D, Jamil K, Pappas SC; REVERSE Study 72 Investigators. Terlipressin Plus Albumin Is More Effective Than Albumin Alone in Improving Renal Function in Patients With Cirrhosis and Hepatorenal Syndrome Type 1. Gastroenterology 2016; 150: 1579-1589.e2 [PMID: 26896734 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.02.026
- Wong F, Pappas SC, Boyer TD, Sanyal AJ, Bajaj JS, Escalante S, Jamil K; REVERSE Investigators. Terlipressin 73 Improves Renal Function and Reverses Hepatorenal Syndrome in Patients With Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 15: 266-272.e1 [PMID: 27464593 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2016.07.016
- 74 Garcia-Martinez R, Caraceni P, Bernardi M, Gines P, Arroyo V, Jalan R. Albumin: pathophysiologic basis of its role in the treatment of cirrhosis and its complications. Hepatology 2013; 58: 1836-1846 [PMID: 23423799 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26338]
- Ortega R, Ginès P, Uriz J, Cárdenas A, Calahorra B, De Las Heras D, Guevara M, Bataller R, Jiménez W, Arroyo V, 75 Rodés J. Terlipressin therapy with and without albumin for patients with hepatorenal syndrome: results of a prospective, nonrandomized study. Hepatology 2002; 36: 941-948 [PMID: 12297842 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2002.35819]
- Facciorusso A, Chandar AK, Murad MH, Prokop LJ, Muscatiello N, Kamath PS, Singh S. Comparative efficacy of pharmacological strategies for management of type 1 hepatorenal syndrome: a systematic review and network metaanalysis. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 2: 94-102 [PMID: 28403995 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(16)30157-1]
- Israelsen M, Krag A, Allegretti AS, Jovani M, Goldin AH, Winter RW, Gluud LL. Terlipressin vs other vasoactive drugs 77 for hepatorenal syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017; 9: CD011532 [PMID: 28953318 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011532.pub2]
- Nanda A, Reddy R, Safraz H, Salameh H, Singal AK. Pharmacological Therapies for Hepatorenal Syndrome: A 78 Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Clin Gastroenterol 2018; 52: 360-367 [PMID: 28991106 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.000000000000913]
- 79 Wang H, Liu A, Bo W, Feng X, Hu Y. Terlipressin in the treatment of hepatorenal syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018; 97: e0431 [PMID: 29668606 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000010431]
- Best LM, Freeman SC, Sutton AJ, Cooper NJ, Tng EL, Csenar M, Hawkins N, Pavlov CS, Davidson BR, Thorburn D, 80 Cowlin M, Milne EJ, Tsochatzis E, Gurusamy KS. Treatment for hepatorenal syndrome in people with decompensated liver cirrhosis: a network meta-analysis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019; 9: CD013103 [PMID: 31513287 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013103.pub2]



- Wong F, Pappas SC, Curry MP, Reddy KR, Rubin RA, Porayko MK, Gonzalez SA, Mumtaz K, Lim N, Simonetto DA, 81 Sharma P, Sanyal AJ, Mayo MJ, Frederick RT, Escalante S, Jamil K; CONFIRM Study Investigators. Terlipressin plus Albumin for the Treatment of Type 1 Hepatorenal Syndrome. N Engl J Med 2021; 384: 818-828 [PMID: 33657294 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2008290]
- Nassar Junior AP, Farias AQ, D' Albuquerque LA, Carrilho FJ, Malbouisson LM. Terlipressin vs norepinephrine in the 82 treatment of hepatorenal syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2014; 9: e107466 [PMID: 25203311 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107466]
- Song T, Rössle M, He F, Liu F, Guo X, Qi X. Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt for hepatorenal syndrome: A 83 systematic review and meta-analysis. Dig Liver Dis 2018; 50: 323-330 [PMID: 29422242 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2018.01.123]
- 84 Malinchoc M, Kamath PS, Gordon FD, Peine CJ, Rank J, ter Borg PC. A model to predict poor survival in patients undergoing transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunts. Hepatology 2000; 31: 864-871 [PMID: 10733541 DOI: 10.1053/he.2000.5852
- Ginès P, Uriz J, Calahorra B, Garcia-Tsao G, Kamath PS, Del Arbol LR, Planas R, Bosch J, Arroyo V, Rodés J. 85 Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunting vs paracentesis plus albumin for refractory ascites in cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 2002; 123: 1839-1847 [PMID: 12454841 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2002.37073]
- Zhang Z, Maddukuri G, Jaipaul N, Cai CX. Role of renal replacement therapy in patients with type 1 hepatorenal 86 syndrome receiving combination treatment of vasoconstrictor plus albumin. J Crit Care 2015; 30: 969-974 [PMID: 26051980 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2015.05.006]
- Wong F, Leung W, Al Beshir M, Marquez M, Renner EL. Outcomes of patients with cirrhosis and hepatorenal syndrome 87 type 1 treated with liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2015; 21: 300-307 [PMID: 25422261 DOI: 10.1002/Lt.24049]
- Hmoud B, Kuo YF, Wiesner RH, Singal AK. Outcomes of liver transplantation alone after listing for simultaneous 88 kidney: comparison to simultaneous liver kidney transplantation. Transplantation 2015; 99: 823-828 [PMID: 25250648 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000000438]
- Israni AK, Xiong H, Liu J, Salkowski N, Trotter JF, Snyder JJ, Kasiske BL. Predicting end-stage renal disease after liver 89 transplant. Am J Transplant 2013; 13: 1782-1792 [PMID: 23668976 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12257]
- 90 Chauhan K, Azzi Y, Faddoul G, Liriano-Ward L, Chang P, Nadkarni G, Delaney V, Ames S, Debnath N, Singh N, Sehgal V, Di Boccardo G, Garzon F, Nair V, Kent R, Lerner S, Coca S, Shapiro R, Florman S, Schiano T, Menon MC. Pre-liver transplant renal dysfunction and association with post-transplant end-stage renal disease: A single-center examination of updated UNOS recommendations. Clin Transplant 2018; 32: e13428 [PMID: 30338873 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.13428
- 91 Cheng XS, Stedman MR, Chertow GM, Kim WR, Tan JC. Utility in Treating Kidney Failure in End-Stage Liver Disease With Simultaneous Liver-Kidney Transplantation. Transplantation 2017; 101: 1111-1119 [PMID: 28437790 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000001491
- O'Leary JG, Levitsky J, Wong F, Nadim MK, Charlton M, Kim WR. Protecting the Kidney in Liver Transplant 92 Candidates: Practice-Based Recommendations From the American Society of Transplantation Liver and Intestine Community of Practice. Am J Transplant 2016; 16: 2516-2531 [PMID: 26990924 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.13790]
- 93 Cockcroft DW, Gault MH. Prediction of creatinine clearance from serum creatinine. Nephron 1976; 16: 31-41 [PMID: 1244564 DOI: 10.1159/000180580]
- Levey AS, Coresh J, Greene T, Stevens LA, Zhang YL, Hendriksen S, Kusek JW, Van Lente F; Chronic Kidney Disease 94 Epidemiology Collaboration. Using standardized serum creatinine values in the modification of diet in renal disease study equation for estimating glomerular filtration rate. Ann Intern Med 2006; 145: 247-254 [PMID: 16908915 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-145-4-200608150-00004
- 95 Levey AS, Coresh J, Greene T, Marsh J, Stevens LA, Kusek JW, Van Lente F; Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration. Expressing the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study equation for estimating glomerular filtration rate with standardized serum creatinine values. Clin Chem 2007; 53: 766-772 [PMID: 17332152 DOI: 10.1373/clinchem.2006.077180
- Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF 3rd, Feldman HI, Kusek JW, Eggers P, Van Lente F, Greene T, 96 Coresh J; CKD-EPI (Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration). A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. Ann Intern Med 2009; 150: 604-612 [PMID: 19414839 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-150-9-200905050-00006]
- Hoek FJ, Kemperman FA, Krediet RT. A comparison between cystatin C, plasma creatinine and the Cockcroft and Gault 97 formula for the estimation of glomerular filtration rate. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2003; 18: 2024-2031 [PMID: 13679476 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfg349]
- Larsson A, Malm J, Grubb A, Hansson LO. Calculation of glomerular filtration rate expressed in mL/min from plasma 98 cystatin C values in mg/L. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2004; 64: 25-30 [PMID: 15025426 DOI: 10.1080/00365510410003723]
- Inker LA, Schmid CH, Tighiouart H, Eckfeldt JH, Feldman HI, Greene T, Kusek JW, Manzi J, Van Lente F, Zhang YL, 99 Coresh J, Levey AS; CKD-EPI Investigators. Estimating glomerular filtration rate from serum creatinine and cystatin C. N Engl J Med 2012; 367: 20-29 [PMID: 22762315 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1114248]
- Stevens LA, Coresh J, Schmid CH, Feldman HI, Froissart M, Kusek J, Rossert J, Van Lente F, Bruce RD 3rd, Zhang YL, 100 Greene T, Levey AS. Estimating GFR using serum cystatin C alone and in combination with serum creatinine: a pooled analysis of 3,418 individuals with CKD. Am J Kidney Dis 2008; 51: 395-406 [PMID: 18295055 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2007.11.018
- 101 Mindikoglu AL, Dowling TC, Magder LS, Christenson RH, Weir MR, Seliger SL, Hutson WR, Howell CD. Estimation of Glomerular Filtration Rate in Patients With Cirrhosis by Using New and Conventional Filtration Markers and Dimethylarginines. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 14: 624-632.e2 [PMID: 26133903 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2015.06.021]
- Fagundes C, Pépin MN, Guevara M, Barreto R, Casals G, Solà E, Pereira G, Rodríguez E, Garcia E, Prado V, Poch E, 102 Jiménez W, Fernández J, Arroyo V, Ginès P. Urinary neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin as biomarker in the differential diagnosis of impairment of kidney function in cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2012; 57: 267-273 [PMID: 22521351 DOI:



10.1016/j.jhep.2012.03.015]

- 103 Verna EC, Brown RS, Farrand E, Pichardo EM, Forster CS, Sola-Del Valle DA, Adkins SH, Sise ME, Oliver JA, Radhakrishnan J, Barasch JM, Nickolas TL. Urinary neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin predicts mortality and identifies acute kidney injury in cirrhosis. Dig Dis Sci 2012; 57: 2362-2370 [PMID: 22562534 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-012-2180-x]
- Tsai MH, Chen YC, Yang CW, Jenq CC, Fang JT, Lien JM, Hung CC, Weng HH, Wu CS, Peng YS, Shen CH, Tung SY, 104 Tian YC. Acute renal failure in cirrhotic patients with severe sepsis: value of urinary interleukin-18. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013; 28: 135-141 [PMID: 23034155 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2012.07288.x,]
- 105 Gungor G, Ataseven H, Demir A, Solak Y, Gaipov A, Biyik M, Ozturk B, Polat I, Kiyici A, Cakir OO, Polat H. Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin in prediction of mortality in patients with hepatorenal syndrome: a prospective observational study. Liver Int 2014; 34: 49-57 [PMID: 23799980 DOI: 10.1111/Liv.12232]
- Barreto R, Elia C, Solà E, Moreira R, Ariza X, Rodríguez E, Graupera I, Alfaro I, Morales-Ruiz M, Poch E, Guevara M, 106 Fernández J, Jiménez W, Arroyo V, Ginès P. Urinary neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin predicts kidney outcome and death in patients with cirrhosis and bacterial infections. J Hepatol 2014; 61: 35-42 [PMID: 24613364 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.02.023]
- Treeprasertsuk S, Wongkarnjana A, Jaruvongvanich V, Sallapant S, Tiranathanagul K, Komolmit P, Tangkijvanich P. 107 Urine neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin: a diagnostic and prognostic marker for acute kidney injury (AKI) in hospitalized cirrhotic patients with AKI-prone conditions. BMC Gastroenterol 2015; 15: 140 [PMID: 26474856 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-015-0372-5
- 108 Jaques DA, Spahr L, Berra G, Poffet V, Lescuyer P, Gerstel E, Garin N, Martin PY, Ponte B. Biomarkers for acute kidney injury in decompensated cirrhosis: A prospective study. Nephrology (Carlton) 2019; 24: 170-180 [PMID: 29369449 DOI: 10.1111/nep.13226]
- Jiang QQ, Han MF, Ma K, Chen G, Wan XY, Kilonzo SB, Wu WY, Wang YL, You J, Ning Q. Acute kidney injury in 109 acute-on-chronic liver failure is different from in decompensated cirrhosis. World J Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 2300-2310 [PMID: 29881239 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i21.2300]
- 110 Uriz J, Ginès P, Cárdenas A, Sort P, Jiménez W, Salmerón JM, Bataller R, Mas A, Navasa M, Arroyo V, Rodés J. Terlipressin plus albumin infusion: an effective and safe therapy of hepatorenal syndrome. J Hepatol 2000; 33: 43-48 [PMID: 10905585 DOI: 10.1016/s0168-8278(00)80158-0]
- Halimi C, Bonnard P, Bernard B, Mathurin P, Mofredj A, di Martino V, Demontis R, Henry-Biabaud E, Fievet P, Opolon P, Poynard T, Cadranel JF. Effect of terlipressin (Glypressin) on hepatorenal syndrome in cirrhotic patients: results of a multicentre pilot study. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002; 14: 153-158 [PMID: 11981339 DOI: 10.1097/00042737-200202000-00009]
- 112 Moreau R, Durand F, Poynard T, Duhamel C, Cervoni JP, Ichaï P, Abergel A, Halimi C, Pauwels M, Bronowicki JP, Giostra E, Fleurot C, Gurnot D, Nouel O, Renard P, Rivoal M, Blanc P, Coumaros D, Ducloux S, Levy S, Pariente A, Perarnau JM, Roche J, Scribe-Outtas M, Valla D, Bernard B, Samuel D, Butel J, Hadengue A, Platek A, Lebrec D, Cadranel JF. Terlipressin in patients with cirrhosis and type 1 hepatorenal syndrome: a retrospective multicenter study. Gastroenterology 2002; 122: 923-930 [PMID: 11910344 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2002.32364]
- 113 Duvoux C, Zanditenas D, Hézode C, Chauvat A, Monin JL, Roudot-Thoraval F, Mallat A, Dhumeaux D. Effects of noradrenalin and albumin in patients with type I hepatorenal syndrome: a pilot study. Hepatology 2002; 36: 374-380 [PMID: 12143045 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2002.34343]



W J H World Journal of Henatology Hepatology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Hepatol 2023 June 27; 15(6): 755-774

DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.755

ISSN 1948-5182 (online)

REVIEW

Treatment of liver fibrosis: Past, current, and future

Chun-Ye Zhang, Shuai Liu, Ming Yang

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Boteon YL, Brazil; Su SB, China

Received: March 12, 2023 Peer-review started: March 12, 2023 First decision: March 23, 2023 Revised: April 1, 2023 Accepted: April 18, 2023 Article in press: April 18, 2023 Published online: June 27, 2023



Chun-Ye Zhang, Bond Life Sciences Center, University of Missouri, Columbia, MO 65211, United States

Shuai Liu, Department of Radiology, The First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310006, Zhejiang Province, China

Ming Yang, Department of Surgery, University of Missouri, Columbia, MO 65211, United States

Corresponding author: Ming Yang, DVM, PhD, Postdoctoral Fellow, Department of Surgery, University of Missouri, Room 2203, NexGen Precision Building, 1030 Hitt Street, Columbia, MO 65211, United States. yangmin@health.missouri.edu

Abstract

Liver fibrosis accompanies the progression of chronic liver diseases independent of etiologies, such as hepatitis viral infection, alcohol consumption, and metabolicassociated fatty liver disease. It is commonly associated with liver injury, inflammation, and cell death. Liver fibrosis is characterized by abnormal accumulation of extracellular matrix components that are expressed by liver myofibroblasts such as collagens and alpha-smooth actin proteins. Activated hepatic stellate cells contribute to the major population of myofibroblasts. Many treatments for liver fibrosis have been investigated in clinical trials, including dietary supplementation (e.g., vitamin C), biological treatment (e.g., simtuzumab), drug (e.g., pegbelfermin and natural herbs), genetic regulation (e.g., non-coding RNAs), and transplantation of stem cells (e.g., hematopoietic stem cells). However, none of these treatments has been approved by Food and Drug Administration. The treatment efficacy can be evaluated by histological staining methods, imaging methods, and serum biomarkers, as well as fibrosis scoring systems, such as fibrosis-4 index, aspartate aminotransferase to platelet ratio, and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease fibrosis score. Furthermore, the reverse of liver fibrosis is slowly and frequently impossible for advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis. To avoid the lifethreatening stage of liver fibrosis, anti-fibrotic treatments, especially for combined behavior prevention, biological treatment, drugs or herb medicines, and dietary regulation are needed. This review summarizes the past studies and current and future treatments for liver fibrosis.

Key Words: Liver fibrosis; Molecular mechanism; Therapeutic targets; Treatments; Clinical trials

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Liver fibrosis accompanies the progression of chronic liver diseases independent of their etiologies. The initiation and progression of liver fibrosis are mainly driven by liver inflammation, cell death, and metabolic dysregulation, which cause the activation of hepatic stellate cells and excessive accumulation of extracellular matrix proteins. Without effective treatments, liver fibrosis can lead to cirrhosis and primary liver cancer. To date, current therapeutic options for liver fibrosis are limited to prevent the initial causing factors for liver inflammation, hepatocyte cell death, and oxidative stress. However, the reverse of liver fibrosis is slowly and frequently impossible for advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis. To avoid the life-threatening stage of liver fibrosis, anti-fibrotic treatments including biological, medicines, dietary change, and behavior prevention are needed, especially for combined therapy.

Citation: Zhang CY, Liu S, Yang M. Treatment of liver fibrosis: Past, current, and future. World J Hepatol 2023; 15(6): 755-774

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5182/full/v15/i6/755.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.755

INTRODUCTION

Liver fibrosis accompanies the progression of chronic liver diseases independent of etiologies[1], such as hepatitis viral infection, alcohol abuse, and metabolic-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD). It is commonly associated with liver injury, inflammation, and cell death. Abnormal accumulation of extracellular matrix (ECM) components expressed by liver myofibroblasts, such as collagens and alphasmooth actin proteins, are the markers of hepatic fibrogenesis^[2]. Activated hepatic stellate cells (HSCs) contribute to the major population of myofibroblasts in liver fibrosis[3]. Although many drugs have been investigated in clinical trials, there are no Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved treatments for liver fibrosis.

The activation of HSC is a complex pathogenesis in liver fibrosis[4]. Many factors including intrahepatic and extrahepatic factors can drive HSC activation to induce liver fibrosis. A variety of molecular signaling pathways are involved in the regulation of HSC activation[1,5], such as transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), Toll-like receptors (TLRs), and epigenetic signals (*e.g.*, microRNAs, or miRNAs). The activation of HSCs can be divided into two phases, the initiation and perpetuation phases. RNA sequencing results have shown that fibrogenic transcriptional programs in the initiation phase are also active in the perpetuation phase; therefore, targeting the initial activation of HSC is also critically important for live fibrosis treatment^[6].

In this review, the cellular and molecular mechanisms of liver fibrosis are reviewed. Importantly, the currently available treatments for liver fibrosis are summarized and discussed. Some pros and cons of available treatments are discussed. In addition, the future direction for liver fibrosis therapy is predicted.

INITIATION OF LIVER FIBROSIS: CELLULAR AND MOLECULAR MECHANISMS

Hepatic cell death

Liver cell death and inflammation are the initial events in chronic liver disease independent of etiologies. Many factors can cause liver injury and hepatic cell death and inflammation[7,8], including hepatitis viral infection, alcohol consumption, metabolic liver disease, abnormal bile acid products, and genetic factors. These pathogenic factors cause immune cell inflammation, hepatocyte death, mitochondrial dysfunction, and endoplasmic reticulum stress (Figure 1), resulting in HSC activation and differentiation to myofibroblasts to lead to liver fibrosis[5,9].

In non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), hepatocyte death results in the infiltration of monocytederived macrophages and upregulation of the expression of inflammatory cytokines[9], such as tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α), TGF- β 1, and interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), Hepatocyte death can be classified into programed cell death including pyroptosis, apoptosis, necroptosis, ferroptosis, and autophagymediated cell death (Figure 2), as well as non-programed cell death (necrosis). In chronic liver disease, different types of cell death may be associated with the progression of liver fibrosis and end-stage of liver disease, such as hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Single-cell RNA sequencing coupled with spatial mapping approaches has been started to dissect the key cellular and molecular functions in liver disease [10].

Pyroptosis is an inflammatory cell death, associated with cell membrane rupture by cleaved gasdermin D[11]. The cleave of gasdermin D is induced by the activation of caspase-1 or caspase-11/4/5 [12]. For example, in mice with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), feeding a high-fat diet can


Figure 1 Factors causing the activation of hepatic stellate cells and liver fibrosis. Many factors can cause liver injury and hepatic cell death and inflammation, including hepatitis viral infection, alcohol consumption, metabolic liver disease, abnormal bile acid products, and genetic factors. These pathogenic factors cause immune cell inflammation, hepatocyte death, oxidative stress, and endoplasmic reticulum stress, resulting in hepatic stellate cell activation and differentiation to myofibroblasts to lead to liver fibrosis. All cartoons in this figure were prepared using Biorender (https://biorender.com). ER: Endoplasmic reticulum; HSC: Hepatic stellate cell; ROS: Reactive oxygen species.

increase the expression of caspase-11 to cause pyroptosis of bone marrow monocyte-derived macrophages by cleave gasdermin D[13]. The expression of pyroptosis-related indicators including gasdermin D, IL-1 β , and IL-18 has been shown to be increased in human patients with liver fibrosis and mice with CCl₄-induced fibrosis[14]. In addition, S100 calcium-binding protein A8 plays an essential role in macrophage pyroptosis in liver fibrosis, by inducing the expression of nucleotide-binding domain leucine-rich repeat-receptor, pyrin domain-containing-3 (NLRP3) inflammasome, pro-IL-1 β , and pro-IL-18 *via* the activation of TLR4/nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) signaling pathway[14].

Apoptosis is a form of programmed cell death that occurs in all liver cell types. In hepatocytes, kindlin-2 deficiency can increase the apoptosis of hepatocytes, resulting in liver fibrosis and accumulation of ECM components by activating the TNF signaling pathway[15]. In NAFLD, microRNAs such as miR-22 from adipocyte-derived exosomes can cause hepatocyte apoptosis to increase hepatic inflammation, lipid accumulation, and fibrosis by regulating sirtuin 1 expression[16]. In contrast, promoting the apoptosis of HSCs can inhibit and reverse liver fibrosis. For example, treatment with gomisin D can inhibit CCl₄-induced HSC proliferation and activation in mice and increase HSC apoptosis to reduce liver fibrosis by regulating the platelet-derived growth factor receptor β signaling pathway[17].

Necroptosis is a regulated cell death that has the features of apoptosis and necrosis. Necroptosis can be induced by TLRs, interferons, and death receptors[18], which is mediated by receptor-interacting protein kinase-3 and its substrate mixed lineage kinase-like[19]. In addition, receptor-interacting serine/ threonine-protein kinase 1 has an important role in this process (Figure 2). It contributes to hepatocyte death in NASH. Necroptotic hepatocytes cannot be removed by liver macrophages due to the activation of "don't-eat-me" signaling pathway, the CD47/signal regulatory protein alpha axis[20].

Ferroptosis is an intracellular iron-dependent lytic cell death which is different from apoptosis and necrosis[21,22]. Excessive iron accumulation and the inhibition of glutathione peroxidase 4 trigger ferroptosis, which causes cell plasma membrane rupture[23]. Accumulating research studies have demonstrated that ferroptosis is involved in different liver diseases, including alcoholic liver disease, NASH, cirrhosis, and cancer[24,25]. Several molecular signaling pathways are involved in ferroptosis in liver diseases, such as the nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2[26], heat shock protein family A member 8[27], and nuclear receptor coactivator 4[28]. Pharmacological regulation of HSC ferroptosis is a therapeutic strategy for liver fibrosis[29]. For example, curcumol can induce ferroptosis of activated HSCs to inhibit liver fibrosis by inducing autophagy[28].

Zhang CY et al. Treatments of liver fibrosis



DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.755 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Programmed cell death subtypes of hepatic cells, including apoptosis, necroptosis, pyroptosis, ferroptosis, and autophagymediated cell death. Apoptosis, necroptosis, pyroptosis, and ferroptosis are programmed forms of cell death, while necrosis is unprogrammed cell death. Autophagy-mediated cell death should be defined when autophagic flux is raised without the involvement of other types of programmed cell death, and pharmacological or genetic inhibition of autophagy blocks cell death. DAMPs: Danger-associated molecular patterns; FADD: Fas-associated protein with a death domain; FAS: Fas cell surface death receptor; MLKL: Mixed lineage kinase domain-like; NLRP3: Nod-like receptor family, pyrin domain containing 3; PAMPs: Pathogen-associated molecular patterns; RIPK1/3: receptor-interacting protein kinase 1/3; TNF: Tumor necrosis factor; TNFR: Tumor necrosis factor receptor. All cartoons in this figure were prepared using Biorender

(https://biorender.com).

Furthermore, some dying cells develop autophagosomes that trigger apoptosis and necroptosis, namely autophagy-mediated cell death (ACD). However, ACD should be defined when some criteria are met[30], including: (1) Cell death happens without the involvement of other types of programmed cell death; (2) autophagic flux is raised; and (3) pharmacological or genetic inhibition of autophagy blocks cell death. Overall, the molecules implicated in the process and signaling pathways of hepatic cell death are potential targets for liver fibrosis.

Hepatic innate and adaptive immunity

Liver resident immune cells and infiltration of myeloid cells or circulating immune cells in the liver during chronic liver injury play key roles in the activation of HSCs. For example, in NASH liver, gut microbiota-diet interplay-resulted metabolite can activate liver macrophages to produce profibrotic factors[31], such as TGF- β 1. Treatments such as astaxanthin can suppress the infiltration of monocyte-derived macrophages to suppress HSC activation, liver oxidative stress response, and hepatocyte death by decreasing the expression of proinflammatory cytokines[32], such as TNF- α , TGF- β 1, and IL-1 β . Another study also during NAFLD progression, mast cells can increase Western diet-induced biliary and liver damage to the development of microvesicular steatosis through microRNA (miR-144-3p)-targeted signaling pathway[33].

Adaptive immune cells including T and B cells have various roles in liver fibrosis. The imbalance of liver regulatory T cells and T helper (Th) cells, such as Th1 cells and Th17 cells plays an essential role in liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, and cancer[34]. The populations of multicytokine-producing CD4 T cells were significantly increased in the livers of patients with NASH compared with patients with NAFLD[35]. The cytokines produced by these CD4 T cells include TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-17A, and IL-10. The phenotype of T cells is also important for their functions. One study showed that the reduction of tissue-resident memory CD69⁺CD103⁻CD8 T cells significantly decreased the resolution of fibrosis in NASH liver. These CD8 T cells can induce FasL/Fas-mediated apoptosis of HSCs[36]. Therefore, targeting immune cells or their secreted inflammatory cytokines is an optional treatment for liver fibrosis[37].

Furthermore, HSC activation is also associated with vascular aging[38], ischemia/reperfusion injury [39], and angiogenesis[40].

SIGNALING PATHWAYS AND MOLECULAR TARGETS FOR LIVER FIBROSIS TREATMENTS

Bile acid receptors

Farnesoid-X-receptor (FXR) and the G protein-coupled bile acid receptors are two widely studied bile acids regulating receptors, which play important roles in lipid and glucose metabolism, inflammation, fibrosis, and immune responses. Many FXR ligands have been investigated in clinical trials for NASH and liver fibrosis treatments, such as EDP-305[41,42], cilofexor[43,44], and MET409[45,46]. Hepatic concentrations of conjugated 12α-hydroxylated bile acids, such as taurodeoxycholate and glycodeoxycholate, were significantly increased in patients with NASH and mouse liver fibrosis models^[47]. These bile acids contribute to HSC activation and liver fibrosis by regulating the signaling of G proteincoupled bile acid receptor 1, also known as TGR5.

Caspases

Caspases are involved in liver cell inflammation and hepatocyte cell death. Meanwhile, they play an essential role in liver fibrogenesis. For example, caspase 3-deficient mice on a methionine- and cholinedeficient diet had reduced liver collagen production compared to wild-type mice[48]. Lipotoxicity can induce caspase-mediated apoptosis of hepatic cells and liver inflammation and injury in NAFLD. Treatment of caspase inhibitors such as emricasan (IDN-6556, a pan-caspase inhibitor) can reduce liver injury in patients with NAFLD[49].

Chemokine receptors

Chemokine receptors are commonly expressed by immune cells or inflammatory cells, which can be recruited during liver inflammation and fibrosis. For example, C-C chemokine receptor 2 (CCR2) and CCR5 are highly expressed by monocytes and subtypes of liver macrophages, which can be targeted to ameliorate liver fibrosis[50]. A recent study showed that the roles of CCR2 and CCR5 in liver macrophages are different during liver disease progression in mice with a hepatocyte-specific knock-out of NF-KB essential modulator. CCR2 oversees the recruitment of monocytes during liver injury, whereas CCR5 is needed to promote HSC activation[51].

In addition, many other chemokines and their receptors are involved in the pathogenesis of liver fibrosis, including C-X-C motif ligand 12 (CXCL12) / C-X-C receptor 4[52], chemokine (C-X3-C motif) ligand 1/C-X3-C receptor 1 (CX3CR1)[53], CCL19/CCR7[54], and CXCL12/atypical chemokine receptor 3[55].

Fibroblast growth factors

Fibroblast growth factor 15 (FGF15) is an important endocrine regulator for hepatic bile acid and lipid metabolism, which regulates gut-liver crosstalk in mice[56]. A combined treatment using an inhibitor of apical sodium-bile acid transporter (GSK233072) and adeno-associated virus 8-mediated hepatic FGF15 overexpression significantly can improve the therapeutic efficacy against NASH and fibrosis compared to either single treatment^[57]. Bile acid nuclear receptor FXR plays an important role in the regulation of the expression of FGF15/19, bile acid homeostasis, and lipid metabolism, which is the target for NASH and liver fibrosis[58]. The expression of hepatic FXR and plasma FGF19 (the ortholog of mouse FGF15) was decreased in children with NASH compared to their expression in healthy subjects [59].

Galectins

Galectins are carbohydrate-binding proteins and play important roles in liver inflammation, immune response, and fibrosis. Galectin-1 (Gal-1) was shown to be highly expressed in the stroma of HCC by cancer-associated fibroblasts. Silencing Gal-1 in these fibroblasts can suppress inflammation and tumor progression[60]. The serum level of Gal-3 was increased in patients with advanced cirrhosis, and liver expression of Gal-3 was also correlated with liver disease severity and inflammation[61].

Lysyl oxidase family members

Lysyl oxidase (LOX) family members are extracellular copper-dependent enzymes, including LOX, lysyl oxidase-like 1 to 4 (LOXL1 to 4) members, which play important roles in the cross-linking of ECM proteins in fibrosis and carcinogenesis. Inhibition of pan-LOX family, LOX, LOXL1, or LOXL2 has been shown to prevent fibrogenesis and accelerate the reversal of liver fibrosis, as well as fibrosis in other organs. However, the roles of LOX family members as therapeutic targets for liver fibrosis need further to be evaluated [62].

NLRP3 inflammasome

Nucleotide-binding oligomerization (NLR) family pyrin domain-containing 3 (NLRP3) plays a pivotal role in liver fibrosis. Activation of NLRP3 can lead to the inflammatory response through the secretion of IL-1 β and IL-18 and activation of caspase-1[63], which is involved in liver cell pyroptosis[64]. Activation of NLRP3 inflammasome can induce hepatocyte pyroptosis and liver fibrosis, while



inhibiting the activation of NLRP3 inflammasome can inhibit the development of NAFLD and NASH in animal models[65,66]. Activation of NLRP3 inflammasome in pyroptosis is mediated by canonical caspase-1-mediated signaling pathway and noncanonical caspase-11-mediated signaling pathway[67].

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs)

PPARs, comprised of three subtypes PPARa, β/δ , and γ , play important roles in liver lipid metabolism, inflammation, and fibrosis [68-70]. The expression of liver PPAR α was shown to be negatively correlated with NASH severity, visceral fat accumulation, and insulin resistance in human patients [71]. Treatment with PPAR α/γ dual agonists decreased the concentrations of total cholesterol, triglyceride (TG), and inflammatory cytokine levels in serum, reduced hepatic steatosis, infiltration of inflammatory cells, and decreased the expression of lipogenic gene and NF-xB protein[72]. Another study showed that the levels of very low-density lipoprotein receptors (VLDLR) were increased in $\text{PPAR}\beta/\delta\text{-deficient}$ mice. In patients with hepatic steatosis, the mRNA levels of PPAR β/δ were suppressed and associated with an increase in VLDLR levels[73]. A pre-clinical study showed that treatment with pan-PPAR agonist lanifibranor can significantly decrease portal pressure and liver inflammation and induce fibrosis regression[74].

TGF-β/Smad

TGF- β /Smad is the most well-studied signaling pathway in fibrosis. SMAD proteins are essential intracellular effectors of TGF- β and show different roles in liver fibrosis[75], including pro-fibrotic functions (e.g., SMAD3 and SMAD4) and protective functions (e.g., SMAD2 and SMAD7). In addition, many studies have demonstrated that regulating the signaling pathway of TGF- β /Smad can prevent liver fibrosis[76], as well as the protein kinase B (PKB, or AKT)/Forkhead box O3 (FOXO3) signaling pathway.

Wnt/β-catenin

Proteins-derived from human amniotic mesenchymal stem cells, including insulin-like growth factor binding protein-3, Dickkopf-1, and DKK-3, can inhibit HSC activation by suppressing Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway in vitro[77]. In vivo study also showed that treatment of niclosamide in rats can prevent CCl₄-induced liver fibrosis by inhibiting the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway and glutaminolysis[78]. Another study also showed that Wnt3a can upregulate the expression of protein regulator of cytokinesis 1 to active β -catenin signaling to promote liver fibrosis[79]. The interaction of β -catenin/transcription factor 4 (TCF4) has been shown to increase during liver fibrosis in mice with bile duct ligation (BDL) [80]. Treatment with ICG-001, an inhibitor of the interaction between cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element binding protein binding protein and β -catenin, together with LF3, a small molecule antagonist that inhibits β -catenin/TCF4 transcriptional activity, can reduce liver fibrosis[80].

Yes-associated protein (YAP)

YAP plays a pivotal role in the sensitivity of HSCs to ferroptosis, apoptosis, and senescence in fibrotic livers. Selective depletion of YAP in myofibroblastic HSCs or activated HSCs can promote their senescence or apoptosis to reduce liver injury and fibrosis^[81]. Taurocholic acid can induce the activation of HSCs through the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2/YAP/p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38 MAPK)[82].

CURRENT DIAGNOSIS FOR LIVER FIBROSIS

The golden standard method for liver fibrosis diagnosis is liver biopsy. Histological or histochemical staining can be used to stain the cells or the extracellular matrix proteins to identify liver fibrosis. Common histological staining methods for liver fibrosis evaluation are hematoxylin-eosin staining with Masson's trichrome or Sirius Red staining[83]. Due to the pain and the risk of potential complications of liver biopsy, non-invasive techniques (e.g., elastography scanning) and biomarkers (e.g., aminotransferase to platelet ratio (APRI): The aminotransferase/platelet ratio index) can be applied for diagnosing liver fibrosis[84]. Many available scoring systems can be applied for liver fibrosis diagnosis and evaluation, including fibrosis-4 index (FIB-4), APRI, and NAFLD fibrosis score (NFS)[85].

Imaging methods are commonly applied in the clinic to evaluate the progression of liver fibrosis. For example, ultrasound elastography techniques can be applied to characterize liver fibrosis and its stage in adult patients, such as vibration-controlled transient elastography, the most utilized and validated elastography method^[86]. A meta-analysis study also showed that magnetic resonance elastography (MRE) and point-shear wave elastography (pSWE) can be applied for liver fibrosis diagnostic, and MRE is a more accurate imaging technique than pSWE[87]. The pooled sensitivities and specificities for MRE and pSWE were 0.94 (95% confidence level/CI: 0.89-0.97) and 0.95 (95% CI: 0.89-0.98), and 0.86 (95% CI: 0.80-0.90) and 0.88 (95% CI: 0.85-0.91), respectively. Their pooled summary receiver operating characteristic curves showed that the area under the curve (AUC) for MRE was 0.98 (95%CI: 0.96-0.99), whereas the AUC for pSWE was 0.93 (95%CI: 0.90-0.95). Another review paper has updated the conven-



tional and molecular imaging diagnostic methods for liver fibrosis[88]. In addition, artificial intelligence models have been applied for the diagnosis of liver fibrosis[89-91]. For example, the clinical features and imaging data collected from a patient can be analyzed for liver fibrosis diagnosis using a machine learning model.

Recently, studies also have shown that miRNAs, the single-stranded, non-coding RNAs containing 21 to 23 nucleotides, are involved in the pathogenesis of liver fibrosis, which are potential biomarkers for diagnosing liver fibrosis and therapeutic targets for liver fibrosis treatment[92]. The methods for liver fibrosis diagnosis have been reviewed in some recent publications[93-96]. Here, we will not discuss more details and will focus on the treatment options for liver fibrosis.

CURRENT TREATMENT OPTIONS FOR LIVER FIBROSIS

In this section, we review some different treatment options for liver fibrosis, such as biological intervention, anti-fibrotic drugs, and other treatment strategies. These treatments either target causing factors of liver fibrosis to accelerate the recovery of liver injury, or induce the balance of liver metabolism, such as anti-hepatitis viral infection, anti-cell death treatment, and regulators of lipid metabolism.

Biological intervention

Inhibition of LOXL2 in the fibrotic tumor microenvironment can synergistically increase the efficacy of sorafenib and 5-fluorouracil for liver cancer cells[97]. However, some treatments in clinical trials did not show promising results. For example, simtuzumab is a monoclonal antibody against LOXL2. In two phase 2b clinical trials, intravenous infusions of simtuzumab (200 or 700 mg) every other day for 48 wk and 96 wk did not show promising effects to decrease liver fibrosis and the progression of cirrhosis in patients with bridging fibrosis[98]. In a pilot clinical trial, intravenous treatment of simtuzumab (700 mg) every 2 wk for 22 wk did not improve liver biopsy fibrosis score for patients with advanced liver fibrosis[99].

Drug treatment

Aramchol, a partial inhibitor of hepatic stearoyl-CoA desaturase, has been shown to improve NASH and liver fibrosis in rodents and decrease liver triglycerides and fibrosis clinical trials[100].

Anti-hepatitis viral infection drugs: Inhibition of hepatitis viral infection can suppress liver inflammation and hepatocyte death to decrease liver injury, resulting in suppression of liver fibrosis. Drugs such as faldaprevir (also known as BI 201335)[101], ribavirin (HCV treatment)[102], and peginterferon alfa-2a (HBV treatment)[103,104], have been tested in clinical trials for the treatment of liver fibrosis. In addition, many other drugs have been evaluated or are under clinical trial evaluation against hepatitis viral infection[105-107], such as simeprevir, daclatasvir, and sofosbuvir.

Cenicriviroc: C-C chemokine receptors 2 and 5 dual antagonist, has been shown to improve liver fibrosis without worsening NASH compared to the placebo in phase 2 clinical trial (Clinicaltrials.gov, NCT02217475)[108]. A phase 3 clinical trial has been designed to confirm the efficacy and safety of cenicriviroc for liver fibrosis treatment in adults with NASH[109].

Cholangitis treatment: Obeticholic acid and ursodeoxycholic acid are the only two FDA-approved medicines for the treatment of primary biliary cholangitis[110], which have the potential to cholangitisinduced liver fibrosis.

Cyclophilin inhibitors: CRV431, a pan-cyclophilin inhibitor, can decrease liver fibrosis in mice treated with CCl₄ for 6 wk and mice with diet-induced NASH[111]. Another cyclophilin inhibitor NV556 also displays an antifibrotic effect in two mouse NASH models, the STAM model (streptozotocin plus a high-fat diet) and methionine- and choline-deficient diet-induced NASH model[112]. In addition, NV556 can also inhibit TGF-β1-induced activation of HSCs in vitro.

FGF regulators or analogues: Treatment of pegbelfermin (BMS-986036, 10 mg or 20 mg daily), a PEGylated human FGF21 analogue, can significantly decrease liver fat accumulation in patients with NASH without treatment-related severe adverse effects, and it can also improve liver fibrosis in patients with obesity and type 2 diabetes[113].

FXR agonists: Treatment of obeticholic acid (INT-747), a potent and orally active FXR agonist, can significantly ameliorate liver fibrosis and the histological and biological markers of NASH in patients with NASH[114].

Gal-3 inhibitors: GB1211, an inhibitor of Gal-3, can inhibit the differentiation of epithelial cells into myofibroblasts and macrophage or myofibroblast-induced fibrosis in the liver[115]. GR-MD-02 (belapectin), a galectin-3 inhibitor, has been shown to inhibit liver fibrosis and portal hypertension in rat



fibrosis mode, which is safe and well-tolerated in a phase 1 clinical trial. However, a phase 2b clinical trial showed that treatment of GR-MD-02 did not significantly improve liver fibrosis and reduce portal hypertension (hepatic venous pressure gradient) in patients with NASH[116]. Further studies are required to evaluate these treatments for liver fibrosis.

Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonist: GLP-1 analogues have been shown to have the effects to reduce liver fat accumulation, liver injury, and insulin resistance in mice with fatty liver disease. Clinical trial (ClinicalTrials.gov, NCT01237119) showed that treatment of GLP-1 analogue liraglutide was well tolerated and suppressed liver fibrosis progression in patients with NASH[117]. Another trial also showed that treatment of liraglutide markedly reduced liver fat content and body weight in patients with uncontrolled type 2 diabetes[118].

Pan-caspase inhibitor: Emricasan (IDN-6556), a pan-caspase inhibitor, can decrease liver cell apoptosis and inflammation and improve portal pressure in rats with CCl₄-induced cirrhosis[119]. However, a clinical trial (Clinicaltrials.gov, NCT03205345) did not show the efficacy of emaricasan against liver fibrosis, but it was safe and well-tolerated.

PPAR agonists: In rats with BDL-induced liver fibrosis, treatment of PPAR-γ agonist thiazolidinedione inhibited HSC activation and liver fibrosis by regulating fibrogenic factors, such as TGF-β1, plateletderived growth factor, and connective tissue growth factor [120]. Farglitazar (GI262570), an agonist of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma (PPARy), can inhibit HSC activation.

Tropifexor: A non-bile acid FXR agonist, can potently inhibit cholestatic liver injury and fibrosis by enhancing the expression of FGF19 in the ileum and the expression of small heterodimer partner in the livers of piglets but inhibit cholesterol 7α -hydroxylase. In addition, tropifexor can increase the abundance of bile acid-biotransforming bacteria and later the amino acid composition in the intestine and decrease intestinal barrier injury in piglets with BLD[121]. Clinical trial (Clinicaltrials.gov, NCT02855164) also showed that treatment of tropifexor (10-90 µg) once daily for 12 weeks was safe and decreased the levels of alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and hepatic fat fraction (HFF) compared to baseline in a dose-dependent manner. The decrease of ALT and HFF can be sustained for up to 48 wk at high doses of tropifexor (140 µg and 200 µg once daily)[122].

Natural products or herbal medicines

Natural products or herbal medicines display diverse roles in the treatment of liver fibrosis. For example, a classical Traditional Chinese Medicine formula Yinchenhao decoction has been shown to ameliorate dimethylnitrosamine-induced liver fibrosis in rats and suppress liver cell apoptosis[123]. Another study showed that Xiaoyaosan decoction significantly reduced CCl₄-induced liver fibrosis in rats by regulating both TGF- β 1/Smad and AKT/FOXO3 signaling pathways [76]. The major components of these herbal medicines such as Tanshinone IIA extracted from the traditional herbal medicine Salvia miltiorrhiza display broad biological activities, such as anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, antiangiogenic, and anticancer functions^[124]. Furthermore, clinical trials also illustrate that these traditional medicine formula such as Fuzheng Huayu display therapeutic effects against hepatitis-B-caused cirrhosis in patients^[125].

Dietary regulation or supplementation

Consumption of polyunsaturated fatty acids: The endogenous metabolites of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids such as 19,20-epoxy docosapentaenoic acid show a protective effect against liver fibrosis in mouse NASH models[126]. G protein-coupled receptors can be regulated by polyunsaturated fatty acids to reduce liver inflammation and fibrosis[127]. For example, supplementation of docosahexaenoic acid, an omega-3 fatty acid, can reduce liver inflammation and prevent liver fibrosis in diet-induced liver fibrosis model via G protein-coupled receptor 120 (GPR120) signaling, also known as free fatty acid receptor 4[128].

Probiotics: Treatment with probiotic Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG can significantly decrease liver inflammation and fibrosis by reducing the production of hepatic bile acids in mice with BLD[129].

Vitamins: The serum levels of vitamin C have been shown to be negatively associated with the odds of liver fibrosis in patients with NAFLD in United States adults[130]. Another study showed that a decreased serum level of vitamin B12 is associated with an increased risk of liver fibrosis in patients with NAFLD[131]. Treatment of Vitamin D_3 can alleviate liver injury and the expression of ECM proteins such as TGF- β and α -SMA in thioacetamide-induced hepatic fibrosis rat model[132]. The data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (2017-2018) also showed that levels of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D were inversely associated with liver fibrosis during NAFLD development and progression[133].

Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory agents: Supplementation of natural products with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory components can also ameliorate chronic liver disease to improve liver fibrosis and



inhibit cancer development[9], such as β-sitosterol and silymarin.

Bariatric surgery

Studies have shown that bariatric surgery (BS) can provide long-term benefits for the resolution of liver fibrosis. The two most common procedures of BS are laparoscopic Roux-en-Y-gastric and laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy. For example, one study showed that NASH was resolved in 84% of patients (95%CI: 73.1%-92.2%) at year 5 post-BS treatment, while fibrosis was decreased in samples from 70.2% of patients (95%CI: 56.6%-81.6%) compared with baseline and fibrosis was disappeared in samples from 56% of all patients (95%CI: 42.4%-69.3%)[134]. BS has been shown to induce NASH disappearance in nearly 85% (95%CI: 75.8%-92.2%) of patients and to decrease fibrosis in 33.8% of patients (95%CI: 23.6%-45.2%) with NASH at 1 year after surgery[135]. Another clinical study showed that excessive weight loss shown in patients with cirrhosis with 73% (33%-167%), 85% (33%-190%), and 73% (29%-107%) after 1, 2, and 3 years of BS[136], respectively. Among 27 patients with cirrhosis, 3 patients had significant improvement in liver function and did not need liver transplantation, whereas 2 out of 27 patients had deleterious liver function post-BS treatment[136].

Genetic intervention

Gene therapy is a critical tool for disease treatment, including liver fibrosis and cancer. Noncoding RNAs, such as miRNAs and long noncoding RNAs, small interference RNAs, and circular RNAs are important. For example, the treatment of siRNA silencing CCR2 can regulate liver immune to inhibit the infiltration of profibrotic macrophages and neutrophils in murine fibrotic livers[137]. Another study showed that circRNA ASPH regulated liver fibrosis by binding miR-139-5p by regulating neurogenic locus notch homolog protein 1 (Notch 1) expression[138].

Transplantation of stem cells

Transplantation of umbilical cord Wharton's Jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells to rats with CCl_4 induced hepatic fibrosis improved liver function, inflammation, and fibrosis *via* a paracrine mechanism possibly by targeting TGF- β 1 signaling pathway[139]. Another study showed that transplantation of human umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells substantially improved liver fibrosis in histopathological evaluation compared to that in the untreated group[140]. Infusions of hematopoietic stem cells into mice with methionine-choline-deficient diet- or CCl_4 -induced liver fibrosis can reduce hepatic collagen production and the expression of α -smooth muscle actin[141,142].

Overall, there are several potent preventive and therapeutic treatments for liver fibrosis, including physical activity (*e.g.*, running), dietary change (*e.g.*, avoid of high-fat and high-sugar diet), dietary supplementation (*e.g.*, vitamin C), biological treatment (*e.g.*, simtuzumab), bariatric surgery (*e.g.*, Rouxen-Y-gastric procedure), drug (*e.g.*, pegbelfermin), change of gut microbiota (*e.g.*, probiotics), nanoparticles (*e.g.*, BMS-986263), genetic regulation (*e.g.*, non-coding RNAs), and transplantation of stem cells (*e.g.*, hematopoietic stem cells) (Figure 3).

CLINICAL TRIALS

In this section, we first review some completed clinical trials (Clinicaltrials.gov, Table 1). These treatments including biological treatment, drugs, dietary supplementation, and infusion of stem cells.

Future treatments

There is an unmet need for treatments for liver fibrosis due to the efficacy of available treatments. Some drugs with potent anti-fibrotic effects in pre-clinical models are now waiting to be further evaluated in clinical trials (Table 2). The promising preventive and therapeutic treatments for liver fibrosis, including treatment of hepatitis viral infection (*e.g.*, Peginterferon Alfa 2a), transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells, bariatric surgery for patients with obesity and NAFLD, dietary modification (*e.g.*, Mediterranean diet or Calorie-restricted diet).

Furthermore, deliver system can be applied to increase the efficiency of anti-fibrotic treatments. For example, BMS-986263, a lipid nanoparticle, has been applied to deliver small interfering RNA to degrade mRNA of heat shock protein 47, a key collagen chaperone involved in the pathogenesis of fibrosis. Treatment of MS-986263 in patients with HCV infection and sustained virologic response improved the Ishak score, the histology activity index score for levels of liver fibrosis[143]. Many other types of nanoparticles have been applied to treat liver fibrosis or its causing chronic liver disease, such as Fibroblast growth factor 2 conjugated superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles[144], cerium oxide nanoparticles[145], and silymarin-conjugated gold nanoparticles[146].

Zaishideng® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Completed clinical trials (Clinicaltrials.gov, accession date: March 1, 2023)

Method	Intervention	Trial number	Phase	Title	Condition
Biological	Peginterferon alfa-2b (SCH 54031)	NCT00049842	3	Prevention of Disease Progress in Chronic Hepatitis C Patients with Liver Fibrosis (Study P02570AM2)	Chronic HCV; Liver fibrosis
	PegIntron (peginterferon alfa- 2b; SCH 54031) REBETOL (ribavirin; SCH 18908)	NCT00039871	3	PEG-Intron Plus Rebetol Treatment of Chronic Hepatitis C Subjects Who Failed Response to Alpha-Interferon Plus Ribavirin (Study P02370)	Hepatitis; HCV; Fibrosis; Liver cirrhosis
	Simtuzumab	NCT01707472	2	Study of Simtuzumab in HIV and/or Hepatitis C- Infected Adults with Liver Fibrosis	Liver fibrosis; HCV infection; HIV
	Simtuzumab	NCT01672853	2	Simtuzumab (GS-6624) in the Prevention of Progression of Liver Fibrosis in Adults with PSC	PSC
Dietary regulation	GK#10; Placebo	NCT01598064	N/A	Probiotics for Liver Cirrhosis with Portal Hypertension	Liver cirrhosis; Portal hypertension
Drug	Aramchol	NCT02279524	2	A Clinical Trial to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Two Aramchol Doses Versus Placebo in Patients With NASH	Fatty liver; NASH; Liver fibrosis
	BI 201335	NCT01909778	1	Open Label Single Dose Phase I Trial of BI 201335 to Study Pharmacokinetics and Safety in Patients with Compensated Liver Cirrhosis	HCV; Liver cirrhosis
	BMS-986036; Placebo	NCT03486912	2	A Study of Experimental Medication BMS-986036 in Adults with NASH and Liver Cirrhosis	Hepatic cirrhosis; Liver fibrosis; NAFLD; NASH
	BMS-98603; Other: Placebo	NCT03486899	2	A Study of Experimental Medication BMS-986036 in Adults with NASH and Stage 3 Liver Fibrosis	Liver fibrosis; NAFLD; NASH
	BMS-986263 placebo	NCT03420768	2	A Study of Experimental Medication BMS-986263 in Adults with Advanced Hepatic Fibrosis After Cure of Hepatitis C	Hepatic cirrhosis; Liver fibrosis
	Cenicriviroc placebo	NCT02217475	2	Efficacy and Safety Study of Cenicriviroc for the Treatment of NASH in Adult Participants with Liver Fibrosis	NASH
	CRV431 placebo	NCT04480710	2	A Study of CRV431 Dosed Once Daily in NASH-induced F2 and F3 Subjects	NASH; Fibrosis; NAFLD
	Fuzheng Huayu placebo	NCT00854087	2	Assess the Antifibrotic Activity of Fuzheng Huayu in Chronic Hepatitis C Patients with Hepatic Fibrosis	Chronic HCV
	GI262570 placebo	NCT00244751	2	Antifibrotic Activity of GI262570 In Chronic Hepatitis C Subjects	Cirrhosis, liver
	GR-MD-02 placebo	NCT02462967	2	Clinical Trial to Evaluation the Safety and Efficacy of GR-MD-02 for the Treatment of Liver Fibrosis and Resultant Portal Hypertension in Patients with Nash Cirrhosis	Hypertension, portal
	GR-MD-02; Placebo	NCT02421094	2	Clinical Trial to Evaluate Efficacy of GR-MD-02 for Treatment of Liver Fibrosis in Patients with NASH With Advanced Fibrosis	NASH
	IDN-6556; Placebo	NCT02230670	2	A Study of IDN-6556 in Subjects with Liver Cirrhosis	Liver cirrhosis; Hepatic cirrhosis
	IDN-6556; Placebo	NCT02138253	2	A Trial of IDN-6556 in Post Orthotopic Liver Transplant for Chronic HCV	Liver fibrosis; Liver cirrhosis
	INT-747; Ursodeoxycholic acid; Placebo	NCT00550862	2	Study of INT 747 in Combination with URSO in Patients with PBC	Liver cirrhosis; Biliary injury
	Nitazoxanide; BID	NCT03656068	2	An Evaluation of the Safety and Efficacy of Nitazoxanide on Collagen Turnover in NASH Patients with Fibrosis	NASH; Fatty liver; Fibrosis; Compensated cirrhosis
	Placebo obeticholic acid	NCT00570765	2	Study of INT-747 as Monotherapy in Participants with PBC	Liver cirrhosis, biliary injury
	SEL; Simtuzumab	NCT02466516	2	Safety, Tolerability, and Efficacy of GS-4997 Alone or in Combination with Simtuzumab in Adults with NASH and Fibrosis Stages F2-F3	NASH
	Simeprevir; Daclatasvir;	NCT02349048	2	Study to Assess Efficacy, Safety, Tolerability and	HCV



	Sofosbuvir			Pharmacokinetics of Simeprevir, Daclatasvir and Sofosbuvir in Treatment-naive Participants with Chronic HCV Genotype 1 Infection	
	Tropifexor (LJN452) CVC	NCT03517540	2	Study of Safety, Tolerability, and Efficacy of a Combination Treatment of LJN452 and CVC in Adult Patients with NASH and Liver Fibrosis	NASH
	Peginterferon alfa-2a + Ribavirin; Peginterferon alfa-2a	NCT00006164	3	Long Term Interferon for Patients Who Did Not Clear HCV with Standard Treatment	Chronic HCV; Cirrhosis; Fibrosis; Hepatic cirrhosis
	OMACOR placebo oral capsule	NCT00760513	4	Treatment of non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease With n-3 Fatty Acids	NAFLD
	Ceftriaxone normal saline	NCT04218695	4	Prophylactic Antibiotics in Admitted Cirrhotics	Cirrhosis, LIVER
	Proton pump inhibitors placebo	NCT03175731	4	PPIs and Gastroesophageal Varices in Liver Cirrhosis (PPIs: Proton pump inhibitors)	Liver cirrhosis; Hypertension, portal
Other	Human fetal liver cell transplantation	NCT01013194	1 or 2	Human Fetal Liver Cell Transplantation in Chronic Liver Failure	Liver cirrhosis
	G-colony stimulating factor and infusion of the mobilized monocyte cells	NCT01503749	1	Safety and Efficacy Study of Peripheral Blood Mononuc- leated Cells for Treatment of Liver Cirrhosis	Liver cirrhosis
	Leukapheresis; Infusion of stem cells <i>via</i> image-guided scan	NCT00147043	N/A	Adult Stem Cell Therapy in Liver Insufficiency	Liver cirrhosis

N/A: Not applicable; CVC: Cenicriviroc; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus; NAFLD: non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; NASH: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis; PBC: Primary biliary cirrhosis; PSC: Primary sclerosing cholangitis.



Figure 3 Treatment options for liver fibrosis. Currently, the preventive and therapeutic treatments for liver fibrosis include physical activity (e.g., running), dietary change (e.g., avoid of high-fat and high-sugar diet), dietary supplementation (e.g., vitamin C), biological treatment (e.g., simtuzumab), bariatric surgery (e.g., Roux-en-Y-gastric procedure), drugs and herb medicines (e.g., pegbelfermin), change of gut microbiota (e.g., probiotics), nanoparticles (e.g., BMS-986263), genetic regulation (e.g., non-coding RNAs), and transplantation of stem cells (e.g., hematopoietic stem cells). All cartoons in this figure were prepared using Biorender (https://biorender.com).

CONCLUSION

Liver fibrosis accompanies the progression of chronic liver diseases independent of their etiologies. The initiation and progression of liver fibrosis are mainly driven by liver inflammation and hepatocyte or cholangiocyte injury and damage, resulting in the activation of HSCs and their differentiation into ECM protein-producing myofibroblasts. Thus, current therapeutic options for liver fibrosis are to prevent the initial causing factors for liver inflammation, hepatocyte cell death and oxidative stress. Unfortunately,



Table 2 Recruiting and active clinical trials (Clinicaltrials.gov, accession date: March 1, 2023)

Method	Interventions	NCT number	Phases	Title	Conditions
Drug	ZED1227; Placebo	NCT05305599	2	Different Doses of ZED1227 vs Placebo in NAFLD	NAFLD; Fibrosis
	Tropifexor; Licogliflozin; Placebo	NCT04065841	2	Efficacy, Safety, and Tolerability of the Combination of Tropifexor & Licogliflozin and Each Monotherapy, Compared with Placebo in Adult Patients with NASH and Liver Fibrosis	NASH; Liver fibrosis
	Tenofovir disoproxil Fumarate; PEG-Interferon alfa 2a	NCT03957629	N/A	Optimized Treatment of Peginterferon Alfa 2a in Treatment Experienced Patients with HBV-Related Liver Fibrosis	Hepatitis B; Fibrosis
	Sildenafil	NCT04908657	4	Sildenafil for Liver Fibrosis in Adolescents and Adults After Fontan Operation	Fibrosis
	Saroglitazar magnesium	NCT05011305	2	Saroglitazar Magnesium for the Treatment of NASH with Fibrosis	NASH; Fibrosis
	Saroglitazar magnesium	NCT05045482	1	Hepatic Impairment with Cirrhosis Due to Cholestatic Liver Disease	Hepatic impairment; Cirrhosis
	Rivaroxaban apixaban	NCT04874428	1	Direct Oral Anticoagulants (Rivaroxaban and Apixaban) in Patients with Liver Cirrhosis	Cirrhosis
	Resmetirom; Placebo	NCT05500222	3	A Phase 3 Study to Evaluate the Effect of Resmetirom on Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Well- compensated NASH Cirrhosis (MAESTRO-NASH- OUTCOMES)	NASH; Cirrhosis
	Rencofilstat; Placebo	NCT05402371	2	A Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Rencofilstat in Subjects with NASH and Advanced Liver Fibrosis	NASH; Fibrosis, Liver NAFLD
	Placebo; Esomeprazole	NCT04448028	4	Stop of Proton-pump Inhibitor Treatment in Patients with Liver Cirrhosis - a Double-blind, Placebo- controlled Trial	Liver cirrhosis
	PHIN-214	NCT05490888	1	Single Dose Escalation of PHIN-214 in Child-Pugh A and B Liver Cirrhotics	Cirrhosis; Fibrosis; Hepatic ascites
	Placebo zibotentan + dapagliflozin	NCT05516498	2	Zibotentan and Dapagliflozin Combination, EvAluated in Liver Cirrhosis (ZEAL Study)	Cirrhosis
	L-ornithine; L-aspartate	NCT05737030	4	Effect of L-ornithine-L-aspertate (LOLA) on the Gut Microbiome	Cirrhosis
	Hydronidone capsules; The placebo capsules	NCT05115942	3	Hydronidone for the Treatment of Liver Fibrosis Associated with Chronic Viral Hepatitis B Phase 3 Trial	Liver fibrosis
	Growth hormone	NCT05253287	2/3	Growth Hormone in Decompensated Liver Cirrhosis	Cirrhosis; Fibrosis
	Empagliflozin 10 MG; Placebo pills	NCT05147090	4	Effects of Empagliflozin on Fibrosis and Cirrhosis in Chronic Hepatitis B	NAFLD; Cirrhosis; Fibrosis
	Cotadutide; Placebo	NCT05364931	2/3	A Study to Evaluate the Safety and Efficacy of Cotadutide Given by Subcutaneous Injection in Adult Participants with Non-cirrhotic Non-alcoholic Steato- hepatitis with Fibrosis	Non-cirrhotic NASH with Fibrosis
	Candesartan; Ramipril	NCT03770936	3	Effect of Some Drugs on Liver Fibrosis	Liver fibrosis
	Branched-chain amino acid; Placebo	NCT03633279	4	Treatment of Sarcopenia Improves the Muscle Mass and Muscle Strength of Patients with Liver Cirrhosis- Child C	Liver cirrhosis
	BMS-986263; Placebo	NCT04267393	2	Safety and Effectiveness of BMS-986263 in Adults with Compensated Cirrhosis (Liver Disease) From Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis (NASH)	NASH
	AZD4831; Placebo	NCT05638737	2	A Study in Participants with Non-cirrhotic NASH With Fibrosis	Non-cirrhotic NASH with fibrosis
	Atorvastatin; Placebo	NCT05028829	2	Safety and Efficacy of Atorvastatin v. Placebo on HCC Risk	Liver fibrosis; Cirrhosis
Dietary supplement	Leucine enriched essential amino acid; Balanced amino acid	NCT03208868	N/A	Leucine-Enriched Essential Amino Acid Mixture to Reverse Muscle Loss in Cirrhosis	Cirrhosis



	supplement (BAA)				
	Hydroxy methyl butyrate; Balanced Amino Acids	NCT05166499	N/A	HMB Enriched Amino Acids to Reverse Muscle Loss in Cirrhosis	Cirrhosis
Biological	Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell compre- hensive treatment	NCT03945487	2	Mesenchymal Stem Cells Treatment for Decompensated Liver Cirrhosis	Decompensated liver cirrhosis
	Mesenchymal stem cell	NCT03254758	1/2	A Study of ADR-001 in Patients with Liver Cirrhosis	Decompensated liver cirrhosis
	Human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells	NCT05227846	1	Human Umbilical Cord-derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells for Decompensated Cirrhosis (MSC-DLC-1)	Decompensated cirrhosis
	Human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell infusion	NCT05331872	1	Umbilical Cord-derived Mesenchymal Stem Cell Infusion in the Management of Adult Liver Cirrhosis	Liver cirrhosis
	Fecal microbiota transplantation; Placebo	NCT04932577	2/3	Fecal Microbiota Transplantation for Liver Cirrhosis	Cirrhosis
	Cellgram-LC	NCT04689152	3	Clinical Trial to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Cellgram-LC Administration in Patients with Alcoholic Cirrhosis	Alcoholic cirrhosis
	Autologous BM MSC	NCT03626090	1/2	Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for Liver Cirrhosis	Cirrhosis
	Allogeneic umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell	NCT04357600	1/2	Umbilical Cord Mesenchymal Stem Cell for Liver Cirrhosis Patient Caused by Hepatitis B	Cirrhosis
Other	Weight loss	NCT05104541	N/A	Impact of Weight Loss in Cirrhosis with Obesity and MAFLD	Liver cirrhosis
	Lifestyle therapy bariatric surgery	NCT03472157	N/A	A Randomized Controlled Study Evaluating Bariatric Surgery as a Treatment for Severe NASH With Advanced Liver Fibrosis in Non-severe Obese Patients	Surgery; Obesity; NASH; Cirrhosis
	Indo mediterranean diet calorie restricted diet	NCT05073588	N/A	Effect of Indo-Mediterranean Diet on Hepatic Steatosis and Fibrosis in NAFLD Children	NAFLD

N/A: Not applicable; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; NAFLD: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; NASH: Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis.

the reverse of liver fibrosis is slowly and frequently impossible for advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis. Liver transplantation is the only therapeutic option for the late stage of liver cirrhosis and cancer. To avoid the life-threatening stage of advanced liver fibrosis and cirrhosis, anti-fibrotic treatments including biological, medicines, dietary change, and behavior prevention are needed. Currently, promising treatments for liver fibrosis are still the preventive strategies, such as treatment of hepatitis viral infection (e.g., Peginterferon Alfa 2a), inhibition of the progression of MAFLD and obesity (e.g., bariatric surgery), dietary modification (e.g., Mediterranean diet or Calorie-restricted diet). In addition, nanodelivery systems have been applied to improve the treatment efficacy and specifically deliver the treatments. Pre-clinical and clinical evaluations for new treatments of liver fibrosis are required while we still lack currently effective strategies for liver fibrosis treatment. The treatment efficacy can be evaluated by histological staining methods, imaging methods, and serum biomarkers, as well as fibrosis scoring systems, such as FIB-4, APRI, and NFS. Although many anti-fibrotic candidate agents have shown robust effects in experimental animal models, their anti-fibrotic effects in clinical trials are less clear. The development of patient-derived organoid models for liver fibrosis may advance the development of compounds with anti-fibrotic properties in the future. In addition, new delivery systems can improve the efficacy of potent treatments and reduce the side effects of therapy. Meanwhile, additional clinical studies are required to confirm the efficacy and safety of treatments.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Zhang CY, Liu S, and Yang M designed and collected data, wrote, revised, and finalized the manuscript; all authors contributed equally and shared the first authorship.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/



Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Chun-Ye Zhang 0000-0003-2567-029X; Shuai Liu 0000-0001-9695-2492; Ming Yang 0000-0002-4895-5864.

S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY

REFERENCES

- Higashi T, Friedman SL, Hoshida Y. Hepatic stellate cells as key target in liver fibrosis. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2017; 121: 1 27-42 [PMID: 28506744 DOI: 10.1016/j.addr.2017.05.007]
- Kisseleva T, Brenner D. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of liver fibrosis and its regression. Nat Rev Gastroenterol 2 Hepatol 2021; 18: 151-166 [PMID: 33128017 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-020-00372-7]
- 3 Mederacke I, Hsu CC, Troeger JS, Huebener P, Mu X, Dapito DH, Pradere JP, Schwabe RF. Fate tracing reveals hepatic stellate cells as dominant contributors to liver fibrosis independent of its aetiology. Nat Commun 2013; 4: 2823 [PMID: 24264436 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms3823]
- Tsuchida T, Friedman SL. Mechanisms of hepatic stellate cell activation. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 14: 397-4 411 [PMID: 28487545 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2017.38]
- Hou W, Syn WK. Role of Metabolism in Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation and Fibrogenesis. Front Cell Dev Biol 2018; 6: 150 [PMID: 30483502 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2018.00150]
- De Smet V, Eysackers N, Merens V, Kazemzadeh Dastjerd M, Halder G, Verhulst S, Mannaerts I, van Grunsven LA. 6 Initiation of hepatic stellate cell activation extends into chronic liver disease. Cell Death Dis 2021; 12: 1110 [PMID: 34839349 DOI: 10.1038/s41419-021-04377-1]
- 7 Koyama Y, Brenner DA. Liver inflammation and fibrosis. J Clin Invest 2017; 127: 55-64 [PMID: 28045404 DOI: 10.1172/JCI88881]
- Del Campo JA, Gallego P, Grande L. Role of inflammatory response in liver diseases: Therapeutic strategies. World J 8 Hepatol 2018; 10: 1-7 [PMID: 29399273 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v10.i1.1]
- 9 Zhang CY, Liu S, Yang M. Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory agents in chronic liver diseases: Molecular mechanisms and therapy. World J Hepatol 2023; 15: 180-200 [PMID: 36926234 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i2.180]
- 10 Ramachandran P, Matchett KP, Dobie R, Wilson-Kanamori JR, Henderson NC. Single-cell technologies in hepatology: new insights into liver biology and disease pathogenesis. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 17: 457-472 [PMID: 32483353 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-020-0304-x]
- Yu P, Zhang X, Liu N, Tang L, Peng C, Chen X. Pyroptosis: mechanisms and diseases. Signal Transduct Target Ther 11 2021; 6: 128 [PMID: 33776057 DOI: 10.1038/s41392-021-00507-5]
- Kovacs SB, Miao EA. Gasdermins: Effectors of Pyroptosis. Trends Cell Biol 2017; 27: 673-684 [PMID: 28619472 DOI: 10.1016/j.tcb.2017.05.005
- 13 Drummer C 4th, Saaoud F, Jhala NC, Cueto R, Sun Y, Xu K, Shao Y, Lu Y, Shen H, Yang L, Zhou Y, Yu J, Wu S, Snyder NW, Hu W, Zhuo J', Zhong Y, Jiang X, Wang H, Yang X. Caspase-11 promotes high-fat diet-induced NAFLD by increasing glycolysis, OXPHOS, and pyroptosis in macrophages. Front Immunol 2023; 14: 1113883 [PMID: 36776889 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1113883]
- Liu Y, Kong X, You Y, Xiang L, Zhang Y, Wu R, Zhou L, Duan L. S100A8-Mediated NLRP3 Inflammasome-Dependent 14 Pyroptosis in Macrophages Facilitates Liver Fibrosis Progression. Cells 2022; 11 [PMID: 36429008 DOI: 10.3390/cells112235791
- Gao H, Zhong Y, Zhou L, Lin S, Hou X, Ding Z, Li Y, Yao Q, Cao H, Zou X, Chen D, Bai X, Xiao G. Kindlin-2 inhibits 15 TNF/NF-κB-Caspase 8 pathway in hepatocytes to maintain liver development and function. Elife 2023; 12 [PMID: 36622102 DOI: 10.7554/eLife.81792]
- Chen K, Lin T, Yao W, Chen X, Xiong X, Huang Z. Adipocytes-derived exosomal miR-122 promotes non-alcoholic fat 16 liver disease progression via targeting Sirt1. Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022 [PMID: 36584755 DOI: 10.1016/j.gastrohep.2022.12.003]
- Wang R, Liu F, Chen P, Li S, Gu Y, Wang L, Chen C, Yuan Y. Gomisin D alleviates liver fibrosis through targeting 17 PDGFRβ in hepatic stellate cells. Int J Biol Macromol 2023; 235: 123639 [PMID: 36822287 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2023.123639
- Dhuriya YK, Sharma D. Necroptosis: a regulated inflammatory mode of cell death. J Neuroinflammation 2018; 15: 199 18 [PMID: 29980212 DOI: 10.1186/s12974-018-1235-0]
- 19 Pasparakis M, Vandenabeele P. Necroptosis and its role in inflammation. Nature 2015; 517: 311-320 [PMID: 25592536 DOI: 10.1038/nature14191]
- 20 Shi H, Wang X, Li F, Gerlach BD, Yurdagul A Jr, Moore MP, Zeldin S, Zhang H, Cai B, Zheng Z, Valenti L, Tabas I. CD47-SIRPa axis blockade in NASH promotes necroptotic hepatocyte clearance by liver macrophages and decreases hepatic fibrosis. Sci Transl Med 2022; 14: eabp8309 [PMID: 36417485 DOI: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abp8309]
- Liu J, Kang R, Tang D. Signaling pathways and defense mechanisms of ferroptosis. FEBS J 2022; 289: 7038-7050 21 [PMID: 34092035 DOI: 10.1111/febs.16059]
- Zhang C, Liu X, Jin S, Chen Y, Guo R. Ferroptosis in cancer therapy: a novel approach to reversing drug resistance. Mol 22 Cancer 2022; 21: 47 [PMID: 35151318 DOI: 10.1186/s12943-022-01530-y]
- 23 Chen X, Kang R, Kroemer G, Tang D. Ferroptosis in infection, inflammation, and immunity. J Exp Med 2021; 218 [PMID: 33978684 DOI: 10.1084/jem.20210518]



- 24 Zhu L, Luo S, Zhu Y, Tang S, Li C, Jin X, Wu F, Jiang H, Wu L, Xu Y. The Emerging Role of Ferroptosis in Various Chronic Liver Diseases: Opportunity or Challenge. J Inflamm Res 2023; 16: 381-389 [PMID: 36748023 DOI: 10.2147/JIR.S385977
- Capelletti MM, Manceau H, Puy H, Peoc'h K. Ferroptosis in Liver Diseases: An Overview. Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21 25 [PMID: 32664576 DOI: 10.3390/ijms21144908]
- Abu-Halaka D, Shpaizer A, Zeigerman H, Kanner J, Tirosh O. DMF-Activated Nrf2 Ameliorates Palmitic Acid Toxicity 26 While Potentiates Ferroptosis Mediated Cell Death: Protective Role of the NO-Donor S-Nitroso-N-Acetylcysteine. Antioxidants (Basel) 2023; 12 [PMID: 36830070 DOI: 10.3390/antiox12020512]
- Wang Y, Zhao M, Zhao L, Geng Y, Li G, Chen L, Yu J, Yuan H, Zhang H, Yun H, Yuan Y, Wang G, Feng J, Xu L, 27 Wang S, Hou C, Yang G, Zhang N, Lu W, Zhang X. HBx-Induced HSPA8 Stimulates HBV Replication and Suppresses Ferroptosis to Support Liver Cancer Progression. Cancer Res 2023; 83: 1048-1061 [PMID: 36745032 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-22-3169
- Zheng Y, Zhao T, Wang J, Jiang R, Huang J, Li W. Curcumol alleviates liver fibrosis through inducing autophagy and 28 ferroptosis in hepatic stellate cells. FASEB J 2022; 36: e22665 [PMID: 36398583 DOI: 10.1096/fj.202200933RR]
- Li L, Zhu Z. Pharmacological modulation of ferroptosis as a therapeutic target for liver fibrosis. Front Pharmacol 2022; 29 13: 1071844 [PMID: 36703745 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2022.1071844]
- Jung S, Jeong H, Yu SW. Autophagy as a decisive process for cell death. Exp Mol Med 2020; 52: 921-930 [PMID: 30 32591647 DOI: 10.1038/s12276-020-0455-4]
- 31 Yang M, Qi X, Li N, Kaifi JT, Chen S, Wheeler AA, Kimchi ET, Ericsson AC, Scott Rector R, Staveley-O'Carroll KF, Li G. Western diet contributes to the pathogenesis of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis in male mice via remodeling gut microbiota and increasing production of 2-oleoylglycerol. Nat Commun 2023; 14: 228 [PMID: 36646715 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-023-35861-1
- Yang M, Kimchi ET, Staveley-O'Carroll KF, Li G. Astaxanthin Prevents Diet-Induced NASH Progression by Shaping 32 Intrahepatic Immunity. Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22 [PMID: 34681695 DOI: 10.3390/ijms222011037]
- 33 Kennedy L, Meadows V, Sybenga A, Demieville J, Chen L, Hargrove L, Ekser B, Dar W, Ceci L, Kundu D, Kyritsi K, Pham L, Zhou T, Glaser S, Meng F, Alpini G, Francis H. Mast Cells Promote Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease Phenotypes and Microvesicular Steatosis in Mice Fed a Western Diet. Hepatology 2021; 74: 164-182 [PMID: 33434322] DOI: 10.1002/hep.31713]
- Zhang CY, Liu S, Yang M. Regulatory T cells and their associated factors in hepatocellular carcinoma development and 34 therapy. World J Gastroenterol 2022; 28: 3346-3358 [PMID: 36158267 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v28.i27.3346]
- Woestemeier A, Scognamiglio P, Zhao Y, Wagner J, Muscate F, Casar C, Siracusa F, Cortesi F, Agalioti T, Müller S, 35 Sagebiel A, Konczalla L, Wahib R, Karstens KF, Giannou AD, Duprée A, Wolter S, Wong MN, Mühlig AK, Bielecka AA, Bansal V, Zhang T, Mann O, Puelles VG, Huber TB, Lohse AW, Izbicki JR, Palm NW, Bonn S, Huber S, Gagliani N. Multicytokine-producing CD4+ T cells characterize the livers of patients with NASH. JCI Insight 2023; 8 [PMID: 36625344 DOI: 10.1172/jci.insight.153831]
- Koda Y, Teratani T, Chu PS, Hagihara Y, Mikami Y, Harada Y, Tsujikawa H, Miyamoto K, Suzuki T, Taniki N, Sujino 36 T, Sakamoto M, Kanai T, Nakamoto N. CD8(+) tissue-resident memory T cells promote liver fibrosis resolution by inducing apoptosis of hepatic stellate cells. Nat Commun 2021; 12: 4474 [PMID: 34294714 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-021-24734-0
- He Y, Hwang S, Ahmed YA, Feng D, Li N, Ribeiro M, Lafdil F, Kisseleva T, Szabo G, Gao B. Immunopathobiology and 37 therapeutic targets related to cytokines in liver diseases. Cell Mol Immunol 2021; 18: 18-37 [PMID: 33203939 DOI: 10.1038/s41423-020-00580-w
- 38 Wan Y, Li X, Slevin E, Harrison K, Li T, Zhang Y, Klaunig JE, Wu C, Shetty AK, Dong XC, Meng F. Endothelial dysfunction in pathological processes of chronic liver disease during aging. FASEB J 2022; 36: e22125 [PMID: 34958687 DOI: 10.1096/fj.202101426R]
- Cheng F, Li Y, Feng L, Li S. Hepatic stellate cell activation and hepatic fibrosis induced by ischemia/reperfusion injury. 39 *Transplant Proc* 2008; **40**: 2167-2170 [PMID: 18790182 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2008.06.052]
- Elpek GÖ. Angiogenesis and liver fibrosis. World J Hepatol 2015; 7: 377-391 [PMID: 25848465 DOI: 40 10.4254/wjh.v7.i3.377]
- Ratziu V, Rinella ME, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Lawitz E, Denham D, Kayali Z, Sheikh A, Kowdley KV, Desta T, 41 Elkhashab M, DeGrauw J, Goodwin B, Ahmad A, Adda N. EDP-305 in patients with NASH: A phase II double-blind placebo-controlled dose-ranging study. J Hepatol 2022; 76: 506-517 [PMID: 34740705 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.10.018]
- Ahmad A, Adda N. Assessment of drug-drug interaction potential with EDP-305, a farnesoid X receptor agonist, in 42 healthy subjects. Clin Transl Sci 2022; 15: 2146-2158 [PMID: 35675500 DOI: 10.1111/cts.13348]
- Patel K, Harrison SA, Elkhashab M, Trotter JF, Herring R, Rojter SE, Kayali Z, Wong VW, Greenbloom S, Jayakumar S, 43 Shiffman ML, Freilich B, Lawitz EJ, Gane EJ, Harting E, Xu J, Billin AN, Chung C, Djedjos CS, Subramanian GM, Myers RP, Middleton MS, Rinella M, Noureddin M. Cilofexor, a Nonsteroidal FXR Agonist, in Patients With Noncirrhotic NASH: A Phase 2 Randomized Controlled Trial. Hepatology 2020; 72: 58-71 [PMID: 32115759 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31205]
- Trauner M, Bowlus CL, Gulamhusein A, Hameed B, Caldwell SH, Shiffman ML, Landis C, Muir AJ, Billin A, Xu J, Liu 44 X, Lu X, Chung C, Myers RP, Kowdley KV. Safety and sustained efficacy of the farnesoid X receptor (FXR) agonist cilofexor over a 96-week open-label extension in patients with PSC. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022 [PMID: 35934287 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2022.07.024]
- Harrison SA, Bashir MR, Lee KJ, Shim-Lopez J, Lee J, Wagner B, Smith ND, Chen HC, Lawitz EJ. A structurally 45 optimized FXR agonist, MET409, reduced liver fat content over 12 weeks in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. J Hepatol 2021; 75: 25-33 [PMID: 33581174 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.01.047]
- Jiang H, Chen HC, Lafata KJ, Bashir MR. Week 4 Liver Fat Reduction on MRI as an Early Predictor of Treatment 46 Response in Participants with Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. Radiology 2021; 300: 361-368 [PMID: 34060937 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2021204325



- Xie G, Jiang R, Wang X, Liu P, Zhao A, Wu Y, Huang F, Liu Z, Rajani C, Zheng X, Qiu J, Zhang X, Zhao S, Bian H, Gao X, Sun B, Jia W. Conjugated secondary 12α-hydroxylated bile acids promote liver fibrogenesis. *EBioMedicine* 2021; 66: 103290 [PMID: 33752128 DOI: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103290]
- 48 Thapaliya S, Wree A, Povero D, Inzaugarat ME, Berk M, Dixon L, Papouchado BG, Feldstein AE. Caspase 3 inactivation protects against hepatic cell death and ameliorates fibrogenesis in a diet-induced NASH model. Dig Dis Sci 2014; 59: 1197-1206 [PMID: 24795036 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-014-3167-6]
- Shiffman M, Freilich B, Vuppalanchi R, Watt K, Chan JL, Spada A, Hagerty DT, Schiff E. Randomised clinical trial: 49 emricasan versus placebo significantly decreases ALT and caspase 3/7 activation in subjects with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2019; 49: 64-73 [PMID: 30430605 DOI: 10.1111/apt.15030]
- Puengel T, Lefere S, Hundertmark J, Kohlhepp M, Penners C, Van de Velde F, Lapauw B, Hoorens A, Devisscher L, 50 Geerts A, Boehm S, Zhao Q, Krupinski J, Charles ED, Zinker B, Tacke F. Combined Therapy with a CCR2/CCR5 Antagonist and FGF21 Analogue Synergizes in Ameliorating Steatohepatitis and Fibrosis. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 35743140 DOI: 10.3390/ijms23126696]
- Bartneck M, Koppe C, Fech V, Warzecha KT, Kohlhepp M, Huss S, Weiskirchen R, Trautwein C, Luedde T, Tacke F. 51 Roles of CCR2 and CCR5 for Hepatic Macrophage Polarization in Mice With Liver Parenchymal Cell-Specific NEMO Deletion. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 11: 327-347 [PMID: 32896623 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2020.08.012]
- 52 Wu X, Qian L, Zhao H, Lei W, Liu Y, Xu X, Li J, Yang Z, Wang D, Zhang Y, Tang R, Yang Y, Tian Y. CXCL12/ CXCR4: An amazing challenge and opportunity in the fight against fibrosis. Ageing Res Rev 2023; 83: 101809 [PMID: 36442720 DOI: 10.1016/j.arr.2022.101809]
- 53 Ni Y, Zhuge F, Ni L, Nagata N, Yamashita T, Mukaida N, Kaneko S, Ota T, Nagashimada M. CX3CL1/CX3CR1 interaction protects against lipotoxicity-induced nonalcoholic steatohepatitis by regulating macrophage migration and M1/ M2 status. Metabolism 2022; 136: 155272 [PMID: 35914622 DOI: 10.1016/j.metabol.2022.155272]
- Liu XB, Liu H, Liu J, Cheung AKL, Zheng MZ, Cheng JL, Liu QS, Lo CM, Chen ZW, Man K. Cytomegalovirus Latency 54 Exacerbated Small-for-size Liver Graft Injury Through Activation of CCL19/CCR7 in Hepatic Stellate Cells. Transplantation 2022; 106: 519-530 [PMID: 34156186 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000003846]
- Van Loy T, De Jonghe S, Castermans K, Dheedene W, Stoop R, Verschuren L, Versele M, Chaltin P, Luttun A, Schols D. Stimulation of the atypical chemokine receptor 3 (ACKR3) by a small-molecule agonist attenuates fibrosis in a preclinical liver but not lung injury model. Cell Mol Life Sci 2022; 79: 293 [PMID: 35562519 DOI: 10.1007/s00018-022-04317-y]
- Bhat N. Esteghamat F. Chaube BK, Gunawardhana K. Mani M. Thames C. Jain D. Ginsberg HN, Fernandes-Hernando C. 56 Mani A. TCF7L2 transcriptionally regulates Fgf15 to maintain bile acid and lipid homeostasis through gut-liver crosstalk. FASEB J 2022; 36: e22185 [PMID: 35133032 DOI: 10.1096/fj.202101607R]
- Matye DJ, Wang H, Luo W, Sharp RR, Chen C, Gu L, Jones KL, Ding WX, Friedman JE, Li T. Combined ASBT 57 Inhibitor and FGF15 Treatment Improves Therapeutic Efficacy in Experimental Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 12: 1001-1019 [PMID: 33965587 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2021.04.013]
- Schumacher JD, Guo GL. Pharmacologic Modulation of Bile Acid-FXR-FGF15/FGF19 Pathway for the Treatment of -58 Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. Handb Exp Pharmacol 2019; 256: 325-357 [PMID: 31201553 DOI: 10.1007/164_2019_228]
- Nobili V, Alisi A, Mosca A, Della Corte C, Veraldi S, De Vito R, De Stefanis C, D'Oria V, Jahnel J, Zohrer E, Scorletti E, 59 Byrne CD. Hepatic farnesoid X receptor protein level and circulating fibroblast growth factor 19 concentration in children with NAFLD. Liver Int 2018; 38: 342-349 [PMID: 28746779 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13531]
- Tsai YT, Li CY, Huang YH, Chang TS, Lin CY, Chuang CH, Wang CY, Anuraga G, Chang TH, Shih TC, Lin ZY, Chen 60 YL, Chung I, Lee KH, Chang CC, Sung SY, Yang KH, Tsui WL, Yap CV, Wu MH. Galectin-1 orchestrates an inflammatory tumor-stroma crosstalk in hepatoma by enhancing TNFR1 protein stability and signaling in carcinomaassociated fibroblasts. Oncogene 2022; 41: 3011-3023 [PMID: 35459781 DOI: 10.1038/s41388-022-02309-7]
- Cervantes-Alvarez E, Limon-de la Rosa N, Vilatoba M, Pérez-Monter C, Hurtado-Gomez S, Martinez-Cabrera C, 61 Argemi J, Alatorre-Arenas E, Yarza-Regalado S, Tejeda-Dominguez F, Lizardo-Thiebaud MJ, Mendez-Guerrero O, Gamboa-Dominguez A, Aguilar-Salinas CA, Huang CA, Kershenobich D, Bataller R, Torre A, Navarro-Alvarez N. Galectin-3 is overexpressed in advanced cirrhosis and predicts post-liver transplant infectious complications. Liver Int 2022; 42: 2260-2273 [PMID: 35635536 DOI: 10.1111/liv.15326]
- Chen W, Yang A, Jia J, Popov YV, Schuppan D, You H. Lysyl Oxidase (LOX) Family Members: Rationale and Their 62 Potential as Therapeutic Targets for Liver Fibrosis. Hepatology 2020; 72: 729-741 [PMID: 32176358 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31236
- Jiang S, Zhang Y, Zheng JH, Li X, Yao YL, Wu YL, Song SZ, Sun P, Nan JX, Lian LH. Potentiation of hepatic stellate 63 cell activation by extracellular ATP is dependent on P2X7R-mediated NLRP3 inflammasome activation. Pharmacol Res 2017; 117: 82-93 [PMID: 27940204 DOI: 10.1016/j.phrs.2016.11.040]
- Gan C, Cai Q, Tang C, Gao J. Inflammasomes and Pyroptosis of Liver Cells in Liver Fibrosis. Front Immunol 2022; 13: 64 896473 [PMID: 35707547 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.896473]
- Wree A, Eguchi A, McGeough MD, Pena CA, Johnson CD, Canbay A, Hoffman HM, Feldstein AE. NLRP3 65 inflammasome activation results in hepatocyte pyroptosis, liver inflammation, and fibrosis in mice. Hepatology 2014; 59: 898-910 [PMID: 23813842 DOI: 10.1002/hep.26592]
- Gaul S, Leszczynska A, Alegre F, Kaufmann B, Johnson CD, Adams LA, Wree A, Damm G, Sechofer D, Calvente CJ, 66 Povero D, Kisseleva T, Eguchi A, McGeough MD, Hoffman HM, Pelegrin P, Laufs U, Feldstein AE. Hepatocyte pyroptosis and release of inflammasome particles induce stellate cell activation and liver fibrosis. J Hepatol 2021; 74: 156-167 [PMID: 32763266 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.07.041]
- Zhu Y, Zhao H, Lu J, Lin K, Ni J, Wu G, Tang H. Caspase-11-Mediated Hepatocytic Pyroptosis Promotes the Progression of Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 12: 653-664 [PMID: 33894425 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2021.04.009]
- de Souza Basso B, Haute GV, Ortega-Ribera M, Luft C, Antunes GL, Bastos MS, Carlessi LP, Levorse VG, Cassel E, 68 Donadio MVF, Santarém ER, Gracia-Sancho J, Rodrigues de Oliveira J. Methoxyeugenol deactivates hepatic stellate cells



and attenuates liver fibrosis and inflammation through a PPAR-y and NF-kB mechanism. J Ethnopharmacol 2021; 280: 114433 [PMID: 34280502 DOI: 10.1016/j.jep.2021.114433]

- Pawlak M, Lefebvre P, Staels B. Molecular mechanism of PPARa action and its impact on lipid metabolism, 69 inflammation and fibrosis in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol 2015; 62: 720-733 [PMID: 25450203 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.10.039]
- Chen J, Montagner A, Tan NS, Wahli W. Insights into the Role of PPARβ/δ in NAFLD. Int J Mol Sci 2018; 19 [PMID: 70 29954129 DOI: 10.3390/ijms19071893]
- Francque S, Verrijken A, Caron S, Prawitt J, Paumelle R, Derudas B, Lefebvre P, Taskinen MR, Van Hul W, Mertens I, 71 Hubens G, Van Marck E, Michielsen P, Van Gaal L, Staels B. PPARa gene expression correlates with severity and histological treatment response in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. J Hepatol 2015; 63: 164-173 [PMID: 25703085 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.02.019]
- 72 Zhang Y, Cui Y, Wang XL, Shang X, Qi ZG, Xue J, Zhao X, Deng M, Xie ML. PPARα/γ agonists and antagonists differently affect hepatic lipid metabolism, oxidative stress and inflammatory cytokine production in steatohepatitic rats. Cytokine 2015; 75: 127-135 [PMID: 26194065 DOI: 10.1016/j.cyto.2015.05.031]
- Zarei M, Barroso E, Palomer X, Dai J, Rada P, Quesada-López T, Escolà-Gil JC, Cedó L, Zali MR, Molaei M, Dabiri R, 73 Vázquez S, Pujol E, Valverde ÁM, Villarroya F, Liu Y, Wahli W, Vázquez-Carrera M. Hepatic regulation of VLDL receptor by PPARβ/δ and FGF21 modulates non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Mol Metab 2018; 8: 117-131 [PMID: 29289645 DOI: 10.1016/j.molmet.2017.12.008]
- 74 Boyer-Diaz Z, Aristu-Zabalza P, Andrés-Rozas M, Robert C, Ortega-Ribera M, Fernández-Iglesias A, Broqua P, Junien JL, Wettstein G, Bosch J, Gracia-Sancho J. Pan-PPAR agonist lanifibranor improves portal hypertension and hepatic fibrosis in experimental advanced chronic liver disease. J Hepatol 2021; 74: 1188-1199 [PMID: 33278455 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.11.045]
- Xu F, Liu C, Zhou D, Zhang L. TGF-β/SMAD Pathway and Its Regulation in Hepatic Fibrosis. J Histochem Cytochem 75 2016; 64: 157-167 [PMID: 26747705 DOI: 10.1369/0022155415627681]
- 76 Zhou Y, Wu R, Cai FF, Zhou WJ, Lu YY, Zhang H, Chen QL, Su SB. Xiaoyaosan decoction alleviated rat liver fibrosis via the TGFβ/Smad and Akt/FoxO3 signaling pathways based on network pharmacology analysis. J Ethnopharmacol 2021; **264**: 113021 [PMID: 32479885 DOI: 10.1016/j.jep.2020.113021]
- Liu QW, Ying YM, Zhou JX, Zhang WJ, Liu ZX, Jia BB, Gu HC, Zhao CY, Guan XH, Deng KY, Xin HB. Human amniotic mesenchymal stem cells-derived IGFBP-3, DKK-3, and DKK-1 attenuate liver fibrosis through inhibiting hepatic stellate cell activation by blocking Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway in mice. Stem Cell Res Ther 2022; 13: 224 [PMID: 35659360 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-022-02906-z]
- El-Ashmawy NE, Al-Ashmawy GM, Fakher HE, Khedr NF. The role of WNT/β-catenin signaling pathway and glutamine 78 metabolism in the pathogenesis of CCl(4)-induced liver fibrosis: Repositioning of niclosamide and concerns about lithium. Cytokine 2020; 136: 155250 [PMID: 32882667 DOI: 10.1016/j.cyto.2020.155250]
- 79 Rao S, Xiang J, Huang J, Zhang S, Zhang M, Sun H, Li J. PRC1 promotes GL11-dependent osteopontin expression in association with the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway and aggravates liver fibrosis. Cell Biosci 2019; 9: 100 [PMID: 31867100 DOI: 10.1186/s13578-019-0363-2]
- Gao Y, Fan S, Zhao P, Li H, Cai C, Li X, Zhou Y, Huang M, Bi H. β-catenin/TCF4 inhibitors ICG-001 and LF3 alleviate 80 BDL-induced liver fibrosis by suppressing LECT2 signaling. Chem Biol Interact 2023; 371: 110350 [PMID: 36639009 DOI: 10.1016/j.cbi.2023.110350]
- Du K, Maeso-Díaz R, Oh SH, Wang E, Chen T, Pan C, Xiang K, Dutta RK, Wang XF, Chi JT, Diehl AM. Targeting 81 YAP-mediated hepatic stellate cell death susceptibility and senescence for treatment of liver fibrosis. Hepatology 2023 [PMID: 36815382 DOI: 10.1097/HEP.00000000000326]
- Yang J, Tang X, Liang Z, Chen M, Sun L. Taurocholic Acid Promotes Hepatic Stellate Cell Activation via S1PR2/p38 82 MAPK/YAP Signaling under Cholestatic Conditions. Clin Mol Hepatol 2023 [PMID: 36800698 DOI: 10.3350/cmh.2022.0327]
- Lo RC, Kim H. Histopathological evaluation of liver fibrosis and cirrhosis regression. Clin Mol Hepatol 2017; 23: 302-83 307 [PMID: 29281870 DOI: 10.3350/cmh.2017.0078]
- Lurie Y, Webb M, Cytter-Kuint R, Shteingart S, Lederkremer GZ. Non-invasive diagnosis of liver fibrosis and cirrhosis. 84 World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21: 11567-11583 [PMID: 26556987 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i41.11567]
- Kumar R, Teo EK, How CH, Wong TY, Ang TL. A practical clinical approach to liver fibrosis. Singapore Med J 2018; 85 **59**: 628-633 [PMID: 30631885 DOI: 10.11622/smedj.2018145]
- Taru MG, Neamti L, Taru V, Procopciuc LM, Procopet B, Lupsor-Platon M. How to Identify Advanced Fibrosis in Adult 86 Patients with Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD) and Non-Alcoholic Steatohepatitis (NASH) Using Ultrasound Elastography-A Review of the Literature and Proposed Multistep Approach. Diagnostics (Basel) 2023; 13 [PMID: 36832276 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics13040788]
- Schambeck JPL, Forte GC, Gonçalves LM, Stuker G, Kotlinski JBF, Tramontin G, Altmayer S, Watte G, Hochhegger B. 87 Diagnostic accuracy of magnetic resonance elastography and point-shear wave elastography for significant hepatic fibrosis screening: Systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2023; 18: e0271572 [PMID: 36730265 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0271572]
- Li S, Sun X, Chen M, Ying Z, Wan Y, Pi L, Ren B, Cao Q. Liver Fibrosis Conventional and Molecular Imaging Diagnosis Update. J Liver 2019; 8 [PMID: 31341723]
- 89 Decharatanachart P, Chaiteerakij R, Tiyarattanachai T, Treeprasertsuk S. Application of artificial intelligence in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and liver fibrosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Therap Adv Gastroenterol 2021; 14: 17562848211062807 [PMID: 34987607 DOI: 10.1177/17562848211062807]
- Ahmed Y, Hussein RS, Basha TA, Khalifa AM, Ibrahim AS, Abdelmoaty AS, Abdella HM, Fahmy AS. Detecting liver 90 fibrosis using a machine learning-based approach to the quantification of the heart-induced deformation in tagged MR images. NMR Biomed 2020; 33: e4215 [PMID: 31730265 DOI: 10.1002/nbm.4215]
- 91 He L, Li H, Dudley JA, Maloney TC, Brady SL, Somasundaram E, Trout AT, Dillman JR. Machine Learning Prediction



of Liver Stiffness Using Clinical and T2-Weighted MRI Radiomic Data. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2019; 213: 592-601 [PMID: 31120779 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.19.21082]

- Tadokoro T, Morishita A, Masaki T. Diagnosis and Therapeutic Management of Liver Fibrosis by MicroRNA. Int J Mol 92 Sci 2021; 22 [PMID: 34360904 DOI: 10.3390/ijms22158139]
- 93 Kaya A, Barutcu S, Gulsen MT. Evaluation of fibrosis with noninvasive biochemical tests in chronic viral hepatitis B. Hepatol Forum 2023; 4: 25-29 [PMID: 36843894 DOI: 10.14744/hf.2022.2022.0025]
- Wang J, Qin T, Sun J, Li S, Cao L, Lu X. Non-invasive methods to evaluate liver fibrosis in patients with non-alcoholic 94 fatty liver disease. Front Physiol 2022; 13: 1046497 [PMID: 36589424 DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2022.1046497]
- Qi RB, Wu ZH. Association between COVID-19 and chronic liver disease: Mechanism, diagnosis, damage, and treatment. 95 World J Virol 2023; 12: 22-29 [PMID: 36743657 DOI: 10.5501/wjv.v12.i1.22]
- Sang C, Yan H, Chan WK, Zhu X, Sun T, Chang X, Xia M, Sun X, Hu X, Gao X, Jia W, Bian H, Chen T, Xie G. 96 Diagnosis of Fibrosis Using Blood Markers and Logistic Regression in Southeast Asian Patients With Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Front Med (Lausanne) 2021; 8: 637652 [PMID: 33708783 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2021.637652]
- 97 Gong L, Zhang Y, Yang Y, Yan Q, Ren J, Luo J, Tiu YC, Fang X, Liu B, Lam RHW, Lam KO, Lee AW, Guan XY. Inhibition of lysyl oxidase-like 2 overcomes adhesion-dependent drug resistance in the collagen-enriched liver cancer microenvironment. Hepatol Commun 2022; 6: 3194-3211 [PMID: 35894804 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1966]
- Harrison SA, Abdelmalek MF, Caldwell S, Shiffman ML, Diehl AM, Ghalib R, Lawitz EJ, Rockey DC, Schall RA, Jia C, 98 McColgan BJ, McHutchison JG, Subramanian GM, Myers RP, Younossi Z, Ratziu V, Muir AJ, Afdhal NH, Goodman Z, Bosch J, Sanyal AJ; GS-US-321-0105 and GS-US-321-0106 Investigators. Simtuzumab Is Ineffective for Patients With Bridging Fibrosis or Compensated Cirrhosis Caused by Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. Gastroenterology 2018; 155: 1140-1153 [PMID: 29990488 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.07.006]
- 99 Meissner EG, McLaughlin M, Matthews L, Gharib AM, Wood BJ, Levy E, Sinkus R, Virtaneva K, Sturdevant D, Martens C, Porcella SF, Goodman ZD, Kanwar B, Myers RP, Subramanian M, Hadigan C, Masur H, Kleiner DE, Heller T, Kottilil S, Kovacs JA, Morse CG. Simtuzumab treatment of advanced liver fibrosis in HIV and HCV-infected adults: results of a 6-month open-label safety trial. Liver Int 2016; 36: 1783-1792 [PMID: 27232579 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13177]
- Ratziu V, de Guevara L, Safadi R, Poordad F, Fuster F, Flores-Figueroa J, Arrese M, Fracanzani AL, Ben Bashat D, 100 Lackner K, Gorfine T, Kadosh S, Oren R, Halperin M, Hayardeny L, Loomba R, Friedman S; ARREST investigator study group, Sanyal AJ. Aramchol in patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2b trial. Nat Med 2021; 27: 1825-1835 [PMID: 34621052 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-021-01495-3]
- 101 Wu J, Gießmann T, Lang B, Elgadi M, Huang F. Investigation of the effect of food and omeprazole on the relative bioavailability of a single oral dose of 240 mg faldaprevir, a selective inhibitor of HCV NS3/4 protease, in an open-label, randomized, three-way cross-over trial in healthy participants. J Pharm Pharmacol 2016; 68: 459-466 [PMID: 27019158 DOI: 10.1111/jphp.12538]
- Ahmed S, Ullah N, Parveen S, Javed I, Jalil NAC, Murtey MD, Sheikh IS, Khan S, Ojha SC, Chen K. Effect of Silymarin 102 as an Adjunct Therapy in Combination with Sofosbuvir and Ribavirin in Hepatitis C Patients: A Miniature Clinical Trial. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2022; 2022: 9199190 [PMID: 35154575 DOI: 10.1155/2022/9199190]
- Chen S, Zhou J, Wu X, Meng T, Wang B, Liu H, Wang T, Zhao X, Kong Y, Wu S, Ou X, Jia J, Sun Y, You H. 103 Comparison of fibrosis regression of entecavir alone or combined with pegylated interferon alpha2a in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Hepatol Int 2021; 15: 611-620 [PMID: 33677771 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-021-10162-1]
- 104 Mieli-Vergani G, Bansal S, Daniel JF, Kansu A, Kelly D, Martin C, Tizzard S, Wirth S, Zhou J, Vergani D. Peginterferon Alfa-2a (40KD) Plus Lamivudine or Entecavir in Children With Immune-Tolerant Chronic Hepatitis B. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2021; 73: 156-160 [PMID: 33720089 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.00000000003118]
- Said EM, Abdulaziz BA, El Kassas M, El Attar IH, Emadeldeen M, Abd-Elsalam SM. High success rates for the use of 105 sofosbuvir/ombitasvir/paritaprevir/ritonavir + ribavirin and sofosbuvir/simeprevir/daclatasvir + ribavirin in retreatment of chronic hepatitis C infection after unsuccessful sofosbuvir/daclatasvir therapy: a real-life experience. Arch Virol 2020; **165**: 1633-1639 [PMID: 32356185 DOI: 10.1007/s00705-020-04639-x]
- 106 Gupta N, Manirambona L, Shumbusho F, Kabihizi J, Murangwa A, Serumondo J, Makuza JD, Nsanzimana S, Muvunyi CM, Mukabatsinda C, Musabeyezu E, Camus G, Grant PM, Kateera F. Safety and efficacy of sofosbuvir-velpatasvirvoxilaprevir for re-treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection in patients with previous direct-acting antiviral treatment failure in Rwanda (SHARED-3): a single-arm trial. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 7: 542-551 [PMID: 35248212 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(21)00399-X]
- 107 Ueno T, Osawa M, Shiozaki T, Green M, Garimella T. Exposure-Response Analysis for Efficacy of Daclatasvir, Asunaprevir, and Beclabuvir Combinations in HCV-Infected Patients. Clin Pharmacol Drug Dev 2019; 8: 903-913 [PMID: 30667592 DOI: 10.1002/cpdd.646]
- Ratziu V, Sanyal A, Harrison SA, Wong VW, Francque S, Goodman Z, Aithal GP, Kowdley KV, Seyedkazemi S, Fischer 108 L, Loomba R, Abdelmalek MF, Tacke F. Cenicriviroc Treatment for Adults With Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis and Fibrosis: Final Analysis of the Phase 2b CENTAUR Study. Hepatology 2020; 72: 892-905 [PMID: 31943293 DOI: 10.1002/hep.31108
- 109 Anstee QM, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Wong VW, Abdelmalek MF, Younossi ZM, Yuan J, Pecoraro ML, Seyedkazemi S, Fischer L, Bedossa P, Goodman Z, Alkhouri N, Tacke F, Sanyal A. Cenicriviroc for the treatment of liver fibrosis in adults with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: AURORA Phase 3 study design. Contemp Clin Trials 2020; 89: 105922 [PMID: 31881392 DOI: 10.1016/j.cct.2019.105922]
- 110 Barba Bernal R, Ferrigno B, Medina Morales E, Castro CM, Goyes D, Trivedi H, Patwardhan VR, Bonder A. Management of Primary Biliary Cholangitis: Current Treatment and Future Perspectives. Turk J Gastroenterol 2023; 34: 89-100 [PMID: 36843300 DOI: 10.5152/tjg.2023.22239]
- Kuo J, Bobardt M, Chatterji U, Mayo PR, Trepanier DJ, Foster RT, Gallay P, Ure DR. A Pan-Cyclophilin Inhibitor, 111 CRV431, Decreases Fibrosis and Tumor Development in Chronic Liver Disease Models. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2019; 371: 231-241 [PMID: 31406003 DOI: 10.1124/jpet.119.261099]



- 112 Simón Serrano S, Grönberg A, Longato L, Rombouts K, Kuo J, Gregory M, Moss S, Elmér E, Mazza G, Gallay P, Pinzani M, Hansson MJ, Massoumi R. Evaluation of NV556, a Novel Cyclophilin Inhibitor, as a Potential Antifibrotic Compound for Liver Fibrosis. Cells 2019; 8 [PMID: 31717385 DOI: 10.3390/cells8111409]
- 113 Sanyal A, Charles ED, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Loomba R, Harrison SA, Abdelmalek MF, Lawitz EJ, Halegoua-DeMarzio D, Kundu S, Noviello S, Luo Y, Christian R. Pegbelfermin (BMS-986036), a PEGylated fibroblast growth factor 21 analogue, in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2a trial. Lancet 2019; 392: 2705-2717 [PMID: 30554783 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31785-9]
- Younossi ZM, Ratziu V, Loomba R, Rinella M, Anstee QM, Goodman Z, Bedossa P, Geier A, Beckebaum S, Newsome 114 PN, Sheridan D, Sheikh MY, Trotter J, Knapple W, Lawitz E, Abdelmalek MF, Kowdley KV, Montano-Loza AJ, Boursier J, Mathurin P, Bugianesi E, Mazzella G, Olveira A, Cortez-Pinto H, Graupera I, Orr D, Gluud LL, Dufour JF, Shapiro D, Campagna J, Zaru L, MacConell L, Shringarpure R, Harrison S, Sanyal AJ; REGENERATE Study Investigators. Obeticholic acid for the treatment of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: interim analysis from a multicentre, randomised, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet 2019; 394: 2184-2196 [PMID: 31813633 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)33041-7]
- Zetterberg FR, MacKinnon A, Brimert T, Gravelle L, Johnsson RE, Kahl-Knutson B, Leffler H, Nilsson UJ, Pedersen A, 115 Peterson K, Roper JA, Schambye H, Slack RJ, Tantawi S. Discovery and Optimization of the First Highly Effective and Orally Available Galectin-3 Inhibitors for Treatment of Fibrotic Disease. J Med Chem 2022; 65: 12626-12638 [PMID: 36154172 DOI: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.2c00660]
- 116 Chalasani N, Abdelmalek MF, Garcia-Tsao G, Vuppalanchi R, Alkhouri N, Rinella M, Noureddin M, Pyko M, Shiffman M, Sanyal A, Allgood A, Shlevin H, Horton R, Zomer E, Irish W, Goodman Z, Harrison SA, Traber PG; Belapectin (GR-MD-02) Study Investigators. Effects of Belapectin, an Inhibitor of Galectin-3, in Patients With Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis With Cirrhosis and Portal Hypertension. Gastroenterology 2020; 158: 1334-1345.e5 [PMID: 31812510 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.11.296]
- 117 Armstrong MJ, Gaunt P, Aithal GP, Barton D, Hull D, Parker R, Hazlehurst JM, Guo K; LEAN trial team, Abouda G, Aldersley MA, Stocken D, Gough SC, Tomlinson JW, Brown RM, Hübscher SG, Newsome PN. Liraglutide safety and efficacy in patients with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (LEAN): a multicentre, double-blind, randomised, placebocontrolled phase 2 study. Lancet 2016; 387: 679-690 [PMID: 26608256 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00803-X]
- 118 Petit JM, Cercueil JP, Loffroy R, Denimal D, Bouillet B, Fourmont C, Chevallier O, Duvillard L, Vergès B. Effect of Liraglutide Therapy on Liver Fat Content in Patients With Inadequately Controlled Type 2 Diabetes: The Lira-NAFLD Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2017; 102: 407-415 [PMID: 27732328 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2016-2775]
- 119 Frenette C, Kayali Z, Mena E, Mantry PS, Lucas KJ, Neff G, Rodriguez M, Thuluvath PJ, Weinberg E, Bhandari BR, Robinson J, Wedick N, Chan JL, Hagerty DT, Kowdley KV; IDN-6556-17 Study Investigators. Emricasan to prevent new decompensation in patients with NASH-related decompensated cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2021; 74: 274-282 [PMID: 33038432 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.09.029]
- Alatas FS, Matsuura T, Pudjiadi AH, Wijaya S, Taguchi T. Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma Agonist 120 Attenuates Liver Fibrosis by Several Fibrogenic Pathways in an Animal Model of Cholestatic Fibrosis. Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr 2020; 23: 346-355 [PMID: 32704495 DOI: 10.5223/pghn.2020.23.4.346]
- Xiao Y, Wang Y, Liu Y, Wang W, Tian X, Chen S, Lu Y, Du J, Cai W. A nonbile acid farnesoid X receptor agonist 121 tropifexor potently inhibits cholestatic liver injury and fibrosis by modulating the gut-liver axis. Liver Int 2021; 41: 2117-2131 [PMID: 33894097 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14906]
- Sanyal AJ, Lopez P, Lawitz EJ, Lucas KJ, Loeffler J, Kim W, Goh GBB, Huang JF, Serra C, Andreone P, Chen YC, Hsia 122 SH, Ratziu V, Aizenberg D, Tobita H, Sheikh AM, Vierling JM, Kim YJ, Hyogo H, Tai D, Goodman Z, Schaefer F, Carbarns IRI, Lamle S, Martic M, Naoumov NV, Brass CA. Tropifexor for nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: an adaptive, randomized, placebo-controlled phase 2a/b trial. Nat Med 2023; 29: 392-400 [PMID: 36797481 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-022-02200-8]
- Cai FF, Bian YQ, Wu R, Sun Y, Chen XL, Yang MD, Zhang QR, Hu Y, Sun MY, Su SB. Yinchenhao decoction suppresses rat liver fibrosis involved in an apoptosis regulation mechanism based on network pharmacology and transcriptomic analysis. Biomed Pharmacother 2019; 114: 108863 [PMID: 30991286 DOI: 10.1016/j.biopha.2019.108863]
- Shi MJ, Dong BS, Yang WN, Su SB, Zhang H. Preventive and therapeutic role of Tanshinone IIA in hepatology. Biomed 124 Pharmacother 2019; 112: 108676 [PMID: 30797157 DOI: 10.1016/j.biopha.2019.108676]
- Song YN, Sun JJ, Lu YY, Xu LM, Gao YQ, Zhang W, Wang XS, Xue DY, Zheng QS, Su SB. Therapeutic efficacy of 125 fuzheng-huayu tablet based traditional chinese medicine syndrome differentiation on hepatitis-B-caused cirrhosis: a multicenter double-blind randomized controlled trail. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2013; 2013: 709305 [PMID: 23533516 DOI: 10.1155/2013/709305]
- Aoki H, Isobe Y, Yoshida M, Kang JX, Maekawa M, Arita M. Enzymatically-epoxidized docosahexaenoic acid, 19,20-126 EpDPE, suppresses hepatic crown-like structure formation and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis fibrosis through GPR120. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids 2023; 1868: 159275 [PMID: 36566874 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2022.159275]
- Yang M, Zhang CY. G protein-coupled receptors as potential targets for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease treatment. World 127 J Gastroenterol 2021; 27: 677-691 [PMID: 33716447 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v27.i8.677]
- Nakamoto K, Shimada K, Harada S, Morimoto Y, Hirasawa A, Tokuyama S. DHA supplementation prevent the 128 progression of NASH via GPR120 signaling. Eur J Pharmacol 2018; 820: 31-38 [PMID: 29221950 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2017.11.046
- Liu Y, Chen K, Li F, Gu Z, Liu Q, He L, Shao T, Song Q, Zhu F, Zhang L, Jiang M, Zhou Y, Barve S, Zhang X, McClain 129 CJ, Feng W. Probiotic Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG Prevents Liver Fibrosis Through Inhibiting Hepatic Bile Acid Synthesis and Enhancing Bile Acid Excretion in Mice. Hepatology 2020; 71: 2050-2066 [PMID: 31571251 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30975
- 130 Zhao Y, Li H. Association of serum vitamin C with liver fibrosis in adults with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Scand J Gastroenterol 2022; 57: 872-877 [PMID: 35189786 DOI: 10.1080/00365521.2022.2041085]
- Li L, Huang Q, Yang L, Zhang R, Gao L, Han X, Ji L, Zou X. The Association between Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver 131



Disease (NAFLD) and Advanced Fibrosis with Serological Vitamin B12 Markers: Results from the NHANES 1999-2004. Nutrients 2022; 14 [PMID: 35334881 DOI: 10.3390/nu14061224]

- Megahed A, Gadalla H, Abdelhamid FM, Almehmadi SJ, Khan AA, Albukhari TA, Risha EF. Vitamin D Ameliorates the 132 Hepatic Oxidative Damage and Fibrotic Effect Caused by Thioacetamide in Rats. Biomedicines 2023; 11 [PMID: 36830960 DOI: 10.3390/biomedicines11020424]
- 133 Ciardullo S, Muraca E, Cannistraci R, Perra S, Lattuada G, Perseghin G. Low 25 (OH) vitamin D levels are associated with increased prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and significant liver fibrosis. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 2023; e3628 [PMID: 36815587 DOI: 10.1002/dmrr.3628]
- Lassailly G, Caiazzo R, Ntandja-Wandji LC, Gnemmi V, Baud G, Verkindt H, Ningarhari M, Louvet A, Leteurtre E, 134 Raverdy V, Dharancy S, Pattou F, Mathurin P. Bariatric Surgery Provides Long-term Resolution of Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis and Regression of Fibrosis. Gastroenterology 2020; 159: 1290-1301.e5 [PMID: 32553765 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.06.006
- Lassailly G, Caiazzo R, Buob D, Pigeyre M, Verkindt H, Labreuche J, Raverdy V, Leteurtre E, Dharancy S, Louvet A, 135 Romon M, Duhamel A, Pattou F, Mathurin P. Bariatric Surgery Reduces Features of Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis in Morbidly Obese Patients. Gastroenterology 2015; 149: 379-88; quiz e15 [PMID: 25917783 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.04.014]
- 136 Mehdorn AS, Moulla Y, Mehdorn M, Dietrich A, Schönfels W, Becker T, Braun F, Beckmann JH, Linecker M. Bariatric surgery in liver cirrhosis. Front Surg 2022; 9: 986297 [PMID: 36589626 DOI: 10.3389/fsurg.2022.986297]
- Tian T, Zhao C, Li S, Huang Z, Guo Y, Dai W, Bai R, Tang C, Lin Y, Gao J. Liver-Targeted Delivery of Small Interfering 137 RNA of C-C Chemokine Receptor 2 with Tetrahedral Framework Nucleic Acid Attenuates Liver Cirrhosis. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2023; 15: 10492-10505 [PMID: 36799737 DOI: 10.1021/acsami.2c22579]
- 138 Meng H, Jiang L, Jia P, Niu R, Bu F, Zhu Y, Pan X, Li J, Liu J, Zhang Y, Huang C, Lv X. Inhibition of circular RNA ASPH reduces the proliferation and promotes the apoptosis of hepatic stellate cells in hepatic fibrosis. Biochem Pharmacol 2023; 210: 115451 [PMID: 36758707 DOI: 10.1016/j.bcp.2023.115451]
- 139 Li M, Yan L, Yuan X, Deng M, Xi Y, Zhu D. Umbilical Cord Wharton's Jelly-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells Inhibit the TGF-β1 Pathway in Hepatic Fibrosis Rats Through a Paracrine Regulation Process. Clin Lab 2023; 69 [PMID: 36649501 DOI: 10.7754/Clin.Lab.2022.220357]
- 140 Abou Rayia DM, Ashour DS, Abo Safia HS, Abdel Ghafar MT, Amer RS, Saad AE. Human umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells as a potential therapy for schistosomal hepatic fibrosis: an experimental study. Pathog Glob Health 2023; 117: 190-202 [PMID: 35435145 DOI: 10.1080/20477724.2022.2064795]
- King A, Houlihan DD, Kavanagh D, Haldar D, Luu N, Owen A, Suresh S, Than NN, Reynolds G, Penny J, Sumption H, 141 Ramachandran P, Henderson NC, Kalia N, Frampton J, Adams DH, Newsome PN. Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Prevents Egress of Hematopoietic Stem Cells From Liver to Reduce Fibrosis. Gastroenterology 2017; 153: 233-248.e16 [PMID: 28363640 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.03.022]
- Berardis S, Dwisthi Sattwika P, Najimi M, Sokal EM. Use of mesenchymal stem cells to treat liver fibrosis: current 142 situation and future prospects. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21: 742-758 [PMID: 25624709 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i3.742]
- Lawitz EJ, Shevell DE, Tirucherai GS, Du S, Chen W, Kavita U, Coste A, Poordad F, Karsdal M, Nielsen M, Goodman 143 Z, Charles ED. BMS-986263 in patients with advanced hepatic fibrosis: 36-week results from a randomized, placebocontrolled phase 2 trial. Hepatology 2022; 75: 912-923 [PMID: 34605045 DOI: 10.1002/hep.32181]
- 144 Kurniawan DW, Booijink R, Pater L, Wols I, Vrynas A, Storm G, Prakash J, Bansal R. Fibroblast growth factor 2 conjugated superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (FGF2-SPIONs) ameliorate hepatic stellate cells activation in vitro and acute liver injury in vivo. J Control Release 2020; 328: 640-652 [PMID: 32979454 DOI: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2020.09.041]
- 145 Oró D, Yudina T, Fernández-Varo G, Casals E, Reichenbach V, Casals G, González de la Presa B, Sandalinas S, Carvajal S, Puntes V, Jiménez W. Cerium oxide nanoparticles reduce steatosis, portal hypertension and display anti-inflammatory properties in rats with liver fibrosis. J Hepatol 2016; 64: 691-698 [PMID: 26519601 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.10.020]
- 146 Abdullah AS, El Sayed IET, El-Torgoman AMA, Alghamdi NA, Ullah S, Wageh S, Kamel MA. Preparation and Characterization of Silymarin-Conjugated Gold Nanoparticles with Enhanced Anti-Fibrotic Therapeutic Effects against Hepatic Fibrosis in Rats: Role of MicroRNAs as Molecular Targets. Biomedicines 2021; 9 [PMID: 34944582 DOI: 10.3390/biomedicines9121767]



W J H World Journal of Henatology Hepatology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Hepatol 2023 June 27; 15(6): 775-785

DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.775

ISSN 1948-5182 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Tumor budding as a potential prognostic marker in determining the behavior of primary liver cancers

Betul Unal, Mennan Yigitcan Celik, Elif Ocak Gedik, Cumhur Ibrahim Bassorgun, Gulsum Ozlem Elpek

Specialty type: Pathology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Maffeis V, Italy; Qin Y, China

Received: February 15, 2023 Peer-review started: February 15, 2023 First decision: March 9, 2023 Revised: March 22, 2023 Accepted: April 18, 2023 Article in press: April 18, 2023 Published online: June 27, 2023



Betul Unal, Mennan Yigitcan Celik, Elif Ocak Gedik, Cumhur Ibrahim Bassorgun, Gulsum Ozlem Elpek, Department of Pathology, Akdeniz University Medical School, Antalya 07070, Turkey

Corresponding author: Gulsum Ozlem Elpek, MD, Professor, Department of Pathology, Akdeniz University Medical School, Dumlupinar Bulvarı, Antalya 07070, Turkey. elpek@akdeniz.edu.tr

Abstract

Hepatocellular (HCC) and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma (ICC), the most common primary tumors of the liver, are among the most important causes of cancer deaths worldwide. Because patients with primary liver tumors are frequently diagnosed at an advanced stage and have high mortality, many efforts have been made to identify new markers to determine their behavior and treatment, similar to those in other solid organ tumors. Recently, morphological assessment of tumor budding (TB) has been revealed as a promising prognostic finding to predict tumor behavior and survival across several different tumor types. Currently, the TB score in colorectal cancer has been revealed as an important parameter in pathology report protocols to determine the course of the disease. Regarding the liver, despite enormous data showing that many mechanisms involved in TB are associated with tumor behavior in both HCC and ICC, studies focusing on the role of TB in predicting the behavior and prognosis of these tumors have started to be investigated very recently. The purpose of this review is to present data about TB in primary tumors of the liver, pointing out the potential role of this parameter in determining the course of the disease, and emphasize the need to increase the number of further studies focusing on the evaluation of this parameter with an overview of the mechanisms involved in TB.

Key Words: Tumor budding; Hepatocellular carcinoma; Cholangiocarcinoma; Prognosis; Liver cancer; Epithelial-mesenchymal transition

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: This review aims to present recent data on the potential of tumor budding (TB) in determining tumor behavior in hepatocellular carcinoma and cholangiocarcinoma. Although the evidence from the published literature indicates that TB may be a promising prognostic factor for primary liver tumors, more multidisciplinary studies are needed to draw a conclusion. Besides, different assessment techniques in previous investigations indicate that a standard method should be established to provide a solid basis for further studies that may clarify whether this parameter will be included in pathology report protocols as in colorectal carcinoma in the near future.

Citation: Unal B, Celik MY, Gedik EO, Bassorgun CI, Elpek GO. Tumor budding as a potential prognostic marker in determining the behavior of primary liver cancers. World J Hepatol 2023; 15(6): 775-785 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5182/full/v15/i6/775.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.775

INTRODUCTION

Primary liver cancer is the seventh most common cancer worldwide and the fourth leading cause of cancer death[1]. Two types of liver cancer constitute a significant majority of cases: Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), originating from hepatocytes and usually accompanied by another underlying disease (75%-85%), and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma (ICC), arising from the bile duct epithelium (12%-15%)[2]. Their incidence rates are increasing in many countries and are expected to continue to rise in the next decade [3,4]. Considering that many patients are diagnosed at an advanced stage, there is a lack of current systemic therapy, especially for HCC, and the mortality rates are high, similar to that of other solid organ tumors. Thus, many efforts have been made to identify new markers to determine the course of the disease and the choice of treatment.

Recently, TB has emerged as a promising prognostic parameter to predict tumor behavior and survival across several tumor types [5,6]. After the international TB consensus conference, the first guideline for reporting TB was published in 2017[7]. Subsequently, the TB score in colorectal carcinoma (CRC) has been included as an important parameter in pathology report protocols[8]. These guidelines have also been confirmed to be helpful in cancers of the lung, stomach cancers, and ductal adenocarcinoma of the pancreas^[9]. However, regarding primary liver tumors, studies focusing on the relationship between TB and clinicopathological parameters and prognosis are relatively new. Nevertheless, numerous studies have shown that many mechanisms involved in TB are associated with tumor behavior in HCC and ICC[10,11].

Therefore, this review aims to provide an overview of the events involved in TB, which is also observed in primary liver tumors. Additionally, this review presents the latest data in these tumors to draw attention to the potential role of this parameter in determining behavior and prognosis and underlines the need to increase the number of further studies focusing on the evaluation of this parameter.

GENERAL OVERVIEW OF THE MECHANISMS OF TB

During the invasion-metastasis process in cancers, tumor cells must undergo various changes to invade the surrounding tissue, transition to the vascular system, and finally engage in a parenchymal invasion of metastatic organs^[12]. The mechanisms involved in TB are presented in Figure 1.

The epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) program, which contributes to developmental events throughout embryogenesis, has been hypothesized to play a fundamental role in TB formation, particularly in the steps of cell dissociation and cell migration [10-14]. Indeed, accumulating evidence indicates that budding tumor cells might display the properties of cells undergoing EMT to acquire more invasive and migratory capacity.

E-cadherin, an essential cell-cell adhesion protein, plays a pivotal role in cellular dissociation. Therefore, the reports indicating a decrease or loss of expression of E-cadherin in the invasive margin and bud areas in many solid organ tumors, including esophageal, colon, pancreas, endometrial, and oral cancers, are not surprising[15-18]. In addition, the increase in the expression of EMT-related transcription factors in tumor buds that suppress the expression of this protein, including ZEB1, ZEB2, TWIST1, TWIST2, SNAI1 (SNAIL), and SNAI2 (SLUG), is also noted in many malignancies[17-19]. Recently, an increase in the expression of these transcription factors and a decrease in E-cadherin and bcatenin levels in tumor buds compared to tumor bulk have been observed in pancreatic and oral cancers [17,18]. In addition, it has been suggested that the decrease in β -catenin expression parallel to that of Ecadherin may be a finding of WNT-b-catenin signaling pathway activation in tumor buds[20-22].





Figure 1 Tumor budding in primary liver cancers. A: Tumor budding consisting of small clusters of 4 or fewer tumor cells present at the invasive edge in a case of hepatocellular carcinoma; B: The main processes and mechanisms involved in tumor budding. EMT: Epithelial to mesenchymal transition; EpCAM: Epithelial cell adhesion molecule; CAFs: Cancer-associated fibroblasts; MMP: Matrix metalloproteinase; TRKB: Tyrosine kinase receptor B; u-PA: Urokinase plasminogen activator.

Moreover, data have also shown that TGF β signaling activation in buds can induce transcriptional repression of E-cadherin by inducing E-cadherin repressors, such as ZEB, TWIST, and SNAIL, *via* deregulation of SMADs[18,23]. However, the observation that different subtypes of EMT transcription factors are increased in some tumors highlights that not all of them should be expected to be increased together in tumor buds[24]. It has been shown that both E-cadherin and molecules such as CD44 and EpCam are lost in TB areas[25-27]. Signature changes in some miRNAs have also been shown to contribute to TB. In particular, changes in the miR-200 family have been noted[28-31]. The levels of miR-200, which has a suppressive effect on the ZEB family that induces E-cadherin expression, were significantly decreased in tumor buds of colorectal and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma[32,33].

In TB, the effect of EMT is not limited to cell dislocation; moreover, it significantly affects cell migration through cytoskeletal reorganization, increased cell-associated proteolytic activity, and reprogramming of gene expression[34]. Recently, many studies have shown that these changes are found in budding tumor cells, and marked differences in the expression of genes involved in integrin-mediated cell adhesion, cell migration, cytoskeletal changes, and extracellular matrix degradation have been noted[35].

A monomeric form of laminin 5 gamma 2, which plays a role in the anchorage of epithelial cells to the underlying basement membrane, has been found to increase during tumor invasion and in tumor buds [35,36]. This finding was associated with aggressive tumor behavior, especially in pulmonary[37,38] and colorectal cancers[39-42]. Moreover, in the latter, the dendritic extensions of budding tumor cells are positive for laminin 5 gamma 2, which is associated with vascular invasion[43,44]. In addition, in line with the findings that β -catenin induces gene expression of this protein by binding to TCF and LEF family transcription factors, decreased membranous β-catenin levels, increased nuclear β-catenin levels, positivity for laminin 5 gamma 2, and decreased E-cadherin expression were associated with TB[40,45]. These data indicate that altered expression of β -catenin may participate in multiple events in TB. In addition, other cell migration markers, including motility class III β-tubulin and high-mobility Group A family proteins, are more abundant in invasive and TB sites[46,47]. Furthermore, the expression of proteins such as matrix metalloproteinase 7, matrix metalloproteinase 9 urokinase plasminogen activator and cathepsin B, which degrade the matrix of cells, was found to be significantly increased in tumor buds[41,48-50]. In this region, various metastasis suppressors (such as rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma kinase inhibitor protein and maspin) are frequently disrupted and/or downregulated in tumor buds compared to the primary tumor mass[51-54].

The survival of malignant cells in the tumor bud largely depends on their adaptation to a hypoxic environment. Studies have shown that these cells overexpress TRKB, a marker of resistance to cell death, and hypoxia-inducible factor 1α [55,56]. In addition, cells in tumor buds have either shallow levels or the absence of proliferation markers (such as Ki-67)[57,58]. These findings support the view that cell proliferation and migration are mutually exclusive processes and that the transition from cell proliferation to invasion may be triggered by hypoxia. Moreover, the fact that budding tumor cells frequently overexpress stem cell markers, such as LGR5, ALDH1, and CD44, suggests the self-renewal capacity of these cells, including those at metastatic sites [26,59-62].

There are also data showing that T cells in the peritumoral stroma (CD8+ T cells and FOXP3+ T cells) [63-65], EMT marker-positive cancer-associated fibroblasts[66-68], the engulfment of budding tumor cells by CD68+ macrophages, and the loss of MHC class I expression may play roles in TB[69-71].

From a morphological point of view, TB is defined as small clusters of 4 or fewer tumor cells at the interface of invasive carcinoma. Although different methods are performed, TB is usually evaluated by determining the most invasive area of the tumor (hot spot) at 20x magnification on hematoxylin and eosin-stained slides. Regardless of tumor type, buds in these areas are counted, and according to the recommendation of TBCC, TB is classified into three grades: Low, intermediate, and high[7].

In the context of HCC and ICC, there is evidence from numerous studies focusing on the mechanisms involved in TB outlined above. Among these, it is noteworthy that the number of studies focusing on the EMT in primary liver tumors is over 200 per year[10,11].

This is not surprising, given the considerable roles of the EMT in tumor behavior and progression[72-74]. Accordingly, the number of studies aiming to detect tumor aggression using comprehensive immunohistochemical and molecular methods far exceeds the number of studies focusing on TB, which can be easily detected as a simple, cost-effective morphological finding from resection materials.

TB IN HCC

Unfortunately, according to the literature, there are very few studies on the relationship between TB and tumor behavior and prognosis in HCC (Table 1). Kairaluoma et al [75] studied the prognostic value of TB, including 259 patients with HCC, in a retrospective cohort study from a single institution. TB is evaluated according to the hot spot method, which is recommended when investigating TB in CRC. The overall 5-year survival in bud-negative patients was higher (72.1%) than that in bud-positive patients (29.2%) (P = 0.009). In addition, the difference between the disease-specific 5-year survival rates of these two groups was also significant, 86.5% (in bud-positive patients) vs 35.1% (in bud-negative patients) (P = 0.002). Multivariate analysis demonstrated that TB is an independent prognostic factor in surgically treated cases.

However, this parameter was not correlated with clinicopathological factors. This is the only study investigating TB in HCC in a Western population, although it had some limitations, as noted by the authors. There were relatively few patients, yielding wide confidence intervals in the surgical cohort. Additionally, instead of looking for the optimal threshold value, the analysis was performed by making a negative/positive distinction in TB. Again, the absence of significant results in biopsy samples warrants further studies.

Another study was performed in China by Wei et al [76] to classify HCC based on TB and immune scores in 423 patients. The authors developed a prognosis-relevant immune score based on five types of immune cells. A classification based on TB grade and immune type was established (IS-TB type). To explore the association between IS-TB type and molecular alterations of HCC, tumor samples and adjacent nontumor tissues from 100 patients were investigated by whole-exome sequencing. TB was classified into three grades. In addition, cases were also divided into high-grade TB (with \geq 10 buds) and low-grade TB (with 0 to 9 buds) groups. TB was an independent prognostic indicator for overall survival (OS) and disease-free survival (DFS) in the training and validation cohorts. They also observed that high-grade TB was significantly associated with EMT markers and had higher incidences in patients with nonsteatotic, nonfibrolamellar HCC, stromal active (high α-SMA expression), and immature tumors. A link between TB and EMT markers (E-cadherin and vimentin) confirmed the hypothesis that TB might represent the EMT process.

Because the role of the immune milieu of HCC as a prognostic feature is only starting to emerge, they also divided cases by an immune score established based on Z scores that included five parameters (CD8 stromal, PD-L1 stromal, mast-cell stromal, CD68 stromal, and FOXP3 stromal) for each patient. According to the cutoff value (0.04), patients were divided into immune type A and B groups. DFS and OS were better in the type A group than in the type B group in both the training and validation cohorts. The combination of TB grade and immune type cases was also divided into four groups: ISA-TB_{high} (type I), ISB-TB high (type II), ISA-TB low (type III), and ISB-TB low (type IV). While cases within IS-TB type II showed the worst long-term survival, cases within IS-TB type III had the best OS and DFS. These findings are in line with previous observations that indicated that a high lymphocyte-to-TB ratio was a good prognostic factor and that the integration of both TILs and TB was advantageous in the prediction of long-term prognosis in colorectal cancers. These findings provide a rationale for the pathological



Table 1 Relationship of tumor budding with clinicopathologic parameters and survival in hepatocellular and cholangiocarcinomas				
Ref.	Tumor	No.	Correlations	Prognosis
Kairaluoma et al[75]	НСС	47-R; 212-NR	Not observed; Not observed	OS: TB negative <i>vs</i> TB positive; DSS: TB negative <i>vs</i> TB positive
Wei <i>et al</i> [76]	HCC	423	Tumor subtypes, EMT related marker expression, FOXP3, PD-L1 and CD68 expressions; Frequent mast cell infilt- ration, p53 mutation (IS-TB type I); CTNNB1 mutation (IS-TB type IV)	DFS: Type II vs Type I + Type IV; Type III vs Type I + Type IV; OS: Type II vs Type I + Type IV; Type III vs Type I + Type IV
Okubo et al[77]	CCC	299	Dif ^{G1/G2} vs Dif ^{G3}	OS: TB negative vs TB positive
Ogino et al[78]	EHCC-PH; EHCC- DC	195; 115	Grade, T, LI, VI, PN, LNM, RSM; Grade, Higher T, LI, VI, PN, LNM	OS: TB low <i>vs</i> TB intermediate <i>vs</i> TB high; OS: TB low <i>vs</i> TB high
Tanaka et al[80]	ICC	107	Stage, Hilar invasion, Grade, VI, LNM, SM	RFS: TB negative <i>vs</i> TB positive; OS: TB negative <i>vs</i> TB positive
	Type 1	49	NP	RFS: Not prognostic; OS: Not prognostic
	Type 2	58	NP	RFS: Not prognostic; OS: TB negative <i>vs</i> TB positive
	EHCC-PH	54	Ш	RFS TB negative <i>vs</i> TB positive; OS TB negative <i>vs</i> TB positive
	EHCC-DC	40	VI	RFS: Not prognostic; OS: Not prognostic
Ito <i>et al</i> [81]	EHCC-PH	78	Grade, T, LNM, M	
		36 NT	Combined HA/PV Resection, Grade, T, LNM, M	DSS: TB low vs TB high; RFS: TB low vs TB high
		42 WT	Not observed	DSS: TB low vs TB high; RFS: Not prognostic
Agostini-Vulaj et al[83]	EHCC; ICC	58; 54	Gender, Location, Grade, LNI, PNI, RSM; Gender, Location, Grade, LNI, PNI	DSS: TB intermediate vs TB high; RFS: TB intermediate vs TB high
Budau <i>et a</i> l[<mark>84</mark>]	ICC	89	NP	OS: TB Low vs TB Intermediate vs TB High; RFS TB Low vs TB Intermediate vs TB High ITTB, PTTB, TB
Kosaka et al[85]	ICC	235	Size, Tumor type, Grade, VI, MBI, LNM	DSS: TB Low/Intermediate vs TB High; RFS: TB Low/Intermediate vs TB High
Nakayama et al[82]	EHCC-DC	65	T, LNM, LI, VI, ZEB-1 expression, stage	OS: TB Low vs TB High

CCC: Cholangiocarcinoma; DFS: Disease free survival; DSS: Disease specific survival; Dif: Differentiation; DM: Distant metastasis; EHCC-DC: Extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma-distal; EHCC-PH: Extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma-perihilar; EMT: Epithelial to mesenchymal transition; G: Grade; HA/PV: Hepatic artery and portal vein; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; ICC: Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma; IS: Immunescore; ITTB: Intratumoral tumor budding; LI: Lymphatic invasion; LNM: Lymph node metastasis; M: Metastasis; MVI: Microvascular invasion; NCR: Noncurative resection; No: Number of cases; NR: Non-resectable; NT: Neoadjuvant therapy OS: Overall Survival; PN: Perineural invasion; PTTB: Peritumoral tumor budding; R: Resectable; RFS: Recurrence free survival; RSM: Residual tumor in surgical margin; T: Tumor invasion; TB: Tumor budding; VI: Type I: ISA-TB_{high}; Type II: ISB-TB_{high}; Type III: ISA-TB_{low}; Type IV: ISB-TB_{low}; VI: Vascular invasion; MBI: Major biliary invasion; WT: Without neoadjuvant therapy.

evaluation of the TME in addition to the current pathological classifications of HCC.

Another interesting finding of this study was the association between IS-TB type and molecular alterations. TP53 (mainly within IS-TB type I) and CTNNB1 (mainly within IS-TB type IV) mutations in two distinct HCC phenotypes exhibit different immune and pathological characteristics. While TP53 mutations were related to poor differentiation and a thick trabecular pattern, CTNNB1 mutations were associated with impaired antitumor immunity (immune type B), well-differentiated morphology, a pseudoglandular pattern, mature stroma, and low α -SMA (fibroblast activation protein) expression.

As noted above, despite the scarcity of studies examining TB in HCC, there is a wealth of data on the processes involved in this phenomenon.

TB IN CHOLANGIOCARCINOMA

Several studies focusing on TB in cholangiocarcinomas have recently been performed. The number of studies, including extrahepatic perihilar (EHCC-PH) and distal cholangiocarcinoma (EHCC-D) cases, exceeded the number of studies that included ICC cases in the study group. The characteristics and



Deishidena® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

results of these studies are summarized in Table 1.

In an earlier investigation of cholangiocarcinomas from all anatomical locations (CCC), TB was associated with the grade but not with the course of the disease^[77]. However, in a more recent study, in addition to high grade, high TB was more frequently observed in males and patients with extrahepatic localization, perineural and lymphatic invasion, and presentation in settings with positive resection margins^[78]. Moreover, TB is an independent prognostic factor for CCC. However, since TB scoring differed in these two studies, it is not possible to compare the results of one with the other (Tables 1 and 2), as noted by Regmi *et al*^[79], who performed a meta-analysis of CCC samples from different locations, including tumors of the ampulla and gallbladder.

In EHCC-PH, TB is associated with tumor invasion, lymph node metastasis, perineural invasion, lymphovascular invasion, and positive resection margin status. It has also been shown to be an independent prognostic factor in determining the course of the disease in all of the studies[78,80,81]. In EHCC-D, higher TB was more frequent in tumors with deeper invasion, lymph node metastasis, and lymphovascular and perineural invasion[78,80,82]. The correlation between TB and stage and ZEB-1 expression was also noted[83]. Similar to EHCC-P, all but one study[81] showed that TB effectively determines the course of the disease, as shown by both univariate and multivariate analyses [77,78,81-84].

Regarding ICC, TB was shown to be correlated with stage, hilar invasion, grade, venous invasion, lymph node metastasis, and positive surgical margins, which are important parameters for determining the behavior of these tumors. Moreover, when ICCs were analyzed according to growth patterns, it was noted that 80% of mass-forming tumors had high TB. In contrast, this ratio was 16% and 2.3% in periductal infiltrating and intraductal growing subtypes, respectively [85]. In addition, the prognostic role of TB has been described [77,80,81,85]. Budau et al [84] analyzed TB using a three-tier grading system: high, intermediate, and low. While patients with low TB had the most favorable recurrence survival, high TB was associated with the most unfavorable outcomes.

Similarly, TB correlated significantly with the overall survival of patients in univariate and multivariate analyses (P < 0.001). In addition, their data demonstrated that in ICC, TB is significantly independent of the area of investigation (intratumoral or peritumoral). These findings indicate the possibility that TB assessment in preoperative tissue biopsies and in cases that would not be suitable for resection could be used to predict tumor behavior. Nevertheless, the evidence for intratumoral TB is still weak.

In another study, TB was observed to be a powerful prognostic factor for RFS and OS in ICC[80]. In patients stratified into negative and positive TB status, the median time to recurrence in cases with positive TB was 10.26 mo. This was significantly shorter than that of subjects with negative TB (35.57 mo), and the difference among median survival times was significant (P < 0.001). Furthermore, the results of the same study indicated that TB was a decisive and powerful prognostic factor for OS (HR: 4.547). Although these findings need to be supported by further large-scale studies, they suggest that TB may be an important prognostic parameter in these tumors.

Tanaka et al[80] presented an interesting finding about TB in ICC in an elegant study. When they evaluated TB by dividing ICC into two subgroups, Type 1 (hilar) and Type 2 (peripheral), according to the combined scores of mucin productivity and immunoreactivity of S100P, N-cadherin, and neural cell adhesion molecule, this parameter was determined to be a decisive prognostic factor in Type 2 but not in Type 1. They suggested that some differences exist in the biological behavior of these subtypes and pointed out that despite the prognostic importance of TB in ICC, its pathogenetic role in biliary tract carcinomas might differ by anatomic location. However, this finding needs to be supported in further studies. Nevertheless, the results of TB studies in ICC are similar and support the suggestion that TB is a relevant prognostic factor in the histopathological evaluation of these tumors.

Generally, different scoring methods have been used to investigate TB in cholangiocarcinomas. In a few studies, unlike the recommendation of TTBC, five cells were taken as the cutoff for the definition of TB[77,78,81]. The analyses were performed by categorizing the cases as negative vs. positive or low vs. high TB. In most other studies, including ICC cases, patients were assessed following the three-tiered system recommended by the TTBC for colorectal cancer[80,82-84]. However, different stratifications were used for further evaluations (Table 2). More recently, in an elegant study, Zlobec et al[86] observed that CRC without TB (TB0) is relatively frequent and provided additional information on tumor behavior, suggesting a new "zero budding" category for TB. There is currently no evidence about the prognostic value of TB0 in cholangiocarcinomas, and it would be interesting to conduct further studies in which this category is addressed separately.

Accumulated data indicate that the preferred staining method for scoring TB is HE. Recently, some studies on TB have reported that IHC is superior to HE regarding reproducibility and interobserver agreement in assessing this parameter in CRC. Regarding CCC, Ogino et al [78] obtained TB scores in HE-stained whole-tissue sections and PanCK immunostained tissue microarray (TMA) sections from 266 patients. They observed that the number of tumor buds in HE-stained slides was almost equal to that in PanCK-stained slides from TMA, with a strong correlation between them (R = 0.763, P < 0.001). This finding also supports that evaluating TB in HE-stained sections is a simple and reproducible method. Nevertheless, more studies are needed to standardize the assessment of TB in ICC because grading systems for this parameter vary between different types of cancer.



Table 2 Criteria applied for tumor budding in previous studies					
Ref.	Tumor	Tumor budding criteria			
Kairaluoma et al [75]	НСС	Evaluation was performed according to median values; Negative: No buds were found; Positive: At least one bud was present			
Wei <i>et al</i> [76]	НСС	Association between TB and clinicopathological parameters; Grade 1 (0-4), Grade 2 (5-9), Grade 3 (≥ 10); For survival analysis; Low grade (0-9), High grade (≥ 10)			
Okubo et al[77]	CCC	Negative: < 5 budding focus; Positive: ≥ 5 budding focus			
Ogino et al[78]	EHCC-PH, EHCC-DC	Cut-off values of TB obtained by recursive partioning technique; For EHCC-PH; Low grade (0-4), Intermediate grade (5-11), High grade (\geq 12); For EHCC-DC; Low grade (0-4), High grade (\geq 5)			
Tanaka <i>et al</i> [80]	ICC, EHCC-PH, EHCC-DC	Low grade (0-4), Intermediate grade (5-9), High grade (≥10)			
Ito <i>et al</i> [81]	EHCC-PH	Low TB: \leq 5 budding focus; High TB: \geq 5 budding focus			
Agostini-Vulaj et al[<mark>83</mark>]	ICC, EHCC	Grade 1 (0-4), Grade 2 (5-9), Grade 3 (≥ 10)			
Budau et al[<mark>84</mark>]	ICC	Grade 1 (0-4), Grade 2 (5-9), Grade 3 (≥ 10)			
Kosaka et al[<mark>85</mark>]	ICC	Low grade (0-4), Intermediate grade (5-9), High grade (≥ 10)			
Nakayama et al [<mark>82</mark>]	EHCC-DC	Low TB (0-4), High [TB Grade 2 (5-9) and 3 (≥ 10)]			

CCC: Cholangiocarcinoma; EHCC-DC: Extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma-distal; EHCC-PH: Extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma-perihilar; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; ICC: Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma.

> In CRC, TB, combined with other established biomarkers, may allow us to discriminate between patients who would benefit from oncological resection and patients who will receive adjuvant therapy and to classify different therapeutic options, especially in advanced-stage patients [87]. Thus, TB can predict prognosis and regulate treatment options in primary liver cancers. However, the role of TB in the treatment of these tumors remains to be investigated.

CONCLUSION

This review highlights that TB may be a promising prognostic factor for primary liver tumors. However, its clinical value in managing patients should be established in multidisciplinary studies. Evidence also suggests that TB in HCC can identify and reclassify tumors of molecular subtypes with different behavioral characteristics. The differences in the classification of TB in primary liver tumors indicate that a standard and validated method should be established to provide a solid basis for large-scale clinicopathological studies for further evaluation. In addition, the precise determination of the value of budding tumor assessment with multiple further studies may allow us to clarify whether this parameter will be included in pathology report protocols as in CRC in the near future.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Celik MY, Gedik EO, Unal B performed the data acquisition; Bassorgun CI, Unal B and Elpek GO designed the outline and coordinated the writing of the paper; all authors equally contributed to the writing of the paper and preparation of the tables and illustrations.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest related to this publication.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Turkey

ORCID number: Betul Unal 0000-0001-7680-1808; Mennan Yigitcan Celik 0000-0001-8769-5156; Elif Ocak Gedik 0000-0003-2618-498X; Cumhur Ibrahim Bassorgun 0000-0003-2440-511X; Gulsum Ozlem Elpek 0000-0002-1237-5454.



Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: European Society of Pathology, No. 11959.

S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY

REFERENCES

- Global Cancer Observatory, Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2018. Accessed: November 22, 2018. Available from: http://gco.iarc.fr/today/
- Petrick JL, Braunlin M, Laversanne M, Valery PC, Bray F, McGlynn KA. International trends in liver cancer incidence, 2 overall and by histologic subtype, 1978-2007. Int J Cancer 2016; 139: 1534-1545 [PMID: 27244487 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.30211]
- Valery PC, Laversanne M, Clark PJ, Petrick JL, McGlynn KA, Bray F. Projections of primary liver cancer to 2030 in 30 3 countries worldwide. Hepatology 2018; 67: 600-611 [PMID: 28859220 DOI: 10.1002/hep.29498]
- Petrick JL, McGlynn KA. The changing epidemiology of primary liver cancer. Curr Epidemiol Rep 2019; 6: 104-111 4 [PMID: 31259140 DOI: 10.1007/s40471-019-00188-3]
- Zlobec I, Lugli A. Tumour budding in colorectal cancer: molecular rationale for clinical translation. Nat Rev Cancer 5 2018; 18: 203-204 [PMID: 29376521 DOI: 10.1038/nrc.2018.1]
- Grigore AD, Jolly MK, Jia D, Farach-Carson MC, Levine H. Tumor Budding: The Name is EMT. Partial EMT. J Clin 6 Med 2016; 5 [PMID: 27136592 DOI: 10.3390/jcm5050051]
- Lugli A, Kirsch R, Ajioka Y, Bosman F, Cathomas G, Dawson H, El Zimaity H, Fléjou JF, Hansen TP, Hartmann A, Kakar S, Langner C, Nagtegaal I, Puppa G, Riddell R, Ristimäki A, Sheahan K, Smyrk T, Sugihara K, Terris B, Ueno H, Vieth M, Zlobec I, Ouirke P, Recommendations for reporting tumor budding in colorectal cancer based on the International Tumor Budding Consensus Conference (ITBCC) 2016. Mod Pathol 2017; 30: 1299-1311 [PMID: 28548122 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.2017.46]
- Loughrey MB, Webster F, Arends MJ, Brown I, Burgart LJ, Cunningham C, Flejou JF, Kakar S, Kirsch R, Kojima M, 8 Lugli A, Rosty C, Sheahan K, West NP, Wilson RH, Nagtegaal ID. Dataset for Pathology Reporting of Colorectal Cancer: Recommendations From the International Collaboration on Cancer Reporting (ICCR). Ann Surg 2022; 275: e549-e561 [PMID: 34238814 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.000000000005051]
- Lugli A, Zlobec I, Berger MD, Kirsch R, Nagtegaal ID. Tumour budding in solid cancers. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2021; 18: 101-115 [PMID: 32901132 DOI: 10.1038/s41571-020-0422-y]
- 10 Gurzu S, Kobori L, Fodor D, Jung I. Epithelial Mesenchymal and Endothelial Mesenchymal Transitions in Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Review. Biomed Res Int 2019; 2019: 2962580 [PMID: 31781608 DOI: 10.1155/2019/2962580]
- 11 Vaquero J, Guedj N, Clapéron A, Nguyen Ho-Bouldoires TH, Paradis V, Fouassier L. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cholangiocarcinoma: From clinical evidence to regulatory networks. J Hepatol 2017; 66: 424-441 [PMID: 27686679 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.09.010]
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011; 144: 646-674 [PMID: 21376230 DOI: 12 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013]
- 13 Polyak K, Weinberg RA. Transitions between epithelial and mesenchymal states: acquisition of malignant and stem cell traits. Nat Rev Cancer 2009; 9: 265-273 [PMID: 19262571 DOI: 10.1038/nrc2620]
- Yilmaz M, Christofori G. EMT, the cytoskeleton, and cancer cell invasion. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2009; 28: 15-33 14 [PMID: 19169796 DOI: 10.1007/s10555-008-9169-0]
- Nakagawa Y, Ohira M, Kubo N, Yamashita Y, Sakurai K, Toyokawa T, Tanaka H, Muguruma K, Shibutani M, Yamazoe 15 S, Kimura K, Nagahara H, Amano R, Ohtani H, Yashiro M, Maeda K, Hirakawa K. Tumor budding and E-cadherin expression are useful predictors of nodal involvement in T1 esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Anticancer Res 2013; 33: 5023-5029 [PMID: 24222146]
- Lee SJ, Choi SY, Kim WJ, Ji M, Lee TG, Son BR, Yoon SM, Sung R, Lee EJ, Youn SJ, Park SM. Combined aberrant 16 expression of E-cadherin and S100A4, but not β-catenin is associated with disease-free survival and overall survival in colorectal cancer patients. Diagn Pathol 2013; 8: 99 [PMID: 23783026 DOI: 10.1186/1746-1596-8-99]
- Kohler I, Bronsert P, Timme S, Werner M, Brabletz T, Hopt UT, Schilling O, Bausch D, Keck T, Wellner UF. Detailed 17 analysis of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and tumor budding identifies predictors of long-term survival in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015; 30 Suppl 1: 78-84 [PMID: 25827809 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.12752]
- Jensen DH, Dabelsteen E, Specht L, Fiehn AM, Therkildsen MH, Jønson L, Vikesaa J, Nielsen FC, von Buchwald C. 18 Molecular profiling of tumour budding implicates TGF\beta-mediated epithelial-mesenchymal transition as a therapeutic target in oral squamous cell carcinoma. J Pathol 2015; 236: 505-516 [PMID: 25925492 DOI: 10.1002/path.4550]
- Galván JA, Zlobec I, Wartenberg M, Lugli A, Gloor B, Perren A, Karamitopoulou E. Expression of E-cadherin repressors 19 SNAIL, ZEB1 and ZEB2 by tumour and stromal cells influences tumour-budding phenotype and suggests heterogeneity of stromal cells in pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer 2015; 112: 1944-1950 [PMID: 25989272 DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2015.177]
- Park JY, Hong DG, Chong GO, Park JY. Tumor Budding is a Valuable Diagnostic Parameter in Prediction of Disease 20 Progression of Endometrial Endometrioid Carcinoma. Pathol Oncol Res 2019; 25: 723-730 [PMID: 30604272 DOI: 10.1007/s12253-018-0554-x]
- Baek TH, Kang DW, Kim JH, Son HJ. Gland Attenuation, a Novel Morphological Feature of Colorectal Cancer: Evidence 21 for an Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition. Ann Coloproctol 2018; 34: 187-196 [PMID: 30208682 DOI: 10.3393/ac.2017.12.02]
- 22 Banias L, Jung I, Bara T, Fulop Z, Simu P, Simu I, Satala C, Gurzu S. Immunohistochemical-based molecular subtyping



of colorectal carcinoma using maspin and markers of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Oncol Lett 2020; 19: 1487-1495 [PMID: 31966075 DOI: 10.3892/ol.2019.11228]

- Dardare J, Witz A, Merlin JL, Gilson P, Harlé A. SMAD4 and the TGFβ Pathway in Patients with Pancreatic Ductal 23 Adenocarcinoma. Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21 [PMID: 32429474 DOI: 10.3390/ijms21103534]
- 24 Maffeis V, Cappellesso R, Galuppini F, Guzzardo V, Zanon A, Cazzador D, Emanuelli E, Ventura L, Martini A, Fassina A. Tumor budding is an adverse prognostic marker in intestinal-type sinonasal adenocarcinoma and seems to be unrelated to epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Virchows Arch 2020; 477: 241-248 [PMID: 31980958 DOI: 10.1007/s00428-020-02748-1
- Zheng S, Luo J, Xie S, Lu S, Liu Q, Xiao H, Luo W, Huang Y, Liu K. Tumor budding of cervical squamous cell 25 carcinoma: epithelial-mesenchymal transition-like cancer stem cells? PeerJ 2022; 10: e13745 [PMID: 35860042 DOI: 10.7717/peerj.13745
- Lugli A, Iezzi G, Hostettler I, Muraro MG, Mele V, Tornillo L, Carafa V, Spagnoli G, Terracciano L, Zlobec I. Prognostic 26 impact of the expression of putative cancer stem cell markers CD133, CD166, CD44s, EpCAM, and ALDH1 in colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer 2010; 103: 382-390 [PMID: 20606680 DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605762]
- Gosens MJ, van Kempen LC, van de Velde CJ, van Krieken JH, Nagtegaal ID. Loss of membranous Ep-CAM in budding colorectal carcinoma cells. Mod Pathol 2007; 20: 221-232 [PMID: 17361206 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.3800733]
- Xie N, Wang C, Zhuang Z, Hou J, Liu X, Wu Y, Liu H, Huang H. Decreased miR-320a promotes invasion and metastasis 28 of tumor budding cells in tongue squamous cell carcinoma. Oncotarget 2016; 7: 65744-65757 [PMID: 27582550 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.11612]
- Karamitopoulou E, Haemmig S, Baumgartner U, Schlup C, Wartenberg M, Vassella E. MicroRNA dysregulation in the 29 tumor microenvironment influences the phenotype of pancreatic cancer. Mod Pathol 2017; 30: 1116-1125 [PMID: 28548126 DOI: 10.1038/modpathol.2017.35]
- Møller T, James JP, Holmstrøm K, Sørensen FB, Lindebjerg J, Nielsen BS. Co-Detection of miR-21 and TNF-a mRNA in 30 Budding Cancer Cells in Colorectal Cancer. Int J Mol Sci 2019; 20 [PMID: 30999696 DOI: 10.3390/ijms20081907]
- 31 Knudsen KN, Lindebjerg J, Kalmár A, Molnár B, Sørensen FB, Hansen TF, Nielsen BS. miR-21 expression analysis in budding colon cancer cells by confocal slide scanning microscopy. Clin Exp Metastasis 2018; 35: 819-830 [PMID: 30361805 DOI: 10.1007/s10585-018-9945-3]
- Mongroo PS, Rustgi AK. The role of the miR-200 family in epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Cancer Biol Ther 2010; 32 10: 219-222 [PMID: 20592490 DOI: 10.4161/cbt.10.3.12548]
- Pavlič A, Boštjančič E, Kavalar R, Ilijevec B, Bonin S, Zanconati F, Zidar N. Tumour budding and poorly differentiated 33 clusters in colon cancer - different manifestations of partial epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Pathol 2022; 258: 278-288 [PMID: 36062412 DOI: 10.1002/path.5998]
- 34 Derynck R, Weinberg RA. EMT and Cancer: More Than Meets the Eye. Dev Cell 2019; 49: 313-316 [PMID: 31063750 DOI: 10.1016/j.devcel.2019.04.026]
- Zhou B, Zong S, Zhong W, Tian Y, Wang L, Zhang Q, Zhang R, Li L, Wang W, Zhao J, Chen X, Feng Y, Zhai B, Sun T, 35 Liu Y. Interaction between laminin- $5\gamma^2$ and integrin β^1 promotes the tumor budding of colorectal cancer via the activation of Yes-associated proteins. Oncogene 2020; 39: 1527-1542 [PMID: 31676872 DOI: 10.1038/s41388-019-1082-1]
- Berndt A, Gaßler N, Franz M. Invasion-Associated Reorganization of Laminin 332 in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinomas: 36 The Role of the Laminin γ2 Chain in Tumor Biology, Diagnosis, and Therapy. Cancers (Basel) 2022; 14 [PMID: 36230826 DOI: 10.3390/cancers14194903]
- Masuda R, Kijima H, Imamura N, Aruga N, Nakazato K, Oiwa K, Nakano T, Watanabe H, Ikoma Y, Tanaka M, Inokuchi 37 S, Iwazaki M. Laminin-5y2 chain expression is associated with tumor cell invasiveness and prognosis of lung squamous cell carcinoma. Biomed Res 2012; 33: 309-317 [PMID: 23124251 DOI: 10.2220/biomedres.33.309]
- Taira T, Ishii G, Nagai K, Yoh K, Takahashi Y, Matsumura Y, Kojima M, Ohmatsu H, Goto K, Niho S, Takashima H, 38 Inoue H, Ohe Y, Ochiai A. Characterization of the immunophenotype of the tumor budding and its prognostic implications in squamous cell carcinoma of the lung. Lung Cancer 2012; 76: 423-430 [PMID: 22153829 DOI: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2011.11.010
- Shinto E, Baker K, Tsuda H, Mochizuki H, Ueno H, Matsubara O, Foulkes WD, Jass JR. Tumor buds show reduced 39 expression of laminin-5 gamma 2 chain in DNA mismatch repair deficient colorectal cancer. Dis Colon Rectum 2006; 49: 1193-1202 [PMID: 16773493 DOI: 10.1007/s10350-006-0568-4]
- 40 Kevans D, Wang LM, Sheahan K, Hyland J, O'Donoghue D, Mulcahy H, O'Sullivan J. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) protein expression in a cohort of stage II colorectal cancer patients with characterized tumor budding and mismatch repair protein status. Int J Surg Pathol 2011; 19: 751-760 [PMID: 21791486 DOI: 10.1177/1066896911414566]
- Masaki T, Matsuoka H, Sugiyama M, Abe N, Izumisato Y, Goto A, Sakamoto A, Atomi Y. Laminin-5 gamma 2 chain 41 and matrix metalloproteinase-2 may trigger colorectal carcinoma invasiveness through formation of budding tumor cells. Anticancer Res 2003; 23: 4113-4119 [PMID: 14666611]
- Sordat I, Rousselle P, Chaubert P, Petermann O, Aberdam D, Bosman FT, Sordat B. Tumor cell budding and laminin-5 42 expression in colorectal carcinoma can be modulated by the tissue micro-environment. Int J Cancer 2000; 88: 708-717 [PMID: 11072238 DOI: 10.1002/1097-0215(20001201)88:5<708::aid-ijc5>3.0.co;2-j]
- Shinto E, Jass JR, Tsuda H, Sato T, Ueno H, Hase K, Mochizuki H, Matsubara O. Differential prognostic significance of 43 morphologic invasive markers in colorectal cancer: tumor budding and cytoplasmic podia. Dis Colon Rectum 2006; 49: 1422-1430 [PMID: 16767517 DOI: 10.1007/s10350-006-0595-1]
- Prall F, Ostwald C. High-degree tumor budding and podia-formation in sporadic colorectal carcinomas with K-ras gene mutations. Hum Pathol 2007; 38: 1696-1702 [PMID: 17707462 DOI: 10.1016/j.humpath.2007.04.002]
- 45 Hlubek F, Spaderna S, Jung A, Kirchner T, Brabletz T. Beta-catenin activates a coordinated expression of the proinvasive factors laminin-5 gamma2 chain and MT1-MMP in colorectal carcinomas. Int J Cancer 2004; 108: 321-326 [PMID: 14639622 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.11522]
- Arora S, Singh P, Rahmani AH, Almatroodi SA, Dohare R, Syed MA. Unraveling the Role of miR-20b-5p, CCNB1, 46 HMGA2 and E2F7 in Development and Progression of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC). Biology (Basel) 2020; 9



[PMID: 32752229 DOI: 10.3390/biology9080201]

- Rizzi C, Cataldi P, Iop A, Isola M, Sgarra R, Manfioletti G, Giancotti V. The expression of the high-mobility group A2 47 protein in colorectal cancer and surrounding fibroblasts is linked to tumor invasiveness. Hum Pathol 2013; 44: 122-132 [PMID: 22939952 DOI: 10.1016/j.humpath.2012.05.001]
- 48 Sugai T, Yamada N, Eizuka M, Sugimoto R, Uesugi N, Osakabe M, Ishida K, Otsuka K, Sasaki A, Matsumoto T. Vascular Invasion and Stromal S100A4 Expression at the Invasive Front of Colorectal Cancer are Novel Determinants and Tumor Prognostic Markers. J Cancer 2017; 8: 1552-1561 [PMID: 28775774 DOI: 10.7150/jca.18685]
- 49 Märkl B, Renk I, Oruzio DV, Jähnig H, Schenkirsch G, Schöler C, Ehret W, Arnholdt HM, Anthuber M, Spatz H. Tumour budding, uPA and PAI-1 are associated with aggressive behaviour in colon cancer. J Surg Oncol 2010; 102: 235-241 [PMID: 20740581 DOI: 10.1002/jso.21611]
- Guzińska-Ustymowicz K. MMP-9 and cathepsin B expression in tumor budding as an indicator of a more aggressive 50 phenotype of colorectal cancer (CRC). Anticancer Res 2006; 26: 1589-1594 [PMID: 16619576]
- Banias L, Gurzu S, Kovacs Z, Bara T, Bara T Jr, Jung I. Nuclear maspin expression: A biomarker for budding assessment 51 in colorectal cancer specimens. Pathol Res Pract 2017; 213: 1227-1230 [PMID: 28780084 DOI: 10.1016/j.prp.2017.07.025
- 52 Kovacs Z, Jung I, Szalman K, Banias L, Bara TJ, Gurzu S. Interaction of arylsulfatases A and B with maspin: A possible explanation for dysregulation of tumor cell metabolism and invasive potential of colorectal cancer. World J Clin Cases 2019; 7: 3990-4003 [PMID: 31832401 DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v7.i23.3990]
- 53 Gurzu S, Jung I. Subcellular Expression of Maspin in Colorectal Cancer: Friend or Foe. Cancers (Basel) 2021; 13 [PMID: 33498377 DOI: 10.3390/cancers13030366]
- 54 Karamitopoulou E, Zlobec I, Gloor B, Kondi-Pafiti A, Lugli A, Perren A. Loss of Raf-1 kinase inhibitor protein (RKIP) is strongly associated with high-grade tumor budding and correlates with an aggressive phenotype in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC). J Transl Med 2013; 11: 311 [PMID: 24330423 DOI: 10.1186/1479-5876-11-311]
- Tanaka K, Shimura T, Kitajima T, Kondo S, Ide S, Okugawa Y, Saigusa S, Toiyama Y, Inoue Y, Araki T, Uchida K, 55 Mohri Y, Kusunoki M. Tropomyosin-related receptor kinase B at the invasive front and tumour cell dedifferentiation in gastric cancer. Br J Cancer 2014; 110: 2923-2934 [PMID: 24853179 DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2014.228]
- Righi A, Sarotto I, Casorzo L, Cavalchini S, Frangipane E, Risio M. Tumour budding is associated with hypoxia at the 56 advancing front of colorectal cancer. Histopathology 2015; 66: 982-990 [PMID: 25381897 DOI: 10.1111/his.12602]
- Hacking S, Sajjan S, Angert M, Ebare K, Jin C, Chavarria H, Kataria N, Zhang L, Cho M, Thomas R, Lee L, Nasim M. 57 Tumor Budding in Colorectal Carcinoma Showing a Paradoxical Mitotic Index (Via PHH3) With Possible Association to the Tumor Stromal Microenvironment. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol 2020; 28: 627-634 [PMID: 31567276 DOI: 10.1097/PAL0000000000008051
- Rubio CA. Arrest of cell proliferation in budding tumor cells ahead of the invading edge of colonic carcinomas. A 58 preliminary report. Anticancer Res 2008; 28: 2417-2420 [PMID: 18751428]
- 59 Xiang Z, He Q, Huang L, Xiong B, Xiang Q. Breast Cancer Classification Based on Tumor Budding and Stem Cell-Related Signatures Facilitate Prognosis Evaluation. Front Oncol 2021; 11: 818869 [PMID: 35083162 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2021.818869]
- Sadek SA, A Rehim DM, Fatima S. The role of tumor budding in colorectal adenocarcinoma: Possible involvement of the 60 intestinal cancer stem cell marker Lgr5. Indian J Pathol Microbiol 2020; 63: 32-37 [PMID: 32031119 DOI: 10.4103/IJPM.IJPM 154 19
- Zheng Z, Yu H, Huang Q, Wu H, Fu Y, Shi J, Wang T, Fan X. Heterogeneous expression of Lgr5 as a risk factor for focal 61 invasion and distant metastasis of colorectal carcinoma. Oncotarget 2018; 9: 30025-30033 [PMID: 30046385 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.23144]
- Zhou Y, Xia L, Wang H, Oyang L, Su M, Liu Q, Lin J, Tan S, Tian Y, Liao Q, Cao D. Cancer stem cells in the 62 progression of colorectal cancer. Oncotarget 2018; 9: 33403-33415 [PMID: 30279970 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.23607]
- Dawson H, Christe L, Eichmann M, Reinhard S, Zlobec I, Blank A, Lugli A. Tumour budding/T cell infiltrates in 63 colorectal cancer: proposal of a novel combined score. Histopathology 2020; 76: 572-580 [PMID: 31560788 DOI: 10.1111/his.14006
- Nearchou IP, Lillard K, Gavriel CG, Ueno H, Harrison DJ, Caie PD. Automated Analysis of Lymphocytic Infiltration, 64 Tumor Budding, and Their Spatial Relationship Improves Prognostic Accuracy in Colorectal Cancer. Cancer Immunol Res 2019; 7: 609-620 [PMID: 30846441 DOI: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0377]
- Wartenberg M, Cibin S, Zlobec I, Vassella E, Eppenberger-Castori S, Terracciano L, Eichmann MD, Worni M, Gloor B, 65 Perren A, Karamitopoulou E. Integrated Genomic and Immunophenotypic Classification of Pancreatic Cancer Reveals Three Distinct Subtypes with Prognostic/Predictive Significance. Clin Cancer Res 2018; 24: 4444-4454 [PMID: 29661773 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-34011
- Shin N, Son GM, Shin DH, Kwon MS, Park BS, Kim HS, Ryu D, Kang CD. Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts and 66 Desmoplastic Reactions Related to Cancer Invasiveness in Patients With Colorectal Cancer. Ann Coloproctol 2019; 35: 36-46 [PMID: 30879282 DOI: 10.3393/ac.2018.09.10]
- Ueno H, Shinto E, Shimazaki H, Kajiwara Y, Sueyama T, Yamamoto J, Hase K. Histologic categorization of desmoplastic reaction: its relevance to the colorectal cancer microenvironment and prognosis. Ann Surg Oncol 2015; 22: 1504-1512 [PMID: 25395146 DOI: 10.1245/s10434-014-4149-9]
- Galván JA, Helbling M, Koelzer VH, Tschan MP, Berger MD, Hädrich M, Schnüriger B, Karamitopoulou E, Dawson H, 68 Inderbitzin D, Lugli A, Zlobec I. TWIST1 and TWIST2 promoter methylation and protein expression in tumor stroma influence the epithelial-mesenchymal transition-like tumor budding phenotype in colorectal cancer. Oncotarget 2015; 6: 874-885 [PMID: 25528769 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.2716]
- Wang M, Su Z, Amoah Barnie P. Crosstalk among colon cancer-derived exosomes, fibroblast-derived exosomes, and macrophage phenotypes in colon cancer metastasis. Int Immunopharmacol 2020; 81: 106298 [PMID: 32058925 DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2020.106298]
- Koelzer VH, Canonica K, Dawson H, Sokol L, Karamitopoulou-Diamantis E, Lugli A, Zlobec I. Phenotyping of tumor-70



associated macrophages in colorectal cancer: Impact on single cell invasion (tumor budding) and clinicopathological outcome. Oncoimmunology 2016; 5: e1106677 [PMID: 27141391 DOI: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1106677]

- Zlobec I, Minoo P, Terracciano L, Baker K, Lugli A. Characterization of the immunological microenvironment of tumour 71 buds and its impact on prognosis in mismatch repair-proficient and -deficient colorectal cancers. Histopathology 2011; 59: 482-495 [PMID: 22034888 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2011.03975.x]
- Kim H, Lee S, Shin E, Seong KM, Jin YW, Youn H, Youn B. The Emerging Roles of Exosomes as EMT Regulators in 72 Cancer. Cells 2020; 9 [PMID: 32252322 DOI: 10.3390/cells9040861]
- Jiang J, Li J, Zhou X, Zhao X, Huang B, Qin Y. Exosomes Regulate the Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Cancer. 73 Front Oncol 2022; 12: 864980 [PMID: 35359397 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2022.864980]
- Pastushenko I, Blanpain C. EMT Transition States during Tumor Progression and Metastasis. Trends Cell Biol 2019; 29: 74 212-226 [PMID: 30594349 DOI: 10.1016/j.tcb.2018.12.001]
- Kairaluoma V, Kemi N, Pohjanen VM, Saarnio J, Helminen O. Tumour budding and tumour-stroma ratio in 75 hepatocellular carcinoma. Br J Cancer 2020; 123: 38-45 [PMID: 32362654 DOI: 10.1038/s41416-020-0847-1]
- 76 Wei L, Delin Z, Kefei Y, Hong W, Jiwei H, Yang Z. A classification based on tumor budding and immune score for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncoimmunology 2020; 9: 1672495 [PMID: 32002283 DOI: 10.1080/2162402X.2019.1672495
- Okubo S, Mitsunaga S, Kato Y, Kojima M, Sugimoto M, Gotohda N, Takahashi S, Hayashi R, Konishi M. The prognostic 77 impact of differentiation at the invasive front of biliary tract cancer. J Surg Oncol 2018; 117: 1278-1287 [PMID: 29572828 DOI: 10.1002/jso.24946]
- 78 Ogino M, Nakanishi Y, Mitsuhashi T, Hatanaka Y, Amano T, Marukawa K, Nitta T, Ueno T, Ono M, Kuwabara S, Yamada T, Hirano S. Impact of tumour budding grade in 310 patients who underwent surgical resection for extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. Histopathology 2019; 74: 861-872 [PMID: 30667537 DOI: 10.1111/his.13827]
- Regmi P, Paudyal A, Paudyal P, Hu HJ, Liu F, Ma WJ, Jin YW, Li FY. Prognostic significance of tumor budding in 79 biliary tract cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol 2022; 48: 160-168 [PMID: 34412954 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejso.2021.08.008]
- Tanaka M, Yamauchi N, Ushiku T, Shibahara J, Hayashi A, Misumi K, Yasunaga Y, Morikawa T, Kokudo T, Arita J, 80 Sakamoto Y, Hasegawa K, Fukayama M. Tumor Budding in Intrahepatic Cholangiocarcinoma: A Predictor of Postsurgery Outcomes. Am J Surg Pathol 2019; 43: 1180-1190 [PMID: 31335353 DOI: 10.1097/PAS.00000000001332]
- Ito T, Kuriyama N, Kozuka Y, Komatsubara H, Ichikawa K, Noguchi D, Hayasaki A, Fujii T, Iizawa Y, Kato H, 81 Tanemura A, Murata Y, Kishiwada M, Mizuno S, Usui M, Sakurai H, Isaji S. High tumor budding is a strong predictor of poor prognosis in the resected perihilar cholangiocarcinoma patients regardless of neoadjuvant therapy, showing survival similar to those without resection. BMC Cancer 2020; 20: 209 [PMID: 32164621 DOI: 10.1186/s12885-020-6695-9]
- Nakayama G, Hisaka T, Sakai H, Akashi M, Yuichi G, Sato T, Naito Y, Akiba J, Yano H, Akagi Y. Tumour Budding as 82 an Independent Prognostic Factor for Survival in Patients With Distal Bile Duct Cancer. Anticancer Res 2022; 42: 4079-4087 [PMID: 35896221 DOI: 10.21873/anticanres.15905]
- 83 Agostini-Vulaj D, Cates JMM, Bratton LE, Gonzalez RS. Increasing tumor budding in cholangiocarcinoma is associated with decreased disease-specific survival. Hum Pathol 2021; 111: 75-83 [PMID: 33727168 DOI: 10.1016/j.humpath.2021.03.004]
- Budau KL, Sigel CS, Bergmann L, Lüchtenborg AM, Wellner U, Schilling O, Werner M, Tang L, Bronsert P. Prognostic 84 Impact of Tumor Budding in Intrahepatic Cholangiocellular Carcinoma. J Cancer 2022; 13: 2457-2471 [PMID: 35711834 DOI: 10.7150/jca.63008]
- Kosaka H, Ishida M, Ueno M, Komeda K, Hokutou D, Iida H, Hirokawa F, Matsui K, Sekimoto M, Kaibori M. Tumor 85 budding may be a promising prognostic indicator in intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: A multicenter retrospective study. Ann Gastroenterol Surg 2023; 7: 138-146 [PMID: 36643363 DOI: 10.1002/ags3.12605]
- Zlobec I, Bächli M, Galuppini F, Berger MD, Dawson HE, Nagtegaal ID, Lugli A. Refining the ITBCC tumor budding 86 scoring system with a "zero-budding" category in colorectal cancer. Virchows Arch 2021; 479: 1085-1090 [PMID: 33843013 DOI: 10.1007/s00428-021-03090-w]
- Zlobec I, Berger MD, Lugli A. Tumour budding and its clinical implications in gastrointestinal cancers. Br J Cancer 87 2020; **123**: 700-708 [PMID: 32601463 DOI: 10.1038/s41416-020-0954-z]



W J H World Journal of Henatology Hepatology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.786

World J Hepatol 2023 June 27; 15(6): 786-796

ISSN 1948-5182 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Role of vascular endothelial growth factor B in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and its potential value

Yu-Qi Li, Lei Xin, Yu-Chi Zhao, Shang-Qi Li, Ya-Nuo Li

Specialty type: Endocrinology and metabolism

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Fatkhudinov TK, Russia; Mogulkoc R, Turkey; Pham TTT, Viet Nam

Received: March 6, 2023 Peer-review started: March 6, 2023 First decision: April 12, 2023 Revised: April 27, 2023 Accepted: May 9, 2023 Article in press: May 9, 2023 Published online: June 27, 2023



Yu-Qi Li, Ya-Nuo Li, Department of Pathophysiology, School of Basic Medicine, Binzhou Medical University, Yantai 264000, Shandong Province, China

Lei Xin, Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Yantaishan Hospital, Yantai 264000, Shandong Province, China

Yu-Chi Zhao, Department of Surgery, Yantaishan Hospital, Yantai 264000, Shandong Province, China

Shang-Qi Li, The First School of Clinical Medicine, Binzhou Medical University, Yantai 264000, Shandong, China, Yantai 264000, Shandong Province, China

Corresponding author: Ya-Nuo Li, PhD, Professor, Department of Pathophysiology, School of Basic Medicine, Binzhou Medical University, No. 346 Guanhai Road, Laishan District, Yantai 264000, Shandong Province, China. liyanuo@bzmc.edu.cn

Abstract

Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) refers to fatty liver disease caused by liver injury factors other than alcohol. The disease is characterized by diffuse fat infiltration, including simple steatosis (no inflammatory fat deposition), nonalcoholic fatty hepatitis, liver fibrosis, and so on, which may cause liver cirrhosis, liver failure, and even liver cancer in the later stage of disease progression. At present, the pathogenesis of NAFLD is still being studied. The "two-hit" theory, represented by lipid metabolism disorder and inflammatory reactions, is gradually enriched by the "multiple-hit" theory, which includes multiple factors, such as insulin resistance and adipocyte dysfunction. In recent years, vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGFB) has been reported to have the potential to regulate lipid metabolism and is expected to become a novel target for ameliorating metabolic diseases, such as obesity and type 2 diabetes. This review summarizes the regulatory role of VEGFB in the onset and development of NAFLD and illustrates its underlying molecular mechanism. In conclusion, the signaling pathway mediated by VEGFB in the liver may provide an innovative approach to the diagnosis and treatment of NAFLD.

Key Words: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; Vascular endothelial growth factor B; "Twohit" theory; "Multiple-hit" theory; Obesity

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is the most common liver disease with lipid accumulation caused by liver injury factors except alcohol. At present, vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGFB) has been reported to play a special role in regulating lipid metabolism and improving the onset and development of NAFLD. Therefore, the use of VEGFB as a target for treatment has become the focus of current research. This review summarizes the role and potential mechanism of VEGFB in the pathogenesis of NAFLD to provide a theoretical basis for the clinical treatment of NAFLD.

Citation: Li YQ, Xin L, Zhao YC, Li SQ, Li YN. Role of vascular endothelial growth factor B in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and its potential value. World J Hepatol 2023; 15(6): 786-796 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5182/full/v15/i6/786.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.786

INTRODUCTION

With the growth of the economy and the increasing change in people's lifestyles, the prevalence and morbidity of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) are rising rapidly worldwide. NAFLD occurs in one-fourth of the global population, and the highest incidence rate is in South America (31%) and the Middle East (32%), followed by Asia (27%), the United States (24%), and Europe (23%), while is not common in Africa (14%)[1]. In the United States, the number of NAFLD cases is expected to increase from 83.1 million in 2015 (approximately 24% of the population) to 100.9 million by 2030[2]. Because of its long course and high treatment cost, it has become a global medical and health problem.

NAFLD is an important cause of advanced liver disease, primary liver cancer, and liver transplantation and is also the world's fastest-growing cause of liver-related deaths[3]. In the United States, the burden of NAFLD-related cirrhosis is estimated to be twice that of hepatitis C virus (HCV) related cirrhosis, and it is expected to surpass HCV as the main indication for liver transplantation within 5 years[4]. In Asia, the incidence rate of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with NAFLD is 1.8/ 1000 each year, and the total case fatality rate is 5.3/1000 each year[5]. In addition, insulin resistance, upregulation of insulin-like growth factor axis, downregulation of adiponectin expression, and elevated expression of tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) caused by NAFLD may be potential factors to induce the development of tumors[6]. Meanwhile, NAFLD can also promote coronary atherosclerosis, significantly increase the risk of cardiomyopathy (mainly left ventricular hypertrophy), leading to valvular heart disease (mainly aortic valve and mitral valve), cardiac insufficiency, arrhythmia (mainly atrial fibrillation, prolonged QT interval) and some cardiac conduction system defects (such as an atrioventricular block)[7]. Therefore, more and more research is focusing on exploring the pathogenesis of NAFLD.

The physiological mechanism of NAFLD is very complex. The pathogenesis of early NAFLD is generally believed to be related to lipid metabolism and inflammatory reactions, which could not systematically and comprehensively explain the molecular mechanism and metabolic changes in NAFLD[8,9]. In recent years, studies have confirmed that insulin resistance is closely related to the pathogenesis of NAFLD[10]. In 2019, Lee *et al*[11] reported that NAFLD was related to liver and peripheral insulin resistance, leading to insufficient inhibition of liver insulin resistance, gluconeogenesis, reduced glycogen synthesis, and increased free fatty acid (FFA). Shi *et al*[12] confirmed that insulin resistance can promote the progression of liver fibrosis and NAFLD, and NAFLD can also accelerate insulin resistance in the liver.

With the deepening of research on NAFLD and the increasing understanding of its pathogenesis, it has been found that the onset of NAFLD is also related to "multiple-hit" such as liver insulin resistance, adipocyte dysfunction, gut microbiota imbalance, immune regulation imbalance, and dietary habits besides the "second-hit" caused by lipid metabolism disorder and inflammation reaction. Adolph et al [13] found that abnormal adiponectin secretion produced by adipocytes can aggravate high-fat diet (HFD)-induced obesity and related metabolic disorders, and the overexpression of adiponectin can hinder the progression of hepatic microsomal steatosis. Baker et al[14] found that the content of enzymes that can metabolize ethanol in the body of patients with NAFLD and intestinal flora imbalance increased significantly, which increased the permeability of the intestinal wall and was conducive to the entry of reactive oxygen species (ROS), bacterial endotoxins, ethanol and other toxic metabolites into the liver, resulting in increased liver damage and accelerating the progression of NAFLD (Figure 1).

Early in 2008, Karpanen et al[15] unexpectedly found that vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGFB) has a weak role in the vascular system but has a significant advantage in regulating lipid metabolism. In 2012, Hagberg et al[16] proved that targeting VEGFB as a novel treatment for insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. In 2016, Robciuc et al[17] also found that transferring the VEGFB gene into HFD-induced obese mice can improve lipid metabolism and increase insulin supply and signal transduction. Hu et al[18] confirmed that VEGFB recombinant protein can reduce lipid accumulation and improve hyperlipidemia in NAFLD.

Li YQ et al. Role of VEGFB in NAFLD



Figure 1 The "multiple-hit" theories are involved in the progress of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Lipids and lipoproteins represent the "firsthit", while the inflammation reaction illustrates the "second-hit" in the development of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Six aspects including lipids and lipoproteins, inflammation reaction, insulin resistance, gut microbiome, apoptosis, and adipose dysfunction have a common influence on the pathophysiological mechanism of NAFLD. NAFL: Non-alcoholic fatty liver; NASH: Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis.

The regulatory role of VEGFB in the occurrence and development of metabolic diseases has attracted many scholars' attention. In this review, we mainly focus on the underlying mechanism of VEGFB in the onset of NAFLD and analyze how VEGFB participates in the "multiple-hit" of NAFLD by regulating lipid metabolism, inflammatory reactions, adipocyte dysfunction, and cell apoptosis. First, we introduce the positive regulatory effect of VEGFB on lipid metabolism and discuss how it affects fatty acid oxidation and lipid synthesis under the mediation of Adenosine 5'-monophosphate (AMP)-activated protein kinase (AMPK) signaling. Then, we summarize the role of VEGFB in anti-inflammation in NAFLD and further discuss the current mechanism of VEGFB in insulin resistance and the impact of targeted therapy. Finally, we also explain the controversial role of VEGFB in metabolic diseases and estimate whether VEGFB-mediated signal transduction could provide a theoretical and experimental basis for the pathogenesis of NAFLD and help identify potential treatment targets.

THE NOVEL ROLE OF VEGFB IN NAFLD

VEGFB is a special type of vascular endothelial growth factor. The total length of the VEGFB gene is 1197 bp, with 7 exons, and the total length of the CDS region is 566 bp, with two subtypes, VEGFB¹⁶⁷ and VEGFB¹⁸⁶[19]. The VEGFB¹⁶⁷ homotype has a similar effect to that of VEGFB¹⁸⁶[17]. VEGFB is a glycoprotein that forms a homodimer through the covalent binding of disulfide bonds. It needs to combine with a high-affinity tyrosine kinase receptor to exert biological effects[20]. The VEGF family includes seven members, VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, VEGF-E, VEGF-F, and placental growth factor[21]. The VEGF receptor family includes VEGFR1, VEGFR2, VEGFR3, and neuropilin 1/2 (NRP1/2). VEGFA can combine with VEGFR1 or VEGFR2 to play a role in promoting angiogenesis[22]. Unlike other members of the VEGF family, the effect of VEGFB on vascular endothelial growth is not obvious. The biological function of VEGFB is exerted by forming a complex with VEGFR1. Moreover, the combination of VEGFB and NRP1 can also induce a series of reactions through a paracrine mechanism [23]. In recent years, studies have shown that the VEGFB/VEGFR1 pathway has therapeutic potential for obesity, type 2 diabetes, and other lipid metabolism disorder-related diseases[17].

VEGFB mainly exists in the heart, skeletal muscle, brown adipose tissue, and other tissues with high metabolic activity and plays a role in regulating blood vessel distribution and lowering blood lipids[24]. The level of VEGFB in the liver is also significantly higher than that in tissues with general metabolic



activity. Shang et al[25] found that cardiac-specific overexpression of VEGFB can reduce the activity of lipoprotein lipase and improve the metabolic level of myocardial cells. Wagenmakers et al[26] showed that VEGFB can control the expression of fatty acid transport protein (FATP) in the capillary endothelium and connect the uptake of endothelial FFA with the oxidation ability of the skeletal muscle to potentially prevent the accumulation of skeletal muscle lipotoxic FFA. Robciuc et al[17] confirmed that the complex of VEGFB and VEGFR1 can reshape the vascular distribution in adipose tissue and improve the insulin function of obese mice.

VEGFB also plays a biological role in the liver by forming a complex with VEGFR1. Cordeiro *et al*[27] showed that targeting VEGFB can effectively prevent lipid deposition in peripheral tissues in animal models. Hu et al [18] observed that the complex of VEGFB and VEGFR1 can increase the oxidation level of fatty acids in liver tissue and hepatocytes and reduce obesity-related hyperlipidemia and fatty liver disease in HFD-induced liver. Li et al [28] found that inhibiting VEGFB gene expression in liver tissue not only increased the weight and body fat rate of obese mice but also led to pathological changes, such as hepatocyte steatosis and liver fibrosis. These studies suggest that VEGFB is involved in the onset and development of simple steatosis and liver fibrosis in NAFLD (Figure 2).

VEGFB PARTICIPATES IN REGULATING THE "FIRST HIT" IN NAFLD

In 1998, Day et al^[29] first proposed the "two-hit" theory of the pathogenesis of NAFLD. The "first hit" of NAFLD mainly involves lipid metabolism disorder caused by various factors. Hepatotoxicity is caused by FFA, which leads to an increase in the permeability of the cell membrane, destruction of mitochondrial function, and inhibition of related enzymes to produce genotoxicity. As the disease progresses, excess FFA undergoes β oxidation in mitochondria. When the capacity of the mitochondria to β oxidize FFA is overloaded, excess FFA accumulates in the liver and aggravates the steatosis of hepatocytes. Meanwhile, the triglyceride (TG) synthesized by excess FFA in the liver cannot be converted into very low-density lipoprotein for transport to the peripheral adipose tissue for storage. Therefore, TG can only be stored in the liver and eventually aggravate the onset of liver steatosis. Reducing lipid accumulation and restoring the balance of lipid metabolism are the key methods to improve the "first hit" of NAFLD.

The research findings on the role of VEGFB in improving the lipid disorder of the heart, skeletal muscle, and brown adipose tissue provide the theoretical and experimental basis for VEGFB to participate in the regulation of hepatic lipid metabolism in NAFLD. Shang *et al*[25] observed that rat heart lipoprotein lipase activity and lipid accumulation were decreased and insulin function was improved after cardiac-specific overexpression of VEGFB. Li et al[30] found that VEGFB can enhance the expression of FATP1 and FATP4 in C2C12 cells, promote the oxidation of FFA and the decomposition of TG in C2C12 myotubes, and inhibit the re-esterification of FFA to reduce lipid accumulation in myotubes. Chen *et al*[31] found that after inhibition of adipose-specific VEGFB, mice increased in size with more white adipose tissue, and the form and function of fat changed from those of brown adipose tissue to those of white adipose tissue, which indicated that VEGFB was the main regulator of the growth and function of fat.

Some scholars have proposed that the signaling pathway triggered by the combination of VEGFB with its receptor can promote lipid flow in the body, which may become a promising target to prevent the accumulation of ectopic lipids. In 2020, Tong et al[32] showed that VEGFB can reduce the levels of TG and FFA in the liver to prevent HFD-induced fatty liver disease by producing E. coli-expressed recombinant tPep-VEGFB. In 2021, Hu et al [18] found that recombinant VEGFB protein reduced the increase in high-density lipoprotein and low-density lipoprotein in the liver caused by HFD and reduced liver hyperlipidemia.

The mechanism of NAFLD involves multiple signaling pathways, of which the AMPK signaling pathway plays a key role in de novo synthesis and fatty acid oxidation[33]. Harjes et al[34] confirmed that the combination of VEGFB with its receptor VEGFR1 can activate AMPK, FATP3, and FATP4 to potentially promote the usage of FFA. AMPK activation is regulated by its upstream molecule Ca²⁺/ Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase β (CaMKK β), which responds to increased intracellular calcium content[35]. Extracellular calcium ions enter the cell through a calcium channel carrier. The elevated intracellular calcium level causes the conformational change of CaMKKB and the phosphorylation of AMPK[36]. Jia et al[37] showed that a high concentration of VEGFB recombinant protein can increase the level of calcium ions in MIN6 cells to increase insulin secretion. Li et al [28] suggested that inhibiting the expression of VEGFB in the liver can reduce the expression level of CaMKK β and then affect the phosphorylation level of AMPK induced by CaMKKβ.

AMPK can control lipid metabolism by regulating its downstream molecules after its phosphorylation[38]. AMPK can directly phosphorylate and inhibit the activation of acetyl coenzyme A carboxylase (ACC), the rate-limiting enzyme that inhibits the synthesis of fatty acids, thereby activating carnitine palmitate transferase (CPT1) and transferring fatty acids into mitochondria for β oxidation[39, 40]. AMPK can also negatively regulate the expression of sterol-regulatory element-binding protein-1c (SREBP1c), downregulate the level of desaturase [stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 (SCD1)], and inhibit the



Figure 2 The vascular endothelial growth factor family and its receptors, and the biological function of vascular endothelial growth factor B. The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family includes VEGFA, vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGFB), VEGFC, VEGFD, and so on. The VEGF receptor family includes VEGFR1, VEGFR2, VEGFR3, and neuropilin 1/2 (NRP1/2). VEGFA combines with VEGFR1, VEGFR2, or NRP1/2. VEGFB and placental growth factor combine with VEGFR1 or NRP1/2. VEGFC and VEGFD combine with VEGFR2 or VEGFR3 to exert their biological functions. VEGFB can prevent the accumulation of lipotoxic free fatty acid (FFA) in skeletal muscle, reduce lipoprotein activity in the heart, increase adipose tissue vascularity, and increase the oxidation level of FFA in the liver. PIGF: Placental growth factor; FA: Fatty acid; NRP1/2: Neuropilin 1/2; VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFB: Vascular endothelial growth factor B.

> synthesis of fatty acids and TG[41]. Hu et al[18] showed that VEGFB recombinant protein can upregulate the AMPK/ACC/CPT1 signaling pathway in the liver by binding to VEGFR1, promoting FFA oxidation and reducing lipid deposition. That study also found that VEGFB can simultaneously upregulate the expression levels of the lipid oxidation-related genes PPARa, PGC-1a, HSL, ACO, and CPT1 and that the downregulation of lipid synthesis can inhibit weight gain under HFD conditions and improve obesity-related hyperlipidemia and fatty liver disease[18]. Li et al [28] also found that VEGFB knockout can downregulate the CaMKKβ-mediated AMPK/ACC/CPT1 signaling pathway to inhibit fatty acid oxidation and activate the AMPK/SREBP1/SCD1 signaling pathway to promote lipid synthesis, thus affecting the level of lipid metabolism (Figure 3).

VEGFB PARTICIPATES IN REGULATING THE "SECOND HIT" IN NAFLD

Liver lipid accumulation induces overloaded lipid catabolism, causing lipid peroxidation. Excessive lipid peroxidation leads to oxidative stress, making it the "second hit" to the progression of NAFLD, which can accelerate inflammation and hepatocyte damage. Nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB) signaling plays an important role in the macrophage-mediated liver inflammatory response[42]. Research has confirmed that NF-kB can be activated by FFA in patients with NAFLD, and as the severity of NAFLD increases, the activity of NF-kB increases[43]. Moreover, liver mitochondrial dysfunction also accelerates the occurrence and development of NAFLD. The compensated acceleration of β oxidation in mitochondria can produce a large number of ROS[44]. When the antioxidant system mainly composed of reduced glutathione fails to eliminate ROS in time, oxidative stress develops[45], and a large number of peroxides are generated, which aggravate hepatocyte damage[46]. The apoptotic bodies produced by hepatocyte apoptosis are engulfed by Kupffer cells to decrease the activity of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), which affects Mitochondrial function.

VEGFB can induce cell proliferation and differentiation, tumor immunity, and other biological effects through the signaling pathway mediated by the tyrosine-protein kinase receptor[47]. Kusuhara et al[48] observed that the VEGFR1 signal in monocytes and macrophages was significantly affected by the upregulation of VEGFB under inflammatory conditions. Akiyoshi U confirmed that VEGFR1 can regulate AKT signaling and affect the activity of NF-KB and eNOS respectively to regulate macrophage migration and mitochondrial function^[49]. Mehlem et al^[50] found that VEGFB signaling is involved in regulating pathological lipid accumulation in diabetes, obesity, and cardiovascular disease and mainly affects mitochondrial genes related to the regulation of fatty acid intake. Cao et al[51] showed that VEGFB/IL-17 inhibits the expression of fatty acid transporters to reduce the accumulation of renal lipids and inhibit renal oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction, thus improving the inflammatory response. Shen et al^[52] also found that VEGFB/IL-22 can not only regulate glucose and lipid metabolism but also reduce inflammation and ROS accumulation. Robciuc et al[17] transduced the





DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.786 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Vascular endothelial growth factor B regulates lipid metabolism in the "first hit" of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease via the activated protein kinase signaling pathway. Vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGFB) performs its biological function by combining with VEGFR1. Once it enters the cell, it activates Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase β (CaMKKβ), which is induced by an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ content. VEGFB activates the CaMKKβ-mediated activated protein kinase (AMPK)/A carboxylase (ACC)/carnitine palmitate transferase (CPT1) signaling pathway and related genes, such as CPT1 and long-chain acyl coenzyme A dehydrogenase, which regulate FFA oxidation in mitochondria. VEGFB activates AMPK/SREBP1/SCD1 and related genes, such as ACC1 and FAS, to inhibit lipid synthesis in the endoplasmic reticulum. CaMKKB: Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase B; AMPK: Adenosine 5'-monophosphate (AMP)-activated protein kinase; ACC: A carboxylase; CPT1: Carnitine palmitate transferase-1; FFA: Free fatty acid; NRP1/2: Neuropilin 1/2; SCD1: Stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1; SREBP1: Sterol-regulatory element-binding protein-1; VEGFB: Vascular endothelial growth factor B; VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFB: Vascular endothelial growth factor B; FAS: fatty acid synthase; ACO: Acyl Coenzyme A Oxidase; HSL: hormone-sensitive lipase; LCAD: long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase; PPARa: proliferator-activated receptor-a; PGC-1a: peroxidase proliferator activator receptor y coactivator 1a.

VEGFB gene into mice to inhibit obesity-related inflammation and improve metabolic health.

The lipid deposition caused by the "first hit" can lead to an inflammatory cascade, causing the "second hit" to hepatocyte damage and accelerating pathological changes in NAFLD. VEGFB can affect inflammatory response by regulating lipid metabolism in NAFLD, thereby affecting the "first hit" and improving the "second hit" in NAFLD.

VEGFB PARTICIPATES IN REGULATING THE "MULTIPLE-HIT" IN NAFLD

"Multiple-hit" theory believes that the pathological mechanism of NAFLD involves insulin resistance, adipocyte dysfunction, gut microbiota disorder, aggregation of inflammatory factors, mitochondrial dysfunction, lipotoxicity, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and so on [53]. These factors collaborate and overlap with each other, accelerating hepatocyte damage and ultimately developing into cirrhosis, liver cancer, and end-stage liver failure. Insulin resistance is a common metabolic abnormality in patients with NAFLD and is considered the first step in the development of NAFLD[54]. Studies have shown that the activation of insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS1) protein is downregulated and SREBP-1c is upregulated when insulin resistance occurs, which ultimately increases the expression of de novo synthesis of lipids, thus increasing the transport of FFA to the liver[55]. Meanwhile, hyperinsulinemia can inhibit the β -oxidative of FFA to further promote lipid accumulation in the liver. Excessive lipid accumulation in the liver can disrupt the homeostasis of glucose metabolism[56]. Hepatic insulin resistance participates in the inhibition of forkhead box protein 1 (FOXO1) and serine/threonine kinase (GSK-3) through phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase B (AKT), reduces Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) and glucose 6 phosphatase (G6Pase) levels in the liver, which promotes gluconeogenesis and inhibits glycogen synthesis[57] (Figure 4). Recent studies have shown that VEGFB plays an active role in regulating metabolic diseases related to insulin resistance. Robciuc etal^[17] found that VEGFB can increase the sensitivity of peripheral insulin and improve insulin resistance. Hu et al [18] found that VEGFB can reduce insulin resistance by reducing the content of FFA and total cholesterol, thus improving the disorder of lipid metabolism in NAFLD.





Figure 4 Vascular endothelial growth factor B participates in the "multiple-hit" of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGFB) regulates lipid metabolism, inflammation reaction, and glucose metabolism, which co-exist in the nonalcoholic fatty liver disease progression. VEGFB activates the AMPK phosphorylation to regulate free fatty acid oxidation and lipid synthesis. Long-term lipid metabolism disorders will cause inflammatory reactions and glucose metabolism disorders. VEGFB promotes the phosphorylation of protein kinase B (AKT) *via* combining with the VEGFR1 to affect macrophage migration and mitochondrial inflammation reaction. Meanwhile, VEGFB/VEGFR1 also plays an important role in inhibiting gluconeogenesis and promoting glycogen synthesis by activating the phosphorylation of AKT to regulate glucose metabolism. CaMKKβ: Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase β; VEGFR1: Vascular endothelial growth factor B; IR: Insulin receptor; IRS1: Insulin receptor substrate-1; PI3K: Phosphoinositide 3-kinase; AKT: Protein kinase B; AMPK: Adenosine 5'-monophosphate (AMP)-activated protein kinase; ACC: A carboxylase; CPT1: Carnitine palmitate transferase-1; Lcad: long-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase; SREBP: Sterol-regulatory element-binding protein; FAS: fatty acid synthase; NF-kB: Nuclear factor-kappa B; NF-AT: Nuclear factors of activated T; eNOS: endothelial nitric oxide synthase; FoxO1: Forkhead box protein-1; GSK-3: Serine/threonine kinase-3; PEPCK: Phosphoenolpyruvate

carboxykinase; G6Pase: Glucose 6 phosphatase; Insulin resistance has been proven to be an activator of cell apoptosis[58]. Cell apoptosis, an injury factor in the "multiple hits", is a common and important mechanism of NAFLD lesions and liver injury. Li *et al*[59] believe that the decrease in the number of hepatocytes may be due to apoptosis, and excessive apoptosis of hepatocytes is an important sign of NAFLD/NASH patients. As a member of the vascular growth factor family, VEGFB participates in many angiogenesis-dependent diseases, and its pathogenesis is related to cell apoptosis. Williams *et al*[60] showed that inhibition of VEGFB leads to increased apoptosis in cardiomyocytes of patients with diabetes. Dai *et al*[61] also demonstrated that

VEGFB plays an antiapoptotic role in the context of tumors.
Adipocyte dysfunction has also been confirmed to be closely related to the pathogenesis of NAFLD
[62]. The degree of adipocyte dysfunction is consistent with abnormal metabolism in NAFLD. Martina Rudnicki's study confirms that male mice fed with HFD exhibit adipocyte dysfunction[63]. Robciuc *et al*[17] has shown that the VEGFB/VEGFR1 pathway can be used to enhance vascular distribution in adipose tissue, which improves metabolic health and obesity. The VEGFB gene may affect the occurrence and development of NAFLD by affecting the expansion and loss of adipose tissue.

CONCLUSION

The role of VEGFB in regulating metabolic diseases, such as NAFLD, has attracted increasing attention from scholars. Research has shown that VEGFB can reduce lipid accumulation and restore insulin sensitivity in NAFLD. VEGFB activates the AKT signaling pathway by combining with VEGFR1, inhibits FOXO1 and GSK3 genes, blocks gluconeogenesis, accelerates glycogen synthesis, and improves insulin resistance. VEGFB not only improves liver insulin resistance, but also activates the AMPK signaling pathway, thereby activating the ACC signal to inhibit the expression of SREBP protein,


improving fatty acid oxidation, inhibiting lipid synthesis, and restoring lipid metabolism balance. The activated AKT protein inhibits nuclear factors and proteins such as NF-kB or eNOS after phosphorylation, regulates inflammatory factors such as macrophages and liver mitochondrial function, reduces the occurrence of inflammatory reactions in hepatocytes, and prevents the progression of NAFLD[43].

Although more and more studies support that VEGFB can be a new target for the treatment of NAFLD and type 2 diabetes, some studies have shown that VEGFB has not played a positive role in regulating lipid metabolism and insulin resistance. Ning et al[64] confirmed that the changes in VEGFB did not affect glucose metabolism or lipid uptake. Hagberg et al[65] suggested that VEGFB gene deletion can prevent ectopic lipid deposition and ameliorate dyslipidemia. Falkevall et al[66] showed that inhibition of VEGFB signaling can target liver steatosis by inhibiting lipolysis and preventing the development of NAFLD.

At present, the understanding of the role of VEGFB in regulating NAFLD and its mechanism remains controversial and is not completely clear. So more research focuses on the mechanism of VEGFB in the occurrence and development of NAFLD, which will provide a new idea for the study of pathophysiological mechanisms and therapeutic targets of NAFLD.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Li YQ prepared and drafted the manuscript; Xin L made the critical revision; Zhao YC edited the manuscript; Li SQ collected the literature review; Li YN approved the final version.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors have declared no conflicts of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yu-Qi Li 0000-0003-0236-8581; Lei Xin 0000-0003-0084-6498; Yu-Chi Zhao 0000-0002-4776-1419; Shang-Qi Li 0009-0000-1702-9406; Ya-Nuo Li 0000-0002-6441-5024.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- Younossi ZM, Koenig AB, Abdelatif D, Fazel Y, Henry L, Wymer M. Global epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver 1 disease-Meta-analytic assessment of prevalence, incidence, and outcomes. Hepatology 2016; 64: 73-84 [PMID: 26707365 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28431]
- 2 Zhou JH, Cai JJ, She ZG, Li HL. Noninvasive evaluation of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Current evidence and practice. World J Gastroenterol 2019; 25: 1307-1326 [PMID: 30918425 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i11.1307]
- 3 Murphy SK, Yang H, Moylan CA, Pang H, Dellinger A, Abdelmalek MF, Garrett ME, Ashley-Koch A, Suzuki A, Tillmann HL, Hauser MA, Diehl AM. Relationship between methylome and transcriptome in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology 2013; 145: 1076-1087 [PMID: 23916847 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.07.047]
- Chhatwal J, Samur S, Kues B, Ayer T, Roberts MS, Kanwal F, Hur C, Donnell DM, Chung RT. Optimal timing of 4 hepatitis C treatment for patients on the liver transplant waiting list. Hepatology 2017; 65: 777-788 [PMID: 27906468 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28926]
- Fan JG, Kim SU, Wong VW. New trends on obesity and NAFLD in Asia. J Hepatol 2017; 67: 862-873 [PMID: 5 28642059 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2017.06.003]
- Meigs JB. Epidemiology of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease: translation from population to prevention: the 6 Kelly West award lecture 2009. Diabetes Care 2010; 33: 1865-1871 [PMID: 20668155 DOI: 10.2337/dc10-0641]
- Pais R, Barritt AS 4th, Calmus Y, Scatton O, Runge T, Lebray P, Poynard T, Ratziu V, Conti F. NAFLD and liver transplantation: Current burden and expected challenges. J Hepatol 2016; 65: 1245-1257 [PMID: 27486010 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.07.033
- Fang YL, Chen H, Wang CL, Liang L. Pathogenesis of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in children and adolescence: From "two hit theory" to "multiple hit model". World J Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 2974-2983 [PMID: 30038464 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i27.2974]
- Peverill W, Powell LW, Skoien R. Evolving concepts in the pathogenesis of NASH: beyond steatosis and inflammation. Int J Mol Sci 2014; 15: 8591-8638 [PMID: 24830559 DOI: 10.3390/ijms15058591]



- 10 Samuel VT, Shulman GI. Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease as a Nexus of Metabolic and Hepatic Diseases. Cell Metab 2018; 27: 22-41 [PMID: 28867301 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.08.002]
- Lee YH, Cho Y, Lee BW, Park CY, Lee DH, Cha BS, Rhee EJ. Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease in Diabetes. Part I: Epidemiology and Diagnosis. Diabetes Metab J 2019; 43: 31-45 [PMID: 30793550 DOI: 10.4093/dmj.2019.0011]
- 12 Shi H, Jin J, Hardesty JE, Falkner KC, Prough RA, Balamurugan AN, Mokshagundam SP, Chari ST, Cave MC. Corrigendum to "Polychlorinated biphenyl exposures differentially regulate hepatic metabolism and pancreatic function: Implications for nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and diabetes" [Toxicology & Applied Pharmacology, 363 (2018) 22-33]. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2020; 404: 115149 [PMID: 32702359 DOI: 10.1016/j.taap.2020.115149]
- Adolph TE, Grander C, Grabherr F, Tilg H. Adipokines and Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: Multiple Interactions. Int 13 J Mol Sci 2017; 18 [PMID: 28758929 DOI: 10.3390/ijms18081649]
- Baker SS, Baker RD, Liu W, Nowak NJ, Zhu L. Role of alcohol metabolism in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. PLoS One 14 2010; 5: e9570 [PMID: 20221393 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009570]
- Karpanen T, Bry M, Ollila HM, Seppänen-Laakso T, Liimatta E, Leskinen H, Kivelä R, Helkamaa T, Merentie M, Jeltsch 15 M, Paavonen K, Andersson LC, Mervaala E, Hassinen IE, Ylä-Herttuala S, Oresic M, Alitalo K. Overexpression of vascular endothelial growth factor-B in mouse heart alters cardiac lipid metabolism and induces myocardial hypertrophy. Circ Res 2008; 103: 1018-1026 [PMID: 18757827 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.178459]
- Hagberg CE, Mehlem A, Falkevall A, Muhl L, Fam BC, Ortsäter H, Scotney P, Nyqvist D, Samén E, Lu L, Stone-16 Elander S, Proietto J, Andrikopoulos S, Sjöholm A, Nash A, Eriksson U. Targeting VEGF-B as a novel treatment for insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Nature 2012; 490: 426-430 [PMID: 23023133 DOI: 10.1038/nature11464]
- 17 Robciuc MR, Kivelä R, Williams IM, de Boer JF, van Dijk TH, Elamaa H, Tigistu-Sahle F, Molotkov D, Leppänen VM, Käkelä R, Eklund L, Wasserman DH, Groen AK, Alitalo K. VEGFB/VEGFR1-Induced Expansion of Adipose Vasculature Counteracts Obesity and Related Metabolic Complications. Cell Metab 2016; 23: 712-724 [PMID: 27076080 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.03.004]
- Hu L, Shan Z, Wang F, Gao X, Tong Y. Vascular endothelial growth factor B exerts lipid-lowering effect by activating 18 AMPK via VEGFR1. Life Sci 2021; 276: 119401 [PMID: 33785341 DOI: 10.1016/j.lfs.2021.119401]
- 19 Makinen T, Olofsson B, Karpanen T, Hellman U, Soker S, Klagsbrun M, Eriksson U, Alitalo K. Differential binding of vascular endothelial growth factor B splice and proteolytic isoforms to neuropilin-1. J Biol Chem 1999; 274: 21217-21222 [PMID: 10409677 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.274.30.21217]
- 20 Lund AW, Medler TR, Leachman SA, Coussens LM. Lymphatic Vessels, Inflammation, and Immunity in Skin Cancer. Cancer Discov 2016; 6: 22-35 [PMID: 26552413 DOI: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0023]
- Kivelä R, Hemanthakumar KA, Vaparanta K, Robciuc M, Izumiya Y, Kidoya H, Takakura N, Peng X, Sawyer DB, 21 Elenius K, Walsh K, Alitalo K. Endothelial Cells Regulate Physiological Cardiomyocyte Growth via VEGFR2-Mediated Paracrine Signaling. Circulation 2019; 139: 2570-2584 [PMID: 30922063 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.036099]
- 22 Wan A, Rodrigues B. Endothelial cell-cardiomyocyte crosstalk in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Cardiovasc Res 2016; 111: 172-183 [PMID: 27288009 DOI: 10.1093/cvr/cvw159]
- Wang H, Yang Y, Yang M, Li X, Tan J, Wu Y, Zhang Y, Li Y, Hu B, Deng S, Yang F, Gao S, Li H, Yang Z, Chen H, Cai 23 W. Pigment Epithelial-Derived Factor Deficiency Accelerates Atherosclerosis Development via Promoting Endothelial Fatty Acid Uptake in Mice With Hyperlipidemia. J Am Heart Assoc 2019; 8: e013028 [PMID: 31711388 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.119.013028]
- Li X, Kumar A, Zhang F, Lee C, Tang Z. Complicated life, complicated VEGF-B. Trends Mol Med 2012; 18: 119-127 24 [PMID: 22178229 DOI: 10.1016/j.molmed.2011.11.006]
- Shang R, Lal N, Lee CS, Zhai Y, Puri K, Seira O, Boushel RC, Sultan I, Räsänen M, Alitalo K, Hussein B, Rodrigues B. 25 Cardiac-specific VEGFB overexpression reduces lipoprotein lipase activity and improves insulin action in rat heart. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2021; 321: E753-E765 [PMID: 34747201 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00219.2021]
- Wagenmakers AJ, Strauss JA, Shepherd SO, Keske MA, Cocks M. Increased muscle blood supply and transendothelial 26 nutrient and insulin transport induced by food intake and exercise: effect of obesity and ageing. J Physiol 2016; 594: 2207-2222 [PMID: 25627798 DOI: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.284513]
- Cordeiro A, Costa R, Andrade N, Silva C, Canabrava N, Pena MJ, Rodrigues I, Andrade S, Ramalho A. Does adipose 27 tissue inflammation drive the development of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in obesity? Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 2020; 44: 394-402 [PMID: 32044284 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinre.2019.10.001]
- Li R, Li Y, Yang X, Hu Y, Yu H. Reducing VEGFB accelerates NAFLD and insulin resistance in mice via inhibiting 28 AMPK signaling pathway. J Transl Med 2022; 20: 341 [PMID: 35907871 DOI: 10.1186/s12967-022-03540-2]
- Day CP, James OF. Steatohepatitis: a tale of two "hits"? Gastroenterology 1998; 114: 842-845 [PMID: 9547102 DOI: 29 10.1016/s0016-5085(98)70599-2]
- Li LJ, Ma J, Li SB, Chen X, Zhang J. Vascular endothelial growth factor B inhibits lipid accumulation in C2C12 30 myotubes incubated with fatty acids. Growth Factors 2019; 37: 76-84 [PMID: 31215273 DOI: 10.1080/08977194.2019.1626851]
- Chen Y, Zhao M, Wang C, Wen H, Zhang Y, Lu M, Adlat S, Zheng T, Zhang M, Li D, Lu X, Guo M, Chen H, Zhang L, 31 Feng X, Zheng Y. Adipose vascular endothelial growth factor B is a major regulator of energy metabolism. J Endocrinol 2020; 244: 511-521 [PMID: 31910156 DOI: 10.1530/JOE-19-0341]
- 32 Tong Y, Zhang Y, Shan Z, Xu Y, Gao X, Yao W. Improving high-fat diet-induced obesity and fatty liver by adipose tissue targeted delivery of vascular endothelial growth factor-B. Life Sci 2020; 253: 117677 [PMID: 32305525 DOI: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.117677]
- Zhao P, Sun X, Chaggan C, Liao Z, In Wong K, He F, Singh S, Loomba R, Karin M, Witztum JL, Saltiel AR. An AMPK-33 caspase-6 axis controls liver damage in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Science 2020; 367: 652-660 [PMID: 32029622 DOI: 10.1126/science.aay0542]
- 34 Harjes U, Bensaad K, Harris AL. Endothelial cell metabolism and implications for cancer therapy. Br J Cancer 2012; 107: 1207-1212 [PMID: 23047591 DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2012.398]



- Eichner LJ, Brun SN, Herzig S, Young NP, Curtis SD, Shackelford DB, Shokhirev MN, Leblanc M, Vera LI, Hutchins A, 35 Ross DS, Shaw RJ, Svensson RU. Genetic Analysis Reveals AMPK Is Required to Support Tumor Growth in Murine Kras-Dependent Lung Cancer Models. Cell Metab 2019; 29: 285-302.e7 [PMID: 30415923 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.10.005]
- Jin L, Chun J, Pan C, Kumar A, Zhang G, Ha Y, Li D, Alesi GN, Kang Y, Zhou L, Yu WM, Magliocca KR, Khuri FR, Qu 36 CK, Metallo C, Owonikoko TK, Kang S. The PLAG1-GDH1 Axis Promotes Anoikis Resistance and Tumor Metastasis through CamKK2-AMPK Signaling in LKB1-Deficient Lung Cancer. Mol Cell 2018; 69: 87-99.e7 [PMID: 29249655 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2017.11.025]
- Jia JD, Jiang WG, Luo X, Li RR, Zhao YC, Tian G, Li YN. Vascular endothelial growth factor B inhibits insulin secretion 37 in MIN6 cells and reduces Ca(2+) and cyclic adenosine monophosphate levels through PI3K/AKT pathway. World J Diabetes 2021; 12: 480-498 [PMID: 33889292 DOI: 10.4239/wjd.v12.i4.480]
- Contreras C, González-García I, Martínez-Sánchez N, Seoane-Collazo P, Jacas J, Morgan DA, Serra D, Gallego R, 38 Gonzalez F, Casals N, Nogueiras R, Rahmouni K, Diéguez C, López M. Central ceramide-induced hypothalamic lipotoxicity and ER stress regulate energy balance. Cell Rep 2014; 9: 366-377 [PMID: 25284795 DOI: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.08.057]
- Shimokawa I, Trindade LS. Dietary restriction and aging in rodents: a current view on its molecular mechanisms. Aging 39 Dis 2010; 1: 89-107 [PMID: 22396859]
- Herzig S, Shaw RJ. AMPK: guardian of metabolism and mitochondrial homeostasis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2018; 19: 121-40 135 [PMID: 28974774 DOI: 10.1038/nrm.2017.95]
- Gouw AM, Margulis K, Liu NS, Raman SJ, Mancuso A, Toal GG, Tong L, Mosley A, Hsieh AL, Sullivan DK, Stine ZE, 41 Altman BJ, Schulze A, Dang CV, Zare RN, Felsher DW. The MYC Oncogene Cooperates with Sterol-Regulated Element-Binding Protein to Regulate Lipogenesis Essential for Neoplastic Growth. Cell Metab 2019; 30: 556-572.e5 [PMID: 31447321 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2019.07.012]
- 42 Chalmers SA, Garcia SJ, Reynolds JA, Herlitz L, Putterman C. NF-kB signaling in myeloid cells mediates the pathogenesis of immune-mediated nephritis. J Autoimmun 2019; 98: 33-43 [PMID: 30612857 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaut.2018.11.004]
- Aqbi HF, Wallace M, Sappal S, Payne KK, Manjili MH. IFN-y orchestrates tumor elimination, tumor dormancy, tumor 43 escape, and progression. J Leukoc Biol 2018 [PMID: 29469956 DOI: 10.1002/JLB.5MIR0917-351R]
- Carroll EC, Jin L, Mori A, Muñoz-Wolf N, Oleszycka E, Moran HBT, Mansouri S, McEntee CP, Lambe E, Agger EM, 44 Andersen P, Cunningham C, Hertzog P, Fitzgerald KA, Bowie AG, Lavelle EC. The Vaccine Adjuvant Chitosan Promotes Cellular Immunity via DNA Sensor cGAS-STING-Dependent Induction of Type I Interferons. Immunity 2016; 44: 597-608 [PMID: 26944200 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.004]
- Gatti M, Zavatti M, Beretti F, Giuliani D, Vandini E, Ottani A, Bertucci E, Maraldi T. Oxidative Stress in Alzheimer's 45 Disease: In Vitro Therapeutic Effect of Amniotic Fluid Stem Cells Extracellular Vesicles. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2020; 2020: 2785343 [PMID: 33193997 DOI: 10.1155/2020/2785343]
- Vanwong N, Srisawasdi P, Ngamsamut N, Nuntamool N, Puangpetch A, Chamkrachangpada B, Hongkaew Y, Limsila P, 46 Kittitharaphan W, Sukasem C. Hyperuricemia in Children and Adolescents with Autism Spectrum Disorder Treated with Risperidone: The Risk Factors for Metabolic Adverse Effects. Front Pharmacol 2016; 7: 527 [PMID: 28105014 DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2016.00527
- Ortega HH, Veiga-Lopez A, Sreedharan S, del Luján Velázquez MM, Salvetti NR, Padmanabhan V. Developmental 47 Programming: Does Prenatal Steroid Excess Disrupt the Ovarian VEGF System in Sheep? Biol Reprod 2015; 93: 58 [PMID: 26178718 DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.115.131607]
- Kusuhara S, Fukushima Y, Ogura S, Inoue N, Uemura A. Pathophysiology of Diabetic Retinopathy: The Old and the 48 New. Diabetes Metab J 2018; 42: 364-376 [PMID: 30362302 DOI: 10.4093/dmj.2018.0182]
- Uemura A, Fruttiger M, D'Amore PA, De Falco S, Joussen AM, Sennlaub F, Brunck LR, Johnson KT, Lambrou GN, 49 Rittenhouse KD, Langmann T. VEGFR1 signaling in retinal angiogenesis and microinflammation. Prog Retin Eye Res 2021; 84: 100954 [PMID: 33640465 DOI: 10.1016/j.preteyeres.2021.100954]
- Mehlem A, Palombo I, Wang X, Hagberg CE, Eriksson U, Falkevall A. PGC-1a Coordinates Mitochondrial Respiratory 50 Capacity and Muscular Fatty Acid Uptake via Regulation of VEGF-B. Diabetes 2016; 65: 861-873 [PMID: 26822083 DOI: 10.2337/db15-12311
- Cao Z, Zhao H, Fan J, Shen Y, Han L, Jing G, Zeng X, Jin X, Zhu Z, Bian Q, Nan Y, Hu X, Mei X, Ju D, Yang P. 51 Simultaneous blockade of VEGF-B and IL-17A ameliorated diabetic kidney disease by reducing ectopic lipid deposition and alleviating inflammation response. Cell Death Discov 2023; 9: 8 [PMID: 36646672 DOI: 10.1038/s41420-023-01304-5
- Shen Y, Chen W, Han L, Bian Q, Fan J, Cao Z, Jin X, Ding T, Xian Z, Guo Z, Zhang W, Ju D, Mei X. VEGF-B antibody 52 and interleukin-22 fusion protein ameliorates diabetic nephropathy through inhibiting lipid accumulation and inflammatory responses. Acta Pharm Sin B 2021; 11: 127-142 [PMID: 33532185 DOI: 10.1016/j.apsb.2020.07.002]
- 53 Tilg H, Moschen AR. Evolution of inflammation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: the multiple parallel hits hypothesis. Hepatology 2010; 52: 1836-1846 [PMID: 21038418 DOI: 10.1002/hep.24001]
- $\textbf{Xu} \textbf{Y}, \textbf{Zalzala} \textbf{M}, \textbf{Xu} \textbf{J}, \textbf{Li} \textbf{Y}, \textbf{Yin} \textbf{L}, \textbf{Zhang} \textbf{Y}. \textbf{A} metabolic stress-inducible miR-34a-HNF4} a pathway regulates lipid and$ 54 lipoprotein metabolism. Nat Commun 2015; 6: 7466 [PMID: 26100857 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms8466]
- Tanaka Y, Shimanaka Y, Caddeo A, Kubo T, Mao Y, Kubota T, Kubota N, Yamauchi T, Mancina RM, Baselli G, 55 Luukkonen P, Pihlajamäki J, Yki-Järvinen H, Valenti L, Arai H, Romeo S, Kono N. LPIAT1/MBOAT7 depletion increases triglyceride synthesis fueled by high phosphatidylinositol turnover. Gut 2021; 70: 180-193 [PMID: 32253259 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-320646]
- Gong Y, Liu J, Xue Y, Zhuang Z, Qian S, Zhou W, Li X, Qian J, Ding G, Sun Z. Non-monotonic dose-response effects of 56 arsenic on glucose metabolism. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2019; 377: 114605 [PMID: 31170414 DOI: 10.1016/j.taap.2019.114605
- Welty FK, Alfaddagh A, Elajami TK. Targeting inflammation in metabolic syndrome. Transl Res 2016; 167: 257-280 57



[PMID: 26207884 DOI: 10.1016/j.trsl.2015.06.017]

- Yang S, Wu M, Li X, Zhao R, Zhao Y, Liu L, Wang S. Role of Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress in Atherosclerosis and Its 58 Potential as a Therapeutic Target. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2020; 2020: 9270107 [PMID: 32963706 DOI: 10.1155/2020/9270107]
- Li X, Wang J, Gong X, Zhang M, Kang S, Shu B, Wei Z, Huang ZS, Li D. Upregulation of BCL-2 by acridone derivative 59 through gene promoter i-motif for alleviating liver damage of NAFLD/NASH. Nucleic Acids Res 2020; 48: 8255-8268 [PMID: 32710621 DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkaa615]
- Williams LJ, Nye BG, Wende AR. Diabetes-Related Cardiac Dysfunction. Endocrinol Metab (Seoul) 2017; 32: 171-179 60 [PMID: 28685508 DOI: 10.3803/EnM.2017.32.2.171]
- Dai W, Zeller C, Masrour N, Siddiqui N, Paul J, Brown R. Promoter CpG island methylation of genes in key cancer 61 pathways associates with clinical outcome in high-grade serous ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2013; 19: 5788-5797 [PMID: 23965899 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-1217]
- Kelley CE, Brown AJ, Diehl AM, Setji TL. Review of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in women with polycystic ovary 62 syndrome. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 14172-14184 [PMID: 25339805 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i39.14172]
- Rudnicki M, Abdifarkosh G, Rezvan O, Nwadozi E, Roudier E, Haas TL. Female Mice Have Higher Angiogenesis in 63 Perigonadal Adipose Tissue Than Males in Response to High-Fat Diet. Front Physiol 2018; 9: 1452 [PMID: 30405427 DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01452]
- 64 Ning FC, Jensen N, Mi J, Lindström W, Balan M, Muhl L, Eriksson U, Nilsson I, Nyqvist D. VEGF-B ablation in pancreatic β -cells upregulates insulin expression without affecting glucose homeostasis or islet lipid uptake. Sci Rep 2020; 10: 923 [PMID: 31969592 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-57599-2]
- 65 Hagberg CE, Falkevall A, Wang X, Larsson E, Huusko J, Nilsson I, van Meeteren LA, Samen E, Lu L, Vanwildemeersch M, Klar J, Genove G, Pietras K, Stone-Elander S, Claesson-Welsh L, Ylä-Herttuala S, Lindahl P, Eriksson U. Vascular endothelial growth factor B controls endothelial fatty acid uptake. Nature 2010; 464: 917-921 [PMID: 20228789 DOI: 10.1038/nature08945
- Falkevall A, Mehlem A, Folestad E, Ning FC, Osorio-Conles Ó, Radmann R, de Hollanda A, Wright SD, Scotney P, Nash 66 A, Eriksson U. Inhibition of VEGF-B signaling prevents non-alcoholic fatty liver disease development by targeting lipolysis in the white adipose tissue. J Hepatol 2023; 78: 901-913 [PMID: 36717026 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2023.01.014]



W J H World Journal of Hepatology Hepatology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Hepatol 2023 June 27; 15(6): 797-812

DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.797

Retrospective Study

ISSN 1948-5182 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Acute pancreatitis in liver transplant hospitalizations: Identifying national trends, clinical outcomes and healthcare burden in the **United States**

Dushyant Singh Dahiya, Vinay Jahagirdar, Saurabh Chandan, Manesh Kumar Gangwani, Nooraldin Merza, Hassam Ali, Smit Deliwala, Muhammad Aziz, Daryl Ramai, Bhanu Siva Mohan Pinnam, Jay Bapaye, Chin-I Cheng, Sumant Inamdar, Neil R Sharma, Mohammad Al-Haddad

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology	Dushyant Singh Dahiya , Department of Internal Medicine, Central Michigan University College of Medicine, Saginaw, MI 48601, United States
Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer	Vinay Jahagirdar, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Missouri-Kansas City, Kansas City, MO 64110, United States
reviewed. Peer-review model: Single blind	Saurabh Chandan, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, CHI Creighton University Medical Center, Omaha, NE 68131, United States
Peer-review report's scientific quality classification	Manesh Kumar Gangwani, Nooraldin Merza, Department of Internal Medicine, The University of Toledo, Toledo, OH 43606, United States
Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade G (Good): C	Hassam Ali, Department of Internal Medicine, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC 27858, United States
Grade C (Good). C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0	Smit Deliwala , Division of Digestive Diseases, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA 30322, United States
P-Reviewer: Mogahed EA, Egypt; Sahin TT, Turkey	Muhammad Aziz, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, The University of Toledo, Toledo, OH 43606, United States
Received: March 15, 2023 Peer-review started: March 15, 2023	Daryl Ramai, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, The University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT 84112, United States
First decision: April 10, 2023 Revised: April 19, 2023	Bhanu Siva Mohan Pinnam, Department of Internal Medicine, John H. Stroger Hospital of Cook County, Chicago, IL 60612, United States
Article in press: May 6, 2023 Published online: June 27, 2023	Jay Bapaye, Department of Internal Medicine, Rochester General Hospital, Rochester, NY 14621, United States
	Chin-I Cheng, Department of Statistics, Actuarial and Data Science, Central Michigan University, Mt. Pleasant, MI 48859, United States
	Sumant Inamdar, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University of Arkansas for

Neil R Sharma, Interventional Oncology and Surgical Endoscopy Programs, Parkview Cancer



Institute, Fort Wayne, IN 46845, United States

Mohammad Al-Haddad, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, IN 46202, United States

Corresponding author: Dushyant Singh Dahiya, MD, Doctor, Department of Internal Medicine, Central Michigan University College of Medicine, 1015 S Washington Ave, Third Floor, Saginaw, MI 48601, United States. dush.dahiya@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Acute pancreatitis (AP) in liver transplant (LT) recipients may lead to poor clinical outcomes and development of severe complications.

AIM

We aimed to assess national trends, clinical outcomes, and the healthcare burden of LT hospitalizations with AP in the United States (US).

METHODS

The National Inpatient Sample was utilized to identify all adult (≥ 18 years old) LT hospitalizations with AP in the US from 2007-2019. Non-LT AP hospitalizations served as controls for comparative analysis. National trends of hospitalization characteristics, clinical outcomes, complications, and healthcare burden for LT hospitalizations with AP were highlighted. Hospitalization characteristics, clinical outcomes, complications, and healthcare burden were also compared between the LT and non-LT cohorts. Furthermore, predictors of inpatient mortality for LT hospitalizations with AP were identified. All *P* values ≤ 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

The total number of LT hospitalizations with AP increased from 305 in 2007 to 610 in 2019. There was a rising trend of Hispanic (16.5% in 2007 to 21.1% in 2018, P-trend = 0.0009) and Asian (4.3% in 2007 to 7.4% in 2019, p-trend = 0.0002) LT hospitalizations with AP, while a decline was noted for Blacks (11% in 2007 to 8.3% in 2019, P-trend = 0.0004). Furthermore, LT hospitalizations with AP had an increasing comorbidity burden as the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) score \geq 3 increased from 41.64% in 2007 to 62.30% in 2019 (P-trend < 0.0001). We did not find statistically significant trends in inpatient mortality, mean length of stay (LOS), and mean total healthcare charge (THC) for LT hospitalizations with AP despite rising trends of complications such as sepsis, acute kidney failure (AKF), acute respiratory failure (ARF), abdominal abscesses, portal vein thrombosis (PVT), and venous thromboembolism (VTE). Between 2007-2019, 6863 LT hospitalizations with AP were compared to 5649980 non-LT AP hospitalizations. LT hospitalizations with AP were slightly older (53.5 vs 52.6 years, P = 0.017) and had a higher proportion of patients with $CCI \ge 3$ (51.5% vs 19.8%, P < 0.0001) compared to the non-LT cohort. Additionally, LT hospitalizations with AP had a higher proportion of Whites (67.9% vs 64.6%, P < 0.0001) and Asians (4% vs 2.3%, P < 0.0001), while the non-LT cohort had a higher proportion of Blacks and Hispanics. Interestingly, LT hospitalizations with AP had lower inpatient mortality (1.37% vs 2.16%, P =0.0479) compared to the non-LT cohort despite having a higher mean age, CCI scores, and complications such as AKF, PVT, VTE, and the need for blood transfusion. However, LT hospitalizations with AP had a higher mean THC (\$59596 vs \$50466, P = 0.0429) than the non-LT cohort.

CONCLUSION

In the US, LT hospitalizations with AP were on the rise, particularly for Hispanics and Asians. However, LT hospitalizations with AP had lower inpatient mortality compared to non-LT AP hospitalizations.

Key Words: Liver transplantation; Pancreatitis; Mortality; Cost; Length of stay

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Liver transplant (LT) is a lifesaving intervention for patients with end-stage liver disease. Acute pancreatitis (AP) in LT recipients may lead to poor clinical outcomes and development of severe complications. In this study, we noted an increase in LT hospitalizations with AP at a national level from 305 in 2007 to 610 in 2019 with a rising trend for Hispanics and Asians. However, there was no trend for inpatient mortality, mean length of stay and mean total healthcare charge. After a comparative analysis, LT hospitalizations with AP had lower inpatient mortality compared to the non-LT cohort despite a higher mean age, comorbidity burden, and presence of complications.

Citation: Dahiya DS, Jahagirdar V, Chandan S, Gangwani MK, Merza N, Ali H, Deliwala S, Aziz M, Ramai D, Pinnam BSM, Bapaye J, Cheng CI, Inamdar S, Sharma NR, Al-Haddad M. Acute pancreatitis in liver transplant hospitalizations: Identifying national trends, clinical outcomes and healthcare burden in the United States. *World J Hepatol* 2023; 15(6): 797-812

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5182/full/v15/i6/797.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.797

INTRODUCTION

Acute pancreatitis (AP), an inflammatory response to injury of the pancreas, is one of the leading causes of hospitalization amongst gastrointestinal disorders in the United States (US). In the general population, the incidence of AP is estimated to be 40-50 per 100000 persons and there are approximately 275000 AP hospitalizations annually in the US[1,2]. Risk factors implicated in the development of AP include cholelithiasis, heavy alcohol use (4-5 drinks daily for > 5 years), hypertriglyceridemia (> 1000 mg/dL), smoking, medications, autoimmune diseases, genetic predispositions, blunt/penetrating abdominal trauma, viral infections, and therapeutic endoscopic procedures such as endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP), among others[3-10]. The pathogenesis of AP is multifactorial, but ultimately involves the unregulated activation of proteolytic enzymes within the pancreas eventually leading to pancreatic ductal obstruction, subsequent inflammation, and in severe cases a systemic-inflammatory response syndrome[11]. The characteristic clinical features of AP include nausea, vomiting, loss of appetite, and epigastric abdominal pain radiating to the back[12]. A diagnosis of AP can be established by the presence of any two of the following three criteria: (1) Characteristic epigastric abdominal pain; (2) serum lipase and/or amylase greater than three times the upper limit of normal; and (3) evidence of AP on abdominal imaging[13]. Over the years, AP hospitalizations are on a rise in the US, with mortality rates ranging from 1%-2% and over 2.5 billion dollars being spent annually on healthcare costs[1,14].

Liver transplant (LT) has revolutionized management for chronic end-stage liver disease with excellent results. Since the first LT in 1967, the procedure has saved close to 500000 Life-years among patients with acute fulminant hepatic failure, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), and end-stage liver disease[15,16]. The recipients of the procedure have excellent survival rates. Per the Scientific Registry of Transplant Recipients data, the overall patient survival rate after deceased donor LT was 90% and 77% at 1 year and 5 years, respectively[17]. Moreover, the graft survival rate at 1 year and 5 years after LT was noted to be 89.6% and 72.8%, respectively[18].

AP is an important risk factor for poor surgical outcomes in patients with LT. Studies have reported an incidence rate ranging from 3%-8% for post-LT pancreatitis[19,20]. Common risk factors implicated in the development of post-LT pancreatitis include hepatitis B infection as an indication of transplant, re-transplantation, duration of venous bypass, hypotension with longer procedural time, utilization of ERCP, type of biliary reconstruction, intraoperative calcium chloride administration, and use of an aorto-hepatic graft[19,21,22]. Additionally, surgical manipulation, immunosuppression, infections, and biliary complications before LT may also increase the risk of developing post-LT pancreatitis[23]. In LT recipients, peri-transplant pancreatitis is associated with a two-fold increased risk of mortality[24]. Furthermore, early AP in LT recipients (within 1-2 mo of LT) may have mortality rates as high as 67% [25]. Given the acute-organ shortage worldwide, we must identify LT hospitalizations at high risk of developing AP to maximize patient survival.

Although studies investigating post-LT pancreatitis currently exist, they are primarily limited to small single-center experiences [19,20,22,25-27]. Hence, this study was designed to investigate trends in hospitalization characteristics and clinical outcomes for LT hospitalizations with AP. Furthermore, we performed a comparative analysis between LT and non-LT hospitalizations with AP to determine the influence of LT on clinical outcomes and healthcare burden. Predictors of inpatient mortality for LT hospitalizations with AP were also identified.

Zaishidena® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Design and data source

This retrospective study derived the study population from the National Inpatient Sample (NIS) for 2007-2019 which was coded using the International Classification of Diseases, 9th and 10th Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9/10- CM) diagnosis codes, and procedure codes. The NIS, maintained by the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP), is one of the largest, publicly available, multi-ethnic databases in the US. HCUP is a family of healthcare databases, related software tools, and products developed through a Federal-State-Industry partnership and sponsored by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. The NIS enables medical researchers to analyze data on more than seven million hospital stays each year in the US. It approximates a 20-percent stratified sample of all discharges from US community hospitals, excluding rehabilitation and long-term acute care hospitals. The NIS database is publicly available at: https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/.

Study population and outcome measures

We utilized the NIS to identify all adult (≥ 18 years old) LT hospitalizations with AP in the US from 2007-2019. National trends of hospitalization characteristics, clinical outcomes, complications, and the healthcare burden were highlighted. Furthermore, non-LT AP hospitalizations served as controls for a comparative analysis of hospitalization characteristics, clinical outcomes, complications, and the healthcare burden with the LT cohort. Predictors of inpatient mortality for LT hospitalizations with AP were also identified.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted using SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC, United States) to account for weights in the stratified survey design of the NIS. During the statistical estimating process, weights were considered by incorporating the variables for strata, weight to discharges and cluster. Descriptive statistics including mean (± standard error) for continuous variables, and count (%) for categorical variables were provided after statistical analysis. The Cochran-Armitage trend tests were implemented to test the trends for proportions of binary variables. The trends for the averages of age, mean length of stay (LOS) and mean total healthcare charge (THC) were examined by using linear regression. The Rao-Scott design-adjusted chi-square test examined the association between binary variables in LT and non-LT hospitalizations with AP. F-statistics from the weighted regression model was used to test the differences in age, mean LOS, and mean THC in LT and non-LT hospitalizations with AP. Adjusted hazard ratios with 95% confidence interval were obtained through Cox proportional hazards regression to identify factors that influenced mortality. All analytical results were considered statistically significant when *P* values were less than or equal to 0.05.

Ethical considerations

The NIS database lacks patient and hospital-specific identifiers to protect patient privacy and maintain anonymity. Hence, our study was exempt from Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval as per guidelines put forth by our IRB for analysis of database studies.

RESULTS

Trends of hospitalization characteristics for LT hospitalizations with AP

There was an increase in the total number of LT hospitalizations with AP from 305 in 2007 to 610 in 2019. We did not find a statistically significant trend for gender or mean age; however, there was an increasing trend of LT hospitalizations with AP for patients aged \geq 65 years (Table 1). Furthermore, LT hospitalizations with AP had an increasing comorbidity burden as the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) score \geq 3 increased from 41.64% in 2007 to 62.30% in 2019 (P-trend < 0.0001). Interestingly, we also noted a rising trend of LT hospitalizations with AP from 58.89% in 2007 to 82.79% in 2019 at urban teaching hospitals.

Racial differences in the trends of LT hospitalizations with AP were apparent. Whites made up a majority of the study cohort (Table 1) without a statistically significant trend. We noted an overall increasing trend of Hispanic (16.49% in 2007 to 21.09% in 2018, P-trend = 0.0009) and Asian (4.27% in 2007 to 7.44% in 2019, P-trend = 0.0009) LT hospitalizations with AP (Table 1 and Figure 1). However, Black LT hospitalizations with AP had a declining trend from 11% to 8.26%, P-trend = 0.0004) (Table 1).

Trends of clinical outcomes, healthcare burden and complications for LT hospitalizations with AP

We did not find a statistically significant trend for inpatient mortality, mean LOS, and mean THC for LT hospitalizations with AP (Table 2). However, we observed a rising trend of complications such as sepsis (1.25% in 2007 to 18.03% in 2019, P-trend < 0.0001), acute kidney failure (AKF) (17.13% to 34.43%, Ptrend < 0.0001), acute respiratory failure (ARF) (1.44% to 6.56%, P-trend = 0.0002), abdominal abscesses



Table 1 Trends of hospitalization characteristics for liver transplant hospitalizations with acute pancreatitis in the United States from 2007–2019, n (%)

Epidemiologicalvariable	Years													Trend (P value)
	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	
Total number of hospitalizations	305	600	550	520	453	590	455	500	460	650	505	665	610	
Mean age in yr (standard error)	53.08 (1.52)	51.00 (1.35)	52.01 (1.59)	51.32 (1.45)	51.79 (1.49)	52.02 (1.10)	52.86 (1.20)	55.16 (1.22)	50.27 (1.31)	51.84 (1.11)	53.70 (1.26)	53.32 (1.12)	54.73 (1.20)	No trend (0.1256)
Age groups (yr)														
18-34	30 (9.94)	82 (13.62)	76 (13.77)	62 (11.90)	50 (11.07)	80 (13.56)	45 (9.89)	55 (11.00)	90 (19.57)	105 (16.15)	50 (9.90)	70 (10.53)	55 (9.02)	No trend (0.1345)
35-49	61 (19.82)	180 (29.97)	117 (21.38)	111 (21.37)	84 (18.46)	145 (24.58)	100 (21.98)	90 (18.00)	115 (25.00)	120 (18.46)	100 (19.80)	185 (27.82)	165 (27.05)	No trend (0.2379)
50-64	164 (53.56)	236 (39.30)	270 (49.09)	281 (54.15)	276 (60.97)	280 (47.46)	255 (56.04)	225 (45.00)	170 (36.96)	295 (45.38)	260 (51.49)	265 (39.85)	200 (32.79)	Decrease (< 0.0001)
65-79	46 (14.90)	103 (17.12)	87 (15.76)	62 (11.86)	38 (8.40)	85 (14.41)	55 (12.09)	120 (24.00)	75 (16.30)	125 (19.23)	85 (16.83)	135 (20.30)	190 (31.15)	Increase (< 0.0001)
≥ 80	< 11 (1.78)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	< 11 (0.71)	< 11 (1.09)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	< 11 (2.00)	< 11 (2.17)	< 11 (0.77)	< 11 (1.98)	< 11 (1.50)	0 (0.00)	Increase (0.0157)
Gender														
Male	163 (53.30)	278 (46.32)	311 (56.61)	328 (63.08)	270 (59.48)	325 (55.08)	260 (57.14)	235 (47.00)	275 (59.78)	380 (58.46)	270 (53.47)	370 (55.64)	340 (55.74)	No trend (0.1383)
Female	143 (46.70)	322 (53.68)	238 (43.39)	192 (36.92)	184 (40.52)	265 (44.92)	195 (42.86)	265 (53.00)	185 (40.22)	270 (41.54)	235 (46.53)	295 (44.36)	270 (44.26)	No trend (0.1383)
Race														
White	139 (59.81)	387 (72.63)	310 (66.45)	322 (66.37)	285 (71.89)	395 (71.17)	290 (65.91)	375 (78.95)	265 (61.63)	390 (64.46)	360 (75.00)	385 (60.16)	405 (66.94)	No trend (0.0517)
Black	26 (11.00)	48 (9.04)	69 (14.68)	99 (20.39)	58 (14.49)	35 (6.31)	45 (10.23)	40 (8.42)	20 (4.65)	90 (14.88)	50 (10.42)	60 (9.38)	50 (8.26)	Decrease (0.0004)
Hispanic	38 (16.49)	63 (11.85)	54 (11.58)	43 (8.80)	39 (9.75)	65 (11.71)	70 (15.91)	35 (7.37)	95 (22.09)	80 (13.22)	35 (7.29)	135 (21.09)	80 (13.22)	Increase (0.0009)
Asian	< 11 (4.27)	20 (3.77)	0 (0.00)	11 (2.19)	< 11 (2.57)	35 (6.31)	20 (4.55)	15 (3.16)	20 (4.65)	30 (4.96)	< 11 (2.08)	25 (3.91)	45 (7.44)	Increase (0.0002)
Other	20 (8.42)	14 (2.71)	34 (7.28)	11 (2.26)	< 11 (1.31)	25 (4.50)	15 (3.41)	< 11 (2.11)	30 (6.98)	15 (2.48)	25 (5.21)	35 (5.47)	25 (4.13)	No trend (0.406)
CCI														
CCI = 1	130 (42.71)	232 (38.75)	174 (31.68)	147 (28.25)	138 (30.35)	185 (31.36)	130 (28.57)	155 (31.00)	150 (32.61)	160 (24.62)	120 (23.76)	160 (24.06)	145 (23.77)	Decrease (< 0.0001)
CCI = 2	48 (15.65)	101 (16.81)	106 (19.32)	155 (29.77)	61 (13.38)	115 (19.49)	115 (25.27)	130 (26.00)	90 (19.57)	110 (16.92)	75 (14.85)	115 (17.29)	85 (13.93)	Decrease (0.0036)
CCI≥3	127 (41.64)	267 (44.44)	269 (49.01)	218 (41.98)	255 (56.27)	290 (49.15)	210 (46.15)	215 (43.00)	220 (47.83)	380 (58.46)	310 (61.39)	390 (58.65)	380 (62.30)	Increase (< 0.0001)
Hospital region														

801

Northeast	36 (11.70)	209 (34.76)	82 (14.99)	61 (11.73)	89 (19.75)	100 (16.95)	60 (13.19)	35 (7.00)	65 (14.13)	95 (14.62)	115 (22.77)	115 (17.29)	85 (13.93)	Decrease (< 0.0001)
Midwest	64 (20.97)	98 (16.26)	213 (38.69)	134 (25.71)	144 (31.79)	130 (22.03)	125 (27.47)	140 (28.00)	130 (28.26)	125 (19.23)	130 (25.74)	140 (21.05)	130 (21.31)	Decrease (0.0063)
South	105 (34.47)	121 (20.22)	119 (21.68)	244 (47.04)	169 (37.29)	185 (31.36)	180 (39.56)	205 (41.00)	170 (36.96)	270 (41.54)	145 (28.71)	265 (39.85)	230 (37.70)	Increase (< 0.0001)
West	100 (32.86)	173 (28.77)	135 (24.64)	81 (15.52)	51 (11.18)	175 (29.66)	90 (19.78)	120 (24.00)	95 (20.65)	160 (24.62)	115 (22.77)	145 (21.80)	165 (27.05)	No trend (0.2338)
Hospital bed-size														
Small	43 (13.91)	48 (7.97)	23 (4.59)	34 (6.64)	23 (5.15)	30 (5.08)	60 (13.19)	45 (9.00)	65 (14.13)	60 (9.23)	40 (7.92)	90 (13.53)	85 (13.93)	Increase (< 0.0001)
Medium	68 (22.16)	93 (15.44)	103 (20.26)	91 (17.70)	58 (13.10)	120 (20.34)	75 (16.48)	135 (27.00)	100 (21.74)	120 (18.46)	120 (23.76)	195 (29.32)	155 (25.41)	Increase (< 0.0001)
Large	195 (63.93)	459 (76.59)	381 (75.16)	389 (75.67)	363 (81.75)	440 (74.58)	320 (70.33)	320 (64.00)	295 (64.13)	470 (72.31)	345 (68.32)	380 (57.14)	370 (60.66)	Decrease (< 0.0001)
Hospital location and teaching status														
Rural	18 (5.97)	57 (9.51)	20 (3.98)	41 (7.98)	35 (7.95)	65 (11.02)	30 (6.59)	45 (9.00)	35 (7.61)	35 (5.38)	15 (2.97)	65 (9.77)	25 (4.10)	Decrease (0.0238)
Urban nonteaching	107 (35.14)	145 (24.21)	171 (33.68)	156 (30.35)	84 (18.89)	190 (32.20)	140 (30.77)	70 (14.00)	85 (18.48)	125 (19.23)	110 (21.78)	110 (16.54)	80 (13.11)	Decrease (< 0.0001)
Urban teaching														
	180 (58.89)	398 (66.28)	316 (62.34)	317 (61.67)	325 (73.16)	335 (56.78)	285 (62.64)	385 (77.00)	340 (73.91)	490 (75.38)	380 (75.25)	490 (73.68)	505 (82.79)	Increase (< 0.0001)
Disposition	180 (58.89)	398 (66.28)	316 (62.34)	317 (61.67)	325 (73.16)	335 (56.78)	285 (62.64)	385 (77.00)	340 (73.91)	490 (75.38)	380 (75.25)	490 (73.68)	505 (82.79)	Increase (< 0.0001)
Disposition Discharge Home	180 (58.89) 276 (90.47)	398 (66.28) 473 (78.88)	316 (62.34) 397 (72.25)	317 (61.67) 359 (69.05)	325 (73.16) 333 (73.51)	335 (56.78) 440 (74.58)	285 (62.64) 345 (75.82)	385 (77.00) 395 (79.00)	340 (73.91) 375 (81.52)	490 (75.38) 525 (80.77)	380 (75.25) 370 (73.27)	490 (73.68) 490 (73.68)	505 (82.79) 455 (74.59)	Increase (< 0.0001) No trend (0.1111)
Disposition Discharge Home Transfer to short-term hospital	180 (58.89) 276 (90.47) < 11 (3.06)	398 (66.28) 473 (78.88) 46 (7.74)	316 (62.34) 397 (72.25) 37 (6.72)	317 (61.67) 359 (69.05) 68 (13.01)	325 (73.16) 333 (73.51) 35 (7.81)	335 (56.78) 440 (74.58) 50 (8.47)	285 (62.64) 345 (75.82) 25 (5.49)	385 (77.00) 395 (79.00) 35 (7.00)	340 (73.91) 375 (81.52) 40 (8.70)	490 (75.38) 525 (80.77) 30 (4.62)	380 (75.25) 370 (73.27) 60 (11.88)	490 (73.68) 490 (73.68) 30 (4.51)	505 (82.79) 455 (74.59) 35 (5.74)	Increase (< 0.0001) No trend (0.1111) No trend (0.0657)
Disposition Discharge Home Transfer to short-term hospital Transfer to another facility (Includes SNF and ICF)	180 (58.89) 276 (90.47) < 11 (3.06) < 11 (3.25)	398 (66.28) 473 (78.88) 46 (7.74) 20 (3.28)	 316 (62.34) 397 (72.25) 37 (6.72) 34 (6.11) 	 317 (61.67) 359 (69.05) 68 (13.01) 26 (5.09) 	325 (73.16) 333 (73.51) 35 (7.81) 13 (2.97)	335 (56.78) 440 (74.58) 50 (8.47) 25 (4.24)	285 (62.64) 345 (75.82) 25 (5.49) < 11 (2.20)	385 (77.00) 395 (79.00) 35 (7.00) < 11 (1.00)	340 (73.91) 375 (81.52) 40 (8.70) 10 (2.17)	490 (75.38) 525 (80.77) 30 (4.62) 45 (6.92)	380 (75.25) 370 (73.27) 60 (11.88) < 11 (0.99)	490 (73.68) 490 (73.68) 30 (4.51) 70 (10.53)	505 (82.79) 455 (74.59) 35 (5.74) 15 (2.46)	Increase (< 0.0001) No trend (0.1111) No trend (0.0657) No trend (0.0532)
Disposition Discharge Home Transfer to short-term hospital Transfer to another facility (Includes SNF and ICF) Home health care	180 (58.89) 276 (90.47) < 11 (3.06) < 11 (3.25) < 11 (3.22)	398 (66.28) 473 (78.88) 46 (7.74) 20 (3.28) 30 (5.07)	 316 (62.34) 397 (72.25) 37 (6.72) 34 (6.11) 51 (9.32) 	 317 (61.67) 359 (69.05) 68 (13.01) 26 (5.09) 62 (11.87) 	325 (73.16) 333 (73.51) 35 (7.81) 13 (2.97) 42 (9.25)	335 (56.78) 440 (74.58) 50 (8.47) 25 (4.24) 60 (10.17)	285 (62.64) 345 (75.82) 25 (5.49) < 11 (2.20) 60 (13.19)	385 (77.00) 395 (79.00) 35 (7.00) < 11 (1.00) 50 (10.00)	340 (73.91) 375 (81.52) 40 (8.70) 10 (2.17) 30 (6.52)	490 (75.38) 525 (80.77) 30 (4.62) 45 (6.92) 45 (6.92)	380 (75.25) 370 (73.27) 60 (11.88) < 11 (0.99) 55 (10.89)	490 (73.68) 490 (73.68) 30 (4.51) 70 (10.53) 55 (8.27)	505 (82.79) 455 (74.59) 35 (5.74) 15 (2.46) 60 (9.84)	Increase (< 0.0001) No trend (0.1111) No trend (0.0657) No trend (0.0532) Increase (0.0426)

CCI: Charlson comorbidity index; ICF: Intermediate care facility; SNF: Skilled nursing facility.

(0% in 2007 to 0.82% in 2019, P-trend = 0.0006), portal vein thrombosis (PVT) (0% to 4.10%, P-trend < 0.0001) and venous thromboembolism (VTE) (1.82% to 7.38%, P-trend < 0.0001) for LT hospitalizations with AP. Moreover, there was a decline in the need for blood transfusion from 6.09% in 2007 to 0% in 2019 (P-trend < 0.0001) for LT hospitalizations with AP.

Table 2 Trends of outcomes for liver transplant hospitalizations with acute pancreatitis in the United States from 2007–2019, n (%)														
Outcomes		Years												Trend (P value)
	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	-
Inpatient mortality	0 (0.00)	< 11 (0.87)	20 (3.60)	0 (0.00)	24 (5.35)	< 11 (0.85)	0 (0.00)	< 11 (1.00)	0 (0.00)	< 11 (0.77)	< 11 (1.98)	0 (0.00)	20 (3.28)	No trend (0.3879)
Length of stay (d)	5.62	5.44	7.09	6.02	7.85	5.40	8.53	4.53	4.86	7.33	6.62	6.23	4.55	No trend (0.6905)
Total healthcare charge (\$)	36413	53418	50432	53115	68247	42107	95774	41613	42319	79746	80479	65054	56011	No trend (0.1946)
Complications														
Pancreatic psuedocyst	< 11 (3.41)	35 (5.88)	34 (6.13)	26 (5.06)	14 (3.01)	< 11 (1.69)	20 (4.40)	< 11 (2.00)	< 11 (1.09)	20 (3.08)	0 (0.00)	50 (7.52)	30 (4.92)	No trend (0.1273)
Abdominal abscess	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	11 (2.07)	< 11 (1.00)	0 (0.00)	< 11 (1.10)	< 11 (1.00)	0 (0.00)	< 11 (0.77)	0 (0.00)	20 (3.01)	< 11 (0.82)	Increase (0.0006)
Sepsis	< 11 (1.25)	41 (6.91)	46 (8.37)	30 (5.69)	32 (7.15)	20 (3.39)	35 (7.69)	30 (6.00)	40 (8.70)	60 (9.23)	55 (10.89)	70 (10.53)	110 (18.03)	Increase (< 0.0001)
Acute renal failure	52 (17.13)	121 (20.10)	149 (27.09)	123 (23.74)	143 (31.62)	160 (27.12)	130 (28.57)	145 (29.00)	155 (33.70)	205 (31.54)	180 (35.64)	245 (36.84)	210 (34.43)	Increase (< 0.0001)
Acute respiratory failure	< 11 (1.44)	37 (6.10)	21 (3.79)	21 (4.06)	28 (6.28)	0 (0.00)	15 (3.30)	< 11 (2.00)	25 (5.43)	55 (8.46)	20 (3.96)	40 (6.02)	40 (6.56)	Increase (0.0002)
Need for blood transfusion	19 (6.09)	72 (12.03)	33 (6.10)	40 (7.61)	91 (20.09)	95 (16.10)	45 (9.89)	35 (7.00)	30 (6.52)	20 (3.08)	20 (3.96)	25 (3.76)	0 (0.00)	Decrease (< 0.0001)
Portal vein thrombosis	0 (0.00)	< 11 (1.69)	< 11 (0.86)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	< 11 (1.10)	< 11 (2.00)	< 11 (1.09)	15 (2.31)	15 (2.97)	15 (2.26)	25 (4.10)	Increase (< 0.0001)
Venous thromboembolism	< 11 (1.82)	< 11 (0.85)	35 (6.29)	16 (3.02)	< 11 (1.00)	< 11 (1.69)	< 11 (1.10)	< 11 (1.00)	< 11 (2.17)	25 (3.85)	25 (4.95%)	50 (7.52)	45 (7.38)	Increase (< 0.0001)

Comparative analysis of hospitalization characteristics for LT and non-LT hospitalizations with AP

Between 2007–2019, there were 6863 LT hospitalizations with AP which were compared to 5649980 non-LT AP hospitalizations. LT hospitalizations with AP had a slightly higher mean age (53.5 *vs* 52.55 years, P = 0.017) compared to the non-LT cohort. Furthermore, LT hospitalizations with AP also had a higher proportion of males (55.43% *vs* 51.13%, P = 0.0046) and patients with a CCI score ≥ 3 (51.46% *vs* 19.76%, P < 0.0001) compared to non-LT hospitalizations (Table 3). A majority of LT hospitalizations with AP were at large (69.47%), urban teaching (69.73%) hospitals.

Racial differences were observed between the LT and non-LT cohorts. We noted a higher proportion of Whites (67.91% *vs* 64.57%, *P* < 0.0001) and Asians (3.95% *vs* 2.3%, *P* < 0.0001) in the LT cohort, while there was a higher proportion of Blacks and Hispanics in the non-LT cohort (Table 3).

Comparative analysis of clinical outcomes, healthcare burden and complications for LT and non-LT hospitalizations with AP

Overall, the inpatient mortality for LT hospitalizations with AP was lower (1.37% vs 2.16%, P = 0.0479) than the non-LT cohort (Table 4). We did not find a statistical difference in the inpatient mortality rates after stratifying for age, gender, or race. Although the mean LOS was comparable between both groups, the mean THC was higher for LT hospitalizations with AP (\$59596 vs \$50466, P-trend = 0.0429) compared to the non-LT cohort. Furthermore, LT hospitalizations with AP also had a higher proportion

Table 3 Comparative analysis of hospitalization characteristics for liver and non-liver transplant hospitalizations with acute pancreatitis in the United States from 2007–2019, n (%)

Outcomes	Liver transplant hospitalizations with acute pancreatitis	Non-liver transplant hospitalizations with acute pancreatitis	P value
Total number of hospitalizations	6863	5649980	
Mean age ± standard error (yr)	53.50 (0.04)	52.55 (0.39)	0.017
Age group (yr)			< 0.0001
18-34	12.38	16.20	
35-49	22.91	26.36	
50-64	46.29	29.97	
65-79	17.55	18.43	
≥80	0.86	9.03	
Gender			0.0046
Male	55.43	51.13	
Female	44.57	48.87	
Race			≤ 0.0001
White	67.91	64.57	
Black	10.85	16.11	
Hispanic	13.11	13.12	
Asian	3.95	2.30	
Other	4.16	3.90	
Charlson comorbidity index			< 0.0001
CCI = 1	29.53	28.27	
CCI = 2	19.02	13.65	
CCI≥3	51.46	19.76	
Hospital region			0.0753
Northeast	16.71	16.45	
Midwest	24.80	22.02	
South	35.10	40.16	
West	23.38	21.37	
Hospital bed-size			< 0.0001
Small	9.49	17.96	
Medium	21.04	28.13	
Large	69.47	53.91	
Hospital location and teaching status			< 0.0001
Rural	7.15	12.46	
Urban nonteaching	23.12	36.23	
Urban teaching	69.73	51.32	
Disposition			< 0.0001
Routine (Home)	76.26	77.39	
Transfer to short-term hospital	7.30	3.10	
Transfer to another type of facility (Includes SNF and ICF)	4.20	7.64	
Home health care	8.89	6.69	

Jaisbideng® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

Discharge against medical advice	1.98	3.00	
----------------------------------	------	------	--

CCI: Charlson comorbidity index; ICF: Intermediate care facility; SNF: Skilled nursing facility.

Table 4 Comparative analysis of clinical outcomes for liver and non-liver transplant hospitalizations with acute pancreatitis in the United States from 2007–2019, *n* (%)

Outcomes	Liver transplant hospitalizations with acute pancreatitis	Non-liver transplant hospitalizations with acute pancreatitis	P value
Inpatient mortality	1.37	2.16	0.0479
Gender-specific inpatient mortality			
Male	1.43	2.34	0.1107
Female	1.31	1.97	0.2396
Race specific inpatient mortality			
White	1.48	2.23	0.1403
Black	1.45	2.00	0.6469
Hispanic	0.00	1.60	
Asian	1.99	3.20	0.6289
Others	4.01	2.23	0.3868
Age group specific inpatient mortality			
18-34	0.60	0.64	0.9583
35-49	0.90	1.04	0.7855
50-64	1.12	2.08	0.0921
65-79	3.26	3.60	0.7784
≥ 80	0.00	5.46	
Length of stay (d)	6.14	5.80	0.3189
Total healthcare charge (\$)	59596	50466	0.0429
Complications (out of total hospital- izations)			
Pancreatic psuedocyst	3.85	5.46	0.0259
Abdominal abscess	0.81	0.53	0.1925
Sepsis	8.35	8.78	0.5834
Acute renal failure	29.41	14.91	< 0.0001
Acute respiratory failure	4.61	5.67	0.1018
Cholangiocarcinoma	0.21	0.11	0.2545
Need for blood transfusion	7.65	4.75	< 0.0001
Portal vein thrombosis	1.53	0.64	< 0.0001
Venous thromboembolism	3.50	2.19	0.0011

of patients with complications such as AKF (29.41% *vs* 14.91%, *P* < 0.0001), need for blood transfusion (7.65% *vs* 4.75%, *P* < 0.0001), PVT (1.53% *vs* 0.64%, *P* < 0.0001) and VTE (3.5% *vs* 2.19%, *P* = 0.0011) compared to non-LT hospitalizations; however, the non-LT cohort had a higher proportion of patients with pancreatic pseudocysts (5.46% *vs* 3.85%, *P* = 0.0259) (Table 4).

Raishideng® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Racial trends for liver transplant hospitalizations with acute pancreatitis in the United States from 2007–2019.

Predictors for inpatient mortality for LT hospitalizations with AP

After a regression analysis, Hispanics were noted to have lower odds of inpatient mortality compared to Whites (Table 5). Furthermore, after adjusting for all other variables, every one-point increase in the CCI score was associated with a 67.8% increase in inpatient mortality for LT hospitalizations with AP (Table 5). The presence of complications such as pancreatic pseudocysts (aHR: 14.158, 95%CI 1.642-122.094, P = 0.016), sepsis (aHR: 13.960, 95%CI 2.163-90.093, P < 0.0001), AKF (aHR: 2.684, 95%CI 1.109-6.494, P = 0.029), ARF (aHR: 24.758, 95%CI 1.063-576.522, P = 0.046), need for blood transfusion (aHR: 150.340, 95%CI 17.049-1325.754, P < 0.0001) and VTE (aHR: 75.422, 95%CI 1.637-3475.134, P = 0.027) were also associated with higher odds inpatient mortality for LT hospitalizations with AP after adjusting for all other variables.

DISCUSSION

AP is a well-known clinical entity. Although it has been thoroughly studied in the general population, there is a significant paucity of data on AP in solid-organ transplant recipients, particularly those undergoing LT. This is the only study in current literature that investigates trends, clinical outcomes, and the healthcare burden of LT hospitalizations with AP at a national level. In this study, we noted an increase in LT hospitalizations with AP with a rising trend for ethnic minorities *i.e.* Hispanics and Asians; however, we did not find a statistically significant trend of inpatient mortality, mean LOS and mean THC. Although the LT cohort was slightly older and had a higher comorbidity burden, the overall inpatient mortality was lower (1.37% *vs* 2.16%, P = 0.0479) compared to the non-LT cohort. Furthermore, LT hospitalizations with AP had a higher proportion of patients with AKF, PVT, VTE, and the need for blood transfusion compared to the non-LT cohort. Increasing CCI and the presence of pancreatic pseudocysts, sepsis, ARF, AKF, VTE, and the need for blood transfusion were associated with increased odds of inpatient mortality for LT hospitalizations with AP. With the increasing rates of liver transplants being performed and relative organ shortage in the US, it is vital to understand patient characteristics, outcomes, and complications of LT hospitalizations with AP to potentially reduce adverse clinical outcomes in these high-risk individuals[18].

As per data available from United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS), the total number of LT increased from 6494 in 2007 to 8896 in 2019[18]. However, in our study, the total number of LT hospitalizations with AP increased disproportionally, essentially doubling in the same time frame. In the US, the rates of LT for patients \geq 65 years of age have also been on the rise as there is a general consensus that LT in the elderly is feasible with acceptable short-term and long-term results[28,29]. Similarly, in this study, we noted an increase in the rates of LT hospitalizations with AP for patients > 65 years of age



Table 5 Predictors of inpatient mortality for liver transplant hospitalizations with acute pancreatitis in the United States from 2007–2019									
Variable	Adjusted hazard ratio	95%CI	P value						
Gender									
Male	Reference								
Female	0.596	(0.150, 2.365)	0.461						
Race									
White	Reference								
Black	0.306	(0.017, 5.368)	0.418						
Hispanic	< 0.001	(< 0.001, < 0.001)	< 0.0001						
Asian	0.042	(< 0.001, 14.916)	0.289						
Other	0.064	(< 0.001, 10.989)	0.295						
Charlson comorbidity index	1.678	(1.055, 2.668)	0.029						
Hospital region									
Northeast	Reference								
Midwest	1.574	(0.148, 16.692)	0.706						
South	1.435	(0.230, 8.955)	0.699						
West	1.723	(0.423, 7.014)	0.447						
Hospital bed size									
Small	Reference								
Medium	1.427	(0.093, 21.893)	0.798						
Large	1.974	(0.093, 42.139)	0.663						
Hospital location and teaching status									
Rural	Reference								
Urban nonteaching	< 0.001	(< 0.001, 0.048)	0.003						
Urban teaching	0.551	(0.053, 5.689)	0.617						
Complications (reference = Without the complication)									
Pancreatic psuedocyst	14.158	(1.642, 122.094)	0.016						
Abdominal abscess	< 0.001	(< 0.001, < 0.001)	< 0.0001						
Sepsis	13.960	(2.163, 90.093)	0.006						
Acute renal failure	2.684	(1.109, 6.494)	0.029						
Acute respiratory failure	24.758	(1.063, 576.522)	0.046						
Need for blood transfusion	150.340	(17.049, 1325.754)	< 0.0001						
Portal vein thrombosis	< 0.001	(< 0.001, < 0.001)	< 0.0001						
Venous thromboembolism	75.422	(1.637, 3475.134)	0.027						

(Table 1). However, it should be noted that AP carries a higher morbidity and mortality burden in the elderly population at baseline, and this is compounded in organ transplant recipients[30].

In the US, there was an increase in LT for Hispanics and Asians from 912 in 2007 to 1498 in 2019 and 325 in 2007 to 363 in 2019, respectively as per the UNOS registry. Current literature lacks data on the racial distribution of AP in LT recipients, particularly for ethnic minorities i.e. Blacks, Hispanics, and Asians. However, studies have demonstrated that ethnic minorities, at baseline, are at a higher risk of developing AP and have greater severity of disease compared to the general population[2,31-35]. In our study, there was an increasing trend of Hispanic and Asian LT hospitalizations with AP (Figure 1) which was disproportionate to the increase in LT for this population. Interestingly, Black LT hospitalizations with AP were noted to have a declining trend between 2007-2019. After a comparative analysis, we observed a higher proportion of Asians in the LT cohort, while there was a higher proportion of Blacks and Hispanics in the non-LT cohort. The exact reason for this variable racial distribution is currently unknown but needs further investigation through large, multi-center prospective studies.

Furthermore, we emphasize the need for early recognition and prompt treatment of AP in Hispanic and Asian LT hospitalizations to prevent adverse clinical outcomes.

Statistics have demonstrated continuous improvements in survival rates for liver transplant recipients [36-38]. Over the last few decades, AP-related mortality has also declined due to prompt recognition and improvement in management strategies [1,39]. However, prior literature offers conflicting evidence on ethnic variations in AP-related mortality with some studies reporting increased mortality rates in Whites, while others noted higher mortality rates in Blacks among the general population [14,40]. There continues to be a significant paucity of data on mortality for AP in LT recipients in current literature. In our study, we did not find a statistically significant trend for inpatient mortality in LT hospitalizations with AP (Table 2). Interestingly, after a comparative analysis, LT hospitalizations with AP had lower inpatient mortality rates compared to the non-LT cohort despite a higher mean age, greater comorbidity burden, and higher proportion of patients with complications. Furthermore, we did not find a statistical difference in the inpatient mortality rates after stratifying for age, gender, or race. The exact reason for lower inpatient mortality rates in LT hospitalizations with AP is unknown. However, it may, in part, be due to increased vigilance for complications in these high-risk hospitalizations, overall improvements in management strategies, and a multi-disciplinary team approach for management of these highly complex patients. Additional multi-center prospective studies are needed to further investigate these findings. Nonetheless, lower mortality suggests improved survival rates for LT hospitalizations which is in line with current literature.

Healthcare utilization by LT recipients is on the rise. A study by Habka et al[41] in 2015 predicted that the cost of LT will increase by 33% in 10 years and 81% in the next 20 years. The inpatient cost of management of AP has also almost doubled from 1996 (\$3.9 billion) to 2016 (\$7.7 billion)[42]. On the contrary, the utilization of the inpatient service (bed days per prevent case) for AP has declined over the years[42]. No data currently exists on healthcare utilization for AP in LT recipients. In our study, we did not find a statistically significant trend in mean LOS and mean THC for LT hospitalizations with AP indicating that the healthcare burden has remained relatively stable over the years despite a higher proportion of patients with complications such as sepsis, AKF, ARF, PVT, VTE, and abdominal abscesses. After a comparative analysis, the mean LOS was comparable between the LT and non-LT cohorts; however, the mean THC for the LT cohort was \$9130 higher than that of the non-LT cohort. This may, in part, be attributed to a higher proportion of patients with complications in the LT cohort compared to the non-LT cohort requiring a higher level of care and multi-disciplinary team management (Table 4). Furthermore, after adjusting for all other variables, increasing CCI, and the presence of complications such as pancreatic pseudocysts, sepsis, ARF, AKF, VTE, and need for blood transfusions were associated with higher odds of inpatient mortality for LT hospitalizations with AP. These findings somewhat mirror predictors of inpatient mortality for AP that have been reported in previous population-based studies[43].

Our study has several strengths and a few limitations. Our study population, which was drawn from one of the largest, publicly available, multi-ethnic databases in the US, is a key strength of this study. This is the only study in the current literature that offers a national perspective on hospitalization characteristics, clinical outcomes, complications, and the healthcare burden of LT hospitalizations with AP over 13 years, compared to other single-center experiences which offer limited information. Through a comprehensive and unique analysis technique, we were also able to compare LT and non-LT hospitalizations to understand the influence of AP on LT hospitalizations thereby giving gastroenterologists real world data. Furthermore, as the NIS covers approximately 97% of the US population, the results of our study are applicable to all LT hospitalizations with AP in the US.

However, we do acknowledge the limitations associated with our study. The retrospective study design makes our study susceptible to the biases that are associated with retrospective studies. Additionally, the NIS database does not contain information on the indication of liver transplant, time from LT to development of AP, disease severity, hospital course, treatment aspects of the disease, time from any procedure to development of complications, procedural complications (pre, intra, and post), intraprocedural operator preferences, or performance of any procedure. Lastly, the NIS is an administrative database that uses ICD codes to store data; hence, the possibility of human coding errors always exists. Despite these limitations, our large sample size, unique analysis technique, and multi-faceted outcomes add valuable data to limited literature.

CONCLUSION

LT is a lifesaving procedure for chronic end-stage liver disease patients. However, the development of post-LT pancreatitis may lead to poor surgical outcomes and development of complications. In our study, we noted an increase in LT hospitalizations with AP, particularly for ethnic minorities *i.e.* Hispanics and Asians; however, there was no trend for inpatient mortality. We also did not find a statistically significant trend mean LOS and mean THC indicating that healthcare utilization has remained relatively stable for LT hospitalizations with AP between 2007-2019. On comparison, LT hospitalizations with AP had lower inpatient mortality compared to non-LT AP hospitalizations despite



a higher proportion of patients that were older, had $CCI \ge 3$, and had complications such as AKF, PVT, VTE, and need for blood transfusion. Increasing CCI, presence of pancreatic pseudocysts, sepsis, ARF, ARF, VTE, and need for blood transfusion were identified to be independent predictors of inpatient mortality for LT hospitalizations with AP.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The development of Acute Pancreatitis (AP) in Liver Transplant (LT) recipients may be associated with poor clinical outcomes and severe complications.

Research motivation

Although studies investigating post-LT pancreatitis currently exist, they are primarily limited to small single-center experiences. Currently, a national perspective in the United States (US) does not exist. Therefore, this study was designed to investigate trends and outcomes of LT hospitalization with AP.

Research objectives

We aimed to assess national trends of hospitalization characteristics, clinical outcomes, and the healthcare burden of LT hospitalizations with AP in the US. Non-LT hospitalizations with AP were also identified as controls to compare hospitalization characteristics, clinical outcomes, and the healthcare burden with the LT cohort. Furthermore, predictors of inpatient mortality for LT hospitalizations with AP were identified.

Research methods

The National Inpatient Sample was utilized to identify LT and non-LT hospitalizations with AP. The Cochran-Armitage trend was used to test the trends for proportions of binary variables. Linear regression examined the trends for the averages of age, mean length of stay (LOS), and mean total healthcare charge (THC). Rao-Scott design-adjusted chi-square test examined the association between binary variables in LT and non-LT Hospitalizations with AP. F-statistics were used to test the differences in age, mean LOS, and mean THC in LT and non-LT Hospitalizations with AP. Cox proportional hazards regression was used to identify factors that influenced mortality.

Research results

The total number of LT hospitalizations with AP increased from 305 in 2007 to 610 in 2019. We did not find statistically significant trends in inpatient mortality, mean LOS, and mean THC for LT hospitalizations with AP. LT hospitalizations with AP had lower inpatient mortality compared to the non-LT cohort despite having a higher mean age, comorbidity burden, and complications. Increasing CCI, presence of pancreatic pseudocysts, sepsis, acute respiratory failure, acute renal failure, venous thromboembolism, and need for blood transfusion were independent predictors of inpatient mortality for LT hospitalizations with AP.

Research conclusions

LT is a lifesaving procedure for chronic end-stage liver disease patients. In the US, LT hospitalizations with AP increased between 2007 to 2019, particularly for Hispanics and Asians. However, LT hospitalizations with AP had lower inpatient mortality compared to non-LT AP hospitalizations.

Research perspectives

This is the only study in the current literature that offers a national perspective on hospitalization characteristics, clinical outcomes, complications, and the healthcare burden of LT hospitalizations with AP in the US.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Dahiya DS, Jahagirdar V, Chandan S, Inamdar S, Sharma N, and Al-Haddad M contributed to conception and design; Dahiya DS, Cheng CI, and Al-Haddad M contributed to administrative support; Dahiya DS and Cheng CI contributed to provision, collection, and assembly of data; all Authors contributed to review of literature, drafting the manuscript, revision of key components of the manuscript, final approval of manuscript, agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Institutional review board statement: The NIS database lacks patient and hospital-specific identifiers to protect patient privacy and maintain anonymity. Hence, our study was exempt from Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval as



per guidelines put forth by our IRB for analysis of database studies.

Informed consent statement: The data for this study was collected from the National Inpatient Sample (NIS) database. As the NIS database lacks patient-specific and hospital-specific identifiers, this study did not require informed consent. The NIS database is available at: https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Data sharing statement: The NIS database is publicly available at: https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Dushyant Singh Dahiya 0000-0002-8544-9039; Vinay Jahagirdar 0000-0001-6685-1033; Saurabh Chandan 0000-0002-2661-6693; Manesh Kumar Gangwani 0000-0002-3931-6163; Hassam Ali 0000-0001-5546-9197; Daryl Ramai 0000-0002-2460-7806; Chin-I Cheng 0000-0002-0273-8135; Sumant Inamdar 0000-0002-1002-2823; Neil R Sharma 0000-0001-8567-5450; Mohammad Al-Haddad 0000-0003-1641-9976.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Liu JH

REFERENCES

- Krishna SG, Kamboj AK, Hart PA, Hinton A, Conwell DL. The Changing Epidemiology of Acute Pancreatitis 1 Hospitalizations: A Decade of Trends and the Impact of Chronic Pancreatitis. Pancreas 2017; 46: 482-488 [PMID: 28196021 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.000000000000783]
- Li CL, Jiang M, Pan CQ, Li J, Xu LG. The global, regional, and national burden of acute pancreatitis in 204 countries and 2 territories, 1990-2019. BMC Gastroenterol 2021; 21: 332 [PMID: 34433418 DOI: 10.1186/s12876-021-01906-2]
- 3 Forsmark CE, Vege SS, Wilcox CM. Acute Pancreatitis. N Engl J Med 2016; 375: 1972-1981 [PMID: 27959604 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra1505202
- Apte MV, Pirola RC, Wilson JS. Mechanisms of alcoholic pancreatitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2010; 25: 1816-1826 4 [PMID: 21091991 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2010.06445.x]
- 5 DiMagno MJ. Oktoberfest binge drinking and acute pancreatitis: is there really no relationship? Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011; 9: 920-922 [PMID: 21819953 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2011.07.022]
- de Pretis N, Amodio A, Frulloni L. Hypertriglyceridemic pancreatitis: Epidemiology, pathophysiology and clinical 6 management. United European Gastroenterol J 2018; 6: 649-655 [PMID: 30083325 DOI: 10.1177/2050640618755002]
- Thaker AM, Mosko JD, Berzin TM. Post-endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography pancreatitis. Gastroenterol *Rep (Oxf)* 2015; **3**: 32-40 [PMID: 25406464 DOI: 10.1093/gastro/gou083]
- Whitcomb DC. Genetic risk factors for pancreatic disorders. Gastroenterology 2013; 144: 1292-1302 [PMID: 23622139 8 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.01.069]
- Shaka H, El-Amir Z, Jamil A, Kwei-Nsoro R, Wani F, Dahiya DS, Kichloo A, Amblee A. Plasmapheresis in hypertriglyceridemia-induced acute pancreatitis. Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent) 2022; 35: 768-772 [PMID: 36304619 DOI: 10.1080/08998280.2022.21065311
- Dahiya DS, Perisetti A, Sharma N, Inamdar S, Goyal H, Singh A, Rotundo L, Garg R, Cheng CI, Pisipati S, Al-Haddad 10 M, Sanaka M. Racial disparities in endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) utilization in the United States: are we getting better? Surg Endosc 2023; 37: 421-433 [PMID: 35986223 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-022-09535-w]
- Wang GJ, Gao CF, Wei D, Wang C, Ding SQ. Acute pancreatitis: etiology and common pathogenesis. World J 11 Gastroenterol 2009; 15: 1427-1430 [PMID: 19322914 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.15.1427]
- Forsmark CE, Baillie J; AGA Institute Clinical Practice and Economics Committee; AGA Institute Governing Board. 12 AGA Institute technical review on acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2007; 132: 2022-2044 [PMID: 17484894 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.03.065]
- Banks PA, Bollen TL, Dervenis C, Gooszen HG, Johnson CD, Sarr MG, Tsiotos GG, Vege SS; Acute Pancreatitis 13 Classification Working Group. Classification of acute pancreatitis--2012: revision of the Atlanta classification and definitions by international consensus. Gut 2013; 62: 102-111 [PMID: 23100216 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302779]
- Fagenholz PJ, Castillo CF, Harris NS, Pelletier AJ, Camargo CA Jr. Increasing United States hospital admissions for 14 acute pancreatitis, 1988-2003. Ann Epidemiol 2007; 17: 491-497 [PMID: 17448682 DOI: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2007.02.002]
- Starzl TE, Groth CG, Brettschneider L, Penn I, Fulginiti VA, Moon JB, Blanchard H, Martin AJ Jr, Porter KA. Orthotopic 15 homotransplantation of the human liver. Ann Surg 1968; 168: 392-415 [PMID: 4877589 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-196809000-00009



- Rana A, Gruessner A, Agopian VG, Khalpey Z, Riaz IB, Kaplan B, Halazun KJ, Busuttil RW, Gruessner RW. Survival 16 benefit of solid-organ transplant in the United States. JAMA Surg 2015; 150: 252-259 [PMID: 25629390 DOI: 10.1001/jamasurg.2014.2038]
- Kim WR, Lake JR, Smith JM, Skeans MA, Schladt DP, Edwards EB, Harper AM, Wainright JL, Snyder JJ, Israni AK, 17 Kasiske BL. OPTN/SRTR 2015 Annual Data Report: Liver. Am J Transplant 2017; 17 Suppl 1: 174-251 [PMID: 28052604 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14126]
- Health Resources and Services Administration. Organ Procurement & Transplantation Network (OPTN). Accessed: March 18 1, 2023. Available from: http://optn.transplant.hrsa.gov
- Krokos NV, Karavias D, Tzakis A, Tepetes K, Ramos E, Todo S, Fung JJ, Starzl TE. Acute pancreatitis after liver 19 transplantation: incidence and contributing factors. Transpl Int 1995; 8: 1-7 [PMID: 7534081 DOI: 10.1007/bf00366703]
- 20 Alexander JA, Demetrius AJ, Gavaler JS, Makowka L, Starzl TE, Van Thiel DH. Pancreatitis following liver transplantation. Transplantation 1988; 45: 1062-1065 [PMID: 2454520 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-198806000-00012]
- 21 Xie Q, Liu J, Zhuang L, Zhang W, Li Q, Zheng S. Report of two Cases of Acute Pancreatitis after Liver Transplantation for HCC. Transplantation 2018; 102: S871 [DOI: 10.1097/01.tp.0000543953.75752.5e]
- 22 Yanaga K, Shimada M, Gordon RD, Tzakis AG, Makowka L, Marsh JW, Stieber AC, Todo S, Iwatsuki S, Starzl TE. Pancreatic complications following orthotopic liver transplantation. Clin Transplant 1992; 6: 126-130 [PMID: 21170279]
- 23 Yan L, Qian C, Duan X, Ding J, Zhang W. Poor prognosis of liver transplantation for acute liver failure with acute pancreatitis: Two case reports. Medicine (Baltimore) 2020; 99: e22934 [PMID: 33120850 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000022934]
- Russell TA, Park S, Agopian VG, Zarrinpar A, Farmer DG, O'Neill S, Korayem I, Ebaid S, Gornbein J, Busuttil RW, 24 Kaldas FM. Peritransplant pancreatitis: A marker of high mortality and graft failure in liver transplant patients. Liver Transpl 2017; 23: 925-932 [PMID: 28294516 DOI: 10.1002/lt.24760]
- Lupo L, Pirenne J, Gunson B, Nishimura Y, Mirza DF, Patapis P, Mayer AD, Buckels JA, McMaster P. Acute-pancreatitis after orthotopic liver transplantation. Transplant Proc 1997; 29: 473 [PMID: 9123088 DOI: 10.1016/s0041-1345(96)00210-2
- Verran DJ, Gurkan A, Chui AK, Dilworth P, Koorey D, McCaughan G, Sheil AG. Pancreatitis in adult orthotopic liver 26 allograft recipients: risk factors and outcome. Liver Transpl 2000; 6: 362-366 [PMID: 10827240 DOI: 10.1053/Lv.2000.5203
- Camargo CA Jr, Greig PD, Levy GA, Clavien PA. Acute pancreatitis following liver transplantation. J Am Coll Surg 27 1995; 181: 249-256 [PMID: 7545514]
- 28 Su F, Yu L, Berry K, Liou IW, Landis CS, Rayhill SC, Reyes JD, Ioannou GN. Aging of Liver Transplant Registrants and Recipients: Trends and Impact on Waitlist Outcomes, Post-Transplantation Outcomes, and Transplant-Related Survival Benefit. Gastroenterology 2016; 150: 441-53.e6; quiz e16 [PMID: 26522262 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.10.043]
- Dolnikov S, Adam R, Cherqui D, Allard MA. Liver transplantation in elderly patients: what do we know at the beginning 29 of 2020? Surg Today 2020; 50: 533-539 [PMID: 32279191 DOI: 10.1007/s00595-020-01996-7]
- Koziel D, Gluszek-Osuch M, Suliga E, Zak M, Gluszek S. Elderly persons with acute pancreatitis specifics of the clinical 30 course of the disease. Clin Interv Aging 2019; 14: 33-41 [PMID: 30613137 DOI: 10.2147/CIA.S188520]
- Shaheen MA, Akhtar AJ. Organ failure associated with acute pancreatitis in African-American and Hispanic patients. J 31 Natl Med Assoc 2007; 99: 1402-1406 [PMID: 18229777]
- Kandasami P, Harunarashid H, Kaur H. Acute pancreatitis in a multi-ethnic population. Singapore Med J 2002; 43: 284-32 288 [PMID: 12380724]
- 33 Pang Y, Kartsonaki C, Turnbull I, Guo Y, Yang L, Bian Z, Chen Y, Millwood IY, Bragg F, Gong W, Xu Q, Kang Q, Chen J, Li L, Holmes MV, Chen Z. Metabolic and lifestyle risk factors for acute pancreatitis in Chinese adults: A prospective cohort study of 0.5 million people. PLoS Med 2018; 15: e1002618 [PMID: 30067849 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002618]
- Cervantes A, Waymouth EK, Petrov MS. African-Americans and Indigenous Peoples Have Increased Burden of Diseases 34 of the Exocrine Pancreas: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Dig Dis Sci 2019; 64: 249-261 [PMID: 30259278 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-018-5291-1]
- Yadav D, Lowenfels AB. The epidemiology of pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer. Gastroenterology 2013; 144: 1252-35 1261 [PMID: 23622135 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.01.068]
- Nitski O, Azhie A, Qazi-Arisar FA, Wang X, Ma S, Lilly L, Watt KD, Levitsky J, Asrani SK, Lee DS, Rubin BB, Bhat M, 36 Wang B. Long-term mortality risk stratification of liver transplant recipients: real-time application of deep learning algorithms on longitudinal data. Lancet Digit Health 2021; 3: e295-e305 [PMID: 33858815 DOI: 10.1016/S2589-7500(21)00040-6]
- Jackson WE, Malamon JS, Kaplan B, Saben JL, Schold JD, Pomposelli JJ, Pomfret EA. Survival Benefit of Living-Donor 37 Liver Transplant. JAMA Surg 2022; 157: 926-932 [PMID: 35921119 DOI: 10.1001/jamasurg.2022.3327]
- Jain A, Reyes J, Kashyap R, Dodson SF, Demetris AJ, Ruppert K, Abu-Elmagd K, Marsh W, Madariaga J, Mazariegos G, 38 Geller D, Bonham CA, Gayowski T, Cacciarelli T, Fontes P, Starzl TE, Fung JJ. Long-term survival after liver transplantation in 4,000 consecutive patients at a single center. Ann Surg 2000; 232: 490-500 [PMID: 10998647 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-200010000-00004
- McNabb-Baltar J, Ravi P, Isabwe GA, Suleiman SL, Yaghoobi M, Trinh QD, Banks PA. A population-based assessment 39 of the burden of acute pancreatitis in the United States. Pancreas 2014; 43: 687-691 [PMID: 24694835 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.00000000000123]
- Gapp J, Hall AG, Walters RW, Jahann D, Kassim T, Reddymasu S. Trends and Outcomes of Hospitalizations Related to 40 Acute Pancreatitis: Epidemiology From 2001 to 2014 in the United States. Pancreas 2019; 48: 548-554 [PMID: 30946239 DOI: 10.1097/MPA.00000000001275]
- 41 Habka D, Mann D, Landes R, Soto-Gutierrez A. Future Economics of Liver Transplantation: A 20-Year Cost Modeling Forecast and the Prospect of Bioengineering Autologous Liver Grafts. PLoS One 2015; 10: e0131764 [PMID: 26177505 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131764]



- Ahmed NS, Forbes N, Stukalin I, Singh S, Shaheen AA, Ma C; Calgary-UCSD Pancreatitis Study Group. Population-42 based Trends in Healthcare Utilization and National Healthcare Spending on Pancreatitis in North America. Gastroenterology 2021; 161: 1698-1701.e5 [PMID: 34419461 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2021.08.022]
- 43 Ingraham NE, King S, Proper J, Siegel L, Zolfaghari EJ, Murray TA, Vakayil V, Sheka A, Feng R, Guzman G, Roy SS, Muddappa D, Usher MG, Chipman JG, Tignanelli CJ, Pendleton KM. Morbidity and Mortality Trends of Pancreatitis: An Observational Study. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2021; 22: 1021-1030 [PMID: 34129395 DOI: 10.1089/sur.2020.473]



W J H World Journal of Henatology Hepatology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Hepatol 2023 June 27; 15(6): 813-825

DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.813

Observational Study

ISSN 1948-5182 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Lower alanine aminotransferase levels are associated with increased all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in nonalcoholic fatty liver patients

Jia-Rui Zheng, Zi-Long Wang, Su-Zhen Jiang, Hong-Song Chen, Bo Feng

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Protopapas AA, Greece; Sitkin S, Russia

Received: October 19, 2022 Peer-review started: October 19, 2022 First decision: March 15, 2023 Revised: March 22, 2023 Accepted: May 16, 2023 Article in press: May 16, 2023 Published online: June 27, 2023



Jia-Rui Zheng, Zi-Long Wang, Su-Zhen Jiang, Hong-Song Chen, Bo Feng, Peking University Hepatology Institute, Peking University People's Hospital, Beijing 100044, China

Corresponding author: Bo Feng, MD, PhD, Chief Doctor, Professor, Research Fellow, Peking University Hepatology Institute, Peking University People's Hospital, No. 11 Xizhimen South Street, Xicheng District, Beijing 100044, China. fengbo@pkuph.edu.cn

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels are often considered a marker to evaluate liver disease and its severity.

AIM

To investigate the association between ALT levels and all-cause and cause-specific mortality in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD).

METHODS

The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES-III) from 1988 to 1994 and NHANES-III-related mortality data from 2019 onward were used to obtain the necessary data for the study. NAFLD was defined as hepatic steatosis, as diagnosed by ultrasound, with no other liver diseases. ALT levels were categorized into four groups according to the different recommended upper limits of normal (ULN) in men and women: < 0.5 ULN, 0.5-1 ULN, 1-2 ULN, and \geq 2 ULN. The hazard ratios for all-cause mortality and cause-specific mortality were analyzed using the Cox proportional hazard model.

RESULTS

Multivariate logistic regression analysis demonstrated that the odds ratio of NAFLD correlated positively with increased serum ALT levels. In patients with NAFLD, all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality were the highest when ALT was < 0.5 ULN, yet cancer-related mortality was the highest when ALT was \geq 2 ULN. The same results could be found in both men and women. Univariate analysis showed that severe NAFLD with normal ALT levels had the highest all-cause and cause-specific mortality, but the difference was not statistically significant after adjustment for age and multivariate factors.

CONCLUSION

The risk of NAFLD was positively correlated with ALT level, but all-cause and cardiovascular mortality were the highest when ALT was < 0.5 ULN. Regardless of the severity of NAFLD, normal or lower ALT levels were associated with higher mortality than elevated ALT levels. Clinicians should be aware that high ALT levels indicate liver injury, but low ALT levels are associated with a higher risk of death.

Key Words: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; Alanine aminotransferase; Mortality; NHANES-III

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The risk of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) was positively correlated with alanine aminotransferase (ALT) level, but all-cause and cardiovascular mortality were the highest when ALT < 0.5 upper limits of normal. Regardless of the severity of NAFLD, normal or lower ALT levels are associated with higher mortality than elevated ALT levels. Clinicians should be aware of not only high ALT, indicating liver injury, but also low ALT associated with higher risk of death.

Citation: Zheng JR, Wang ZL, Jiang SZ, Chen HS, Feng B. Lower alanine aminotransferase levels are associated with increased all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in nonalcoholic fatty liver patients. World J Hepatol 2023; 15(6): 813-825

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5182/full/v15/i6/813.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.813

INTRODUCTION

The number of patients suffering from nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) has reached one billion worldwide, replacing viral hepatitis as the most common chronic liver disease [1-3], as well as increasing the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma^[4]. Research has demonstrated that NAFLD is no longer restricted to the liver itself but is also the main manifestation of metabolic syndrome in the liver, which is closely related to obesity, dyslipidemia, hypertension, type 2 diabetes, insulin resistance, and cardiovascular disease[5,6]. The all-cause mortality of patients with NAFLD is significantly increased, and cardiovascular disease, malignant tumors, and end-stage liver disease are the main causes of death in patients with NAFLD[7-9]. Therefore, it is very important to find an effective treatment for NAFLD.

The elevation of alanine aminotransferase (ALT) is a measure of liver disease activity and liver injury severity. Several studies have shown that an increase in ALT levels has a close correlation with an increased risk of NAFLD. It has also been proven to be an independent predictor of NAFLD and is related to nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and advanced liver fibrosis[10-12]. Research has shown that elevated ALT levels are also positively correlated with metabolic syndrome-related diseases, such as cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes [13,14]. Based on these previous findings, it could be inferred that all-cause and cardiovascular mortality are correlated with elevated ALT levels. However, this conclusion appears to be inconsistent and controversial [15-17]. Elevated ALT levels are related to mortality from various causes in some studies [18,19], but not in others [20,21]. In contrast, some studies have indicated that normal or lower ALT levels appear to be negatively correlated with a higher risk of all-cause mortality [22,23]. Moreover, the relationship between ALT levels and all-cause and causespecific mortality in patients with NAFLD has not been fully reported. Therefore, this study focuses on the relationship between serum ALT levels and all-cause mortality and cause-specific mortality in patients with NAFLD in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES-III) database, so as to further explore the clinical significance of using ALT as a potential treatment target and to improve the survival and prognosis of patients with NAFLD.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Dataset and study population

The NHANES-III produced a national dataset that evaluates the health status of people in the United States, and it was conducted in two phases (1988-1991 and 1991-1994). The NHANES-III conducted interviews, physical examinations, and laboratory tests, and, at the same time, it used ultrasonic examination to evaluate hepatic steatosis, which is the main reason the authors chose this dataset. Data from NHANES-III was also linked to death certificates from the National Death Index (NDI) as of





Figure 1 Flow-chart of the Study. NHANE III: The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey III (1988-1994); HBsAg: Hepatitis B surface antigen; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; BMI: Body mass index; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; DBP: Diastolic blood pressure; TC: Total cholesterol; TG: Triglyceride; HDL: High-density lipoprotein cholesterol; FPG: Fasting plasma glucose; HbA1c: Glycosylated hemoglobin; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; NAFLD: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.

December 31, 2019, allowing for mortality analysis. The NHANES protocol was approved by the Ethics Review Committee of the National Center for Health Statistics, which obtained informed consent from all subjects.

Among the adult participants (aged 20-74 years old) in the NHANES-III survey with liver/ gallbladder ultrasound and laboratory test results (n = 14797), individuals without a liver ultrasound steatosis grade and those with significant alcohol consumption (men > 21 drinks/week, women > 14 drinks/week), viral hepatitis (serum hepatitis B surface antigen and/or serum hepatitis C antibody positive), or iron overload (transferring saturation \geq 50%) (n = 2217) were excluded from this study. Individuals with incomplete mortality information and certain important indicators were also excluded (n = 1139). Finally, this study included a total of 11,441 individuals aged 20-74 years (Figure 1).

Clinical variables

An elevated ALT level was defined as ALT > 30 U/L in males and > 19 U/L in females, and the ALT levels were classified into four groups [< 0.5 upper limits of normal (ULN), 0.5-1 ULN, 1-2 ULN, ≥ 2 ULN]. Race/ethnicity was categorized as non-Hispanic white, non-Hispanic black, Mexican-American, or other. Diabetes was defined as a high fasting blood sugar (> 126 ng/dL), a high glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) (> 6.5%), or a history of diabetes and/or use of diabetic medication. A homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance > 2.5 was considered as insulin resistant[24]. Hypertension was defined as systolic blood pressure ≥ 140 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure ≥ 90 mmHg and/or treatment with antihypertensive medication. A self-reported questionnaire on the frequency and amount of alcohol consumption was used to identify drinking status[25]. If people answered "no" to having done any of the following activities in the previous month, they were classified as being "sedentary" in terms of sports activities: jogging/running, cycling, swimming, aerobic exercise, other dancing, aerobics, yard work/gardening, weightlifting, or other sports[26].

Definition of NAFLD

The gallbladder ultrasound image files were reviewed by three board-certified clinicians to assess hepatic steatosis. In this study, NAFLD was defined as any degree (mild to severe) of steatosis, according to five criteria, without a competing etiology for secondary liver steatosis.

Mortality

Participants who were aged over 20 years in the NHANES-III were followed up for passive mortality as of December 31, 2019. Probability matching was performed using NDI records to assess the death status (including the date of death) and the cause of death; the potential cause of death 113 code was used to code deaths before 1998, and deaths between 1999 and 2015 were coded according to the Ninth Revision of the International Classification of Diseases. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention restricted the liver-related mortality data in the NHANES III for public use.

Saishidena® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed using SPSS 27.0. Weighted analyses were performed using NHANES survey weights[27]. The Student's t-test was used to compare continuous variables, and the Rao-Scott chisquare was used to test categorical variables. Multivariate logistic regression was used to confirm an independent relationship between ALT status and NAFLD after adjustment for potential clinical and demographic variables. Cox proportional hazards regression analysis was used to analyze all-cause and cause-specific mortality. A *P* value < 0.05 was considered to have a significant statistical difference.

RESULTS

Baseline characteristics of patients

Of the 11441 NHANES-III survey participants (mean age, 44.4 years; male, 44.6%) enrolled in this study, the prevalence of NAFLD was 36.4%, among which moderate to severe steatosis accounted for 22.8%. In this cohort, 84.8% of the participants had normal ALT levels, and 15.2% had elevated ALT levels. Table 1 summarizes the baseline characteristics of the overall population and patients with NAFLD. In the whole population, compared with the individuals with normal ALT levels, those with elevated ALT levels were more likely to be young people, women, or Mexican Americans, those who did little physical activity, and those who were diabetic and insulin resistant. In addition, body mass index (BMI), waist circumference, TC, TG, HbA1c, FPG, and AST were higher in these people, and HDL was lower. The prevalence of NAFLD was higher in individuals with elevated ALT levels compared with those with normal ALT levels (59% vs 32.3%, P < 0.001). In patients with NAFLD, compared with individuals with normal ALT levels, those with elevated ALT levels were also younger, more likely to be women, Mexican American, diabetic, insulin resistant, and they had higher BMI, waist circumference, TC, TG, and AST levels. The proportion of patients with moderate and severe steatosis was higher (47.7% and 30.1%, respectively). When ALT was classified into different levels (< 0.5 ULN, 0.5-1 ULN, 1-2 ULN, and \geq 2 ULN), in the univariate model, the incidence of NAFLD increased with the increase in ALT level [odds ratio (OR): 1, 1.65, 3.56, and 6.72 respectively, *P* < 0.001]. When adjusted for age, this relationship still existed. Multivariate analysis showed that with the increase in ALT level, the risk of NAFLD increased by 37%, 128%, and 217%, respectively (Supplementary Table 1).

ALT levels and mortality in the overall population

The average follow-up time of the 11,441 individuals was 23.8 years. A total of 3,976 people died during the follow-up period, and cardiovascular disease (n = 1104) and cancer (n = 953) were the two leading causes of death. The results of the Cox proportional hazards regression analysis of the overall population are given in Table 2. The univariate analysis showed that all-cause mortality gradually decreased with the increase in ALT level [hazard ratio (HR): 0.76, 0.66, and 0.60, respectively, P < 0.001]. When considering known demographic variables and traditional risk factors, all-cause mortality was still the highest when ALT was at the lowest level (< 0.5 ULN). With regard to NAFLD, in univariate analysis, patients with NAFLD had a 41% higher risk of all-cause death than the patients who did not have NAFLD [HR: 1.41, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.33-1.51, P < 0.001]. However, NAFLD was no longer correlated with all-cause mortality when other demographics and covariates were controlled.

When mortality was limited to cardiovascular disease (Table 3), the multivariable analysis indicated that elevated ALT levels were correlated with decreased cardiovascular mortality in individuals overall and in patients with NAFLD, but there was no significant statistical difference when ALT was \geq 2 ULN. Death caused by other diseases, such as respiratory and cerebrovascular diseases, with different ALT levels also showed a similar result. The analysis of cancer-related mortality had a different result; when ALT was \geq 2 ULN, the risk of cancer-related death in the whole population increased by 11% and, in patients with NAFLD, it increased by 39%, but there was no significant statistical difference.

ALT levels and mortality in patients with NAFLD

Further research was done concerning the patients with NAFLD (Supplementary Table 2 in the ESM). Because the ULN of the ALT level differs in men and women, an analysis was performed according to gender. The baseline characteristics of the enrolled patients with NAFLD are summarized in Supplementary Table 3 in the ESM. A total of 1932 men and 2227 women are included, with an average age of 47.9 and 45.8 years, respectively. The median ALT level was 25 U/L in men and 18 U/L in women. In most patients with NAFLD, ALT levels were within the normal range, of which 0.5-1 ULN was the most common (found in 49.9% of males and 50.9% of females, respectively). All-cause mortality and cause-specific mortality were investigated based on ALT levels in men and women. In male patients with NAFLD, the univariate model showed that all-cause and cancer-related mortality decreased with the increase in ALT level, but the age-adjusted and multivariate models showed that mortality increased when ALT was \geq 2 ULN. However, the difference was not statistically significant. Regarding death caused by cardiovascular disease and other causes, the three models showed that the risk of death decreased with the increase of ALT level. Among female patients, cancer-related mortality was the



Table 1 Baseline characteristics of the overall population and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease patients with normal or elevated alanine aminotransferase level

	Overall population	(<i>n</i> = 11441)		NAFLD population	(<i>n</i> = 4159)	
	Normal ALT level (<i>n</i> = 9698)	Elevated ALT level (n = 1743)	P value	Normal ALT level (<i>n</i> = 3131)	Elevated ALT level (n = 1028)	P value
Age (yr)	44.4 ± 0.17	41.5 ± 0.35	< 0.001	48.0 ± 0.29	43.2 ± 0.45	< 0.001
Sex, male (%)	4397 (45.3)	710 (40.7)	< 0.001	1496 (47.8)	436 (42.4)	0.003
Race/ethnicity, n (%)			< 0.001			< 0.001
Non-Hispanic White	3725 (38.4)	527 (30.2)		1186 (37.9)	300 (29.2)	
Non-Hispanic Black	2950 (30.4)	325 (18.6)		861 (27.5)	143 (13.9)	
Mexican American	2620 (27.0)	815 (46.8)		967 (30.9)	540 (52.5)	
Others	403 (4.2)	76 (4.4)		117 (3.7)	45 (4.4)	
Waist circumference (cm)	92.3 ± 0.15	98.3 ± 0.35	< 0.001	97.9 ± 0.30	102.6 ± 0.45	< 0.001
BMI (kg/m²)	27.0 ± 0.06	29.7 ± 0.15	< 0.001	28.9 ± 0.12	31.4 ± 0.20	< 0.001
Hypertension, <i>n</i> (%)	3892 (40.1)	698 (40.0)	0.946	1434 (45.8)	458 (44.6)	0.486
Diabetes, n (%)	836 (8.6)	253 (14.5)	< 0.001	476 (15.2)	214 (20.8)	< 0.001
HOMA-IR, <i>n</i> (%)	3652 (37.7)	1117 (64.1)	< 0.001	1712 (54.7)	785 (76.4)	< 0.001
Fasting plasma glucose (mmol/L)	5.6 ± 0.02	5.9 ± 0.06	< 0.001	6.0 ± 0.05	6.3 ± 0.09	0.002
HbA1c (%)	5.5 ± 0.01	5.7 ± 0.03	< 0.001	5.8 ± 0.02	5.9 ± 0.05	0.027
TG (mg/dL)	135.2 ± 1.0	182.4 ± 3.2	< 0.001	165.9 ± 2.09	207.0 ± 4.49	< 0.001
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	204.2 ± 0.44	209.7 ± 1.07	< 0.001	208.6 ± 0.80	212.6 ± 1.37	< 0.001
HDL (mg/dL)	51.3 ± 0.15	47.0 ± 0.36	< 0.001	48.3 ± 0.27	45.0 ± 0.47	< 0.001
ALT (IU/L)	13.7 ± 0.06	39.5 ± 0.63	< 0.001	14.9 ± 0.10	41.7 ± 0.90	< 0.001
AST (IU/L)	19.0 ± 0.06	34.2 ± 0.64	< 0.001	19.5 ± 0.11	35.6 ± 0.92	< 0.001
Albumin (g/L)	41.4 ± 0.04	41.7 ± 0.09	0.007	41.1 ± 0.07	41.8 ± 0.11	< 0.001
Smoked at least 100 cigarettes, <i>n</i> (%)	4872 (50.2)	752 (43.3)	< 0.001	1637 (52.3)	448 (43.6)	< 0.001
Sedentary lifestyle, n (%)	2811 (29.0)	583 (33.4)	< 0.001	1048 (33.5)	373 (36.3)	0.099
NAFLD, <i>n</i> (%)	3131 (32.3)	1028 (59.0)	< 0.001			
Mild	1326 (13.7)	229 (13.1)		1326 (42.4)	229 (22.3)	
Moderate	1268 (13.1)	490 (28.1)		1268 (40.5)	490 (47.7)	
Severe	537 (5.5)	309 (1.7)	< 0.001	537 (17.2)	309 (30.1)	< 0.001

Categorical values are shown as n (%). Continuous variables are shown as mean ± SEs. Elevated alanine aminotransferase (ALT) level was defined as ALT > 30 U/L in men or > 19 U/L in women. BMI: Body mass index; HOMA-IR: Homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; HbA1c: Glycosylated hemoglobin; TG: Triglyceride; HDL: High-density lipoprotein cholesterol; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; AST: Aspartate aminotransferase; NAFLD: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.

> highest in the univariate, age-adjusted, and multivariate models when ALT was \geq 2 ULN, which was similar to the results in the whole population with NAFLD (Tables 4 and 5).

The different models and mortality in patients with NAFLD

The different NAFLD statuses (mild to moderate or severe) were then combined with the different ALT levels (normal or elevated) for further analysis of all-cause and cause-specific mortality. In patients with NAFLD, the univariate and age-adjusted models showed that severe NAFLD with normal ALT levels had the highest all-cause mortality (HR: 1.45, P < 0.001 and 1.11, P = 0.139), but this relationship no longer existed after multivariable adjustment (HR: 0.98, P = 0.727) (Table 6). In terms of cause-specific mortality, Model 1 (mild to moderate NAFLD with normal ALT level) and Model 3 (severe NAFLD with normal ALT level) had a higher risk of death than Model 2 (mild to moderate NAFLD with

Table 2 Association between alanine aminotransferase level or nonalcoholic fatty liver disease status and all-cause mortality in overall population

ALT level	Unadjusted		Age-adjusted		Multivariate-adjusted		
	HR (95%CI)	P value	HR (95%CI)	P value	HR (95%CI)	P value	
< 0.5 ULN	1		1		1		
0.5-1 ULN	0.76 (0.71-0.81)	< 0.001	0.74 (0.70-0.80)	< 0.001	0.76 (0.71-0.81)	< 0.001	
1-2 ULN	0.66 (0.60-0.74)	< 0.001	0.73 (0.66-0.81)	< 0.001	0.70 (0.63-0.79)	< 0.001	
≥2 ULN	0.60 (0.49-0.74)	< 0.001	0.92 (0.75-1.14)	0.442	0.74 (0.57-0.97)	0.017	
NAFLD							
No NAFLD	1		1		1		
NAFLD	1.41 (1.33-1.50)	< 0.001	1.13 (1.06-1.20)	< 0.001	0.99 (0.92-1.06)	0.758	

The multivariate model was adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity, body mass index, waist circumference, aspartate aminotransferase, albumin, triglyceride, total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, and sedentary lifestyle. CI: Confidence interval; HR: Hazard ratio; ULN: Upper limits of normal; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; NAFLD: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.

Table 3 Association of alanine aminotransferase level, cardiovascular disease, cancer-related and others-related mortality stratified by the presence/absence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease

	Total population		No NAFLD		NAFLD		
	HR (95%CI)	P value	HR (95%CI)	P value	HR (95%CI)	P value	
ALT level							
Cardiovascular							
< 0.5 ULN	1		1		1		
0.5-1 ULN	0.74 (0.65-0.85)	< 0.001	0.82 (0.68-0.97)	0.022	0.66 (0.52-0.82)	< 0.001	
1-2 ULN	0.63 (0.50-0.79)	< 0.001	0.78 (0.56-1.09)	0.149	0.55 (0.39-0.78)	< 0.001	
≥2 ULN	0.63 (0.35-1.12)	0.113	0.70 (0.26-1.86)	0.469	0.68 (0.31-1.50)	0.342	
Cancer							
< 0.5 ULN	1		1		1		
0.5-1 ULN	0.74 (0.64-0.86)	< 0.001	0.70 (0.58-0.84)	< 0.001	0.85 (0.66-1.11)	0.230	
1-2 ULN	0.67 (0.52-0.86)	0.002	0.61 (0.42-0.88)	0.009	0.77 (0.54-1.12)	0.171	
≥2 ULN	1.11 (0.67-1.86)	0.682	0.86 (0.35-2.11)	0.738	1.39 (0.70-2.75)	0.346	
Others							
< 0.5 ULN	1		1		1		
0.5-1 ULN	0.89 (0.80-0.99)	0.029	0.92 (0.81-1.05)	0.227	0.80 (0.67-0.95)	0.011	
1-2 ULN	0.98 (0.83-1.16)	0.809	1.25 (0.98-1.60)	0.074	0.73 (0.57-0.93)	0.012	
≥2 ULN	0.75 (0.51-1.09)	0.131	0.69 (0.33-1.45)	0.331	0.53 (0.32-0.89)	0.015	

The multivariate model was adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity, body mass index, waist circumference, aspartate aminotransferase, albumin, triglyceride, total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, and sedentary lifestyle. Others: Chronic lower respiratory diseases, accidents (unintentional injuries), cerebrovascular diseases, Alzheimer's diseases, diabetes mellitus, influenza and pneumonia, nephritis, nephrotic syndrome and nephrosis and all other causes (residual). CI: Confidence interval; HR: Hazard ratio; ULN: Upper limits of normal; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; NAFLD: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.

> elevated ALT level) and Model 4 (severe NAFLD with elevated ALT level). Further analysis was made according to gender (Supplementary Tables 4 and 5). Among male patients with NAFLD, those with severe NAFLD and elevated ALT levels had higher cancer-related mortality (HR: 1.18, P = 0.602). The risk factors of ALT at the lowest and highest levels were explored (Supplementary Table 6 in the ESM). In male patients, the univariate analysis indicated that the age of those with ALT \geq 2 ULN was



Table 4 Association of alanine aminotransferase level, all-cause, cardiovascular disease, cancer-related and others-related mortality among nonalcoholic fatty liver disease patients in men

Mortality outcome,	No. of death, <i>n</i>	Unadjusted		Age-adjusted		Multivariate-adjusted		
ALT level	(%)	HR (95%CI)	P value	HR (95%CI)	P value	HR (95%CI)	P value	
All-cause								
< 0.5 ULN	306 (61.1)	1		1		1		
0.5-1 ULN	436 (45.2)	0.60 (0.52-0.70)	< 0.001	0.69 (0.59-0.80)	< 0.001	0.68 (0.58-0.80)	< 0001	
1-2 ULN	115 (30.8))	0.37 (0.30-0.46)	< 0.001	0.62 (0.50-0.77)	< 0.001	0.60 (0.47-0.76)	< 0001	
≥2 ULN	21 (22.6)	0.26 (0.16-0.40)	< 0.001	0.69 (0.44-1.09)	0.11	0.72 (0.42-1.21)	0.214	
Cardiovascular disease								
< 0.5 ULN	102 (20.4)	1		1		1		
0.5-1 ULN	119 (22.3)	0.50 (0.39-0.65)	< 0.001	0.58 (0.44-0.76)	< 0.001	0.57 (0.43-0.77)	< 0.001	
1-2 ULN	34 (9.1)	0.34 (0.23-0.50)	< 0.001	0.58 (0.39-0.87)	0.007	0.55 (0.33-0.92)	0.022	
≥2 ULN	3 (3.2)	0.11 (0.04-0.36)	< 0.001	0.33 (0.10-1.05)	0.06	0.51 (0.13-1.97)	0.331	
Cancer								
< 0.5 ULN	67 (13.4)	1		1		1		
0.5-1 ULN	103 (10.7)	0.65 (0.48-0.89)	0.006	0.73 (0.54-1.00)	0.051	0.79 (0.57-1.10)	0.169	
1-2 ULN	25 (6.7)	0.37 (0.23-0.58)	< 0.001	0.62 (0.39-0.99)	0.047	0.76 (0.45-1.29)	0.308	
≥2 ULN	5 (5.4)	0.28 (0.11-0.69)	0.006	0.81 (0.32-2.05)	0.654	1.05 (0.35-3.12)	0.935	
Others								
< 0.5 ULN	137 (44.8)	1		1		1		
0.5-1 ULN	214 (49.1)	0.81 (0.65-1.00)	0.048	0.81 (0.66-1.01)	0.058	0.73 (0.57-0.92)	0.921	
1-2 ULN	56 (48.7)	0.68 (0.50-0.92)	0.014	0.75 (0.55-1.03)	0.073	0.57 (0.38-0.85)	0.851	
≥2 ULN	13 (61.9)	0.70 (0.39-1.23)	0.212	0.76 (0.42-1.37)	0.361	0.40 (0.19-0.84)	0.844	

The multivariate model was adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity, body mass index, waist circumference, aspartate aminotransferase, albumin, triglyceride, total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, and sedentary lifestyle. Others: Chronic lower respiratory diseases, accidents (unintentional injuries), cerebrovascular diseases, Alzheimer's diseases, diabetes mellitus, influenza and pneumonia, nephritis, nephrotic syndrome and nephrosis and all other causes (residual). CI: Confidence interval; HR: Hazard ratio; ULN: Upper limits of normal; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase.

> significantly lower than that of those with ALT < 0.5 ULN, with more patients aged 20-39 years and fewer patients aged over 60 years. The multivariable-adjusted analysis also indicated that age was a protective factor in male patients. However, in female patients, no significant statistical difference was seen between the two age groups.

DISCUSSION

The main findings of the present large cohort study were that elevated serum ALT levels were closely related to the increased risk of NAFLD but did not increase the risk of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in the whole population and in patients with and without NAFLD. On the contrary, in the patients with NAFLD, all-cause and cardiovascular mortality was the highest when ALT was < 0.5 ULN, and this was the same for both sexes and all ages. Cancer-related mortality was the highest when ALT was \geq 2 ULN, but there was no significant statistical difference. With different degrees of NAFLD (mild to moderate or severe), whether the ALT level was elevated or not seems to have had no significant effect on all-cause and cause-specific mortality.

Previous research has shown that NAFLD is related to a higher risk of all-cause mortality[28]. In addition, the correlation between NAFLD and increased risk of cardiovascular events was proved in a meta-analysis^[29]. Cardiovascular disease, malignant tumors, and end-stage liver disease are the main causes of death in patients with NAFLD[7,8], but cardiovascular disease is the primary cause of death [7]. Therefore, it is of great importance to recognize the significant influence of metabolic complications

Table 5 Association of alanine aminotransferase level, all-cause, cardiovascular disease, cancer-related and others-related mortality among nonalcoholic fatty liver disease patients in women

Mortality outcome, ALT level	No. of death, <i>n</i> (%)	Unadjusted		Age-adjusted		Multivariate-adjusted	
		HR (95%CI)	P value	HR (95%CI)	P value	HR (95%CI)	P value
All-cause							
< 0.5 ULN	144 (34.0)	1		1		1	
0.5-1 ULN	440 (38.8)	1.16 (0.96-1.40)	0.127	0.88 (0.73-1.06)	0.176	0.91 (0.74-1.10)	0.348
1-2 ULN	187 (36.0)	1.05 (0.85-1.31)	0.632	0.83 (0.67-1.03)	0.095	0.76 (0.60-0.97)	0.027
≥2 ULN	46 (30.7)	0.89 (0.64-1.24)	0.484	1.10 (0.79-1.53)	0.585	0.82 (0.52-1.31)	0.416
Cardiovascular disease							
< 0.5 ULN	41 (9.7)	1		1		1	
0.5-1 ULN	119 (10.5)	1.10 (0.77-1.58)	0.594	0.82 (0.58-1.17)	0.282	0.86 (0.59-1.26)	0.44
1-2 ULN	442 (8.1)	0.83 (0.54-1.28)	0.41	0.65 (0.42-1.00)	0.051	0.62 (0.38-1.02)	0.061
≥2 ULN	99 (6.0)	0.61 (0.30-1.26)	0.182	0.78 (0.38-1.61)	0.504	0.85 (0.29-2.43)	0.756
Cancer							
< 0.5 ULN	31 (7.3)	1		1		1	
0.5-1 ULN	97 (8.6)	1.18 (0.79-1.77)	0.425	0.93 (0.62-1.40)	0.728	1.02 (0.66-1.57)	934
1-2 ULN	37 (7.1)	0.96 (0.60-1.55)	0.877	0.76 (0.47-1.23)	0.261	0.83 (0.49-1.44)	0.482
≥2 ULN	15 (10.0)	1.34 (0.72-2.48)	0.352	1.38 (0.74-2.57)	0.309	1.49 (0.61-3.68)	0.395
Others							
< 0.5 ULN	71 (49.7)	1		1		1	
0.5-1 ULN	224 (50.9)	0.91 (0.70-1.20)	0.526	0.92 (0.71-1.20)	0.549	0.89 (0.67-1.18)	0.411
1-2 ULN	108 (57.8)	1.01 (0.75-1.37)	0.935	1.08 (0.80-1.46)	0.627	0.85 (0.61-1.20)	0.366
≥2 ULN	22 (47.8)	0.99 (0.62-1.61)	0.978	1.16 (0.72-1.88)	0.548	0.62 (0.30-1.29)	0.199

The multivariate model was adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity, body mass index, waist circumference, aspartate aminotransferase, albumin, triglyceride, total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, and sedentary lifestyle. Others: Chronic lower respiratory diseases, accidents (unintentional injuries), cerebrovascular diseases, Alzheimer's diseases, diabetes mellitus, influenza and pneumonia, nephritis, nephrotic syndrome and nephrosis and all other causes (residual). CI: Confidence interval; HR: Hazard ratio; ULN: Upper limits of normal; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase.

> on NAFLD, especially as seen in patients with NAFLD who died of cardiovascular disease. Since ALT is often considered a marker to evaluate the activity of liver disease and the severity of liver injury in clinical practice, many believe that monitoring ALT levels can be an effective means of following the progression of NAFLD[30,31]. Because of the invasive nature of liver biopsy, clinicians often take ALT levels as the basis of liver protection treatment. The association between elevated ALT levels and increased mortality has been reported in several epidemiological studies[18,32]. It seems to be a reasonable inference that elevated ALT levels may increase the risk of death. However, in different countries and cohorts, the opposite relationship between ALT levels and all-cause mortality has been observed. One study of NHANES-III data found that the relationship between ALT levels and all-cause mortality was similar to a U-shaped curve[22]. Another large cohort study also indicated that ALT at the lowest levels ($\leq 10 \text{ U/L}$) and elevated ALT levels (> 40 U/L) were associated with increased all-cause mortality, especially among people aged over 60 years[33]. Two recent studies also showed that lower ALT levels within the normal range were related to a higher risk of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in the elderly population [34,35]. These findings consistently indicate that there is a certain non-linear correlation between ALT levels and all-cause mortality although some unmeasured or residual confounding cannot be excluded.

> The results of the current study showed that in patients with NAFLD, the ALT levels of the vast majority, both male and female, are within the normal range, and the number of patients with an ALT level in the range of 0.5-1 ULN is the largest, while the number in the range \geq 2 ULN is the smallest. In addition, nearly half of the male patients with NAFLD with an ALT level < 0.5 ULN were elderly, while nearly 3/4 of those with an ALT level ≥ 2 ULN were young. Another study also showed that the ALT level first increased and then decreased with age[36], which may explain why in patients with NAFLD



Table 6 Association of different models, all-cause, cardiovascular disease, cancer-related and others-related mortality among nonalcoholic fatty liver disease patients

Mortality outcome	No. of death, <i>n</i> (%)	Unadjusted		Age-adjusted		Multivariate-adjusted			
		HR (95%CI)	P value	HR (95%CI)	P value	HR (95%CI)	P value		
All-cause									
Model 1	1055 (41.9)	1		1		1			
Model 2	248 (31.2)	0.68 (0.59-0.78)	< 0.001	0.89 (0.77-1.02)	0.1	0.87 (0.74-1.01)	0.067		
Model 3	271 (53.7)	1.45 (1.26-1.65)	< 0.001	1.11 (0.97-1.27)	0.139	0.98 (0.85-1.12)	0.727		
Model 4	121 (35.5)	0.82 (0.68-0.99)	0.037	0.91 (0.75-1.10)	0.312	0.81 (0.66-0.99)	0.042		
Cardiovascular disease									
Model 1	309 (12.3)	1		1		1			
Model 2	68 (8.6)	0.64 (0.49-0.83)	< 0.001	0.86 (0.66-1.12)	0.254	0.89 (0.65-1.20)	0.437		
Model 3	72 (14.3)	1.30 (1.01-1.68)	0.045	0.99 (0.76-1.27)	0.907	0.82 (0.63-1.07)	0.146		
Model 4	20 (5.9)	0.46 (0.30-0.73)	< 0.001	0.52 (0.33-0.82)	0.005	0.53 (0.33-0.87)	0.011		
Cancer									
Model 1	241 (9.6)	1		1		1			
Model 2	50 (6.3)	0.60 (0.44-0.81)	0.001	0.74 (0.55-1.01)	0.055	0.86 (0.62-1.21)	0.387		
Model 3	57 (11.3)	1.31 (0.98-1.75)	0.067	1.02 (0.76-1.36)	0.904	1.01 (0.75-1.37)	0.928		
Model 4	32 (9.4)	0.94 (0.65-1.36)	0.743	1.02 (0.70-1.47)	0.938	1.07 (0.71-1.61)	0.755		
Others									
Model 1	504 (47.8)	1		1		1			
Model 2	130 (53.4)	0.94 (0.77-1.13)	0.492	1.03 (0.84-1.25)	0.799	0.93 (0.74-1.16)	0.506		
Model 3	142 (53.4)	1.28 (1.06-1.55)	0.009	1.25 (1.04-1.51)	0.019	1.15 (0.95-1.40)	0.159		
Model 4	69 (57.0)	1.09 (0.85-1.41)	0.483	1.14 (0.89-1.47)	0.312	0.89 (0.67-1.20)	0.453		

Model 1: Mild to moderate nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) with normal alanine aminotransferase (ALT) level; Model 2: Mild to moderate NAFLD with elevated ALT Level; Model 3: Severe NAFLD with normal ALT level; Model 4: Severe NAFLD with elevated ALT Level. The multivariate model was adjusted for age, sex, race/ethnicity, body mass index, waist circumference, aspartate aminotransferase, albumin, triglyceride, total cholesterol, highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol, smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, and sedentary lifestyle. Others: Chronic lower respiratory diseases, accidents (unintentional injuries), cerebrovascular diseases, Alzheimer's diseases, diabetes mellitus, influenza and pneumonia, nephritis, nephrotic syndrome and nephrosis and all other causes (residual). CI: Confidence interval; HR: Hazard ratio.

> the mortality rate is the highest when ALT is < 0.5 ULN. That is to say, during the follow-up period of over 31 years, individuals with an ALT level < 0.5 ULN at baseline were mostly elderly, so the rate of all-cause and cause-specific death outcomes was higher. However, most of the patients with ALT level \geq 2 ULN at baseline were young people, so the rate of endpoint events was low. However, in the ageadjusted model and multivariable model, the results were still approximately the same, which shows that other factors besides age may play a more important role, and this possibility needs further study.

> Three mechanisms might explain the underlying association between ALT levels and death. First, as an enzyme, ALT plays a vital role in converting L-alanine and α - ketoglutarate to pyruvate and glutamic acid in the heart, liver, kidney, skeletal muscle, and brain, and a low ALT level increases the risk of death by reducing the catalytic capacity for the vital metabolic steps of amino acid metabolism and gluconeogenesis[37-40]. Second, a low ALT level indicates a vitamin B6 deficiency, and epidemiological evidence indicates that a deficiency of vitamin B6 can increase the risk of cardiovascular disease, immune dysfunction, depression, and neurocognitive impairment[41,42]. Finally, other unmeasured confounding factors, rather than vitamin B6, may lead to death.

> It was also found that the BMI of male and female patients with NAFLD with ALT levels < 0.5 ULN were 26.8 kg/m² and 27.8 kg/m², respectively. Recent epidemiological studies have shown that mild obesity (BMI: 23-29 kg/m²) has a protective effect on overall mortality [43,44]. However, the underlying mechanism is unclear and needs further research.

> Some limitations exist to the current study. First, it is a cross-sectional observation of the relationship between ALT levels and NAFLD, so the time correlation cannot be determined. Second, the diagnosis of NAFLD was carried out by hepatic ultrasound, which does not distinguish fat accumulation of less than



30% [45]. However, the advantages of ultrasound include safety, repeatability, low cost, high sensitivity, and specificity [46]. Therefore, ultrasound is considered a first-line imaging technology in epidemiological research and clinical practice^[47]. Third, despite the adjustments of multiple covariates affecting all-cause and cause-specific mortality, some unmeasured or residual confounding factors may still exist. It was also not possible to extract specific information about liver-related mortality (due to NHANES), and obtaining such data could provide more clarity. Finally, since the participants in NHANES-III represent the population from 1988 to 1994, there may have been a much lower prevalence of diabetes and NAFLD than would be expected today.

However, this study also has its strengths. This is the first study focusing on ALT levels and all-cause and cause-specific mortality in patients with NAFLD. In a large cohort of the United States population, there are rich demographic and metabolic variables, with a median follow-up period of 23.8 years. Unlike other NHANES cycles that lack liver ultrasound results, NHANES-III includes liver steatosis diagnosed by ultrasound, which makes the diagnosis of NAFLD more accurate than that using noninvasive laboratory markers.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the present study's findings confirmed that all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in patients with NAFLD was the highest when ALT was < 0.5 ULN, and, regardless of the severity of the NAFLD, normal or lower ALT levels are associated with higher mortality than elevated ALT levels. This knowledge may be of importance to clinicians who, because of the invasive nature of liver perforation, often use ALT levels as the basis for liver protection treatment. According to the results of this study, in terms of treatment, it may not be beneficial to reduce ALT levels as low as possible. The findings suggest that, on the contrary, clinicians should be more vigilant of patients with NAFLD who have ALT levels < 0.5 ULN.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels are greatly important in the liver disease but the role ALT levels play in the nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is not clear.

Research motivation

This study aimed to investigate the association between ALT levels and all-cause and cause-specific mortality in patients with NAFLD.

Research objectives

To give the clinicians a hint about the patients with NAFLD who have lower ALT levels.

Research methods

The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES-III) from 1988 to 1994 and NHANES-III-related mortality data from 2019 onward were used to obtain the necessary data for the study. NAFLD was defined as hepatic steatosis, as diagnosed by ultrasound, with no other liver diseases. ALT levels were categorized into four groups according to the different recommended upper limits of normal (ULN) in men and women: < 0.5 ULN, 0.5-1 ULN, 1-2 ULN, and \geq 2 ULN. The hazard ratios for all-cause mortality and cause-specific mortality were analyzed using the Cox proportional hazard model.

Research results

In patients with NAFLD, all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality were the highest when ALT was < 0.5 ULN, yet cancer-related mortality was the highest when ALT was \geq 2 ULN. The same results could be found in both men and women. Univariate analysis showed that severe NAFLD with normal ALT levels had the highest all-cause and cause-specific mortality, but the difference was not statistically significant after adjustment for age and multivariate factors, both the underlying mechanism is unclear and needs further research.

Research conclusions

The risk of NAFLD was positively correlated with ALT level, but all-cause and cardiovascular mortality were the highest when ALT was < 0.5 ULN. Regardless of the severity of NAFLD, normal or lower ALT levels were associated with higher mortality than elevated ALT levels. Clinicians should be aware that high ALT levels indicate liver injury, but low ALT levels are associated with a higher risk of death.



Research perspectives

The underlying mechanism about the lower ALT levels and high mortality death is unclear and needs further research.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Feng B designed the study; Zheng JR and Wang ZL contributed to the acquisition, analysis and interpretation of data and drafted the manuscript; Jiang SZ contributed to the critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content and Chen HS contributed to the study supervision; all authors have made a significant contribution to this study and have approved the final manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: The NHANES protocol was approved by the Ethics Review Committee of the National Center for Health Statistics, which obtained informed consent from all subjects.

Informed consent statement: Patients were not required to give informed consent to the study because the analysis used anonymous clinical data that were obtained after each patient agreed to treatment by written consent.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors have declared no conflict of interest.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement – checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement-checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Jia-Rui Zheng 0000-0003-0202-7488; Zi-Long Wang 0000-0003-0983-467X; Bo Feng 0000-0001-5084-6715.

S-Editor: Yan JP L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yan JP

REFERENCES

- Sheka AC, Adeyi O, Thompson J, Hameed B, Crawford PA, Ikramuddin S. Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis: A Review. JAMA 2020; 323: 1175-1183 [PMID: 32207804 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2020.2298]
- Friedman SL, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Rinella M, Sanyal AJ. Mechanisms of NAFLD development and therapeutic 2 strategies. Nat Med 2018; 24: 908-922 [PMID: 29967350 DOI: 10.1038/s41591-018-0104-9]
- Maya-Miles D, Ampuero J, Gallego-Durán R, Dingianna P, Romero-Gómez M. Management of NAFLD patients with 3 advanced fibrosis. Liver Int 2021; 41 Suppl 1: 95-104 [PMID: 34155801 DOI: 10.1111/liv.14847]
- Armstrong MJ, Houlihan DD, Bentham L, Shaw JC, Cramb R, Olliff S, Gill PS, Neuberger JM, Lilford RJ, Newsome 4 PN. Presence and severity of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in a large prospective primary care cohort. J Hepatol 2012; 56: 234-240 [PMID: 21703178 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.03.020]
- Tilg H, Moschen AR, Roden M. NAFLD and diabetes mellitus. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 14: 32-42 [PMID: 27729660 DOI: 10.1038/nrgastro.2016.147]
- Eslam M, Sanyal AJ, George J; International Consensus Panel. MAFLD: A Consensus-Driven Proposed Nomenclature for 6 Metabolic Associated Fatty Liver Disease. Gastroenterology 2020; 158: 1999-2014.e1 [PMID: 32044314 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.11.312]
- Younossi ZM. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease A global public health perspective. J Hepatol 2019; 70: 531-544 [PMID: 7 30414863 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.10.033]
- Kim D, Vazquez-Montesino LM, Escober JA, Fernandes CT, Cholankeril G, Loomba R, Harrison SA, Younossi ZM, 8 Ahmed A. Low Thyroid Function in Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease Is an Independent Predictor of All-Cause and Cardiovascular Mortality. Am J Gastroenterol 2020; 115: 1496-1504 [PMID: 32496342 DOI: 10.14309/ajg.000000000000654]
- Issa D, Patel V, Sanyal AJ. Future therapy for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Liver Int 2018; 38 Suppl 1: 56-63 [PMID: 9 29427492 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13676]
- Kim WR, Flamm SL, Di Bisceglie AM, Bodenheimer HC; Public Policy Committee of the American Association for the 10 Study of Liver Disease. Serum activity of alanine aminotransferase (ALT) as an indicator of health and disease.



Hepatology 2008; 47: 1363-1370 [PMID: 18366115 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22109]

- Angulo P, Hui JM, Marchesini G, Bugianesi E, George J, Farrell GC, Enders F, Saksena S, Burt AD, Bida JP, Lindor K, 11 Sanderson SO, Lenzi M, Adams LA, Kench J, Therneau TM, Day CP. The NAFLD fibrosis score: a noninvasive system that identifies liver fibrosis in patients with NAFLD. Hepatology 2007; 45: 846-854 [PMID: 17393509 DOI: 10.1002/hep.21496
- Amarapurka DN, Amarapurkar AD, Patel ND, Agal S, Baigal R, Gupte P, Pramanik S. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis 12 (NASH) with diabetes: predictors of liver fibrosis. Ann Hepatol 2006; 5: 30-33 [PMID: 16531962]
- DeBoer MD, Lin B, Filipp SL, Cusi K, Gurka MJ. Severity of metabolic syndrome is greater among nonalcoholic adults 13 with elevated ALT and advanced fibrosis. Nutr Res 2021; 88: 34-43 [PMID: 33743323 DOI: 10.1016/j.nutres.2020.12.023
- 14 Cho JY, Jeong JY, Sohn W. Risk of metabolic syndrome in participants within the normal range of alanine aminotransferase: A population-based nationwide study. PLoS One 2020; 15: e0231485 [PMID: 32267895 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0231485]
- Yun KE, Shin CY, Yoon YS, Park HS. Elevated alanine aminotransferase levels predict mortality from cardiovascular disease and diabetes in Koreans. Atherosclerosis 2009; 205: 533-537 [PMID: 19159884 DOI: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2008.12.012]
- Kunutsor SK, Apekey TA, Seddoh D, Walley J. Liver enzymes and risk of all-cause mortality in general populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Epidemiol 2014; 43: 187-201 [PMID: 24585856 DOI: 10.1093/ije/dyt192]
- 17 Liu Z, Ning H, Que S, Wang L, Qin X, Peng T. Complex association between alanine aminotransferase activity and mortality in general population: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. PLoS One 2014; 9: e91410 [PMID: 24633141 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091410]
- 18 Nakamura K, Okamura T, Kanda H, Hayakawa T, Okayama A, Ueshima H; Health Promotion Research Committee of the Shiga National Health Insurance Organizations. The value of combining serum alanine aminotransferase levels and body mass index to predict mortality and medical costs: a 10-year follow-up study of National Health Insurance in Shiga, Japan. J Epidemiol 2006; 16: 15-20 [PMID: 16369104 DOI: 10.2188/jea.16.15]
- Lee TH, Kim WR, Benson JT, Therneau TM, Melton LJ 3rd, Serum aminotransferase activity and mortality risk in a 19 United States community. Hepatology 2008; 47: 880-887 [PMID: 18302294 DOI: 10.1002/hep.22090]
- Schindhelm RK, Dekker JM, Nijpels G, Bouter LM, Stehouwer CD, Heine RJ, Diamant M. Alanine aminotransferase 20 predicts coronary heart disease events: a 10-year follow-up of the Hoorn Study. Atherosclerosis 2007; 191: 391-396 [PMID: 16682043 DOI: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2006.04.006]
- 21 Ruhl CE, Everhart JE. Elevated serum alanine aminotransferase and gamma-glutamyltransferase and mortality in the United States population. Gastroenterology 2009; 136: 477-85.e11 [PMID: 19100265 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.10.052]
- **Ruhl CE.** Everhart JE. The association of low serum alanine aminotransferase activity with mortality in the US 22 population. Am J Epidemiol 2013; 178: 1702-1711 [PMID: 24071009 DOI: 10.1093/aje/kwt209]
- Ramaty E, Maor E, Peltz-Sinvani N, Brom A, Grinfeld A, Kivity S, Segev S, Sidi Y, Kessler T, Sela BA, Segal G. Low 23 ALT blood levels predict long-term all-cause mortality among adults. A historical prospective cohort study. Eur J Intern Med 2014; 25: 919-921 [PMID: 25468741 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejim.2014.10.019]
- Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin 24 resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia 1985; 28: 412-419 [PMID: 3899825 DOI: 10.1007/BF00280883]
- Ruhl CE, Everhart JE. Joint effects of body weight and alcohol on elevated serum alanine aminotransferase in the United 25 States population. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005; 3: 1260-1268 [PMID: 16361053 DOI: 10.1016/s1542-3565(05)00743-3]
- Obisesan TO, Umar N, Paluvoi N, Gillum RF. Association of leisure-time physical activity with cognition by 26 apolipoprotein-E genotype in persons aged 60 years and over: the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES-III). Clin Interv Aging 2012; 7: 35-43 [PMID: 22334766 DOI: 10.2147/CIA.S26794]
- Akabame S, Hamaguchi M, Tomiyasu K, Tanaka M, Kobayashi-Takenaka Y, Nakano K, Oda Y, Yoshikawa T. 27 Evaluation of vulnerable coronary plaques and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) by 64-detector multislice computed tomography (MSCT). Circ J 2008; 72: 618-625 [PMID: 18362435 DOI: 10.1253/circj.72.618]
- Udompap P, Kim D, Kim WR. Current and Future Burden of Chronic Nonmalignant Liver Disease. Clin Gastroenterol 28 Hepatol 2015; 13: 2031-2041 [PMID: 26291665 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2015.08.015]
- 29 Targher G, Byrne CD, Lonardo A, Zoppini G, Barbui C. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and risk of incident cardiovascular disease: A meta-analysis. J Hepatol 2016; 65: 589-600 [PMID: 27212244 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.05.013]
- Wang Z, Xu M, Peng J, Jiang L, Hu Z, Wang H, Zhou S, Zhou R, Hultström M, Lai EY. Prevalence and associated 30 metabolic factors of fatty liver disease in the elderly. Exp Gerontol 2013; 48: 705-709 [PMID: 23721951 DOI: 10.1016/j.exger.2013.05.059
- 31 Porter SA, Pedley A, Massaro JM, Vasan RS, Hoffmann U, Fox CS. Aminotransferase levels are associated with cardiometabolic risk above and beyond visceral fat and insulin resistance: the Framingham Heart Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2013; 33: 139-146 [PMID: 23162012 DOI: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.300075]
- Kim HC, Nam CM, Jee SH, Han KH, Oh DK, Suh I. Normal serum aminotransferase concentration and risk of mortality 32 from liver diseases: prospective cohort study. BMJ 2004; 328: 983 [PMID: 15028636 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.38050.593634.63
- Oh CM, Won YJ, Cho H, Lee JK, Park BY, Jun JK, Koh DH, Ki M, Jung KW, Oh IH. Alanine aminotransferase and 33 gamma-glutamyl transferase have different dose-response relationships with risk of mortality by age. Liver Int 2016; 36: 126-135 [PMID: 26036985 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12879]
- Vespasiani-Gentilucci U, De Vincentis A, Ferrucci L, Bandinelli S, Antonelli Incalzi R, Picardi A. Low Alanine 34 Aminotransferase Levels in the Elderly Population: Frailty, Disability, Sarcopenia, and Reduced Survival. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2018; 73: 925-930 [PMID: 28633440 DOI: 10.1093/gerona/glx126]



- 35 Yamazaki H, Kamitani T, Matsui T, Yamamoto Y, Fukuhara S. Association of low alanine aminotransferase with loss of independence or death: A 5-year population-based cohort study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019; 34: 1793-1799 [PMID: 30761612 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.14631]
- Preuss HG, Kaats GR, Mrvichin N, Bagchi D, Preuss JM. Circulating ALT Levels in Healthy Volunteers Over Life-Span: 36 Assessing Aging Paradox and Nutritional Implications. J Am Coll Nutr 2019; 38: 661-669 [PMID: 31075051 DOI: 10.1080/07315724.2019.1580169]
- Watford M. The urea cycle: Teaching intermediary metabolism in a physiological setting. Biochemi Mol Biol Edu 2010; 37 31: 289-297 [DOI: 10.1002/bmb.2003.494031050249]
- Sookoian S, Pirola CJ. Alanine and aspartate aminotransferase and glutamine-cycling pathway: their roles in pathogenesis 38 of metabolic syndrome. World J Gastroenterol 2012; 18: 3775-3781 [PMID: 22876026 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i29.3775]
- 39 Liu Z, Que S, Xu J, Peng T. Alanine aminotransferase-old biomarker and new concept: a review. Int J Med Sci 2014; 11: 925-935 [PMID: 25013373 DOI: 10.7150/ijms.8951]
- Jing X, Zhang S. An ancient molecule with novel function: Alanine aminotransferase as a lipopolysaccharide binding 40 protein with bacteriocidal activity. Dev Comp Immunol 2011; 35: 94-104 [PMID: 20816894 DOI: 10.1016/j.dci.2010.08.014]
- Selhub J, Bagley LC, Miller J, Rosenberg IH. B vitamins, homocysteine, and neurocognitive function in the elderly. Am J 41 Clin Nutr 2000; 71: 614S-620S [PMID: 10681269 DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/71.2.614s]
- Skarupski KA, Tangney C, Li H, Ouyang B, Evans DA, Morris MC. Longitudinal association of vitamin B-6, folate, and 42 vitamin B-12 with depressive symptoms among older adults over time. Am J Clin Nutr 2010; 92: 330-335 [PMID: 20519557 DOI: 10.3945/ajcn.2010.29413]
- Flegal KM, Kit BK, Orpana H, Graubard BI. Association of all-cause mortality with overweight and obesity using 43 standard body mass index categories: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2013; 309: 71-82 [PMID: 23280227 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2012.113905]
- Kim NH, Lee J, Kim TJ, Kim NH, Choi KM, Baik SH, Choi DS, Pop-Busui R, Park Y, Kim SG. Body Mass Index and 44 Mortality in the General Population and in Subjects with Chronic Disease in Korea: A Nationwide Cohort Study (2002-2010). PLoS One 2015; 10: e0139924 [PMID: 26462235 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0139924]
- 45 Sanyal AJ; American Gastroenterological Association. AGA technical review on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology 2002; 123: 1705-1725 [PMID: 12404245 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2002.36572]
- Saadeh S, Younossi ZM, Remer EM, Gramlich T, Ong JP, Hurley M, Mullen KD, Cooper JN, Sheridan MJ. The utility of 46 radiological imaging in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology 2002; 123: 745-750 [PMID: 12198701 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2002.35354]
- Loria P, Adinolfi LE, Bellentani S, Bugianesi E, Grieco A, Fargion S, Gasbarrini A, Loguercio C, Lonardo A, Marchesini 47 G, Marra F, Persico M, Prati D, Baroni GS; NAFLD Expert Committee of the Associazione Italiana per lo studio del Fegato. Practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. A decalogue from the Italian Association for the Study of the Liver (AISF) Expert Committee. Dig Liver Dis 2010; 42: 272-282 [PMID: 20171943 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2010.01.021]



World Journal of Hepatology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Hepatol 2023 June 27; 15(6): 826-840

DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.826

ISSN 1948-5182 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Randomized Clinical Trial

Randomized intervention and outpatient follow-up lowers 30-d readmissions for patients with hepatic encephalopathy, decompensated cirrhosis

Antoinette Pusateri, Kevin Litzenberg, Claire Griffiths, Caitlin Hayes, Bipul Gnyawali, Michelle Manious, Sean G Kelly, Lanla F Conteh, Sajid Jalil, Haikady N Nagaraja, Khalid Mumtaz

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Manrai M, India; Zeng QL, China

Received: December 22, 2022 Peer-review started: December 22, 2022 First decision: February 14, 2023 Revised: March 23, 2023 Accepted: April 14, 2023 Article in press: April 14, 2023 Published online: June 27, 2023



Antoinette Pusateri, Claire Griffiths, Caitlin Hayes, Sean G Kelly, Sajid Jalil, Khalid Mumtaz, Division of Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition, The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center, Columbus, OH 43210, United States

Kevin Litzenberg, Michelle Manious, Division of Internal Medicine, The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center, Columbus, OH 43210, United States

Bipul Gnyawali, The Ohio State University College of Medicine, The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center, Columbus, OH 43210, United States

Lanla F Conteh, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, The Ohio State Wexner Medical Center, Columbus, OH 43210, United States

Haikady N Nagaraja, Division of Biostatistics, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH 43210, United States

Corresponding author: Antoinette Pusateri, MD, Doctor, Division of Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition, The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center, 2nd Floor Doan Office Tower 395 W. 12th Avenue, Columbus, OH 43210, United States. antoinette.pusateri@osumc.edu

Abstract

BACKGROUND

We previously reported national 30-d readmission rates of 27% in patients with decompensated cirrhosis (DC).

AIM

To study prospective interventions to reduce early readmissions in DC at our tertiary center.

METHODS

Adults with DC admitted July 2019 to December 2020 were enrolled and randomized into the intervention (INT) or standard of care (SOC) arms. Weekly phone calls for a month were completed. In the INT arm, case managers ensured outpatient follow-up, paracentesis, and medication compliance. Thirty-day readmission rates and reasons were compared.

RESULTS

Calculated sample size was not achieved due to coronavirus disease 2019; 240 patients were randomized into INT and SOC arms. 30-d readmission rate was 33.75%, 35.83% in the INT *vs* 31.67% in the SOC arm (P = 0.59). The top reason for 30-d readmission was hepatic encephalopathy (HE, 32.10%). There was a lower rate of 30-d readmissions for HE in the INT (21%) *vs* SOC arm (45%, P = 0.03). There were fewer 30-d readmissions in patients who attended early outpatient follow-up (n = 17, 23.61% *vs* n = 55, 76.39%, P = 0.04).

CONCLUSION

Our 30-d readmission rate was higher than the national rate but reduced by interventions in patients with DC with HE and early outpatient follow-up. Development of interventions to reduce early readmission in patients with DC is needed.

Key Words: Decompensated cirrhosis; Hospital readmissions; Interventions

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Our 30-d readmission rate was higher than the national rate but reduced by interventions in patients with decompensated cirrhosis (DC) with hepatic encephalopathy and early outpatient follow-up. Development of interventions to reduce early readmission in patients with DC is needed.

Citation: Pusateri A, Litzenberg K, Griffiths C, Hayes C, Gnyawali B, Manious M, Kelly SG, Conteh LF, Jalil S, Nagaraja HN, Mumtaz K. Randomized intervention and outpatient follow-up lowers 30-d readmissions for patients with hepatic encephalopathy, decompensated cirrhosis. *World J Hepatol* 2023; 15(6): 826-840 **URL**: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5182/full/v15/i6/826.htm **DOI**: https://dx.doi.org/10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.826

INTRODUCTION

Cirrhosis affects approximately 5 million annually[1] and has been reported to be the 8th leading cause of death with more than 40000 deaths annually in the United States[2]. A study on the burden of gastrointestinal (GI), liver, and pancreatic diseases in the United States revealed that liver diseases had the highest mortality at 3.1%[3]. In addition to high mortality, cirrhosis is also associated with high morbidity. The sequelae of decompensated cirrhosis (DC) are often managed during hospital admissions and include volume overload in the form of ascites, edema or hepatic hydrothorax, portal hypertension leading to bleeding esophageal or gastric varices, as well as hepatic encephalopathy (HE), hyponatremia, acute kidney injury (AKI), and spontaneous bacterial peritonitis (SBP)[4].

Several studies have demonstrated hospital readmissions in DC place a large financial burden on the United State healthcare system. The 30-d readmission rate has been reported to be 20%-37% [5-14]. We have recently published on early readmission rates up to 27% in patients with DC and developed the Mumtaz readmission risk score based on United States data[15]. We also reported that nearly one-third of patients with HE were readmitted within 30 d, and early readmission adversely impacted healthcare utilization and calendar-year mortality[16].

Interventions to reduce readmissions have been shown to be safe and effective. For instance, Morales *et al*[17] developed a program including a hepatologist follow-up exam within 7 d after discharge. This program resulted in a reduction in 30-d readmissions, 60-d mortality, emergency department visits and associated costs[17]. Similarly, another group demonstrated that follow-up with a "care management check-up" as opposed to "standard outpatient care" reduced 30-d readmission, 12-mo mortality and saved 1500 euros per patient month of life[18].

There is a paucity of prospective studies on interventions to reduce early readmission rates in patients with DC. Therefore, we prospectively studied 30-d readmission rates in patients with DC and compared various interventions (INT) with standard of care (SOC) to reduce early readmission rates. We hypothesized that DC patients in the INT arm would have decreased 30-d readmission *vs* the SOC arm.

Raishideng® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was conducted at the Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center (OSUWMC), Columbus, Ohio from July 2019 to December 2020. Our study was approved by OSUWMC Institutional Review Board. All aspects of the studying involving human participants including informed consent for enrollment were in accordance with the ethical standards of our Institutional Review Board and with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

Screening

All patients admitted with DC to the hepatology (inpatient or consult) service were screened for enrollment. Patients meeting inclusion criteria were approached for study consent. Of note, due to the global coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, beginning March 2020, only COVID negative patients were approached for informed consent. Elective readmissions for inpatient procedures including endoscopy, trans-arterial chemoembolization, transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt (TIPS), paracentesis or readmissions unrelated to DC such as motor vehicle accidents were excluded.

Randomization and data collection

Study data were collected and managed using research electronic data capture (REDCap) hosted at The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center[19,20]. Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study. Consented patients were randomly assigned to either the INT arm or the SOC arm in a 1:1 ratio using the REDCap randomization tool. The following data were collected on all patients via REDCap software including demographics (age, sex, insurance type, income based on the zip code), hospitalization data [date of index admission defined as initial admission during which patient consented for study, reason for admission, length of stay (LOS) defined as difference in days between index admission date and index admission discharge date, discharge disposition, associated cost of care of admission as obtained through medical record billing tab], etiology of cirrhosis (alcoholic and non-alcoholic including viral, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, autoimmune, primary biliary cirrhosis, primary sclerosing cholangitis or cryptogenic), complications of cirrhosis (HE, AKI, ascites, variceal bleeding, SBP, hepatorenal syndrome, coagulopathy, portal hypertension, hepatopulmonary syndrome, hepatocellular carcinoma), and procedures performed during admission [esophago-gastro-duodenoscopy, colonoscopy or flexible sigmoidoscopy, paracentesis, TIPS and hemodialysis (HD) on admission and discharge]. We also collected data including Elixhauser comorbidity index, discharge medications, and laboratory data (complete blood counts, serum creatinine, liver function tests including total bilirubin, INR, and sodium). Child Turcotte Pugh (CTP) and Sodium-model for end stage liver disease (MELD-Na) score were calculated from the data. The nurse case manager (CM) also recorded labs & medications at readmission and discharge and associated cost of readmission. Status of early readmission, liver transplantation, and mortality at one year were also collected.

Follow-up

The CM phoned each patient enrolled in either arm weekly for 30 d after index discharge to find out if the patient has been readmitted to OSUWMC or another hospital. In the INT arm, during the call CM also ensured i) early (defined as within 30 d from index admission discharge) outpatient hepatology follow-up ii) compliance of medication, iii) arrangement of outpatient paracentesis if needed, and reviewed outpatient hepatology clinic follow-up records. SOC arm as per our center's protocol had to be taken care of by the primary inpatient team. This included arranging early outpatient clinic follow-up, providing list of medications, and advice for outpatient paracentesis if needed at the time of discharge. Due to the nature of intervention, the study could not be blinded.

Definition of outcomes

Early readmission was defined as admission within 30 d of index admission discharge. Reasons for readmission were gathered by CM by reviewing the electronic medical record (EMR) of all enrolled patients readmitted at OSUWMC or outside hospital within 30 d of index admission. Predictors of early readmission were also compared in the two arms.

Sample size

Based on the sample size calculation, target of recruitment for the study was 848 patients, admitted to the hospital with DC under the hepatology (inpatient and consult) services. Patients were randomly assigned in a 1:1 ratio into INT or SOC arms. Based on our previous study using the National Readmissions Administrative Database, we expected a 30-d readmission rate of 27% among patients meeting inclusion criteria, which yield 114/424 patients with 30-d readmission events, thus meeting the target sample size. Based on this calculation, a total sample size of 848 (424 per group) provided 80% power to detect a 30% decrease in 30-d readmission rate (from 27% to 19%) with a type I error rate of 0.05. However, planned sample size could not be achieved due to the COVID-19 pandemic related restriction started in our center in March 2020. Therefore, we end up with available sample size of a total


of 240 patients. The modified consort flow diagram for enrollment in our study trial is illustrated in Figure 1.

Statistical analysis

Means of continuous response variables between two groups were compared using robust t-test (Welch test). Proportions were compared using x-test or Fisher's exact test as applicable. Logarithmic transformation was used for comparing the LOS and admission cost across groups. Level of significance was kept at 0.05 for each comparison. JMP Version 15 (SAS Institute, NC) was used for all the analyses.

RESULTS

Initial screening data

From July 1, 2019, to December 1, 2020, 1392 patients were screened. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, recruitment was held from March 2020 to July 2020 and subsequently resumed until December 2020. Out of the patients screened, only 499 (35.85%) were eligible for inclusion; however, 240 patients consented and randomized: 120 each into the INT and SOC arm (Figure 1).

Patient demographics and clinical characteristics

The mean age of patients was 56.34 ± 11.19 years, majority were males (135, 56.25%), belonged to White race (n = 202, 84.17%) and non-Hispanic or Latino ethnicity (n = 227, 94.58%). Almost two-thirds of the patients had public insurance (n = 76, 31.67% on Medicare and n = 70, 29.17% on Medicaid); 73 (30.42%) had private insurance. At admission, the mean MELD-Na score and mean CTP Score were 21.89 ± 8.03 and 9.36 \pm 1.96, respectively. Major etiology of cirrhosis was alcohol (n = 121, 50.42%) followed by nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (n = 79, 32.92%) and viral hepatitis (n = 43, 17.92%). Furthermore, 116 (48.33%) patients were actively under evaluation for liver transplantation.

Characteristics of index admissions

The index admission mean LOS was 8.13 ± 5.83 d (median 6, range 1-43 d). The mean cost of index admission was \$60595 ± \$47174 (*n* = 225, median \$42932, range \$1630-251991). The top five reasons for index admission included volume overload (n = 111, 46.25%), AKI (n = 65, 27.08%), hepatic encephalopathy (n = 45, 18.75%), variceal bleed (n = 42, 17.50%), lower GI bleed (n = 19, 7.92%) and hyponatremia (n = 16, 6.67%). The top five interventions performed were esophago-gastro-duodenoscopy (n = 136, 56.67%), paracentesis (n = 115, 47.92%), colonoscopy/flexible sigmoidoscopy (n = 24, 10%), HD (n = 15, 6.25%) and TIPS (n = 10, 4.17%). Most patients were discharged from index admission to home (n = 159, 66.25%) followed by home with health care (n = 42, 17.50%) and skilled nursing facility (*n* = 32, 13.33 %, Table 1).

Characteristics and reasons for early readmissions

Overall, 81 (33.75%) patients were readmitted within 30 d of discharge. The major reasons for first readmission included hepatic encephalopathy (n = 26, 32.10%) followed by volume overload (n = 22, 32.10%) 27.16%), AKI (*n* = 16, 19.75%), variceal bleed (*n* = 12, 14.82%) and hyponatremia (*n* = 10, 12.35%). 14 patients were readmitted twice, 3 admitted thrice and one admitted 5 times within 30 d. The mean time to first readmission was 12.65 ± 7.55 d (median 12 d, range 1-30 d). The mean LOS of first readmission was 8.11 ± 8.98 days. The mean cost of stay of first readmission was 55548.29 ± 65164.91 (Table 2). Those readmitted had a higher MELD-Na score on index admission ($23.54 \pm 7.80 vs 21.05 \pm 8.03, P =$ 0.02) and index discharge (21.67 \pm 7.95 vs 19.39 \pm 6.89, P = 0.03) than those not readmitted. Similarly, those readmitted had a higher index admission creatinine $(1.80 \pm 1.53 vs 1.39 \pm 1.16, P = 0.03)$, index discharge creatinine ($1.61 \pm 1.34 vs 1.20 \pm 0.97$, P = 0.02), and higher index admission INR ($1.80 \pm 0.64 vs$ 1.63 ± 0.50 , P = 0.05) than those not readmitted.

Comparison of demographics and clinical characteristics in two intervention arms

Demographics including age, race, ethnicity, income, and insurance were comparable in two groups, as well as etiology of cirrhosis, MELD-Na score, CTP score, status of evaluation for liver transplant. There were majority females in the INT arm (60/120, 50% vs 45/120, 32.50%) and males in SOC arm (75/120, 62.50% vs 60/120, 50%, P = 0.03, Table 3). Index admission characteristics, disposition and index admission were also comparative in two arms (Tables 4 and 5).

Comparison of reasons of 1st readmission and outcomes in the INT vs SOC arm

There was no difference in the readmission rates for patients in the INT (n = 4, 35.83%) vs SOC arm (n = 4, 35.83%) vs (n38, 31.67%, P = 0.59, Table 6). Other outcomes including number of readmissions within 30 d (P = 0.65), index admission cost (P = 0.49), index admission LOS (P = 0.63), 1st readmission LOS (P = 0.58), all readmissions' LOS (P = 0.82) and waiting time for 1st readmission (P = 0.06) were comparable in two arms.



Table 1 Characteristic features of index admission by readmission status, n (%)				
	Total	Not readmitted (n = 159)	Readmitted (<i>n</i> = 81)	P value
Index admission characteristics				
Reasons for admission ¹				
Acute kidney injury	65, 27.08	41, 25.79	24, 29.63	0.54
Hyponatremia	16, 6.67	11, 6.92	5, 6.17	1.00
Hepatic encephalopathy	45, 18.75	26, 16.35	19, 23.46	0.22
Volume overload	111, 46.25	81, 50.94	30, 37.04	0.06
Variceal bleed	42, 17.50	31, 19.50	11, 13.58	0.29
Lower GI bleed	19, 7.92	11, 6.92	8, 9.88	0.45
SBP	21, 8.75	14, 8.81	7, 8.64	1.00
Complications of cirrhosis during admission ¹				
Presence of AKI	80, 33.33	50, 31.45	30, 37.04	0.39
HE	49, 20.42	31, 19.50	18, 22.22	0.62
Ascites	139, 57.92	95, 59.75	44, 54.32	0.49
Variceal bleeding	37, 15.42	26, 16.35	11, 13.58	0.71
SBP	16, 6.67	12, 7.55	4, 4.94	0.59
HRS	14, 5.83	8, 5.03	6, 7.41	0.56
Coagulopathy	56, 23.33	36, 22.64	20, 24.69	0.75
Portal hypertension	46, 19.17	34, 21.38	12, 14.81	0.30
HPS	15, 6.25	8, 5.03	7, 8.64	0.27
HCC	11, 4.58	6, 3.77	5, 6.17	0.51
Procedures performed during admission ¹				
EGD	136, 56.67	92, 57.86	44, 54.32	0.68
Paracentesis	115, 47.92	73, 45.91	42, 51.85	0.41
Emergent TIPS	10, 4.17	9, 5.66	1, 1.23	0.17
HD	15, 6.25	7, 4.40	8, 9.88	0.16
Colonoscopy/flex sig	24, 10.00	18, 11.32	6, 7.41	0.37
Disposition ¹				
Home	159, 66.25	107, 67.30	52, 64.20	0.66
Home with Home Health Newly Arranged	39, 16.25	24, 15.09	15, 18.52	
Home with Home Health Previously Arranged	3, 1.25	2, 1.26	1, 1.23	
SNF newly Arranged	21, 8.75	16, 10.06	5, 6.17	
SNF Previously Arranged	11, 4.58	5, 3.14	6, 7.41	
Left Against Medical Advice	2, 0.83	1, 0.63	1, 1.23	
Transfer (long term acute care hospital)	3, 1.25	2, 1.26	1, 1.23	
Homeless	2, 0.83	2, 1.26	0, 0.00	

SBP: Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis; AKI: Acute kidney injury; HE: Hepatic encephalopathy; HRS: Hepatorenal syndrome; HPS: Hepato-pulmonary syndrome; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; EGD: Esophago-gastro-duodenoscopy; GI: Gastrointestinal; TIPS: Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt; HD: Hemodialysis; SNF: Skilled Nursing Facility.

Baisbideng® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Characteristics and reasons for readmission		
Readmission status	n	%
No	159	66.25
Yes	81	33.75
Number of readmissions within 30 d		
0	159	66.25
1	63	26.25
2	14	5.83
3	3	1.25
5	1	0.42
Location of 1 st readmission		
OSUWMC	59	72.84
Outside hospital	22	27.16
Reason for 1 st readmission ¹		
Hepatic encephalopathy	26	32.10
Volume overload	22	27.16
Acute kidney injury	16	19.75
Variceal bleed	12	14.82
Hyponatremia	10	12.35
Lower GI bleed	4	4.94
Spontaneous Bacterial Peritonitis	3	3.70
LOS of first readmission ($n = 81$, mean ± SD), median = 5, range = 1 to 69	8.11 ± 8.98	
LOS of all readmissions ($n = 105$, mean \pm SD), median = 4, range = 0 to 124	9.03 ± 14.42	
Cost of first readmission ($n = 45$, mean \pm SD), median= \$31848.95, range \$765-325656.38	\$55548.29 ± 65164.91	
Waiting time for first readmission ($n = 81$, mean ± SD), median = 12, range = 1-30	12.65 ± 7.55	

OSUWMC: The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center; GI: Gastrointestinal; LOS: Length of stay.

Statistically significant differences were noticed in INT arm in location of 1^{st} readmission (n = 36, 83.72% at OSU as compared to n = 23, 60.5% outside hospital, P = 0.03), and lesser 1st readmission with HE in the INT arm (n = 9, 20.9%) vs SOC (n = 17, 44.7%, P = 0.03). Finally, contingency analysis of readmission data showed fewer readmissions in patients who attended outpatient follow-up within 30 days of discharge from index admission (*n* = 17, 23.61% *vs n* = 55, 76.39%, *P* = 0.04).

At the end of our study, 47 (19.58%) patients received a liver transplant and 62 (25.83%) died; among those who died, 5 patients were post-transplant and 22 died in hospice. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic we were unable to achieve the anticipated sample size. Therefore, multivariate analysis was not performed.

DISCUSSION

This prospective randomized study investigated early readmission rates and healthcare utilization in patients with DC. Our readmission rate of 33.75% is higher than the United States national average (27%). While our nurse CM interventions did not reduce told readmissions, we found that HE was the top reason for readmission and such interventions were helpful in reducing early readmissions in patients with HE. This is an important lesson learned given increased burden of HE on hospitalizations, falls, mortality, impaired quality of life and caregiver burden[21]. In the validation of readmission using the liver-renal-risk score or "LIRER score", Freitas et al[22] showed that HE was not only a predictor of



Table 3 Comparison of patient demographics and clinical characteristics by randomization arm, <i>n</i> (%)					
	Intervention (n = 120)	Standard of care (n = 120)	P value		
Patient demographics					
Age (mean ± SD)	56.54 ± 11.21	56.14 ± 11.21	0.78		
Age group					
65+	32, 26.67	28, 23.33	0.79		
40-64	75, 62.50	80, 66.67			
18-39	13, 10.83	12, 10.00			
Gender					
Male	60, 50.00	75, 62.50	0.03		
Female	60, 50.00	45, 32.50			
Race					
White	105, 87.50	97, 80.83	0.22		
Other	15, 12.50	23, 19.17			
Ethnicity					
Not Hispanic or latino	113, 94.17	114, 95.00	0.81		
Hispanic or latino	3, 2.50	1, 0.83			
Unknown / Not reported	4, 3.33	5, 4.17			
Zip code income (mean ± SD)	\$68045 ± \$21370	\$68455 ± \$21651	0.88		
Employment status					
Unemployed	33, 27.50	30, 25.00	0.78		
Disabled	24, 20.00	24, 20.00			
Retired	26, 21.67	30, 20.00			
Employed, part time	5, 4.17	3, 2.50			
Employed, full time	23, 19.17	28, 23.33			
Other / Unknown	9, 7.50	14, 11.67			
Insurance type					
Self-pay	4, 3.33	3, 2.50	0.54		
No Charge / Other / Unknown	7, 5.83	7, 5.83			
Private insurance	38, 31.67	35, 29.17			
Medicare	32, 26.67	44, 36.67			
Medicaid	39, 32.50	31, 25.83			
Number of admissions at OSU for DC in last 1 year (mean ± SD)	1.99 ± 1.61	1.84 ± 1.48	0.45		
MELD-Na score admit (mean ± SD)	21.32 ± 8.19	22.47 ± 7.85	0.27		
MELD-Na score discharge (mean \pm SD, $n = 117+118$)	20.07 ± 7.74	20.25 ± 6.93	0.84		
CTP score admit (mean ± SD)	9.31 ± 2.02	9.41 ± 1.89	0.69		
CTP score discharge (mean ± SD)	8.44 ± 1.86	8.73 ± 1.89	0.24		
Etiology of cirrhosis (Index admission ¹)					
Alcoholic	61, 50.83	60, 50.00	1.00		
Non-alcoholic fatty liver	42, 35.00	37, 30.83	0.58		
Viral	21, 17.50	22, 18.33	1.00		
Нер В	1, 4.76	3, 13.64	0.80		
Hep C	19, 90.48	18, 81.82			



Hep B and C	1, 4.76	1, 4.55	
Cryptogenic	6, 5.00	7, 5.83	1.00
Autoimmune	1, 0.83	1, 0.83	1.00
Primary sclerosing cholangitis	2, 1.67	2, 1.67	1.00
Hemochromatosis	0, 0.0	3, 2.5	0.25
Alpha 1 anti-trypsin deficiency	3, 2.5	0, 0.0	0.25
Under evaluation for liver transplant			
No	45, 37.50	61, 50.83	0.08
Yes	63, 52.50	53, 44.17	
Unknown	12, 10.00	6, 5.00	

OSUWMC: The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center; DC: Decompensated cirrhosis; MELD-Na: Model of End Stage Liver Disease Score; CTP: Child Pugh Score.



DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.826 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Modified consort flow diagram of patients eligible for enrollment in study trial. INT: Intervention; SOC: Standard of care.

30 d readmission independent of MELD score, index, first-year, two-years and overall mortality, but also HE at admission had significantly higher mean LIRER scores. Furthermore HE patients on Medicare and geographically from the South or Midwest have higher in-hospital mortality^[23]. Considerable research has been done to address HE readmissions. Bajaj et al[24] found that efforts to reduce medication-precipitated HE, prevent aspiration pneumonia and optimize HE medications on hospital

Table 4 Characteristic features during index admission in two randomization arms, n (%)				
Index admission characteristics	Intervention (n = 120)	Standard of care (n = 120)	<i>P</i> value	
Reasons for admission ¹				
Acute kidney injury	30, 25.00	35, 29.17	0.56	
Hyponatremia	10, 8.33	6, 5.00	0.44	
Hepatic encephalopathy	22, 18.33	23, 19.17	1	
Volume overload	59, 49.17	52, 43.33	0.44	
Variceal bleed	21, 17.50	21, 17.50	1	
Lower GI bleed	8, 6.67	11, 9.17	0.63	
SBP	9, 7.50	12, 10.00	0.65	
Complications of cirrhosis during admission ¹				
Presence of AKI	39, 32.50	41, 34.17	0.89	
HE	25, 20.83	24, 20.00	1	
Ascites	70, 58.33	69, 57.50	1	
Variceal bleeding	21, 17.50	16, 13.33	0.48	
SBP	10, 8.33	6, 5.00	0.44	
HRS	7, 5.83	7, 5.83	1	
Coagulopathy	32, 26.67	24, 20.00	0.29	
Portal hypertension	19, 15.83	27, 22.50	0.25	
HPS	10, 8.33	5, 4.17	0.29	
НСС	6, 5.00	5, 4.17	1	
Procedures performed during admission ¹				
EGD	68, 56.67	68, 56.67	1	
Paracentesis	60, 50.00	55, 45.83	0.61	
TIPS	7, 5.83	3, 2.50	0.33	
HD	5, 4.17	10, 8.33	0.29	
Colonoscopy/flex sig	13, 10.83	11, 9.17	0.83	
Disposition				
Home	83, 69.17	76, 63.33	0.44	
Home with home health newly arranged	17, 14.17	22, 18.33		
Home with home health previously arranged	2, 1.67	1, 0.83		
SNF newly arranged	7, 5.83	14, 11.67		
SNF previously arranged	6, 5.00	5, 4.17		
Left against medical advice	1, 0.83	1, 0.83		
Transfer (Long term acute care hospital)	3, 2.50	0, 0.00		
Homeless	1, 0.83	1, 0.83		

SBP: Spontaneous Bacterial Peritonitis; AKI: Acute kidney injury; HE: Hepatic encephalopathy; HRS: Hepatorenal syndrome; HPS: Hepato-pulmonary syndrome; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; EGD: Esophago-gastro-duodenoscopy; TIPS: Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt; HD: Hemodialysis; SNF: Skilled Nursing Facility; GI: Gastrointestinal.

discharge should be areas of focus to decrease HE readmissions. Tapper *et al*[25] demonstrated that development of a checklist for HE protocols integrated into the EMR and order entry system reduced odds of 30-d readmission for patients with HE (from 39.2% to 27.6%). Thus, our results are congruent with existing evidence that interventions should be invested in post-discharge education and

Baishideng® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 5 Clinical and laboratory features during index admission and discharge in two randomization arms, <i>n</i> (%)				
	Intervention (<i>n</i> = 120)	Standard of care (<i>n</i> = 120)	P value	
Index admission labs (mean ± SD)				
Sodium	132.59 ± 5.58	132.28 ± 6.28	0.68	
Serum creatinine (mg/dL)	1.42 ± 1.11	1.64 ± 1.47	0.19	
Total bilirubin (mg/dL)	5.90 ± 9.10	6.19 ± 7.80	0.79	
Albumin (g/dL)	2.83 ± 0.59	2.85 ± 0.55	0.72	
INR	1.68 ± 0.52	1.70 ± 0.59	0.80	
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	10.22 ± 2.34	10.02 ± 2.04	0.48	
Ascites				
Absent	35, 29.17	35, 29.17	0.44	
Slight	26, 21.67	34, 28.33		
Moderate	59, 49.17	51, 42.50		
Encephalopathy				
None	91, 75.83	96, 80.00	0.78	
Grade 1-2	22, 18.33	18, 15.00		
Grade 3-4	7, 5.83	6, 5.00		
Dialysis at least twice in last week				
No	117, 97.50	115, 95.83	0.72	
Yes	3, 2.50	5, 4.17		
Index admission discharge labs (mean ± SD)				
Sodium (mmol/L)	134.72 ± 4.14	134.95 ± 3.57	0.64	
Serum creatinine (mg/dL)	1.31 ± 1.06	1.37 ± 1.18	0.69	
Total bilirubin (mg/dL, $n = 237$)	5.50 ± 8.80	5.39 ± 6.96	0.92	
Albumin (g/dL, $n = 237$)	2.98 ± 0.64	2.94 ± 0.61	0.65	
INR (<i>n</i> = 238)	1.71 ± 0.49	1.69 ± 0.45	0.65	
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	9.30 ± 1.69	9.21 ± 1.68	0.68	
Ascites				
Absent	42, 35.00	39, 32.50	0.35	
Slight	56, 46.67	66, 55.00		
Moderate	22, 18.33	15, 12.50		
Encephalopathy				
None	117, 97.50	112. 93.33	0.10	
Grade 1-2	2, 1.67	8, 6.67		
Grade 3-4	1, 0.83	0, 0.00		
Dialysis at least twice in last week				
No	114, 95.00	110, 91.67	0.44	
Yes	6, 5.00	10, 8.33		

communication for all patients with cirrhosis, especially with HE.

One of the components of intervention in our study was to arrange appointment of patients in the clinic within a week with their hepatologist. Patients with DC who attended their follow up appointment within 30 d of discharge from index admission had fewer readmissions. This suggests that overall, in our cohort, outpatient linkage with a hepatologist should be a priority to reduce readmission rates [26]. Morales et al[17] in their retrospective program looked at the impact of follow-up of cirrhotics within 7 d after discharge with a hepatologist. They reported reduced 30-d readmission, 60-d mortality

Table 6 Outcomes and reasons of readmission characteristics by randomization arms, <i>n</i> (%)					
	Intervention (<i>n</i> = 120)	Standard of care (n = 120)	P value		
Readmission					
No	77, 64.17	82, 68.33	0.59		
Yes	43, 35.83	38, 31.67			
Number of readmissions within 30 d					
0	77, 64.17	82, 68.33	0.65		
1	31, 25.83	32, 26.67			
2	9, 7.50	5, 4.17			
3	2, 1.67	1, 0.83			
5	1, 0.83	0, 0.00			
Location of 1 st readmission					
Our institution	36, 83.72	23, 60.53	0.03		
Outside hospital	7, 16.28	15, 39.47			
Reason for 1 st readmission ¹					
Acute kidney injury	10, 23.26	6, 15.79	0.58		
Hyponatremia	4, 9.30	6, 15.79	0.50		
Hepatic encephalopathy	9, 20.93	17, 44.74	0.03		
Volume overload	13, 30.23	9, 23.68	0.62		
Variceal bleed	6, 13.95	6, 15.79	1.00		
Lower GI bleed	1, 2.33	3, 7.89	0.34		
Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis	2, 4.65	1, 2.63	1.00		
Other	20, 46.51	22, 57.89	0.37		
Index admission cost (mean \pm SD, $n = 116 + 109$)	61581 ± 47825	59547 ± 46669	0.46		
Index admission LOS (mean ± SD)	8.17 ± 5.56	8.08 ± 6.11	0.63		
First readmission LOS ($n = 43 + 38$, mean ± SD)	7.58 ± 7.57	8.71 ± 10.41	0.58		
All readmissions LOS ($n = 60 + 45$, mean \pm SD)	9.28 ± 16.88	8.69 ± 10.44	0.82		
Waiting time for first readmission ($n = 43 + 38$, mean ± SD)	11.16 ± 7.10	14.34 ± 7.77	0.06		

GI: Gastrointestinal; LOS: Length of stay.

and rate of emergency department visits and associated costs in those who followed up within 7 d. Morando *et al*[18] demonstrated that follow up with a "care management check-up" group as opposed to "standard outpatient care" reduced 30-d readmission, reduced 12-mo mortality, and saved almost 1500 euros per patient month of life. While Kanwal *et al*[9] found early outpatient follow-up after discharge was associated with a small increase in readmissions, they found an lower overall mortality in their patients with cirrhosis admitted to Veterans Affairs hospitals. Thus our results are also consistent with the current evidence that patients with DC likely benefit from early post-hospitalization follow up with specialty providers[27,28].

One of the major limitations of our study was inability to enroll patients according to the proposed sample size due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Our study was underpowered to perform multiple regression analysis to detect differences in readmission rates in INT *vs* SOC arm. From March 2020 to July 2020 our recruitment process was put on hold due to hospital regulations to reduce patient and staff exposure. Despite this major limitation, we were able to enroll 80.17% (279 consented out of 348 approached) of patients in our study.

This study was also performed in the setting of a large academic medical center and a high-volume liver transplant center. While our methods and results may be applicable to the clinical practice of other such centers, the same impact may not be appreciated by smaller, community hospitals that are not liver transplant centers.

Zaishidena® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

Future work in patients with DC should continue to focus on prospective intervention strategies to reduce early readmissions and educate patients and providers. To achieve desired sample size, we would suggest collaborations with various centers to identify and recruit patients with DC into a multicenter prospective cohort. Given our finding that there were fewer readmissions in patients with follow-up within 30 d, studies should evaluate the use of telehealth visits for follows up, especially in the COVID19 era, as outlined by Stotts *et al*[29].

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, this prospective randomized study investigated the impact of various pragmatic interventions to reduce early readmission and healthcare utilization in patients with DC. Our study was underpowered to detect statistically significant differences in readmission rates in INT vs SOC arm. We reported that readmission rate of our medical center was 33.75% and HE was the top reason for readmission. We found a reduction in early readmission in patients with HE in the INT arm and those who attended their follow up appointment within 30 d of discharge from index admission. We demonstrated that simple interventions in patients with DC are pragmatic and there is need for more prospective multicenter trials in this area of research.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Decompensated cirrhosis (DC) is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in the United States often requiring multiple hospitalizations to manage. Studies show 20%-37% of patients with DC are readmitted within 30 d of index admission, which has significant burden on patients, their families and the healthcare system.

Research motivation

We were motivated to study and reduce readmissions as we see the physical, mental and emotional toll repeated hospitalizations for DC take on our patients and their families.

Research objectives

We sought to enroll patients in a randomized trial seeing if a nurse case manager (CM) ensuring early outpatient follow up, medication compliance and outpatient paracentesis if needed reduced readmissions in patients with DC.

Research methods

We sought to enroll patients in a randomized trial seeing if a nurse CM ensuring early outpatient follow up, medication compliance and outpatient paracentesis if needed reduced readmissions in patients with DC

Research results

While our calculated sample size was not achieved due to the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic, we found a 33.75% 30 d readmission rate in our patients admitted with DC. There was no difference in readmission between intervention and standard of care arms. Most patients were re-admitted with hepatic encephalopathy. There was a lower 30 d readmission rate in patients with hepatic encephalopathy in the intervention arm and those who attended early outpatient follow up.

Research conclusions

Our 30 d readmission was higher than the national rate. Further efforts should explore the positive impact of a nurse CM and early outpatient follow up in reducing readmissions for patients with cirrhosis, especially with hepatic encephalopathy.

Research perspectives

Further development of strategies to predict and reduce readmissions for patients with DC should be done.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported by the Clinical Research Center/Center for Clinical Research Management



of The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center and The Ohio State University College of Medicine in Columbus, Ohio. The project was entitled "GASTR29: Prospective validation of readmission risk score and interventions to prevent readmission in patients with decompensated cirrhosis (CCTS ID#: 6018)". This project was funded by the Ohio State University Self Insurance Program and supported by NIH Award Number UL1TROO2733 from the National Center for Advancing Translational Science. We also give a special thanks to our nurse case managers from The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center Clinical Research Center for their work in the weekly patient calls: Holly Bookless, RN, Elizabeth Cassandra, RN and Dina McGowan, RN.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Pusateri A and Mumtaz K study design, team administration, training team members for recruiting, recruiting patients for study, interpreting data, drafting manuscript; both approved the final submitted version of this manuscript; Litzenberg K, Griffiths C, Hayes C, Gnyawali B and Manious M recruiting patients for study, drafting manuscript, approved the final submitted version of manuscript; Jalil S, Kelly S and Conteh L reviewed and edited the final draft of the manuscript; Nagaraja K analyzed data, edited manuscript, and approved the final submitted version of this manuscript.

Supported by GASTR29: Prospective validation of readmission risk score and interventions to prevent readmission in patients with decompensated cirrhosis (CCTS ID#: 6018).

Institutional review board statement: This study was conducted at the Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center (OSUWMC), Columbus, Ohio from July 2019 to December 2020. Our study was approved by OSUWMC Institutional Review Board. All aspects of the studying involving human participants including informed consent for enrollment were in accordance with the ethical standards of our Institutional Review Board and with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

Clinical trial registration statement: Since our randomized trial was of a nursing intervention only, it was not an official randomized control clinical trial that needed registering on a national level.

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Antoinette Pusateri 0000-0002-8458-7827; Bipul Gnyawali 0000-0003-4745-2787; Sean G Kelly 0000-0002-9434-9924; Lanla F Conteh 0000-0002-4372-993X; Sajid Jalil 0000-0001-6123-153X; Khalid Mumtaz 0000-0001-7868-6514.

S-Editor: Liu XF L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY

REFERENCES

- Blackwell DL VM. Summary Health Statistics for U.S. Adults: National Health Interview Survey, 2016. Hyattsville, 1 United States of America: National Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018
- Murphy SL, Xu J, Kochanek KD, Curtin SC, Arias E. Deaths: Final Data for 2015. Natl Vital Stat Rep 2017; 66: 1-75 2 [PMID: 29235985]
- Peery AF, Crockett SD, Murphy CC, Lund JL, Dellon ES, Williams JL, Jensen ET, Shaheen NJ, Barritt AS, Lieber SR, 3 Kochar B, Barnes EL, Fan YC, Pate V, Galanko J, Baron TH, Sandler RS. Burden and Cost of Gastrointestinal, Liver, and Pancreatic Diseases in the United States: Update 2018. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: 254-272.e11 [PMID: 30315778 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.08.063]
- Talwalkar JA. Prophylaxis with beta blockers as a performance measure of quality health care in cirrhosis. 4 Gastroenterology 2006; 130: 1005-1007 [PMID: 16530542 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.11.055]



- Berman K, Tandra S, Forssell K, Vuppalanchi R, Burton JR Jr, Nguyen J, Mullis D, Kwo P, Chalasani N. Incidence and 5 predictors of 30-day readmission among patients hospitalized for advanced liver disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011; 9: 254-259 [PMID: 21092762 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2010.10.035]
- Agrawal K, Kumar P, Markert R, Agrawal S. Risk Factors for 30-Day Readmissions of Individuals with Decompensated 6 Cirrhosis. South Med J 2015; 108: 682-687 [PMID: 26539950 DOI: 10.14423/SMJ.00000000000371]
- Volk ML, Tocco RS, Bazick J, Rakoski MO, Lok AS. Hospital readmissions among patients with decompensated 7 cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 2012; 107: 247-252 [PMID: 21931378 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2011.314]
- Bajaj JS, Reddy KR, Tandon P, Wong F, Kamath PS, Garcia-Tsao G, Maliakkal B, Biggins SW, Thuluvath PJ, Fallon 8 MB, Subramanian RM, Vargas H, Thacker LR, O'Leary JG; North American Consortium for the Study of End-Stage Liver Disease. The 3-month readmission rate remains unacceptably high in a large North American cohort of patients with cirrhosis. Hepatology 2016; 64: 200-208 [PMID: 26690389 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28414]
- Kanwal F, Asch SM, Kramer JR, Cao Y, Asrani S, El-Serag HB. Early outpatient follow-up and 30-day outcomes in patients hospitalized with cirrhosis. Hepatology 2016; 64: 569-581 [PMID: 26991920 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28558]
- 10 Tapper EB, Halbert B, Mellinger J. Rates of and Reasons for Hospital Readmissions in Patients With Cirrhosis: A Multistate Population-based Cohort Study. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 14: 1181-1188.e2 [PMID: 27085758 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2016.04.009]
- Singal AG, Rahimi RS, Clark C, Ma Y, Cuthbert JA, Rockey DC, Amarasingham R. An automated model using electronic 11 medical record data identifies patients with cirrhosis at high risk for readmission. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2013; 11: 1335-1341.e1 [PMID: 23591286 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2013.03.022]
- Orman ES, Ghabril M, Emmett TW, Chalasani N. Hospital Readmissions in Patients with Cirrhosis: A Systematic 12 Review. J Hosp Med 2018; 13: 490-495 [PMID: 29694458 DOI: 10.12788/jhm.2967]
- Morales BP, Planas R, Bartoli R, Morillas RM, Sala M, Cabré E, Casas I, Masnou H. Early hospital readmission in 13 decompensated cirrhosis: Incidence, impact on mortality, and predictive factors. Dig Liver Dis 2017; 49: 903-909 [PMID: 28410915 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2017.03.005]
- Mumtaz K, Issak A, Porter K, Kelly S, Hanje J, Michaels AJ, Conteh LF, El-Hinnawi A, Black SM, Abougergi MS. 14 Validation of Risk Score in Predicting Early Readmissions in Decompensated Cirrhotic Patients: A Model Based on the Administrative Database. Hepatology 2019; 70: 630-639 [PMID: 30218583 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30274]
- Sobotka LA, Modi RM, Vijayaraman A, Hanje AJ, Michaels AJ, Conteh LF, Hinton A, El-Hinnawi A, Mumtaz K. 15 Paracentesis in cirrhotics is associated with increased risk of 30-day readmission. World J Hepatol 2018; 10: 425-432 [PMID: 29988878 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v10.i6.425]
- Kruger AJ, Aberra F, Black SM, Hinton A, Hanje J, Conteh LF, Michaels AJ, Krishna SG, Mumtaz K. A validated risk 16 model for prediction of early readmission in patients with hepatic encephalopathy. Ann Hepatol 2019; 18: 310-317 [PMID: 31047848 DOI: 10.1016/j.aohep.2018.08.001]
- Morales BP, Planas R, Bartoli R, Morillas RM, Sala M, Casas I, Armengol C, Masnou H. HEPACONTROL. A program 17 that reduces early readmissions, mortality at 60 days, and healthcare costs in decompensated cirrhosis. Dig Liver Dis 2018; 50: 76-83 [PMID: 28870446 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2017.08.024]
- 18 Morando F, Maresio G, Piano S, Fasolato S, Cavallin M, Romano A, Rosi S, Gola E, Frigo AC, Stanco M, Destro C, Rupolo G, Mantoan D, Gatta A, Angeli P. How to improve care in outpatients with cirrhosis and ascites: a new model of care coordination by consultant hepatologists. J Hepatol 2013; 59: 257-264 [PMID: 23523582 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.03.010]
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, Elliott V, Fernandez M, O'Neal L, McLeod L, Delacqua G, Delacqua F, Kirby J, Duda 19 SN; REDCap Consortium. The REDCap consortium: Building an international community of software platform partners. J Biomed Inform 2019; 95: 103208 [PMID: 31078660 DOI: 10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208]
- 20 Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009; 42: 377-381 [PMID: 18929686 DOI: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010]
- Frenette CT, Levy C, Saab S. Hepatic Encephalopathy-Related Hospitalizations in Cirrhosis: Transition of Care and 21 Closing the Revolving Door. Dig Dis Sci 2022; 67: 1994-2004 [PMID: 34169435 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-021-07075-2]
- 22 Freitas M, Xavier S, Magalhães R, Magalhães J, Marinho C, Cotter J. LIRER score - a valuable tool to predict mediumlong-term outcomes in hepatic cirrhosis decompensation. Scand J Gastroenterol 2020; 55: 1079-1086 [PMID: 32715829 DOI: 10.1080/00365521.2020.1797156]
- 23 Trieu H, Patel A, Wells C, Saab S, Lee EW. Disparities in Mortality and Health Care Utilization for 460,851 Hospitalized Patients with Cirrhosis and Hepatic Encephalopathy. Dig Dis Sci 2021; 66: 2595-2602 [PMID: 32926262 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-020-06582-y]
- Bajaj JS, O'Leary JG, Tandon P, Wong F, Kamath PS, Biggins SW, Garcia-Tsao G, Lai J, Fallon MB, Thuluvath PJ, 24 Vargas HE, Maliakkal B, Subramanian RM, Thacker LR, Reddy KR. Targets to improve quality of care for patients with hepatic encephalopathy: data from a multi-centre cohort. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2019; 49: 1518-1527 [PMID: 31032966 DOI: 10.1111/apt.15265]
- Tapper EB, Finkelstein D, Mittleman MA, Piatkowski G, Chang M, Lai M. A Quality Improvement Initiative Reduces 25 30-Day Rate of Readmission for Patients With Cirrhosis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 14: 753-759 [PMID: 26407750 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2015.08.041]
- Serper M, Kaplan DE, Shults J, Reese PP, Beste LA, Taddei TH, Werner RM. Quality Measures, All-Cause Mortality, 26 and Health Care Use in a National Cohort of Veterans With Cirrhosis. Hepatology 2019; 70: 2062-2074 [PMID: 31107967 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30779]
- 27 Chirapongsathorn S, Talwalkar JA, Kamath PS. Strategies to Reduce Hospital Readmissions. Semin Liver Dis 2016; 36: 161-166 [PMID: 27172358 DOI: 10.1055/s-0036-1583196]
- Tapper EB, Volk M. Strategies to Reduce 30-Day Readmissions in Patients with Cirrhosis. Curr Gastroenterol Rep 2017; 28 19: 1 [PMID: 28101791 DOI: 10.1007/s11894-017-0543-3]
- 29 Stotts MJ, Grischkan JA, Khungar V. Improving cirrhosis care: The potential for telemedicine and mobile health



technologies. World J Gastroenterol 2019; 25: 3849-3856 [PMID: 31413523 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i29.3849]



Jaisbideng® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

World Journal of Hevatology Hepatology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Hepatol 2023 June 27; 15(6): 841-849

DOI: 10.4254/wih.v15.i6.841

ISSN 1948-5182 (online)

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

Liver injury from direct oral anticoagulants

Deven Juneja, Prashant Nasa, Ravi Jain

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Malnick SDH, Israel; Popovic DD, Serbia

Received: January 5, 2023 Peer-review started: January 5, 2023

First decision: January 19, 2023 Revised: January 23, 2023 Accepted: May 15, 2023 Article in press: May 15, 2023 Published online: June 27, 2023



Deven Juneja, Institute of Critical Care Medicine, Max Super Specialty Hospital, New Delhi 110017, India

Prashant Nasa, Critical Care Medicine, NMC Specialty Hospital, Dubai 7832, United Arab Emirates

Prashant Nasa, Internal Medicine, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Al Ain 15551, United Arab Emirates

Ravi Jain, Critical Care Medicine, Mahatma Gandhi Medical College and Hospital, Jaipur 302001, Rajasthan, India

Corresponding author: Prashant Nasa, MD, Chief Doctor, Critical Care Medicine, NMC Specialty Hospital, Amman Street, Al Nahda 2, Dubai 7832, United Arab Emirates. dr.prashantnasa@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Drug-induced liver injury (DILI) can be caused by any prescribed drug and is a significant reason for the withdrawal of newly launched drugs. Direct-acting oral anticoagulants (DOACs) are non-vitamin K-based antagonists recently introduced and increasingly used for various clinical conditions. A meta-analysis of 29 randomised controlled trials and 152116 patients reported no increased risk of DILI with DOACs. However, it is challenging to predict the risk factors for DILI in individual patients with exclusion of patients with pre-existing liver disease from these studies.

AIM

To determine the risk factors and outcomes of patients who developed DILI secondary to DOACs by systematic review and meta-summary of recent case reports and series.

METHODS

A systematic search was conducted on multiple databases including PubMed, Science Direct, Reference Citation Analysis, and Google Scholar. The search terms included "Acute Liver Failure" OR "Acute-On-Chronic Liver Failure" OR "Acute Chemical and Drug Induced Liver Injury" OR "Chronic Chemical and Drug Induced Liver Injury" AND "Factor Xa Inhibitors" OR "Dabigatran" OR "Rivaroxaban" OR "apixaban" OR "betrixaban" OR "edoxaban" OR "Otamixaban". The results were filtered for literature published in English and on adult patients. Only case reports and case studies reporting cases of DILI secondary to



DOACs were included. Data on demographics, comorbidities, medication history, laboratory investigations, imaging, histology, management, and outcomes were extracted.

RESULTS

A total of 15 studies (13 case reports and 2 case series) were included in the analysis, comprising 27 patients who developed DILI secondary to DOACs. Rivaroxaban was the most commonly implicated DOAC (n = 20, 74.1%). The mean time to onset of DILI was 40.6 d. The most common symptoms were jaundice (n = 15, 55.6%), malaise (n = 9, 33.3%), and vomiting (n = 9, 33.3%). Laboratory investigations showed elevated liver enzymes and bilirubin levels. Imaging studies and liver biopsies revealed features of acute hepatitis and cholestatic injury. Most patients had a favourable outcome, and only 1 patient (3.7%) died due to liver failure.

CONCLUSION

DOACs are increasingly used for various clinical conditions, and DILI secondary to DOACs is a rare but potentially serious complication. Prompt identification and cessation of the offending drug are crucial for the management of DILI. Most patients with DILI secondary to DOACs have a favourable outcome, but a small proportion may progress to liver failure and death. Further research, including post-marketing population-based studies, is needed to better understand the incidence and risk factors for DILI secondary to DOACs.

Key Words: Anticoagulants; Direct-acting oral anticoagulants; Drug induced liver injury; Drug reactions; Hepatotoxicity; Novel oral anticoagulants

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Drug-induced liver injury (DILI) can be ascribed to practically any prescribed drug. The side effect profile of relatively newer direct-acting oral anticoagulants (DOACs) is yet to be completely determined. Even though the data from earlier clinical trials suggested no significant liver toxicity, several case reports and series describing DOAC-induced DILI have been recently published. Most of these cases have been reported in elderly patients, not on concomitant hepatotoxic drugs. However, these patients may have good clinical outcomes, with complete recovery of liver function, if an early diagnosis is made and the offending agent is stopped.

Citation: Juneja D, Nasa P, Jain R. Liver injury from direct oral anticoagulants. *World J Hepatol* 2023; 15(6): 841-849

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5182/full/v15/i6/841.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.841

INTRODUCTION

In general, drug-induced liver injury (DILI) can be ascribed to any sort of prescribed drug. DALI remains a major reason behind the premature termination of the development of a promising therapeutic agent or even the withdrawal of a newly launched drug in the market. On the contrary, the true incidence of DILI remains unknown because of under-reporting, missed diagnosis and the usage of different criteria to define DILI. The incidence of DILI varies from 2.3 and 2.7 per 100000 exposed individuals in the United Kingdom and the United States, respectively[1,2]. The incidence of the drug-induced acute liver failure (ALF) has been reported to be 1.61/1000000 persons-years[3]. However, the incidence varies with geographic, socio-economic, and cultural status of the population. For example, a recent retrospective study from China reported an incidence of 23.8 per 100000 persons. Moreover, DILI is the most common cause of ALF in the United States and Europe, accounting for almost 10% of all the causes of hepatitis. In these countries, the over-the-counter medicines and herbal or dietary supplements are the leading causes of DILI[3,4]. In comparison, the traditional Chinese and herbal medicines, dietary supplements and anti-tubercular drugs remain the major reasons for DILI in China[5]. In case of India, both Ayurvedic medicines as well as anti-tubercular drugs are responsible for most of the DILI cases[6].

Traditionally, the mechanism of DILI can be divided into direct (dose-dependent, predictable) and indirect (idiosyncratic, non-predictable) causes. Further, the idiosyncratic reactions may be immunemediated (*e.g.*, phenytoin) or metabolic (*e.g.*, isoniazid). Acetaminophen is the best example for dosedependent DILI. However, the recent studies demonstrated a dose-dependent mechanism in case of idiosyncratic type of DILI. While the exact pathogenesis of DILI remains unknown, genetic risk factors

(including human leucocyte antigen and its associations) have been identified in the literature [7,8]. Female gender, race (higher need for liver transplantation among Asians and chronicity among African Americans), age (elderly or young based on the type of drug), pre-existing liver disease, alcohol abuse, malnutrition, and mutations in the P450 gene are the main risk factors identified for DILI. However, it is challenging to predict the risk factors for DILI in individual patients. High index of suspicion is recommended for DILI, especially among those patients with large number of risk factors and when no other etiology is identified. A detailed review of the drug prescriptions should be performed for at least 3-6 mo. Prompt cessation of the suspected drug(s) is the first step in the management of DILI.

Direct-acting oral anticoagulants (DOACs) are non-vitamin K-based antagonists that have been recently introduced and are increasingly used for varied clinical conditions. Ximelagatran, a direct thrombin inhibitor, was withdrawn from the market because of its hepatoxicity[9]. There was no signal of hepatoxicity recorded during the randomised controlled trials (RCTs) of other novel DOACs. However, the patients with significant pre-existing liver diseases were excluded from the pre-approved RCTs for DOACs. Further, these RCTs remain inadequately powered to detect any difference in rare events such as DILI. A meta-analysis conducted by Caldeira et al[10], included 29 RCTs and 152116 patients and the study did not find any increased risk of DILI with DOACs. On the contrary, it reported a "protective effect" against hepatoxicity, when compared with the low molecular weight heparin. Though the meta-analysis overcame the limitations of inadequate power of individual studies, the absence of the individual patient data, variable follow-up among the individual studies, usage of DOACs for different indications and hepatotoxicity being measured as a secondary outcome measure cannot reliably prove the safety of the DOACs. Hence, the post-marketing population-based, casecontrol, real-world data, and pharmacovigilance reports are required to assess the risk of hepatoxicity of the DOACs.

More recently, multiple case reports and series have reported DILI secondary to the use of these drugs. However, the incidence, probability, and the risk factors for the development of DILI are not entirely elucidated and may also vary with different DOACs. Hence, the aim of the current study is to collate the data from recent case reports and series and analyse them to determine the risk factors and the outcomes of patients, who developed DILI secondary to DOACs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The authors conducted a systematic search for this meta-summary from multiple databases such as PubMed, Science Direct, Reference Citation Analysis and Google Scholar. The search terms included were "Acute Liver Failure" OR "Acute-On-Chronic Liver Failure" OR "Acute Chemical and Drug Induced Liver Injury" OR "Chronic Chemical and Drug Induced Liver Injury" AND "Factor Xa Inhibitors" OR "Dabigatran" OR "Rivaroxaban" OR "Apixaban" OR "Betrixaban" OR "Edoxaban" OR "Otamixaban".

The results were filtered for the literature published in the English language and on adult (> 18 years) humans. All the search results were manually screened by the authors while only those relevant literature for DOAC-induced-DILI was analysed. Duplicate articles from different search databases were excluded (Figure 1). All the case reports and case series were evaluated and the data in terms of patient demographics, clinical symptomatology, type, dose and duration of the DOACs, clinical interventions, intensive care unit course, need for organ support and outcomes was extracted. The concomitant usage of the hepatotoxic drugs was also noted down. A datasheet was prepared for further evaluation.

Statistical analysis

The prepared datasheet was evaluated using MS Excel and Microsoft office, 2019. The categorical variables were presented as frequency and percentage. Median (interquartile range) or mean ± SD was used for continuous variables. Tabulation and final documentation were done using the MS Office software (MS office 2019, Microsoft Corp, WA, United States).

RESULTS

From the current study search, 27 cases of acute liver damage published between 2011 and 2021[11-25] following DOAC exposure were retrieved (Table 1). There was an equal distribution of males and females (48.1%) while most of the cases were reported from Europe (77.8%) and North America (18.5%). At the time of presentation, the age of the patients was in the range of 41 to 91 years. Out of the total population, 20 (74.1%) patients were aged \geq 65 years or above. The time between the initiation of DOACs and the onset of liver injury ranged from 6 d to 6 mo, while one patient presented with acute condition after accidental ingestion. The major indications for DOACs were prevention of venous thromboembolism (VTE) in patients who were undergoing elective knee surgery and prevention of stroke and systemic embolism in patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation (AF). However, three



Table 1 The baseline patient parameters, <i>n</i> (%)	
Variables	Number of patients (n = 27)
Age (± SD), yr	72.7 (± 11.4)
Sex	Females, 13 (48.1)
	Males, 13 (48.1)
	Not mentioned, 1 (3.7)
Country of origin	Switzerland, 12 (44.4)
	Italy, 4 (14.8)
	United States of America, 4 (14.8)
	France, 3 (11.1)
	Australia, 1 (3.7)
	Canada, 1 (3.7)
	Ireland, 1 (3.7)
	Spain, 1 (3.7)
Clinical presentation	Jaundice, 15 (55.6)
	Malaise, 9 (33.3)
	Vomiting, 9 (33.3)
	Abdominal pain, 3 (11.1)
	Itching, 3 (11.1)
	Anorexia, 2 (7.4)
	Fatigue, 2 (7.4)
	Dyspepsia, 1 (3.7)
	Breathlessness, 1 (3.7)
	Pruritus, 1 (3.7)
	Weight loss, 1 (3.7)
Comorbidities	Hypertension, 6 (22.2)
	Diabetes, 3 (11.1)
	Coronary artery disease, 3 (11.1)
	Others, 6 (22.2)
Other drugs causing liver injury	None, 11 (40.7)
	Statins, 4 (14.8)
	Not mentioned, 12 (44.4)
DOACs implicated	Rivaroxaban, 20 (74.1)
	Apixaban, 4 (14.8)
	Dabigatran, 3 (11.1)
Indications of DOACs	Atrial fibrillation, 13 (48.1)
	Pulmonary embolism, 2 (7.4)
	Transient ischemic attack, 1 (3.7)
	Anti-phospholipid antibody syndrome, 1 (3.7)
	Deep vein thrombosis, 1 (3.7)
	Major lower limb surgery, 1 (3.7)
	Sinus node dysfunction, 1 (3.7)
	Accidental, 1 (3.7)



Time to presentation after initiation of DOACs (d)	40.6 ± 42.8
Need for organ support	Renal replacement therapy, 1 (3.7)
	Vasopressors, 1 (3.7)
	Invasive mechanical ventilation, 1 (3.7)
Need for specific antidote	Idarucizumab, 1 (3.7)
Days in hospital (d)	8±9.3
Days in ICU (d)	7 ± 12.1
Outcome	Alive, 26 (96.3)
	Death, 1 (3.7)

SD: Standard deviation; DOAC: Direct-acting oral anticoagulants; ICU: Intensive care unit.



DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.841 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 PRISMA flow diagram of the selected literature for the current meta summary.

patients received DOACs for the management of deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism (PE). A total of 20 patients (74.1%) received rivaroxaban, four (14.8%) received apixaban, and three (11.1%) received dabigatran. In four cases (14.8%), the consumption of other potential hepatotoxic medications (statins) was reported. The most reported symptom was jaundice in 15 (57.7%) patients, followed by malaise and vomiting in 9 (34.6%) patients. Extracorporeal therapy was initiated in one patient, whereas only one patient with dabigatran-induced DILI received idarucizumab therapy. Table 2 shows the liver function parameters at the time of presentation. Though most of the patients showed complete recovery of the liver function, only 3 (11.1%) patients were reported to have persistent liver dysfunction at the time of discharge, and only one (3.7%) death was reported.

DISCUSSION

Prolonged anticoagulant therapy translates to varied clinical conditions for which vitamin K antagonists are the only therapeutic option. However, the introduction of DOACs has provided the physicians, a safer and an effective alternative. They possess several inherent advantages, including predictable pharmacokinetics and immediate activity after the first dose. This pattern helps in using a fixed dose and obliterate the need for routine laboratory monitoring in most of the patients. However, their side effect profile needs to be fully understood. The first DOAC *i.e.*, ximelagatran was approved for clinical use based on the data from short-term trials. However, the long-term data found DALI in up to 8% of the patients, who received the drug[26]. The fact came into light after its prolonged clinical use. Hence, ximelagatran was withdrawn from the market because of its unfavourable side effect profile. Similarly,



Juneja D et al. Hepatoxicity of DOACs: A meta summary

Table 2 Liver function test parameters			
Parameter	Mean	Standard deviation	Range
SGOT, at presentation (units/L)	575.5	672.2	90-2304
SGPT, at presentation (units/L)	800.2	1159.6	90-4000
Total bilirubin, at presentation (mg/dl)	6.3	6	0.64-21.8
Direct bilirubin, at presentation (mg/dl)	4.8	4.9	0.3-10.3
Alkaline phosphatase, at presentation (units/L)	269.2	279.5	60-1039

SGOT: Serum glutamic oxaloacetic transaminase; SGPT: Serum glutamic pyruvic transaminase.

significant hepatotoxicity was not reported in the initial trials of other DOACs. However, several case reports have been published in the recent years, describing their hepatotoxic potential.

It is challenging to diagnose DILI with the absence of any specific clinical or biochemical marker. The clinical features of DILI are usually non-specific and may vary from asymptomatic liver enzyme elevation to ALF. Even liver histology is not specific and may also be found in other liver disorders[27]. Hence, a high index of suspicion is warranted to enable early diagnosis. Even though jaundice was present in 55.6% of the study patients, all others presented with non-specific symptoms like malaise, vomiting, anorexia and fatigue. The latency from the exposure to DILI, especially in case of metabolic idiosyncrasies, varies from days to weeks and at times, even months too. The data, from the meta-analysis study that assessed the hepatotoxic potential of DOACs, also reported that the mean age of the patients was in the range of 55 to 71 years. Further, the time to develop DILI after the initiation of DOACs ranged from 2 wk to 2 years[10].

The diagnosis of DILI requires the exclusion of other liver dysfunction etiologies associated with a similar clinical and biochemical picture, along with the documentation of temporal association related to the exposure of the offending agent[28]. The accepted definition for hepatocellular liver injury has been given by an international DILI expert working group; fivefold or greater elevation above the upper limit of normal (ULN) for alanine aminotransferase/serum glutamic pyruvic transaminase (ALT/SGPT)[29]. The cholestatic picture is defined to be more than twofold elevation above the ULN for alkaline phosphatase with a concomitant elevation of the activity of 5'-nucleotidase or γ -glutamyltranspeptidase [29]. However, when the ratio of elevation, above the ULN for ALT/SGPT and alkaline phosphatase, is more than two-fold yet less than five-fold, it is defined as a mixed pattern of liver injury[29,30]. The use of DOACs has been associated with both hepatocellular and cholestatic patterns of liver injury[11].

As per the clinical studies, DOACs are rarely associated with the development of DILI with the frequency of developing DILI ranging between 0.1%-1%[10]. However, a higher incidence of 2.3% was reported when using rivaroxaban[31]. In the current study analysis, rivaroxaban was reported to be the offending agent in 74% of the cases. This may also be explained by the fact that it is arguably the most prescribed DOAC[32]. However, these clinical trials were neither designed nor powered to detect the risks of rare idiosyncratic adverse reactions like DILI. Moreover, the patients at high risk of developing these complications and with pre-existing liver disease were often not included in these clinical trials.

Several DOACs are approved and prescribed for both prevention and the treatment of DVT or PE. Further, they are also prescribed to prevent stroke and systemic embolism in adults with non-valvular AF and other risk factors. DOACs are also routinely used in the prevention of VTE after hip or knee surgeries. The current study analytical outcomes too depict a similar usage pattern. The patients, who developed DILI, were prescribed DOACs for similar indications, among which the non-valvular AF was the most common indication. The data from the systematic analysis has also shown that the most common indication for initiating DOACs was non-valvular AF[10].

Except for dabigatran and its glucuronide metabolite, which are predominantly excreted through kidneys, all the DOACs are metabolised in the liver. Moreover, dabigatran is also a substrate for P-glycoprotein (P-gp), and hence, dose adjustment needs to be done for patients with renal dysfunction and those on P-gp inhibitors like azole antifungals, amiodarone, macrolides, atorvastatin, digoxin *etc* [33]. Nearly one-third of the administered rivaroxaban is excreted unchanged in the urine, whereas the rest undergoes metabolic degradation. In this context too, half gets eliminated by the kidneys and the other half is eliminated through hepatobiliary route. In the liver, it is mainly metabolised *via* the cytochrome P450 (CYP) 3A4 and some CYP-independent mechanisms. It is also a substrate of P-gp. Apixaban is excreted through multiple pathways such as the renal (25%), intestinal (55%) and the rest through hepatobiliary route (CYP3A4-dependent mechanisms)[34]. Concomitant use of hepatotoxic drugs, or CYP3A4/P-gp inhibitors may increase the risk of hepatotoxicity with DOACs. Hence, these patients require a close monitoring of their liver function. Further, patients may develop hepatoxicity even in the absence of these drugs. As per the current study analysis, the concomitant use of potentially hepatotoxic drugs was reported in only 14.8% of the cases.

The current study has several strengths to its credit. The authors included DILI associated with all the currently prescribed DOACs and included all the latest case reports and series. However, there exists some limitations to the meta-summary. The studies included, were only case reports and case series without a control arm. Additionally, these studies were heterogeneous, with a high risk of bias and missing data. So, it may affect the generalisability of the results. Further, the authors might have missed some relevant cases too, because those case reports or series that did not have any individual biochemical data were excluded.

CONCLUSION

DOACs may rarely lead to DILI. Most of the cases have been reported among elderly patients, who may be at higher risk of developing DILI. It may develop without the concomitant use of other hepatotoxic drugs. The outcomes of these patients are generally favourable and liver dysfunction is mainly reversible if it is recognised early and the intake of offending agent is stopped. Hence, physicians prescribing these drugs must be aware of such rare complications to ensure early diagnosis and prompt management.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Drug-induced liver injury (DILI) can be caused by any prescribed drug and is a significant reason for the withdrawal of newly launched drugs. Direct-acting oral anticoagulants (DOACs) are non-vitamin Kbased antagonists recently introduced and increasingly used for various clinical conditions. It is challenging to predict the risk factors for DILI in individual patients with exclusion of patients with preexisting liver disease from these studies.

Research motivation

To determine the risk factors and outcomes of DILI in patients taking DOACs and provide clinicians with essential information for the management of DILI secondary to DOACs.

Research objectives

To determine the incidence, probability, and risk factors for developing DILI secondary to DOACs and its outcomes in affected patients.

Research methods

The authors conducted a systematic search of multiple databases for the literature published in English using specific search terms. The results were filtered and analysed to determine the risk factors and outcomes of DILI in patients taking DOACs.

Research results

The analysis of recent case reports and series showed that DOACs can rarely cause DILI, and the incidence, probability, and risk factors for developing DILI varied among different DOACs.

Research conclusions

DOACs can cause DILI, and the incidence, probability, and risk factors for developing DILI vary among different DOACs. Clinicians should have a high index of suspicion for DILI in patients taking DOACs, especially those with multiple risk factors. Prompt cessation of the suspected drug is recommended as the first step in managing DILI.

Research perspectives

The findings of this study provide essential information for clinicians to manage DILI secondary to DOACs. However, further research is required to identify the true incidence of DILI and its risk factors, including genetic associations. Post-marketing pharmacovigilance reports can help to assess the risk of hepatoxicity associated with DOACs.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Nasa P conceptualized and designed the article; Juneja D, Nasa P, and Jain R performed acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation of data, and drafted the article; Juneja D and Jain R revised the article; and all authors have read and approve the final manuscript.



Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United Arab Emirates

ORCID number: Deven Juneja 0000-0002-8841-5678; Prashant Nasa 0000-0003-1948-4060; Ravi Jain 0000-0001-9260-479X.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- de Abajo FJ, Montero D, Madurga M, García Rodríguez LA. Acute and clinically relevant drug-induced liver injury: a 1 population based case-control study. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2004; 58: 71-80 [PMID: 15206996 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2004.02133.x]
- Björnsson ES. Epidemiology, Predisposing Factors, and Outcomes of Drug-Induced Liver Injury. Clin Liver Dis 2020; 24: 1-10 [PMID: 31753242 DOI: 10.1016/j.cld.2019.08.002]
- Goldberg DS, Forde KA, Carbonari DM, Lewis JD, Leidl KB, Reddy KR, Haynes K, Roy J, Sha D, Marks AR, Schneider 3 JL, Strom BL, Corley DA, Lo Re V 3rd. Population-representative incidence of drug-induced acute liver failure based on an analysis of an integrated health care system. Gastroenterology 2015; 148: 1353-61.e3 [PMID: 25733099 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.02.050]
- Vega M, Verma M, Beswick D, Bey S, Hossack J, Merriman N, Shah A, Navarro V; Drug Induced Liver Injury Network 4 (DILIN). The Incidence of Drug- and Herbal and Dietary Supplement-Induced Liver Injury: Preliminary Findings from Gastroenterologist-Based Surveillance in the Population of the State of Delaware. Drug Saf 2017; 40: 783-787 [PMID: 28555362 DOI: 10.1007/s40264-017-0547-9]
- Shen T, Liu Y, Shang J, Xie Q, Li J, Yan M, Xu J, Niu J, Liu J, Watkins PB, Aithal GP, Andrade RJ, Dou X, Yao L, Lv F, Wang Q, Li Y, Zhou X, Zhang Y, Zong P, Wan B, Zou Z, Yang D, Nie Y, Li D, Wang Y, Han X, Zhuang H, Mao Y, Chen C. Incidence and Etiology of Drug-Induced Liver Injury in Mainland China. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: 2230-2241.e11 [PMID: 30742832 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.02.002]
- Devarbhavi H, Aithal G, Treeprasertsuk S, Takikawa H, Mao Y, Shasthry SM, Hamid S, Tan SS, Philips CA, George J, 6 Jafri W, Sarin SK; Asia Pacific Association of Study of Liver. Drug-induced liver injury: Asia Pacific Association of Study of Liver consensus guidelines. Hepatol Int 2021; 15: 258-282 [PMID: 33641080 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-021-10144-3
- Nicoletti P, Aithal GP, Bjornsson ES, Andrade RJ, Sawle A, Arrese M, Barnhart HX, Bondon-Guitton E, Hayashi PH, Bessone F, Carvajal A, Cascorbi I, Cirulli ET, Chalasani N, Conforti A, Coulthard SA, Daly MJ, Day CP, Dillon JF, Fontana RJ, Grove JI, Hallberg P, Hernández N, Ibáñez L, Kullak-Ublick GA, Laitinen T, Larrey D, Lucena MI, Maitlandvan der Zee AH, Martin JH, Molokhia M, Pirmohamed M, Powell EE, Qin S, Serrano J, Stephens C, Stolz A, Wadelius M, Watkins PB, Floratos A, Shen Y, Nelson MR, Urban TJ, Daly AK; International Drug-Induced Liver Injury Consortium, Drug-Induced Liver Injury Network Investigators, and International Serious Adverse Events Consortium. Association of Liver Injury From Specific Drugs, or Groups of Drugs, With Polymorphisms in HLA and Other Genes in a Genome-Wide Association Study. Gastroenterology 2017; 152: 1078-1089 [PMID: 28043905 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.12.016]
- Cirulli ET, Nicoletti P, Abramson K, Andrade RJ, Bjornsson ES, Chalasani N, Fontana RJ, Hallberg P, Li YJ, Lucena MI, 8 Long N, Molokhia M, Nelson MR, Odin JA, Pirmohamed M, Rafnar T, Serrano J, Stefánsson K, Stolz A, Daly AK, Aithal GP, Watkins PB; Drug-Induced Liver Injury Network (DILIN) investigators; International DILI consortium (iDILIC). A Missense Variant in PTPN22 is a Risk Factor for Drug-induced Liver Injury. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: 1707-1716.e2 [PMID: 30664875 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.01.034]
- Keisu M, Andersson TB. Drug-induced liver injury in humans: the case of ximelagatran. Handb Exp Pharmacol 2010; 9 407-418 [PMID: 20020269 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-00663-0 13]
- Caldeira D, Barra M, Santos AT, de Abreu D, Pinto FJ, Ferreira JJ, Costa J. Risk of drug-induced liver injury with the 10 new oral anticoagulants: systematic review and meta-analysis. Heart 2014; 100: 550-556 [PMID: 24476812 DOI: 10.1136/heartjnl-2013-305288]
- 11 Licata A, Puccia F, Lombardo V, Serruto A, Minissale MG, Morreale I, Giannitrapani L, Soresi M, Montalto G, Almasio PL. Rivaroxaban-induced hepatotoxicity: review of the literature and report of new cases. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 30: 226-232 [PMID: 29120909 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.000000000001030]
- Anastasia EJ, Rosenstein RS, Bergsman JA, Parra D. Use of apixaban after development of suspected rivaroxaban-12 induced hepatic steatosis; a case report. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2015; 26: 699-702 [PMID: 26154612 DOI: 10.1097/MBC.000000000003631



- Barrett P, Vuppalanchi R, Masuoka H, Chalasani N. Severe drug-induced skin and liver injury from rivaroxaban. Dig Dis 13 Sci 2015; 60: 1856-1858 [PMID: 25559757 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-014-3504-9]
- Cordeanu M, Lambert A, Gaertner S, Nouri S, Mirea C, Alt-Tebacher M, Stephan D. Apixaban-induced hepatotoxicity. 14 Int J Cardiol 2016; 204: 4-5 [PMID: 26649445 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.11.147]
- Pasin F, Esteban MDP, Testa S. Apixaban-induced fatal liver injury with a cholestatic pattern: A case report and brief 15 review of the Literature. Eur J Intern Med 2019; 70: e17-e18 [PMID: 31685349 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejim.2019.10.003]
- Rao V, Munasinghe A. Acute liver failure after changing oral anticoagulant from apixaban to rivaroxaban. BMJ Case Rep 16 2021; 14 [PMID: 33910797 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2020-240719]
- Clarke SA, Alsaad AA, Mack A, Phillips MB. Apixaban-induced liver injury. BMJ Case Rep 2016; 2016 [PMID: 17 27651407 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2016-216744]
- Machlab S, Miquel M, Vergara M, Escoda MR, Casas M. Apixaban-induced liver injury. Rev Esp Enferm Dig 2019; 111: 18 161-163 [PMID: 30569731 DOI: 10.17235/reed.2018.5877/2018]
- Krishnan P, Ramadas P, Gangireddy R. Rivaroxaban Associated Cholestatic Jaundice. Am J Ther 2018; 25: e500-e501 19 [PMID: 28410245 DOI: 10.1097/MJT.000000000000588]
- 20 Marrinan A, Shackleton L, Kelly C, Lavin M, Glavey S, Murphy P, Quinn J. Liver injury during rivaroxaban treatment in a patient with AL amyloidosis. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2021; 77: 1073-1076 [PMID: 33427957 DOI: 10.1007/s00228-020-03084-8
- Cordeanu M, Gaertner S, Bensalah N, Mirea C, Hamade A, Stephan D. Rivaroxaban induced liver injury: A cholestatic 21 pattern. Int J Cardiol 2016; 216: 97-98 [PMID: 27140342 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.04.063]
- 22 Fulcrand J, Lerooy A, Giraud J, Cailliau A, Delrot C, Petitpain N, Auffret M; le réseau des Centres régionaux de Pharmacovigilance. [Cytolysis in an elderly patient treated with dabigatran etexilate]. Therapie 2013; 68: 332-334 [PMID: 24225047 DOI: 10.2515/therapie/2013053]
- 23 Rochwerg B, Xenodemetropoulos T, Crowther M, Spyropoulos A. Dabigatran-induced acute hepatitis. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost 2012; 18: 549-550 [PMID: 22962308 DOI: 10.1177/1076029611435840]
- 24 Guglielmo N, Orso D, Mestroni R, Montanari G. A Case of Liver Failure Due to Dabigatran Treated with Venovenous Hemodiafiltration and Idarucizumab. Curr Drug Saf 2020; 15: 227-230 [PMID: 32576132 DOI: 10.2174/1574886315666200623162926
- Russmann S, Niedrig DF, Budmiger M, Schmidt C, Stieger B, Hürlimann S, Kullak-Ublick GA. Rivaroxaban 25 postmarketing risk of liver injury. J Hepatol 2014; 61: 293-300 [PMID: 24681117 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.03.026]
- Lee WM, Larrey D, Olsson R, Lewis JH, Keisu M, Auclert L, Sheth S. Hepatic findings in long-term clinical trials of 26 ximelagatran. Drug Saf 2005; 28: 351-370 [PMID: 15783243 DOI: 10.2165/00002018-200528040-00006]
- Navarro VJ, Senior JR. Drug-related hepatotoxicity. N Engl J Med 2006; 354: 731-739 [PMID: 16481640 DOI: 27 10.1056/NEJMra052270
- Suzuki A, Andrade RJ, Bjornsson E, Lucena MI, Lee WM, Yuen NA, Hunt CM, Freston JW. Drugs associated with 28 hepatotoxicity and their reporting frequency of liver adverse events in VigiBase: unified list based on international collaborative work. Drug Saf 2010; 33: 503-522 [PMID: 20486732 DOI: 10.2165/11535340-00000000-00000]
- 29 Aithal GP, Watkins PB, Andrade RJ, Larrey D, Molokhia M, Takikawa H, Hunt CM, Wilke RA, Avigan M, Kaplowitz N, Bjornsson E, Daly AK. Case definition and phenotype standardization in drug-induced liver injury. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2011; 89: 806-815 [PMID: 21544079 DOI: 10.1038/clpt.2011.58]
- Bénichou C. Criteria of drug-induced liver disorders. Report of an international consensus meeting. J Hepatol 1990; 11: 30 272-276 [PMID: 2254635 DOI: 10.1016/0168-8278(90)90124-a]
- Watkins PB, Desai M, Berkowitz SD, Peters G, Horsmans Y, Larrey D, Maddrey W. Evaluation of drug-induced serious 31 hepatotoxicity (eDISH): application of this data organization approach to phase III clinical trials of rivaroxaban after total hip or knee replacement surgery. Drug Saf 2011; 34: 243-252 [PMID: 21332248 DOI: 10.2165/11586600-000000000-00000
- Mahan CE. Practical aspects of treatment with target specific anticoagulants: initiation, payment and current market, 32 transitions, and venous thromboembolism treatment. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2015; 39: 295-303 [PMID: 25605686 DOI: 10.1007/s11239-014-1164-4
- Blech S, Ebner T, Ludwig-Schwellinger E, Stangier J, Roth W. The metabolism and disposition of the oral direct thrombin 33 inhibitor, dabigatran, in humans. Drug Metab Dispos 2008; 36: 386-399 [PMID: 18006647 DOI: 10.1124/dmd.107.019083
- 34 Raghavan N, Frost CE, Yu Z, He K, Zhang H, Humphreys WG, Pinto D, Chen S, Bonacorsi S, Wong PC, Zhang D. Apixaban metabolism and pharmacokinetics after oral administration to humans. Drug Metab Dispos 2009; 37: 74-81 [PMID: 18832478 DOI: 10.1124/dmd.108.023143]



W J H World Journal of Henatology Hepatology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.850

World J Hepatol 2023 June 27; 15(6): 850-866

ISSN 1948-5182 (online)

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

Management of sepsis in a cirrhotic patient admitted to the intensive care unit: A systematic literature review

Nkola Ndomba, Jonathan Soldera

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Thomson M, United States; Xie Q, China

Received: April 8, 2023 Peer-review started: April 8, 2023 First decision: May 4, 2023 Revised: May 22, 2023 Accepted: May 31, 2023 Article in press: May 31, 2023 Published online: June 27, 2023



Nkola Ndomba, Jonathan Soldera, Acute Medicine, University of South Wales, Cardiff CF37 1DL, United Kingdom

Corresponding author: Jonathan Soldera, MD, MSc, Associate Professor, Staff Physician, Acute Medicine, University of South Wales, University of South Wales, Cardiff CF37 1DL, United Kingdom, Cardiff CF37 1DL, United Kingdom. jonathansoldera@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Sepsis is a severe medical condition that occurs when the body's immune system overreacts to an infection, leading to life-threatening organ dysfunction. The "Third international consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock (Sepsis-3)" defines sepsis as an increase in sequential organ failure assessment score of 2 points or more, with a mortality rate above 10%. Sepsis is a leading cause of intensive care unit (ICU) admissions, and patients with underlying conditions such as cirrhosis have a higher risk of poor outcomes. Therefore, it is critical to recognize and manage sepsis promptly by administering fluids, vasopressors, steroids, and antibiotics, and identifying and treating the source of infection.

AIM

To conduct a systematic review and meta-analysis of existing literature on the management of sepsis in cirrhotic patients admitted to the ICU and compare the management of sepsis between cirrhotic and non-cirrhotic patients in the ICU.

METHODS

This study is a systematic literature review that followed the PRISMA statement's standardized search method. The search for relevant studies was conducted across multiple databases, including PubMed, Embase, Base, and Cochrane, using predefined search terms. One reviewer conducted the initial search, and the eligibility criteria were applied to the titles and abstracts of the retrieved articles. The selected articles were then evaluated based on the research objectives to ensure relevance to the study's aims.

RESULTS

The study findings indicate that cirrhotic patients are more susceptible to infections, resulting in higher mortality rates ranging from 18% to 60%. Early identification of the infection source followed by timely administration of antibiotics, vasopressors, and corticosteroids has been shown to improve patient outcomes. Procalcitonin is a useful biomarker for diagnosing infections in



cirrhotic patients. Moreover, presepsin and resistin have been found to be reliable markers of bacterial infection in patients with decompensated liver cirrhosis, with similar diagnostic performance compared to procalcitonin.

CONCLUSION

This review highlights the importance of early detection and management of infections in cirrhosis patients to reduce mortality. Therefore, early detection of infection using procalcitonin test and other biomarker as presepsin and resistin, associated with early management with antibiotics, fluids, vasopressors and low dose corticosteroids might reduce the mortality associated with sepsis in cirrhotic patients.

Key Words: Sepsis; Septic shock; Cirrhosis; Sequential organ failure assessment score; Mean arterial pressure; Intensive care unit

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Sepsis is a severe condition encountered in the intensive care unit (ICU), and when it occurs in cirrhotic patients, it often leads to high mortality due to impaired immunity and multiorgan failure. To diagnose and monitor sepsis in cirrhotic patients, various scoring systems have been developed, including the Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score, the Chronic Liver Failure-Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (CLIF-SOFA) score, quick SOFA (qSOFA), Model for End-Stage Liver Disease (MELD), and MELD-Na score. Although the proposed current management of sepsis in cirrhotic patients might follow the guidelines proposed by the Surviving Sepsis Campaign, this approach has might not cause significant improvement in patient outcomes. Therefore, early recognition of infection and its source is critical, followed by timely initiation of antibiotic therapy, fluid resuscitation with albumin (5% or 20%), vasopressors, and low-dose corticosteroids such as hydrocortisone. Studies have shown that this approach reduces mortality in the ICU. In addition to pharmacological interventions, interventions to control the source of infection, such as surgical drainage, may also be necessary. Finally, procalcitonin levels can be used as a diagnostic biomarker in cirrhotic patients with sepsis, helping to guide antibiotic therapy and improve patient outcomes. In conclusion, timely recognition and management of sepsis in cirrhotic patients in the ICU is crucial, and early initiation of appropriate interventions, including antibiotics, fluids, and corticosteroids, may improve patient outcomes.

Citation: Ndomba N, Soldera J. Management of sepsis in a cirrhotic patient admitted to the intensive care unit: A systematic literature review. World J Hepatol 2023; 15(6): 850-866 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5182/full/v15/i6/850.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4254/wjh.v15.i6.850

INTRODUCTION

Physiologically, sepsis is viewed as a proinflammatory and procoagulant response to invading pathogens with three recognized stages in the inflammatory response, with a progressively increased risk of end-organ failure and death[1]. Evidence shows that sepsis in cirrhotic patients causes a marked imbalance of cytokine response, known as a "cytokine storm," which converts responses that are normally beneficial for fighting infections into excessive, damaging inflammation. Therefore, the three recognized stages are sepsis, severe sepsis, and septic shock, and cirrhotic patients are prone to developing sepsis-induced organ failure and death[1]. Severe sepsis in cirrhotic patients is associated with high production of proinflammatory cytokines that play a role in the worsening of liver function and development of organ or system failure such as shock, acute lung injury, acute respiratory distress syndrome, coagulopathy, renal failure, or hepatic encephalopathy^[1]. Furthermore, cirrhotic patients with severe sepsis can develop sepsis-induced hyperglycemia, defective arginine-vasopressin secretion, adrenal insufficiency, or compartmental syndrome^[2].

Sepsis is a severe condition characterized by a deregulation of the body's response to infection and can lead to life-threatening organ dysfunction. As one of the leading causes of admission to intensive care units (ICUs), sepsis has been found to have poorer outcomes in patients with comorbidities such as cirrhosis, as stated in the "Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock" [1-3]. Organ dysfunction in sepsis is measured by an increase of two points or more in the Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score, which is associated with a mortality rate greater than 10% [4-5]. The SOFA score comprises six sub-scores, including liver failure, which has been found to be associated with



higher mortality. The other sub-scores include respiratory, coagulation, cardiovascular, central nervous system, and renal. Each sub-score is rated on a scale of 0 to 4 and summed up to a final score from 0 to 24. Systematic Inflammatory Response Syndrome occurs when two or more criteria, such as body temperature > 38 °C or < 36 °C, tachycardia > 90/min, hyperventilation, and abnormal white blood cell count, are met[2].

Septic shock is a subset of sepsis that leads to profound circulatory and cellular metabolism abnormalities, resulting in substantially increased mortality[4]. To identify septic shock, one should look for hypotension that requires vasopressor therapy and a mean arterial pressure (MAP) of less than 65 mmHg despite adequate fluid resuscitation and systolic blood pressure. Additionally, signs of tissue hypoperfusion such as low urinary output, acidosis, and worsening mental status, along with evidence of systemic inflammatory response syndrome, including a body temperature above 38 or below 36 °C, tachycardia, tachypnea, leukocytosis, and documented infection, are also considered[5].

Elevated lactate levels reflect cellular dysfunction in sepsis, and multiple factors contribute to their elevation, including insufficient tissue oxygen delivery, impaired aerobic respiration, acceleration of aerobic glycolysis, and reduced hepatic clearance[1]. However, defining sepsis and septic shock poses inherent challenges[3].

The acute change in total SOFA score of more than 2 points due to an infection is identified as organ dysfunction. In patients with a SOFA score of 2 or more, the overall mortality risk is approximately 10%, which is higher than the overall mortality rate of ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. This score also identifies a 2-25 fold increased risk of dying compared to patients with a SOFA score less than 2. However, this score is not used as a tool for managing septic patients in the ICU but rather to characterize them clinically. SOFA has greater predictive validity in patients suspected of sepsis in an ICU[3,4].

There are several risk factors associated with sepsis, including patient factors such as immunosuppression, comorbidity, or therapy, microbe factors such as the presence of multi-resistant or virulent bacteria, and procedural risks such as surgery, indwelling catheters, or implantable devices[6]. Cirrhosis, which is the end-stage of most chronic liver diseases, has two clinical phases: Compensated and decompensated. The compensated phase is defined as the period between the onset of cirrhosis with minor or no symptoms and the first major complication, while the decompensated phase is when the patient first presents with ascites, variceal hemorrhage, hepatic encephalopathy, spontaneous bacterial peritonitis, and hepatorenal syndrome. This period is associated with a short survival time. Cirrhosis may be diagnosed by liver biopsy or by signs of chronic liver disease with documented portal hypertension. Cirrhotic patients have a reduced capacity of the reticuloendothelial system to clear bacteria from the gut, resulting in a higher rate of infections and a worse prognosis[7].

Cirrhosis is an irreversible condition caused by several factors or conditions, such as viral hepatitis, alcoholic liver disease, and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. According to the World Health Organization, cirrhosis was the 9th leading cause of death in the west in 2015[8]. Studies have shown that mortality among cirrhotic patients with sepsis in the ICU ranges from 18%-66%, with mechanical ventilation being an independent predictor of mortality. The MELD and MELD-Na scores are used for the prediction of 90-day mortality and for organ allocation in liver transplantation. A cohort study by Baudry *et al*[9] found that mortality of cirrhotic patients with sepsis ranges from 18%-66%. WHO estimates cirrhosis as the 12th cause of mortality in the world, with deaths exceeding 1 million per year. ICUs provide specialized treatment and monitoring for critically ill patients.

The aim of the present paper is to determine the optimal current management of sepsis in cirrhotic patients admitted to the ICU.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This systematic review follows the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA-P) protocol[10] and examines published papers on the management of sepsis in cirrhotic patients admitted to the ICU.

Inclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria were cirrhotic patients over 18 years old, admitted to the ICU with sepsis. The study analyzed the management and prognosis of cirrhotic patients with sepsis, as well as compared the management of sepsis in cirrhotic patients to those without cirrhosis. Only English-language randomized controlled trials (RCTs), retrospective cohort studies, and prospective cohort studies were included.

Outcomes

The analyzed outcomes include survival, length of ICU stay, and the overall prognosis of cirrhotic patients with sepsis admitted to the ICU.

Zaishidene® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

Search strategies

Searches were conducted on PubMed, Google Scholar, Embase, and Cochrane databases. Retrieved papers were initially filtered based on their titles and abstracts, and the full text of selected papers were then retrieved and analyzed. Only papers that met the inclusion criteria were included and analyzed. The search strategy is described in Appendix 1 and the critical appraisal of the papers is presented in Appendix 2.

RESULTS

Study selection

Figure 1 illustrates the selection process following the PRISMA-P protocol. Initially, 351 search results were retrieved, out of which 284 were excluded after screening the titles, 46 were excluded after the abstract, and 3 were excluded after full articles. A total of 19 papers met the inclusion criteria and were included for full-text review. The primary outcome of all reviewed papers was the survival of cirrhosis patients with sepsis in the ICU. The review also analyzed the prognostic value of scores such as Child-Turcotte-Pugh, Model for End-Stage Liver Disease (MELD), Model for End-Stage Liver Disease Sodium (MELD-Na), and SOFA scores for cirrhotic patients with sepsis. The summarized data is available on Table 1 for randomized controlled trials, Table 2 for prospective cohort studies, Table 3 for retrospective cohort studies and Table 4 for selected studies.

Findings of the review

Albumin: Philips *et al*[11] found that 5% human albumin corrected hypotension in sepsis with cirrhosis (Table 1). Maimone *et al*[12] found that albumin 20% increased MAP above 65 mmHg 3 h after infusion compared to plasmolyte, but with a risk of inducing pulmonary edema (Table 3).

Corticosteroids: Arabi *et al*[13] concluded that corticosteroids improved the hemodynamic status of the patient but did not change mortality (Table 1). Rinaldi *et al*[5] and Piccolo Serafim *et al*[14] found similar results to Arabi *et al*[13] (Tables 2 and 3).

Infection diagnosis: Villarreal *et al*[15] concluded that procalcitonin as a biomarker helped with infection diagnosis in cirrhotic patients. Fischer *et al*[16] found that both presepsin and resistin may be reliable markers of bacterial infection in patients with decompensated liver cirrhosis and have similar diagnostic performance compared to procalcitonin (Table 3).

Prognosis: Baudry *et al*[9], Fischer *et al*[16], Chang *et al*[17], and Sauneuf *et al*[18], found that the prognosis is poor in ICU for cirrhosis patients with sepsis (Table 3). Sasso *et al*[19] found that mechanically ventilated cirrhotic patients with sepsis have an extremely poor prognosis, and vasopressor use was strongly a predictor of mortality (Table 3).

Vasopressors: Durst *et al*[20] found that norepinephrine is the best vasopressor to use in cirrhotic patients with sepsis to maintain MAP above 60 mmHg. Umgelter *et al*[21] concluded that terlipressin is effective as a vasopressor in septic cirrhotic patients in combination with norepinephrine to correct hypotension. Chebl *et al*[22] recommend starting vasopressors early to avoid aggressive fluid resuscitation and maintain MAP > 65 mmHg (Table 3).

Hyperdynamic syndrome: Thierry *et al*[23] found that echocardiography helps diagnose hyperdynamic syndrome with high LVEF in septic patients (Table 3).

Mortality: Bal *et al*[24] found 50-day mortality to be about 43.11%. Baudry *et al*[9] found that the mortality of cirrhotic patients with sepsis ranges from 18%-66%, which is close to the WHO finding that estimates cirrhosis as the 12th cause of mortality in the world, with death exceeding 1 million a year (Table 3).

Scoring system: Chen *et al*[25] concluded that the qSOFA (Quick SOFA) criteria, consisting of 3 variables, are a better predictor of adverse outcomes associated with sepsis. The presence of two or more abnormalities in patients with suspected infection identifies a higher risk of developing adverse outcomes.

Hemodynamic monitoring: Administer antibiotics within the first hour and monitor physiological parameters like urine output and lactate clearance to prevent end-organ dysfunction[7]. In advanced cirrhosis, elevated cardiac index, low systemic vascular resistance, low MAP, and higher central venous oxygen saturation may be present. Lactate levels should be carefully evaluated as they may take a while to lower down to normal levels. Serum lactate measurement is still recommended in these patients[7]. Skin mottling score and tissue oxygenation saturation assessed with laser Doppler can also be used as hypoxia of the tissue markers in cirrhosis[7].

Table 1	Table 1 Summary of randomized controlled trials						
Ref.	Purpose	Type of study	Sample size	Conclusion	Setting		
Philips <i>et al</i> [<mark>11</mark>]	Assessed the use of 5% human fluid for the resuscitation of cirrhotic patients with sepsis		Three hundred-eight patients were divided into two groups	5% human albumin was safe and more beneficial in correcting hypotension than normal saline	ICU		
Arabi <i>et al</i> [13]	Assess the use of a low dose of hydrocortisone in cirrhotic patients with sepsis	RCT	140 patients were 65 excluded, and 39 received hydrocortisone and 36 placeboes	That study did not find mortality improvement with corticost- eroids despite hemodynamic improvement. The treatment proposed: Hemodynamic monitoring and management, laboratory test culture, stress ulcer prophylaxis as histamine H2 receptor antagonists, norepinephrine as vasopressors, and empiric antibiotic. The outcome was 28 days of all-cause mortality	ICU		

RCT: Randomized controlled trial; ICU: Intensive care unit.

Table 2 Prospective cohort studies

Ref.	Purpose	Type of study	Sample size	Conclusion	Setting
Rinaldi et al <mark>[5</mark>]	The aim was to evaluate the effect of adherence to evidence- based guidelines of the Surviving Sepsis Campaign (SSC) on the outcome of cirrhotic patients with shock admitted to the ICU. Resuscitation of sepsis with hydrocortisone	Prospective cohort	38 patients		ICU
Thierry <i>et al</i> [23]	Assess the use of echocardiography in assessing the LVEF on cirrhotic patients with septic shock	The prospective cohort single- center study	34 patients compared	Echocardiography in a cirrhotic patient with septic shock show hyperdynamic syndrome with high LVEF	ICU

SSC: Surviving sepsis campaign; ICU: Intensive care unit; LVEF: Left ventricle ejection function.

Fluid resuscitation: Aggressive intravenous fluid resuscitation is recommended in any patient with hypotension or elevated serum lactate. However, the choice of fluid between crystalloid or colloid remains controversial[6,11,12]. The SAFE study concluded that albumin improves hemodynamic status and may reduce mortality, while the VISEP study found that pentastarch colloids can cause acute kidney injury in sepsis and increase 90-day mortality [6,11]. Human albumin is the fluid of choice in cirrhotic patients with sepsis, as it corrects hypotension more effectively than crystalloid[12]. Early goaldirected therapy can help reduce mortality, but the methodology of the Rivers study has been questioned. The recommended fluid should be one that sustains an increase in intravascular volume and contains a chemical composition similar to that of extracellular fluid[6]. Hydroxyethyl starch is not recommended in cirrhosis patients as it increases nephrotoxicity, while albumin is associated with dosedependent acute kidney injury[6]. An albumin dose of 50-100 g/day is used over crystalloid for initial fluid resuscitation in cirrhosis patients, but no strong evidence exists[6].

Sepsis bundle protocol: According to the Surviving Sepsis Campaign (SSC) guidelines, the sepsis bundle protocol did not improve survival in cirrhotic patients with sepsis[7].

Vasopressors: Vasopressors are frequently indicated to maintain a MAP of at least 65 mmHg in persistently hypotensive patients. Norepinephrine is widely used in distributive shock for its predominantly alpha-adrenoceptor agonism and vasoconstrictive effect^[21]. Cirrhotic patients with sepsis and cirrhosis needing vasopressors should have a goal of maintaining the MAP above 60 mmHg. Blood culture and antibiotics should be started as early as possible according to the SCC guidelines^[20]. SSC international guideline does not recommend vasopressors as monotherapy or the first line for septic shock treatment, and a randomized trial shows the benefit of angiotensin II for refractory vasodilatory shock treatment[7].

Corticosteroids: Corticosteroids are commonly used for unsatisfactory responses to vasopressors. It helps hasten shock resolution, decreases the required dose of vasopressors, and improves the 90-day survival in septic shock patients, and it might increase shock recurrence. Nevertheless, its use in liver cirrhosis remains controversial[7]. Hydrocortisone improves the hemodynamic status of the patient without a relevant change in mortality[13,14,18]. Hydrocortisone is associated with better shock resolution, although without an impact on survival^[5]. Low-dose corticosteroid is recommended to be administered early in patients with severe septic shock to patients who are not responding to



Table 3 Retrospective cohort studies							
Ref.	Purpose	Type of study	Sample size	Conclusion	Setting		
Guo et al [<mark>26</mark>]	Assessment of VCS parameter for evaluation of sepsis in cirrhotic patients	Retrospective analysis of prospective data	257 patients	Proposed management was collection of blood culture, white cell volume determination, procalcitonin, and interleukin -6, sCD163 laboratory tests. Conclusion VCS parameters have the potential to be used to evaluate and predict early infections in patients with cirrhosis, and VCS can increase sensitivity and specificity in the diagnosis of sepsis and cirrhosis patients	ICU		
Villarreal et al[15]	Assessing the usefulness of procalcitonin for diagnosing infection in cirrhotic patients	Retrospective cohort study	66 patients of 255 admitted had procalcitonin tests. Patients with infection suspicion had a serum procal- citonin (PCT) test within the first 12 h	Septic patients with cirrhosis had elevated procalcitonin. As PCT has a sensitivity of 83% and specificity of 75% is an effective tool for diagnosing infection in patients with liver cirrhosis. Excellent tool for differentiating infectious disease in cirrhotic patients	ICU		
Galbois et al[27]	Assess whether the mottling score and tissue oxygen saturation (StO ₂) may be used as early death predictors on cirrhotic patients with septic shock. Hemodynamic parameters at 6 h in patients with liver cirrhosis according to their survival status at 14 days	42 out of 46 patients admitted with cirrhosis and septic shock were analyzed		There is systemic vasodilation and increased mortality in cirrhosis patients with sepsis. Patients with increased mottling died, and those with decreased survived. Mottling score and knee StO ₂ measures 6 h after starting vasopressors are excellent predictors of 14-day mortality	ICU		
Piccolo Serafim <i>et</i> al[14]	The study evaluates the use of steroids in a patient with septic shock and cirrhosis	A retrospective cohort study (2007-2017)	56 patients out of 179 admitted with septic shock received steroids during ICU	The use of steroids did not show significant differences in mortality. Vasopressor requirement and is not associated with decreased mortality	ICU		
Chang et al[17]	aimed to determine whether septic patients with liver cirrhosis had worse survival than patients without liver cirrhosis	Retrospective cohort	776 patients, 64 had sepsis with cirrhosis, 712 sepsis without cirrhosis	Cirrhotic patients with sepsis had a poor outcome, and the survival of sepsis and cirrhosis after matching was not inferior to those without cirrhosis	ICU		
Sauneuf et al[18]	Assess the use of albumin as an adjuvant to vasopressors in managing septic shock in cirrhotic patients	Retrospective cohort single center and observational overdone over 14 years studied done from 1997 to 2004 and 2005 to 2010	During the period 2005 to 2010, 42, cirrhotic patients with septic shock in ICU were included	In conclusion, the survival rate of septic shock in cirrhosis remains low, and current shock management could benefit cirrhotic patients. Treatment use is: Vasopressors used is norepinephrine, epinephrine, and dobutamine; mechanical ventilation was used in the case of ARDS, and a protective strategy with a low tidal volume of 6 m/kg of body weight, and the plateau was kept below 30 cmH2O, small -dose of corticosteroids (200 mg hydrocortisone per day, insulin therapy, The main sites of infections were: Pneumonia, spontaneous or secondary peritonitis, and urinary tract infection. There were gram-positive and negative. Septic shock represent a severe complication of cirrhosis with very low survival rates. Sepsis in a cirrhotic patient has a poor prognosis. Hydrocortisone did not reduce mortality and was associated with adverse effects such as shock relapse and gastrointestinal bleeding. Cirrhotic patients are commonly perceived as poor candidates for 'ICU admission because of the very high mortality	ICU		
Umgelter et al[21]	Assess the outcome of the continuous low dose of TP in a septic shock patient	Small cohort study	2004-2007: 12 patients, 8 males, and 4 females were included with sepsis due to spontaneous bacterial peritonitis, pneumonia, and cholangitis	TP is currently used in treating cirrhotic patients with hepatorenal syndrome and as an adjunct to NE in a cirrhotic patient with septic shock and kidney failure; TP dose 2 ug/kg if a patient was started NE in the first 24 h. 11 patients had RRT, TP increased SVR index and NE doses needed to obtain target MAP decreased while the CI remained stable. Despite hemodynamic improvement, 11 out of 12 patients died. The author concluded that TP was effective as a vasopressor in septic cirrhotic patients at a low dose in combination with NE, and there was no dramatic decrease in CI. TP has a role in the early treatment of septic shock, and the author recommends a controlled study with TP in a cirrhotic patient with sepsis	ICU		



Durst <i>et al</i> The study [20] evaluate t vasopress shock wit without c	v aimed to the use of sor in septic h cirrhosis and irrhosis	single-center, retrospective cohort, 18 years	122 patients included were 61 with cirrhosis and 61 non-cirrhosis with sepsis, and septic with cirrhosis		ICU
Maimone Compare et al[12] albumin t in manag and sepsi intensive	the 20% to plasmolytes ing cirrhosis s in the care unit	Retrospective cohort study	100 patients with cirrhosis and sepsis-induced hypotension		ICU
Bal <i>et al</i> The aim is [24] days in ho mortality cirrhosis J SBP	s to predict 50 ospital in decomposed patients with	A single-centre study prospective study	218 were admitted to ICU from 2013- 2014 with cirrhosis and spontaneous bacterial peritonitis		ICU
Chebl et Assess the al[22] mortality cirrhosis p sepsis	e outcome and predictor of patients with	A single-center retrospective cohort study	200 patients	The study revealed an increased risk of sepsis in cirrhotic patients and sepsis-induced organ failure and related death in cirrhosis. The management of shock is to keep MAP above 65 mmgh with vasopressors; the aggressive fluid hydration may worsen the outcome as there is low oncotic pressure in a cirrhotic patient, which may lead to oedema with aggressive fluid hydration, so it is good to start with vasopressors early in the treatment of septic cirrhosis patients to avoid complications, a cirrhotic patient has higher lactate than the non-cirrhotic because of decreased lactate clearance by the liver	ICU
Chen <i>et al</i> [25]		A single-center, retrospective cohort study from 2015 to 2018	104 patients with cirrhosis and bacteremia were subdivided into afebrile (55) and febrile (49)	The cirrhotic patient is prone to infection. Cirrhotic patients with bacterial infections present with atypical manifest- ations such as normothermia. Scoring systems focused on organ dysfunction, such as quick sequential organ failure assessment (qSOFA) score or chronic liver failure sequential organ failure assessment (CLIF-SOFA) score, have better predictor ability	In the emergency departmen
Sasso <i>et al</i> Assess the [19] mortality patient	e prediction of in a cirrhotic	Prospective cohort	113 patients mechanically ventilator cirrhotic from 2014-2018	Conclude that cirrhotic patients requiring mechanical ventilation have an extremely poor prognosis, and the vasopressor requirement was strongly a predictor of mortality in mechanical ventilation cirrhosis with sepsis	ICU
Fischer <i>et</i> Assess the <i>il</i> [12] presepsin markers c infections patients v	e use of and resistin as of bacterial in cirrhotic vith sepsis			Conclusion: Both presepsin and resistin may be reliable markers of bacterial infections in patients with decompensated liver cirrhosis and have similar diagnostic performance for bacterial infection and sepsis compared to C-reactive protein (CRP) and PCT. The best cut-off level of presepsin for diagnosis of sepsis was 1444 pg/mL. Conclusion PCT, CRP, Presepsin, and resistin had similar accuracy in diagnosing infection and sepsis in decompensated cirrhosis	ICU
Baudry et Assess the al[9] sepsis in o patients	e prognosis of cirrhotic	A Retrospective cohort study from 2002-2013	7644 patients were admitted, where 149 were		ICU

VCS: Value of volume conductivity and scattering; PCT: Procalcitonin; STO2: Tissue oxygen saturation; ARDS: Acute respiratory distress syndrome; TP: Telipressin; NE: Norepinephrine; SVR: Systemic vascular resistance; RRT: Renal replacement therapy MAP: Mean arterial pressure; CI: Cardiac index, ATB: Antibiotic; MELD: Model for End-Stage Liver Disease; AKI: Acute kidney injury; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; qSOFA: Quick sequential organ failure assessment; ICU: Intensive care unit.

vasopressors, but this is still controversial[6].

Antibiotics: Broad-spectrum empirical antimicrobial therapy should be commenced early after obtaining blood for culture and microscopy. Many studies have shown mortality improvement when the antibiotic is administered within 1 h of the recognition of sepsis and hypotension[6]. The selection of the antimicrobial agents considers antifungal, antiviral, or antiparasitic agents that are directed by the clinical finding, knowledge of the common local pathogens and their antibiotic resistance profiles, and consideration of the patient's potential predisposition to a specific infection, for example, immunosuppression as for Cirrhosis[6]. Avoid prolonged therapy with broad-spectrum antimicrobials because it promotes the evolution of resistant organisms, which can lead to the failure of the treatment[6]. Sepsis in cirrhotic patients requires a high grade of suspicion so that empiric antibiotics might be started as early

Raishidena® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

Ref.	Year	Aim	Setting	Results	Conclusion
Philips <i>et al</i> [11]	2021	Assessed the use of 5% human fluid for the resuscitation of cirrhotic patients with sepsis	ICU	Found that primary, the two groups were different, with <i>P</i> values of less than 0.05, which is statistically significant. Study was done among 300 patients with sepsis with hypotension and cirrhosis 123 (<i>n</i> = 154, 79.8% receive albumin, and 131 (154, 85.1%) receive normal saline. Outcome related to MAP. measurement only 7.5 (<i>n</i> = 23) show reversal hypotension MAP > 65 at the end of the first hours of the resuscitation period; after 3 h, it was 11.7% (<i>n</i> = 18) and 32% (<i>n</i> = 5) in albumin and saline groups respectively (<i>P</i> = 0.008); Secondary outcome related to MAP, in the first hours while the study group, 62 patients (20.1%, <i>n</i> = 308) fluid resuscitation and sustained at 2 h in 42 (13.6%) patients improved MAP more than 65 mmHgf was seen in 25.3 (<i>n</i> = 39). In the albumin group at the end of the first hour compared to 14.9% (<i>n</i> = 23) patients in the saline group (<i>P</i> = 0.03). In second hour 17.5% (<i>n</i> = 27) in albumin group compare 9.7% (in = 15, <i>P</i> = 0.06) in saline group 5% albumin showed better improvement of MAP hemodynamic response compared to saline with <i>P</i> < 0.001 that is statistically significant. First hour, HA <i>vs</i> NS: 99.5 ± 7.9 <i>vs</i> 101.7 ± 8.8, <i>P</i> = 0.02; Second hour 97.9 ± 5.5 <i>vs</i> 103.4 ± 6.7, <i>P</i> < 0.001; Third hour 96.6 ± 3.6 <i>vs</i> 103.1 ± 5.9, <i>P</i> < 0.001	Found 5% human albumin correcting hypotension in sepsis with cirrhosis patients. Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS 22.0 statistic window. Quantitative variables were presented as mean ± SD and percentage, the Chi-square or Fischer's exact test was used for categorical data, and continuous data were analyzed using the students' test or Mann-Whitney <i>U</i> test, Kaplan-Meier used for survival curves
Arabi et al[13]	2010	Assess the use of a low dose of hydrocortisone in cirrhotic patients with sepsis	ICU	140 patients screened 75 enrolled in the study. 60 (80%) with shock within 24 h and 71 (95%) with shock within 48 h. Twenty-eight days mortality with hydrocortisone treatment compared to its placebo 33 (85%) <i>vs</i> 26 (72%) relative risk (RR) 1.17, 95% confidence interval 0.92-1.49, $P = 0.19$). There was relative adrenal insufficiency in cirrhosis patients presenting with septic shock. Hydrocortisone show significant hemodynamic improvement. The 28-day mortality 33 (85) $P = 0.19$ and ICU mortality 24 (62) $P = 0.64$. Hemodynamic response was shock reversal 24 (62) $P = 0.05$ statistically significant	Found that corticosteroids improve hemodynamic status of the patient but do not change mortality
Rinaldi et al[5]	2013	The aim was to evaluate the effect of adherence to evidence- based guidelines of the surviving sepsis campaign (SSC) on the outcome of cirrhotic patients with shock admitted to the ICU	ICU	30 day-mortality of cirrhotic patients with septic shock in ICU is extremely high, and the application of SSC guidelines did not seem to improve the survival rate in this population. In addition, approximately 40% of cirrhotic patients developed an infection. 30 days mortality of 31 (81.6%) patients, 13 (86.6) with the bundle completed and 18 (78.2%) with the bundle not completed. This difference was not statistically significant	Hydrocortisone was associated with shock resolution but no survival modification. Chang <i>et</i> <i>al</i> [17], (2022) show that sepsis in cirrhotic patients has poor outcome than sepsis without Cirrhosis. And Sauneuf <i>et al</i> [18], (2013) found also that sepsis in cirrhotic patient survival remain low despite current management. Bal <i>et al</i> [24], 2016 found that mortality in 50 days in septic with cirrhosis patients was 43%
Thierry et al[23]	2007	Assess the use of echocardiography in assessing the LVEF on cirrhotic patients with septic shock	ICU	Show clinical and echocardiographic hemodynamic parameters between patients with Cirrhosis and without Cirrhosis; Cirrhosis had higher. Without Cirrhosis, Cirrhosis had higher values for the CI ($3.69+/-1 vs 2.86+/-0.81/min/m2$, $P = 0.02$. SI ($37.5 \pm 8 vs 32.4 \pm 7 mL/m2$, $P = 0.04$); LVEF ($67 \pm 7 vs 55.9 \pm 12\%$, $P = 0.005$ and lower value for the SVR ($1636.1 \pm 523 vs 2136.6+/-633$ dynes/cm5 m2, $P = 0.04$). The MELD score was not significantly correlated with the CI ($R = 0.20$, $P = 0.49$, or S ($r = 0.15$, $P = 0.6$). Mortality in ICU was 53% overall ($64\% vs 45\%$, $P = 0.27$), not statistically different from the patient without Cirrhosis	Show that echocardiography is of important help in the management of Cirrhosis with sepsis, showing hyperdynamic syndrome with high LVEF
Guo et al [26]	2019	Assessment of VCS parameter for evaluation of sepsis in cirrhotic patients	ICU	52% of positive culture in septic patients with Cirrhosis, with traditional infection markers (PCT, IL-6) and sCD163 between the two groups significantly different ($P < 0.001$). VCS parameters WBC range from 1.4 to 18.3 in sepsis, and leucocytes range from 1.6 to 19.2 in patients with infection no difference in the two groups for WBC. Test sensitivity was 75.9%, and a specificity of 73% was achieved	Reviewed the management of cirrhosis patients with sepsis and proposed: Blood vulture collection, white cell volume determination, procalcitonin and interleukin -6 and sCD163 test, and he concluded that VCS parameters predict the presence of infection early in cirrhotic patients
Villareal et al[15]	2016	Assessing the usefulness of procal- citonin for diagnosing infection in cirrhotic patients	ICU	Found that the mean scores as mean child-Pugh score 9.5 ± 2 and MELD score 23 ± 8 with $P = 0.14$ and $P = 0.33$, respectively, and there were not statistically significant for Cirrhosis with and without infection, and the mortality was high 62.9% . Procalcitonin (PCT) as biomarkers was found to be higher in a patient with infection than those without infection 4.20 (1.4-	Procalcitonin as biomarker might help with infection diagnosis in cirrhotic patients, and P. Fischer <i>et al.</i> (2019) found that both presepsin and resistin may be reliable markers of

Saisbideng® WJH | https://www.wjgnet.com

				10.2) vs 0.16 (0.1-0.23) through statistically significant differences were not reached $P = 0.53$, severe sepsis or septic shock was associated with higher PCT	bacterial infection in patients with decompensated liver cirrhosis and have similar diagnostic performance compared to PCT
Chen <i>et al</i> [25]	2019		ICU	Find that the mean time of initiation of the antibiotic treatment was 3.5 h in the patient (afebrile: 4.3 h, febrile 2.8 h $P = 0.23$ high incidence of the afebrile group admitted in ICU (43.6% <i>vs</i> 20.4% $P = 0.01$) and higher 30 days mortality in afebrile group 40% <i>vs</i> 18.4%) $P = 0.02$) and endotracheal intubation 27.3% <i>vs</i> 10.2%, $P = 0.03$) infection	Found that the cirrhotic patient has an atypical presentation, and the qSOFA score or CLIF-SOFA score has a better predictor ability
Umgelter et al[21]	2008	Assess the outcome of the continuous low dose of terlipressin (TP) in a septic shock patient	ICU	Find that ICU admission patients had a mean age of 58 ± 85 mean Child-Pugh score of 13.8 ± 0.8 , and a mean APACHE ii score of 31 ± 6 where TP decreases systemic vascular resistance index and norepinephrine (NE) doses needed to obtain the target MAP decreased, while cardiac index CI remained stable, median survival after initiating TP was ranging 5-15 days	Found that TP at a dose of 2 ug/kg can be used as an adjunct to NE in a cirrhotic patient with sepsis for hemodynamic improvement
Durst et al[20]	2021	The study aimed to evaluate the use of vasopressor in septic shock with cirrhosis and without cirrhosis	ICU	state that sepsis in cirrhosis was more likely to occur than in non-cirrhotic 34 (55.7%) versus 23(37.8%), $P = 0.046$, and received steroid 38.3% and 19.7%, respectively $P = 0.024$. The cirrhosis group requires increased median (IQR) total vasopressor dosage when compared to non-cirrhotic [71.5 (15.5-239.5)] <i>vs</i> 24.7 (5.3-77.9) mg NE equivalent, $P = 0.003$ and required a significantly higher total number of vasopressor agents 3 (1-4) <i>vs</i> 2 (1-3) agents $P = 0.03$. The length of ICU stays 7.0 (3.6-11.4) <i>vs</i> 5.0 (2.6-10.4) days $P = 0.146$ no statistically significant and MAP goal greater than baseline BP was 3 (4.9%)	Found that for sepsis and Cirrhosis needing vasopressors, MAP should be maintained above 60 mmgh, and blood culture and antibiotic should be started early as a survival campaign guideline
Galbois et al[27]	2015	Assessment of VCS parameter for evaluation of sepsis in cirrhotic patients	ICU	Found that cirrhosis patients with sepsis admitted to ICU were child-Pugh c without mottling, and mortality at 14 days was 71% (at day 28:78% in ICU: 76% in hospital: 82%). Hemodynamic parameters at 6 h were: MAP more than 65mmgh that was 88%, CVP more than 8mmgh: was 90%, ScvO ₂ more than 81%, Urine output more than 0.5 mL/kg/h: 24%. Thenar and knee Sto2 at H6 to predict the outcome. Thenar Sto2 levels measured at H0 and H6 were not different in survivors and non-survivors. [H0: 77% (72-87) <i>vs</i> 84% (79-90), $P = 0.11$, H6:84% (79-89) <i>vs</i> 83% (71-92), $P = 0.89$]. Mottling score changes during the first 24 h of septic shock in a patient with and without Cirrhosis; in survivors, the proportion of patients with a mottling score (4-5) increased over time in both groups. In non-survivors, the proportion of patients with a mottling score (0-1) was higher in patients with Cirrhosis than in patients without at H0 $P = 0.001$) and at H6 ($P = 0.02$), but was not significantly later	Described that mottling score and knee StO ₂ measurement at 6 h after vasopressors have excellent 14 days mortality prediction
Piccolo Serafim <i>et</i> <i>al</i> [14]	2021	The study evaluates the use of steroids in a patient with septic shock and Cirrhosis	ICU	Found that patients who received steroids received a higher total of vasopressors (91.2 mg <i>vs</i> 39.1 mg, $P = 0.04$) and lower of lactate (1.8 mmol/L <i>vs</i> 2.6 mmol/L, $P = 0.007$)	Show that steroids did not improve mortality despite hemodynamic changes
Chebl et al[22]	2021	Assess the outcome and mortality predictor of cirrhosis patients with sepsis	ICU	found that cirrhotic patients were more likely to get intubated than non-cirrhotic patients (72.49% <i>vs</i> 61.62%, <i>P</i> = 0.001), and there was no statistically significant difference in mechanical ventilation duration or ICU LOS among survivors. Cirrhotic patients have higher hospital mortality than non-cirrhotic patients (64.79% <i>vs</i> 31.54% <i>P</i> = 0.001) and higher ICU mortality (47.47% <i>vs</i> 18.05% <i>P</i> = 0.001)	proposed as management of cirrhotic patient with sepsis to keep MAP > 65 mmgh with vasopressors, and start vasopressors early because of reduced oncotic pressure and risk of pulmonary oedema, avoid aggressive fluid resuscitation, cirrhotic patients have higher lactate levels
Maimone et al[12]	2022	Compare the 20% albumin to plasmolytes in managing Cirrhosis and sepsis in the intensive care unit.	ICU	Found that sepsis and septic shock in cirrhotic patient was the leading cause of acute decompensation or acute, chronic liver failure and had a poor prognosis and increased mortality	Show that albumin 20% increases MAP above 65 mmgh 3 h after infusion compared with plasmolyte and restores hemodynamic status rapidly but induce pulmonary oedema; why is it important to close monitoring with ultrasound so early detection of pulmonary oedema and management
Bal <i>et al</i> [24]	2013	The aim is to predict 50 days in hospital mortality in decomposed cirrhosis	ICU	Bal <i>et al</i> [24] study show that 50 days mortality in ICU was 43.11% of the patient admitted	Show that patients admitted to intensive care units with sepsis and Cirrhosis have poor prognoses and are a poor



		patients with SBP			candidate for ICU
Baudry et al[9]	2019	Assess the prognosis of sepsis in cirrhotic patients.	ICU		
Sauneuf et al[18]	2013	Assess the use of albumin as an adjuvant to vasopressors in managing septic shock in cirrhotic patients.	ICU	Find from 2005 to 2010, 40.5% were discharged from ICU, and 26% were alive six months after discharge. IV albumin was frequently given (57.1% <i>vs</i> 8.5%, <i>P</i> < 0.001), and crystalloid infusion was reduced at the same time [3 (1.7-4.5) L <i>vs</i> 6 (3-8,9) L, <i>P</i> = 0.08]. The ventilatory management with a smaller tidal volume 8.6 <i>vs</i> 7ml/kg, <i>P</i> = 0.001). Intensive insulin therapy and low-dose glucocorticoids were also used frequently during the second period, 83.3% <i>vs</i> 31.9% <i>P</i> < 0.001 and 81% <i>vs</i> 44.7, <i>P</i> < 0.001, respectively. Marked survival improvement in ICU as compared 1997-2004 period (40% <i>vs</i> 17%, <i>P</i> = 0.02, and 29% <i>vs</i> 6%, <i>P</i> = 0.009, respectively)	
Sasso et al [19]	2020	Assess the Prediction of mortality in a cirrhotic patient	ICU	Study shows changes in SOFA score median (IQR) in a cirrhotic patient. 24 h post admission 2.5 (0.75 to 5, $P = 0.122$ and 48 h post admission 1(0 to 4) $P = 0.269$. End of vasopressor therapy 0 (-3.5 to 21, $P = 0.963$, that is not statistically significant. But the duration of vasopressor in (hour) median (IQR) 86 (42.0-164.5) $P = 0.003$. MAP goal decreased during vasopressor course n (%) 13 (21.3) $P = 0.041$ statistically significant	Concluded that mechanically ventilated cirrhotic patients with sepsis have an extremely poor prognosis, and vasopressor use was strongly a predictor of mortality
Chang et al[17]	(2022)	The study aimed to determine whether septic patients with liver cirrhosis had worse survival than patients without liver cirrhosis	ICU	Found that liver cirrhosis was more common in male patients with 48% median range APACHE II was 25.5%, 27% of ICU mortality, sepsis with compensated liver cirrhosis mechanical ventilation 24% <i>P</i> value 0.179 and 4% ($P = 0.842$) needed for renal replacement therapy	
Fischer <i>et al</i> [16]	2019	Assess the use of presepsin and resistin as markers of bacterial infections in cirrhotic patients with sepsis	ICU	Found that 63% of the aetiology of Cirrhosis was alcoholism, 46% was bacterial infection (SBP), as infection markers presepsin, resistin, CRP, and PCT for predicting 28 days survival were AUROC = 0.74 (95% VI: 0.64-0.84) ($P < 0.001$), 0.68 (95%CI: 0.57-0.82) ($P = 0.006$, 0.74 (95%CI: 0.64-0.84)($P < 0.001$) and 0.70 (95%CI: 0.59-0.81) ($P = 0.001$) respectively	

CI: Confidence interval; ICU: Intensive care unit; IL-6: Interleukin 6; LVEF: Left ventricle ejection function; MAP: Mean arterial pressure; MELD: Model for End-Stage Liver Disease; NE: Norepinephrine; PCT: Procalcitonin; qSOFA: Quick sequential organ failure assessment; RR: Relative risk; SBP: Systolic blood pressure; SSC: Surviving sepsis campaign; TP: Terlipressin; VCS: Value of volume conductivity and scattering; WBC: White blood cell.

> as possible. Each hour delay in the starting the antimicrobial increases mortality by 1.86 times. Broadspectrum antibiotics should be considered in patients at risk for resistant bacteria[6,7]. Early antibiotic start and intravenous administration of albumin 5% or 20% decrease the risk of renal failure development and improve survival in a cirrhotic patient with sepsis^[2].

> Procalcitonin: Procalcitonin is used as a biomarker for the risk of severe bacterial infection and for stopping antimicrobial therapy, but its role in cirrhotic patients has not been established yet[7]. In contrast, Villarreal et al[15] found that procalcitonin might be helpful in identifying bacterial infections in cirrhotic patients. Fischer et al[16] by Fischer et al[16] concludes that both presepsin and resistin are reliable markers of bacterial infection in patients with decompensated liver cirrhosis and have similar diagnostic performance to procalcitonin.

> Liver transplantation: Liver transplantation is the definitive treatment for cirrhotic patients[7]. Cirrhotic patients are prone to bacterial infections and have higher mortality. Early therapeutic management of sepsis in the cirrhotic patient is crucial, and treatment should focus on correcting hypotension and avoiding aggressive fluid resuscitation^[22]. Echocardiography can help diagnose hyperdynamic syndrome with high LVEF in cirrhotic patients with sepsis. Blood tests and VCS parameters can predict the presence of infection early in cirrhotic patients [23,26]. Mottling score and knee score and tissue oxygen saturation measurement six hours after vasopressors have an excellent 14-day mortality prediction[27]. Sepsis in cirrhotic patients has a poor outcome compared to sepsis without cirrhosis. Vasopressors, mechanical ventilation, and corticosteroids are suggested treatments, but mortality in 50 days in cirrhosis patients with sepsis was 43%. Mechanically ventilated cirrhotic patients with sepsis have an extremely poor prognosis, and vasopressor use was a predictor of mortality [17,18,19,24]. Cirrhotic patients have atypical presentations, and the qSOFA score or CLIF-SOFA score has better predictive ability^[25].

> Renal-replacement therapy and liver-support system: The use of hemofiltration in patients with sepsis





Figure 1 PRISMA-P protocol for the systematic review.

has the potential benefit of alleviating the systemic inflammation of sepsis by removing circulating inflammatory mediators. However, two RCTs did not demonstrate significant reduction in inflammatory mediators nor patients' outcomes. Therefore, hemofiltration should not be recommended for routine management of patients with severe sepsis[1,6]. For liver support in the management of cirrhosis, it is recommended to treat the grade of ascites that are grade1 (mild) or grade 2 (moderate) where it is managed out of the ICU with restricted dietary sodium intake, start antidiuretic and monitor urea and electrolyte. For grade 3 that have a large volume of ascites with respiratory implication, paracentesis is recommended followed by dietary sodium restriction and diuretic therapy. Antibiotic prophylaxis should be used to prevent severe sepsis in a cirrhotic patient with ascites, gastrointestinal bleeding, or with more than one episode of spontaneous bacterial infection[4].

Glucose control: Hyperglycemia and insulin resistance are common in sepsis, and hyperglycemia may act as a procoagulant, impair neutrophil function, and increase the risk of death. Therefore, it is recommended to monitor and control glucose levels in patients with sepsis[1].

Infection source control: Source control in sepsis involves physical measures for removing the focus of infection. It is essential to identify and manage the source of infection promptly in the ICU[6].

DISCUSSION

The management of sepsis in cirrhosis patients is crucial to decrease the high mortality rate associated with this condition. In recent years, research has aimed to find the most effective therapeutic management for sepsis in cirrhosis patients. Interestingly, current therapeutic strategies for sepsis in cirrhosis patients are similar to the SSC international guidelines accepted for the general population.

Despite current management strategies, mortality remains high in cirrhosis patients with sepsis. Mortality rates are currently around 38%, with 30% of deaths due to infection[28]. Liver-specific scores, such as the CLIF-SOFA, CLIF-C Acute-on-Chronic Liver Failure (ACLF), and CLIF-C acute decompensation, have been developed to predict mortality in severely decompensated cirrhosis patients[29].

As the cirrhotic liver patient is prone to bacterial infection and impaired immunity status, which triggers complications related to cirrhosis such as hepatic encephalopathy, ascites, variceal bleeding, or hepatorenal syndrome[30-33] that further impaired prognosis[34]. The SSC guideline recommends early



detection of the source of infection, early initiation of antibiotics, fluid resuscitation, vasopressors, and corticosteroids[11,12].

Several studies have investigated the effectiveness of different therapeutic strategies for sepsis in cirrhosis patients. The use of human albumin 5% and 20% has been found to be beneficial for correcting hypotension and maintaining MAP above 65 instead of crystalloid[11,12]. Furthermore, norepinephrine has been found to be the best vasopressor for correcting hypotension in cirrhosis patients with sepsis, and combination therapy with terlipressin and norepinephrine has also been found to be effective[20, 22].

One interesting finding is that early vasopressor administration may be more beneficial than aggressive fluid administration in cirrhotic patients with sepsis. Chebl *et al*[22] found that early use of vasopressors was associated with better outcomes in cirrhosis patients. However, the use of corticosteroids did not show a decrease in mortality in cirrhotic patients with sepsis[9,18,19].

The management of sepsis in cirrhosis patients requires early detection and intervention with antibiotics, fluid resuscitation, vasopressors, and corticosteroids. While current management strategies are similar to those recommended in the SSC international guideline[36], studies have shown that the use of human albumin and norepinephrine or combination therapy with terlipressin and norepinephrine may be more effective. Choudhury *et al*[35] found that terlipressin is as effective as noradrenaline in increasing the MAP of more than 65 mmHg at 6 h and 48 h, and has a potential role in treating and preventing variceal bleeding as well as acute kidney injury[36]. Despite these efforts, mortality remains high, emphasizing the need for further research in this area to improve outcomes in cirrhosis patients with sepsis[37].

The use of EASL-CLIF criteria on ACLF and CLIF-SOFA for prognostication of sepsis in cirrhotic patients admitted to the ICU has gained significant attention[8,38]. These scoring systems have been developed to assess the severity of liver disease and predict mortality in severely decompensated cirrhosis patients[39-42]. By incorporating organ failure parameters, such as cardiovascular, renal, respiratory, neurological, hematological, and hepatic dysfunction, these criteria provide a comprehensive evaluation of the patient's condition. In the context of sepsis, the EASL-CLIF criteria can help identify cirrhotic patients at higher risk of poor outcomes and guide clinicians in making informed decisions regarding treatment strategies and resource allocation[8,38]. The CLIF-SOFA score, in particular, has shown promise in predicting short-term mortality and facilitating risk stratification in this vulnerable population[29,43-45]. By utilizing these criteria, healthcare professionals can enhance their ability to prognosticate sepsis in cirrhotic patients, thereby improving patient care and potentially reducing mortality rates. Further research and validation studies are warranted to optimize the use of EASL-CLIF criteria for prognostication and guide personalized interventions in this challenging clinical scenario[8,38].

The studies included in this systematic review provide valuable insights into the management of sepsis in patients with cirrhosis. However, these studies also have several limitations that need to be acknowledged. One of the major limitations of these studies is the absence of complete guidelines on the management of sepsis in patients with cirrhosis[37]. Although different therapeutic steps were proposed, these studies do not provide a comprehensive guide for managing these patients.

Moreover, most of the studies included in this systematic review were RCTs and cohort prospective and retrospective studies. While these studies provide strong and moderate evidence, they also have limitations in terms of generalizability. This is because most of these studies were conducted on single centers with small sample sizes. For instance, studies by Rinaldi *et al*[5], Philips *et al*[11], Maimone *et al* [12], Arabi *et al*[13], Sauneuf *et al*[18], Durst *et al*[20], Thierry *et al*[23] Bal *et al*[24], Chen *et al*[25], Galbois *et al*[27] were conducted on small sample sizes, which limits the generalizability of their findings.

Furthermore, the prospective nature of some studies can also affect the results due to missing information. For example, studies by Rinaldi *et al*[5], Baudry *et al*[9], Philips *et al*[11], Maimone *et al*[12], Arabi *et al*[13], Piccolo Serafim *et al*[14], Chang *et al*[17], Sauneuf *et al*[18] Sasso *et al*[19] Durst *et al*[20], Chebl *et al*[22], Thierry *et al*[23], Bal *et al*[24], and Chen *et al*[25], and Galbois *et al*[27] were conducted prospectively and some information was missing, which can affect the accuracy of the results.

Moreover, retrospective studies have their limitations as well, as not all information was present. For instance, Rinaldi *et al*[5], Baudry *et al*[9], Philips *et al*[11], Maimone *et al*[12], Arabi *et al*[13], Piccolo Serafim *et al*[14], Villarreal *et al*[15], Fischer *et al*[16] Chang *et al*[17], Sauneuf *et al*[18], Durst *et al*[20], Umgelter *et al* [21] Chebl *et al*[22], Thierry *et al*[23], Bal *et al*[24], Chen *et al*[25], Guo *et al*[26] and Galbois *et al*[27], all suffered from selection bias and missing information bias.

In addition, it is important to acknowledge that this review has certain limitations. Although we made efforts to gather relevant sources, we were unable to conduct an exhaustive search, leading to some sources remaining unexplored. This constraint resulted from the time limitations imposed during the review process. Consequently, the review may not encompass the full breadth and depth of available literature on the management of cirrhosis patients with sepsis admitted to the ICU. Furthermore, it is worth noting that a substantial proportion of the included research papers were retrospective studies with occasional missing information. To enhance the understanding and enhance outcomes in cirrhotic patients with sepsis, further research endeavors are warranted.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, sepsis in cirrhotic patients is a complex and challenging clinical scenario. Our systematic review of the literature revealed that there is no standardized approach to the management of sepsis in cirrhotic patients admitted to the ICU. Although there is evidence to support early identification of infection, prompt administration of antibiotics, and aggressive resuscitation with fluids and vasopressors, the optimal management of these patients remains unclear. Furthermore, the studies included in this review were limited by small sample sizes, single-center designs, and missing data, highlighting the need for larger, multicenter trials to establish best practices for managing sepsis in cirrhotic patients.

Despite these limitations, our review suggests that using prognostic scores such as SOFA, MELD, and MELD-Na can help identify high-risk patients and guide clinical decision-making. Furthermore, improving outcomes in septic cirrhotic patients will require a multidisciplinary approach, including collaboration between intensivists, hepatologists, infectious disease specialists, and other healthcare providers. With the growing burden of cirrhosis and sepsis worldwide, further research is urgently needed to clarify the optimal management of this complex patient population and improve outcomes for these critically ill patients.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The background of the study lies in the physiological response of sepsis, characterized by a dysregulated inflammatory reaction to infection, which can progress to organ failure and death. Cirrhotic patients are particularly susceptible to sepsis-induced organ failure and have higher mortality rates. The imbalance of cytokine response, known as a "cytokine storm," plays a significant role in the worsening of liver function and the development of organ/system failure in severe sepsis. The severity of sepsis in cirrhotic patients is associated with increased production of proinflammatory cytokines. Additionally, cirrhotic patients with severe sepsis can experience complications such as shock, acute lung injury, coagulopathy, renal failure, or hepatic encephalopathy. Understanding the background and significance of sepsis in cirrhosis is crucial for effective management and improved outcomes.

Research motivation

The motivation behind this research is to address the impact of sepsis in cirrhotic patients and the associated challenges in managing this complex condition. Sepsis is a major cause of admission to intensive care units (ICUs), and its outcomes are worse in patients with comorbidities like cirrhosis. Organ dysfunction in sepsis, measured by the Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score, including liver failure, is linked to higher mortality rates. Defining sepsis and septic shock accurately remains challenging. Given the high mortality and complexity of sepsis in cirrhosis, understanding the key problems and finding effective solutions is crucial. Solving these problems not only improves patient outcomes but also contributes to future research in this field by providing insights into personalized interventions, risk stratification, and resource allocation.

Research objectives

The main objectives of this study are to determine the optimal management of sepsis in cirrhotic patients admitted to the ICU and to explore strategies for improving outcomes in this population. Realizing these objectives has significant implications for future research in this field. By identifying effective management approaches, personalized interventions can be developed to address the specific needs of cirrhotic patients with sepsis. Furthermore, understanding the impact of different interventions on mortality and organ failure rates provides valuable insights for risk stratification and resource allocation. The successful realization of these objectives contributes to the advancement of knowledge and practices in managing sepsis in cirrhotic patients, ultimately improving patient care and outcomes in this challenging clinical scenario.

Research methods

This study utilized a systematic review methodology following the PRISMA-P protocol to investigate the management of sepsis in cirrhotic patients admitted to the ICU. The inclusion criteria comprised cirrhotic patients over 18 years old with sepsis in the ICU, and the analysis focused on sepsis management and prognosis in this population. English-language randomized controlled trials, retrospective cohort studies, and prospective cohort studies were considered. The outcomes assessed included survival, ICU length of stay, and overall prognosis. Searches were conducted on PubMed, Google Scholar, Embase, and Cochrane databases, with filtering based on titles and abstracts. Relevant papers underwent full-text analysis, and only those meeting the inclusion criteria were included. This systematic review offers valuable insights into sepsis management and prognosis in cirrhotic patients



admitted to the ICU, utilizing a comprehensive approach to assess existing literature.

Research results

The study conducted a systematic review to investigate the management of sepsis in cirrhotic patients admitted to the ICU. The researchers selected 19 papers that met the inclusion criteria, focusing on survival and prognostic factors for this patient population. The findings indicated that albumin administration corrected hypotension in sepsis with cirrhosis, while corticosteroids improved hemodynamic status without affecting mortality. Procalcitonin was found to be helpful in diagnosing bacterial infections in cirrhotic patients, and vasopressors such as norepinephrine and terlipressin were recommended to maintain mean arterial pressure above specific thresholds. The prognosis was generally poor for cirrhotic patients with sepsis, especially for mechanically ventilated patients or those requiring vasopressors. The use of fluid resuscitation, particularly with human albumin, was recommended, and early antibiotic administration within the first hour showed improved outcomes. The qSOFA criteria were identified as a better predictor of adverse outcomes in sepsis, and echocardiography aided in diagnosing hyperdynamic syndrome. Liver transplantation was highlighted as the definitive treatment for cirrhotic patients. The study also mentioned the potential benefits and limitations of renal replacement therapy and liver support systems in sepsis management. Source control and glucose control were emphasized as essential aspects of sepsis management.

Research conclusions

The study proposes that the current therapeutic strategies for sepsis in cirrhosis patients, which are similar to the Surviving Sepsis Campaign guidelines for the general population, may not be sufficient in reducing mortality rates in this specific patient group. It highlights the need for further research and development of comprehensive management guidelines for sepsis in cirrhosis patients. The study suggests that the use of human albumin and norepinephrine, as well as combination therapy with terlipressin and norepinephrine, may be effective in correcting hypotension and improving outcomes in cirrhosis patients with sepsis. Additionally, it indicates that early administration of vasopressors could be more beneficial than aggressive fluid administration in this patient population. However, the use of corticosteroids did not show a decrease in mortality.

Research perspectives

Future research should focus on developing standardized management guidelines specifically tailored for sepsis in cirrhosis patients. These guidelines should encompass early detection of infection, appropriate antibiotic therapy, fluid resuscitation, vasopressor selection, and corticosteroid use. There is a need for larger, multicenter trials to validate the findings of existing studies and establish best practices for managing sepsis in cirrhosis patients. These studies should have larger sample sizes and address the limitations of previous research, such as single-center designs and missing data. Prognostic scores, such as SOFA, Model for End-Stage Liver Disease (MELD), and MELD-Na, should be further evaluated and incorporated into the management of sepsis in cirrhosis patients to identify high-risk individuals and guide treatment decisions. A multidisciplinary approach involving intensivists, hepatologists, infectious disease specialists, and other healthcare providers is essential for improving outcomes in septic cirrhotic patients. Collaboration and coordination among these specialties should be emphasized in future research and clinical practice.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to extend our sincere appreciation to the Acute Medicine MSc program at the University of South Wales for their invaluable assistance in our work. We acknowledge and commend the University of South Wales for their commitment to providing advanced problem-solving skills and lifelong learning opportunities for healthcare professionals.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Both authors contributed to writing and reviewing the final draft of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare no conflict of interest.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-



NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United Kingdom

ORCID number: Jonathan Soldera 0000-0001-6055-4783.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: Federação Brasileira De Gastroenterologia; Sociedade Brasileira de Hepatologia.

S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- Gustot T, Durand F, Lebrec D, Vincent JL, Moreau R. Severe sepsis in cirrhosis. Hepatology 2009; 50: 2022-2033 1 [PMID: 19885876 DOI: 10.1002/hep.23264]
- Gustot T, Felleiter P, Pickkers P, Sakr Y, Rello J, Velissaris D, Pierrakos C, Taccone FS, Sevcik P, Moreno C, Vincent 2 JL: EPIC II Group of Investigators. Impact of infection on the prognosis of critically ill cirrhotic patients: results from a large worldwide study. Liver Int 2014; 34: 1496-1503 [PMID: 24606193 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12520]
- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, Bellomo R, Bernard GR, Chiche JD, 3 Coopersmith CM, Hotchkiss RS, Levy MM, Marshall JC, Martin GS, Opal SM, Rubenfeld GD, van der Poll T, Vincent JL, Angus DC. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA 2016; 315: 801-810 [PMID: 26903338 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2016.0287]
- Lambden S, Laterre PF, Levy MM, Francois B. The SOFA score-development, utility and challenges of accurate 4 assessment in clinical trials. Crit Care 2019; 23: 374 [PMID: 31775846 DOI: 10.1186/s13054-019-2663-7]
- Rinaldi L, Ferrari E, Marietta M, Donno L, Trevisan D, Codeluppi M, Busani S, Girardis M. Effectiveness of sepsis 5 bundle application in cirrhotic patients with septic shock: a single-center experience. J Crit Care 2013; 28: 152-157 [PMID: 22884534 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2012.06.015]
- 6 Gantner D, Nichol AD. Treatment of severe sepsis. Anaesthesia and Intensive Care Medicine13: 199-203 [DOI: 10.1016/j.mpaic.2012.02.005
- Simonetto DA, Piccolo Serafim L, Gallo de Moraes A, Gajic O, Kamath PS. Management of Sepsis in Patients With Cirrhosis: Current Evidence and Practical Approach. Hepatology 2019; 70: 418-428 [PMID: 30516866 DOI: 10.1002/hep.30412
- Rashed E, Soldera J. CLIF-SOFA and CLIF-C scores for the prognostication of acute-on-chronic liver failure and acute 8 decompensation of cirrhosis: A systematic review. World J Hepatol 2022; 14: 2025-2043 [PMID: 36618331 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v14.i12.2025
- Baudry T, Hernu R, Valleix B, Jahandiez V, Faucher E, Simon M, Cour M, Argaud L. Cirrhotic Patients Admitted to the ICU With Septic Shock: Factors Predicting Short and Long-Term Outcome. Shock 2019; 52: 408-413 [PMID: 30395082 DOI: 10.1097/SHK.00000000001282]
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG; PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-10 analyses: the PRISMA Statement. Open Med 2009; 3: e123-e130 [PMID: 21603045]
- 11 Philips CA, Maiwall R, Sharma MK, Jindal A, Choudhury AK, Kumar G, Bhardwaj A, Mitra LG, Agarwal PM, Sarin SK. Comparison of 5% human albumin and normal saline for fluid resuscitation in sepsis induced hypotension among patients with cirrhosis (FRISC study): a randomized controlled trial. Hepatol Int 2021; 15: 983-994 [PMID: 34036519 DOI: 10.1007/s12072-021-10164-z]
- 12 Maimone S, Tripodi VF, Mazzeo AT. Response to: A randomized-controlled trial comparing 20% albumin to plasmalyte in patients with cirrhosis and sepsis-induced hypotension [ALPS trial]. J Hepatol 2022; 77: 1731-1732 [PMID: 35810928 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2022.07.001]
- 13 Arabi YM, Aljumah A, Dabbagh O, Tamim HM, Rishu AH, Al-Abdulkareem A, Knawy BA, Hajeer AH, Tamimi W, Cherfan A. Low-dose hydrocortisone in patients with cirrhosis and septic shock: a randomized controlled trial. CMAJ 2010; 182: 1971-1977 [PMID: 21059778 DOI: 10.1503/cmaj.090707]
- 14 Piccolo Serafim L, Simonetto DA, Anderson AL, Choi DH, Weister TJ, Hanson AC, Kamath PS, Gajic O, Gallo de Moraes A. Clinical Effect of Systemic Steroids in Patients with Cirrhosis and Septic Shock. Shock 2021; 56: 916-920 [PMID: 34132218 DOI: 10.1097/SHK.00000000001822]
- Villarreal E, Vacacela K, Gordon M, Calabuig C, Alonso R, Ruiz J, Kot P, Babiloni D, Ramírez P. [Usefulness of 15 procalcitonin for diagnosing infection in critically ill patients with liver cirrhosis]. Med Intensiva 2016; 40: 84-89 [PMID: 25843699 DOI: 10.1016/j.medin.2015.02.006]
- Fischer P, Grigoras C, Bugariu A, Nicoara-Farcau O, Stefanescu H, Benea A, Hadade A, Margarit S, Sparchez Z, Tantau M, Ionescu D, Procopet B. Are presepsin and resistin better markers for bacterial infection in patients with decompensated liver cirrhosis? Dig Liver Dis 2019; 51: 1685-1691 [PMID: 31221548 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2019.05.025]
- Chang YC, Fang YT, Chen HC, Lin CY, Chang YP, Tsai YH, Chen YM, Huang KT, Chang HC, Wang CC, Lin MC, 17 Fang WF. The Survival of Septic Patients with Compensated Liver Cirrhosis Is Not Inferior to That of Septic Patients without Liver Cirrhosis: A Propensity Score Matching Analysis. J Clin Med 2022; 11 [PMID: 35329955 DOI:


10.3390/jcm11061629]

- 18 Sauneuf B, Champigneulle B, Soummer A, Mongardon N, Charpentier J, Cariou A, Chiche JD, Mallet V, Mira JP, Pène F. Increased survival of cirrhotic patients with septic shock. Crit Care 2013; 17: R78 [PMID: 23601847 DOI: 10.1186/cc12687
- Sasso R, Lauzon S, Rockey DC. Cirrhotic Patients on Mechanical Ventilation Have a Low Rate of Successful Extubation 19 and Survival. Dig Dis Sci 2020; 65: 3744-3752 [PMID: 31960201 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-020-06051-6]
- 20 Durst MM, Eitzen EA, Benken ST. Comparison of Vasopressor Duration in Septic Shock Patients With and Without Cirrhosis. Ann Pharmacother 2021; 55: 970-979 [PMID: 33327736 DOI: 10.1177/1060028020980727]
- 21 Umgelter A, Reindl W, Schmid RM, Huber W. Continuous terlipressin infusion in patients with persistent septic shock and cirrhosis of the liver. Intensive Care Med 2008; 34: 390-391 [PMID: 17917713 DOI: 10.1007/s00134-007-0877-7]
- 22 Chebl RB, Tamim H, Sadat M, Qahtani S, Dabbagh T, Arabi YM. Outcomes of septic cirrhosis patients admitted to the intensive care unit: A retrospective cohort study. Medicine (Baltimore) 2021; 100: e27593 [PMID: 34797280 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000027593]
- Thierry S, Giroux Leprieur E, Lecuyer L, Brocas E, Van de Louw A. Echocardiographic features, mortality, and adrenal 23 function in patients with cirrhosis and septic shock. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2008; 52: 45-51 [PMID: 17996000 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-6576.2007.01491.x
- Bal CK, Daman R, Bhatia V. Predictors of fifty days in-hospital mortality in decompensated cirrhosis patients with 24 spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. World J Hepatol 2016; 8: 566-572 [PMID: 27134704 DOI: 10.4254/wjh.v8.i12.566]
- Chen HY, Hsu YC. Afebrile Bacteremia in Adult Emergency Department Patients with Liver Cirrhosis: Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes. Sci Rep 2020; 10: 7617 [PMID: 32376846 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-64644-7]
- Guo F, Feng YC, Zhao G, Wu HL, Xu L, Zhao J, Lv J, Han ST, Huang YC, Ma XM. The Leukocyte VCS Parameters 26 Compared with Procalcitonin, Interleukin-6, and Soluble Hemoglobin Scavenger Receptor sCD163 for Prediction of Sepsis in Patients with Cirrhosis. Dis Markers 2019; 2019: 1369798 [PMID: 31915467 DOI: 10.1155/2019/1369798]
- 27 Galbois A, Bigé N, Pichereau C, Boëlle PY, Baudel JL, Bourcier S, Maury E, Guidet B, Ait-Oufella H. Exploration of skin perfusion in cirrhotic patients with septic shock. J Hepatol 2015; 62: 549-555 [PMID: 25457199 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2014.10.012
- Fagiuoli S, Colli A, Bruno R, Burra P, Craxi A, Gaeta GB, Grossi P, Mondelli MU, Puoti M, Sagnelli E, Stefani S, 28 Toniutto P. Management of infections in cirrhotic patients: report of a consensus conference. Dig Liver Dis 2014; 46: 204-212 [PMID: 24021271 DOI: 10.1016/j.dld.2013.07.015]
- 29 Jacques ROC, Massignan LS, Winkler MS, Balbinot RS, Balbinot RA, Balbinot SS, Soldera J. Liver-specific scores as predictors of mortality in spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. GastroHep 2020; 2: 224-231 [DOI: 10.1002/ygh2.419]
- Yuan LT, Chuah SK, Yang SC, Liang CM, Wu CK, Tai WC, Hung TH, Nguang SH, Wang JW, Tseng KL, Ku MK, Hsu 30 PI, Wu DC, Hsu CN. Multiple bacterial infections increase the risk of hepatic encephalopathy in patients with cirrhosis. PLoS One 2018; 13: e0197127 [PMID: 29746564 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0197127]
- Hung TH, Tseng CW, Tsai CC, Lee HF. Effect of proton pump inhibitors on mortality of cirrhotic patients with 31 pneumonia. PLoS One 2019; 14: e0216041 [PMID: 31022265 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0216041]
- Christou L, Pappas G, Falagas ME. Bacterial infection-related morbidity and mortality in cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 32 2007; 102: 1510-1517 [PMID: 17509025 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01286.x]
- 33 Piano S, Tonon M, Angeli P. Changes in the epidemiology and management of bacterial infections in cirrhosis. Clin Mol Hepatol 2021; 27: 437-445 [PMID: 33504138 DOI: 10.3350/cmh.2020.0329]
- Lan P, Wang SJ, Shi QC, Fu Y, Xu QY, Chen T, Yu YX, Pan KH, Lin L, Zhou JC, Yu YS. Comparison of the predictive 34 value of scoring systems on the prognosis of cirrhotic patients with suspected infection. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018; 97: e11421 [PMID: 29995791 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000011421]
- Choudhury A, Kedarisetty CK, Vashishtha C, Saini D, Kumar S, Maiwall R, Sharma MK, Bhadoria AS, Kumar G, Joshi YK, Sarin SK. A randomized trial comparing terlipressin and noradrenaline in patients with cirrhosis and septic shock. Liver Int 2017; 37: 552-561 [PMID: 27633962 DOI: 10.1111/liv.13252]
- Terres AZ, Balbinot RS, Muscope ALF, Longen ML, Schena B, Cini BT, Luis Rost G Jr, Balensiefer JIL, Eberhardt LZ, 36 Balbinot RA, Balbinot SS, Soldera J. Evidence-based protocol for diagnosis and treatment of hepatorenal syndrome is independently associated with lower mortality. Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 45: 25-39 [PMID: 33746028 DOI: 10.1016/j.gastrohep.2021.02.007]
- Evans L, Rhodes A, Alhazzani W, Antonelli M, Coopersmith CM, French C, Machado FR, Mcintyre L, Ostermann M, 37 Prescott HC, Schorr C, Simpson S, Wiersinga WJ, Alshamsi F, Angus DC, Arabi Y, Azevedo L, Beale R, Beilman G, Belley-Cote E, Burry L, Cecconi M, Centofanti J, Coz Yataco A, De Waele J, Dellinger RP, Doi K, Du B, Estenssoro E, Ferrer R, Gomersall C, Hodgson C, Møller MH, Iwashyna T, Jacob S, Kleinpell R, Klompas M, Koh Y, Kumar A, Kwizera A, Lobo S, Masur H, McGloughlin S, Mehta S, Mehta Y, Mer M, Nunnally M, Oczkowski S, Osborn T, Papathanassoglou E, Perner A, Puskarich M, Roberts J, Schweickert W, Seckel M, Sevransky J, Sprung CL, Welte T, Zimmerman J, Levy M. Surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of sepsis and septic shock 2021. Intensive Care Med 2021; 47: 1181-1247 [PMID: 34599691 DOI: 10.1007/s00134-021-06506-y]
- Moreau R, Jalan R, Gines P, Pavesi M, Angeli P, Cordoba J, Durand F, Gustot T, Saliba F, Domenicali M, Gerbes A, Wendon J, Alessandria C, Laleman W, Zeuzem S, Trebicka J, Bernardi M, Arroyo V; CANONIC Study Investigators of the EASL-CLIF Consortium. Acute-on-chronic liver failure is a distinct syndrome that develops in patients with acute decompensation of cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 2013; 144: 1426-1437, 1437.e1 [PMID: 23474284 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.02.042]
- Grochot RM, Luz LB, Garcia R, Balbinot RÂ, Balbinot SS, Soldera J. Acute-on-chronic liver failure data from a 39 teaching hospital in Brazil. A Historical Cohort. Inter J Sci Res 2020; 9: 1-6 [DOI: 10.1590/s0004-2803.202100000-58]
- Silva PE, Fayad L, Lazzarotto C, Ronsoni MF, Bazzo ML, Colombo BS, Dantas-Correa EB, Narciso-Schiavon JL, 40 Schiavon LL. Single-centre validation of the EASL-CLIF consortium definition of acute-on-chronic liver failure and CLIF-SOFA for prediction of mortality in cirrhosis. Liver Int 2015; 35: 1516-1523 [PMID: 24840673 DOI: 10.1111/liv.12597]



- Terres AZ, Balbinot RS, Muscope ALF, Longen ML, Schena B, Cini BT, Rost Jr GL, Leichtweis Balensiefer JI, 41 Eberhardt LZ, Balbinot RA, Balbinot SS, Soldera J. Acute-on-chronic liver failure is independently associated with higher mortality for cirrhotic patients with acute esophageal variceal hemorrhage: Retrospective cohort study. World J Clin Cases 2023; 11: 4003-4018 [DOI: 10.12998/wjcc.v11.i17.4003]
- Jacques ROC, Massignan LDS, Winkler MS, Balbinot RS, Balbinot SS, Soldera J. Acute-on-Chronic Liver Failure is 42 Independently Associated With Lower Survival in Patients with Spontaneous Bacterial Peritonitis. Arq Gastroenterol 2021; 58: 344-352 [PMID: 34705969 DOI: 10.1590/S0004-2803.202100000-58]
- Grochot RM, Luz LB, Garcia R, Balbinot RA, Balbinot SS, Soldera J. CLIF-SOFA is superior to other liver-specific 43 scores for predicting mortality in acute-on-chronic liver failure and decompensated cirrhosis. Austin J Gastroenterol 2019; **6**: 1105
- 44 Terres AZ, Balbinot RS, Muscope ALF, Longen ML, Schena B, Cini BT, Rost Jr GL, Leichtweis Balensiefer JI, Eberhardt LZ, Balbinot RA, Balbinot SS, Soldera J. Predicting mortality for hepatorenal syndrome with liver-specific scores. GastroHep 2020; 2: 336-343 [DOI: 10.1002/ygh2.429]
- Terres AZ, Balbinot RS, Muscope ALF, Eberhardt LZ, Balensiefer JIL, Cini BT, Luis Rost G Jr, Longen ML, Schena B, 45 Balbinot RA, Balbinot SS, Soldera J. Predicting mortality for cirrhotic patients with acute oesophageal variceal haemorrhage using liver-specific scores. GastroHep 2021; 3: 236-246 [DOI: 10.1002/ygh2.460]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

